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Dear Colleague:

It has been my distinct pleasure to lead the Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus
Pandemic for the 118™ Congress. I was honored to be entrusted with a great responsibility: to
investigate a once in 100-year pandemic and to prepare America for next time—and there will be
a next time. This is a responsibility I took very seriously, and I believe that seriousness and
teamwork has translated to much success.

Five years ago, on December 1, 2019, was what would eventually be the first confirmed
case of COVID-19. After that, a pandemic devastated the world at nearly never before seen
proportions, leaving millions dead and millions more concerned about long-term consequences.

COVID-19 was novel. The brightest scientists and medical experts were learning on the
job to determine how to treat both the underlying disease and the second order side effects.

Since February 2023, the Select Subcommittee sought to produce a full after-action report
to provide a road map of how we, in Congress, the Executive, and the private sector may better
prepare for and respond to future pandemics. Throughout this process, the Select Subcommittee
sent more than 100 investigative letters, conducted 38 transcribed interviews or depositions, held
25 hearings or meetings, and reviewed more than one million pages of documents from dozens
of custodians. This work looks back on many events, comments, guidances, and other actions, to
look forward. This is the single most thorough review of the pandemic conducted to date.

Most of you know me. You know I strive to work collegially, with our fellow Americans,
to provide results for all of us. That is the same mentality I brought to my work as Chairman of
the Select Subcommittee. During a time of intense partisanship, the Select Subcommittee had
bipartisan consensus across multiple topics.

1) The possibility that COVID-19 emerged because of a laboratory or research related
accident 1s not a conspiracy theory.

2) EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. and Dr. Peter Daszak should never again receive U.S. taxpayer
dollars.

3) Scientific messaging must be clear and concise, backed by evidentiary support, and come
from trusted messengers, such as front-line doctors treating patients.

4) Public health officials must work to regain American’s trust; Americans want to be
educated, not indoctrinated.




5) Former New York Governor Andrew Cuomo participated in medical malpractice and
publicly covered up the total number of nursing home fatalities in New York.

In addition to these notable bipartisan successes, the Select Subcommittee developed
extensive findings, some of which include:

1) The U.S. National Institutes of Health funded gain-of-function research at the Wuhan
Institute of Virology.

2) The Chinese government, agencies within the U.S. Government, and some members of
the international scientific community sought to cover-up facts concerning the origins of
the pandemic.

3) Operation Warp Speed was a tremendous success and a model to build upon in the future.
The vaccines, which are now probably better characterized as therapeutics, undoubtedly
saved millions of lives by diminishing likelihood of severe disease and death.

4) Rampant fraud, waste, and abuse plagued the COVID-19 pandemic response.

5) Pandemic-era school closures will have enduring impact on generations of America’s
children and these closures were enabled by groups meant to serve those children.

6) The Constitution cannot be suspended in times of crisis and restrictions on freedoms sow
distrust in public health.

7) The prescription cannot be worse than the disease, such as strict and overly broad
lockdowns that led to predictable anguish and avoidable consequences.

Chairing the Select Subcommittee for the 118" Congress has been my honor. I said from
the beginning, this work is the single most impactful responsibility I have undertaken in 12 years
in Congress, and it has been. This work will help the United States, and the world, predict the
next pandemic, prepare for the next pandemic, protect ourselves from the next pandemic, and
hopefully prevent the next pandemic. Members of the 119" Congress should continue and build
off this work, there is more information to find and honest actions to be taken.

The COVID-19 pandemic highlighted a distrust in leadership. Trust is earned.
Accountability, transparency, honesty, and integrity will regain this trust. A future pandemic
requires a whole of America response managed by those without personal benefit or bias. We can
always do better, and for the sake of future generations of Americans, we must. It can be done!

Sincerely,

Brad Wenstrup, D.P.M.
Chairman
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The Origins of the Coronavirus Pandemic, Including but Not Limited to the
Federal Government’s Funding of Gain-of-Function Research

I The Unknown Origins of COVID-19

FINDING: SARS-CoV-2, the Virus that Causes COVID-19, Likely Emerged Because of a
Laboratory or Research Related Accident.

Four years after the onset of the worst pandemic in 100 years, the weight of the evidence
increasingly supports the lab leak hypothesis. Since the Select Subcommittee commenced its
work in February 2023, more and more senior intelligence officials, politicians, science editors,
and scientists increasingly have endorsed the hypothesis that COVID-19! emerged as the result
of a laboratory or research related accident.

In January 2021, the State Department published an unclassified Fact Sheet entitled,
“Fact Sheet: activity at the Wuhan Institute of Virology,” [hereinafter “Fact Sheet”] that stated
the following.

1) “The U.S. government has reason to believe that several researchers inside the WIV
became sick in autumn 2019, before the first identified case of the outbreak, with
symptoms consistent with both COVID-19 and common seasonal illness.”? The June
2023 ODNI Assessment entitled, “Potential Links Between the Wuhan Institute of
Virology and the Origin of the COVID-19 Pandemic,” [hereinafter “June 2023 ODNI
Assessment”] supported this conclusion.’

2) “The WIV has a published record of conducting “gain-of-function” research to engineer
chimeric viruses.”* The June 2023 ODNI Assessment supported this conclusion and went
further, stating, “[s]cientists at the WIV have created chimeras, or combinations of
SARS-like coronaviruses through genetic engineering, attempted to clone other unrelated
viruses, and used reverse genetic cloning techniques on SARS-like coronaviruses.” The
June 2023 ODNI Assessment continued, “[s]Jome of the WIV’s genetic engineering
projects on coronaviruses involved techniques that could make it difficult to detect
intentional changes.”®

3) “Despite the WIV presenting itself as a civilian institution, the United States had
determined that the WIV collaborated on publications and secret projects with China’s
military...since at least 2017.”7 Again, the June 2023 ODNI Assessment supported this

! Throught this Report, “COVID-19” is used to describe SARS-CoV-2.

2 FACT SHEET: ACTIVITY AT THE WUHAN INSTITUTE OF VIROLOGY, U.S. DEP’T OF STATE (Jan. 15, 2021) [hereinafter
“Fact Sheet™].

3 POTENTIAL LINKS BETWEEN THE WUHAN INSTITUTE OF VIROLOGY AND THE ORIGIN OF THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC,
OFFICE OF THE DIR. OF NAT’L INTELLIGENCE (June 2023) [hereinafter “June 2023 ODNI Assessment”].

4 Fact Sheet, supra note 2.

5 June 2023 ODNI Assessment, supra note 3.

o1d.

" Fact Sheet, supra note 2.
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conclusion, stating, “...WIV personnel have worked with scientists associated with the
PLA on public health-related projects and collaborated on biosafety and biosecurity
projects.”®

Further, the June 2023 ODNI Assessment stated, “[s]Jome WIV researchers probably did
not use adequate biosafety precautions at least some of the time prior to the pandemic in
handling SARS-like coronaviruses, increasing the risk of accidental exposure to viruses.””

In February and March of 2023, DOE and FBI publicly acknowledged their respective
assessments that COVID-19 was the likely result of a lab incident—FBI with moderate
confidence and DOE with low confidence.'® Other intelligence elements assess COVID-19’s
emergence was likely zoonotic, albeit all with low confidence.'!

On March 8, 2023, Dr. Redfield testified:

Dr. Robert Redfield (March 8, 2023)

From the earliest days of the pandemic, my view was that both theories
about the origin of COVID-19 needed to be aggressively and thoroughly
examined. Based on my initial analysis of the data, I came to believe—and
still believe today—that it indicates COVID-19 infections more likely were
the result of an accidental lab leak than the result of a natural spillover event.
This conclusion is based primarily on the biology of the virus itself,
including its rapid high infectivity for human-to-human transmission which
would then predict rapid evolution of new variants, as well as a number of
other important factors to include the unusual actions in and around Wuhan
in the fall of 2019..."?

One month later in April 2023, Mr. Ratcliffe testified:

The Honorable John Ratcliffe (April 18, 2023)

First, let me state the bottom-line up front. My informed assessment as a
person with as much access as anyone to our government’s intelligence
during the initial year of the pandemic has been and continues to be that a
lab leak is the only explanation credibly supported by our intelligence, by
science, and by commonsense. From a view inside the IC, if our
intelligence and evidence supporting a lab leak theory was placed side-by-

8 June 2023 ODNI Assessment, supra note 3.

o1d.

10 Hannah Rabinowitz, FBI Director Wray acknowledges bureau assessment that Covid-19 likely resulted from lab
incident, CNN (updated Mar. 1, 2023); Jeremy Herb & Natasha Bertrand, US Energy Department assesses Covid-19
likely resulted from lab leak, furthering US intel divide over virus origin, CNN (Feb. 27, 2023).

' June 2023 ODNI Assessment, supra note 3.

12 Investigating the Origins of COVID: Hearing Before the Select Subcomm. on the Coronavirus Pandemic, 118
Cong, 1, (Mar. 8, 2023) [hereinafter “Investigating the Origins of COVID-19].
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side with our intelligence and evidence pointing to a natural origins or
spillover theory, the lab leak side of the ledger would be long, convincing,
even overwhelming, while the spillover side would be nearly empty and
tenuous. '

In January 2024, Mr. Wade voiced his increasing support for a lab incident origin.'* Mr.
Wade astutely noted that “SARS2 possesses a furin cleavage site, found in none of the other 871
known members of its viral family, so it cannot have gained such a site through the ordinary
evolutionary swaps of genetic material within a family.”!> With the natural evolution of a furin
cleavage site being nonexistent, Mr. Wade further noted that EcoHealth and the WIV’s DEFUSE
proposal, which was rejected by DARPA, sought to do what nature had not been ever known to
do—insert a furin cleavage site into a SARS2 virus.'® It is, therefore, more than just a
coincidence that COVID-19 emerged from the city with a lab preparing to conduct this research
under cost-effective yet risky BSL-2 protocols.!”

In June 2024, Dr. Chan explained five key points that support the lab leak scenario as
more plausible than a zoonotic spillover.'®

First, COVID-19 emerged in Wuhan, the city that happens to be the location of the
China’s foremost research lab for SARS-like viruses.'® Dr. Shi, has been researching SARS-like
viruses for over a decade and even initially wondered if the outbreak came from the WIV.%

Next, in 2018, a year before the outbreak, EcoHealth, in partnership with the WIV, in a
grant application to DARPA proposed to create a virus with SARS-CoV-2’s defining features. In
their application to DARPA, EcoHealth and its WIV partners stated their intent to create a
SARS-like virus with a furin cleavage site, which is the exact same feature that made humans
susceptible to COVID-19 infection.?!

Third, the WIV has a track record of engaging in this type of airborne viral research
under low biosafety conditions.?? At the WIV, it was known that Chinese researchers conducted
this type of research under BSL-2 protocols, which do not require masking at all times and
involves less protective equipment.? In the U.S., this type of research would be conducted under
BSL-3 protocols, which require stricter personal respirator use at all times and more protective

13 Investigating the Origins of COVID Part 2: China and the Available Intelligence: Hearing Before the Select
Subcomm. on the Coronavirus Pandemic, 118" Cong, 1, (Apr. 18, 2023) [hereinafter “Investigating the Origins of
COVID Part 2: China and the Available Intelligence”].

14 Nicholas Wade, The Story of the Decade, CITY JOURNAL (Jan. 25, 2024).

15

o1

7 1d.

18 Alina Chan, Why the Pandemic Probably Started in a Lab, in 5 Key Points, THEN.Y. TIMES (June 3, 2024)
[hereinafter “Chan’].
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equipment.?* In fact, in a draft proposal for the grant to DARPA, Dr. Daszak acknowledged that
some of the SARS-CoV-2 research would be conducted at BSL-2 at the WIV.?

The modeling team will use these data to build models of 1) risk of vira
evolution and spillover, and ) strategies to maximize inoculation strategy.
Data on the diversity of bat spike proteins, prevalence of recombinant CoVs, ability to
bind and infect human cells, degree of clinical signs in mouse models, will be used to
estimate evolutionary rates, rates of recombination, and capacity to generate novel
strains capable of human infection. Using dynamic metapopulation models, we will
estimate the flow of genes within each bat cave, based on the known host and viral
assemblages. This will inform how rapidly new CoV strains with distinct phenotypic
characteristics evolve. Because of our unigue collaboration ameng world-class
modelers, and corenavirologists, we will be able to test model predictions of viral
capacity for spillover by conducting spike protein-based binding and cell culture
experiments. The B5L-2 nature of work on SARSr-CoV's makes our system highly cost-
effective relative to other bat-virus systems [e.g. Ebola, Marburg, Hendra, Nipah), which

require B5L-4 level facilities for cell culture. _—{ Commented [BRS17]: IN the US, these recombinant
We will use modeling approaches, the data above, and other blological and zg:g;“ﬁﬂ;:rmm'lmmm’:ﬁ; ::_m:‘::_;"’m
ecological data to estimate how rapidly high-risk SARSr-CoV's will re-colonize a bat primary human cells.
. : In china, might be growin these virus under belZ US
population following iImmune boosting or priming. We will obtain model estimates of | reseachers wil Liely fresk out

the frequency of inoculation required for both approaches, what proportion of a
population needs to be reached to have effective viral dampening, and whether specific
seasons, or locations within a cave would be more effective to treat. We will then model

Fourth, the evidence supporting that COVID-19 came from an animal at the Huanan
Seafood Market in Wuhan is tenuous.?® Dr. Chan points of that “the existing genetic and early
case data show that all known COVID-19 cases probably stem from a single introduction of
SARS-CoV-2 into people, and the outbreak at the Wuhan market probably happened after the
virus had already been circulating in humans.”?’ Furthermore, no infected animal has been
verified at the Wuhan market or its supply chain.?

Finally, key evidence that would be expected if the virus had emerged from the wildlife
trade is still missing.? In previous outbreaks, such as SARS in 2002 and MERS in 2012,
infected animals were found, the earliest cases occurred in people exposed to live animals, and
ancestral variants of the virus found in animals were discovered, but none of this evidence has
been discovered for COVID-19.%°

In September 2024, Mr. Boris Johnson, former British Prime Minister, stated his belief
that the COVID-19 pandemic originated via a laboratory or research related accident in Wuhan.?!

#Ud.

25 Emily Kopp, American scientists misled Pentagon on research at the Wuhan Institute of Virology, U.S. RIGHT TO
KNow (Dec. 18, 2023).

26 Chan, supra note 18.

71d.
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31 Jane Dalton, Boris Johnson claims Covid originated in lab, in sudden U-turn in his views, INDEPENDENT (Sept.
29, 2024).
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Mr. Johnson noted that the pandemic “now looks overwhelmingly likely that the mutation was
the result of some botched experiment in a Chinese lab.”3?

In November 2024, Biden-Harris Administration COVID-19 Response Coordinator, Dr.
Ashish K. Jha, wrote that Chinese “senior military officers have been writing for years about the
potential benefits of offensive biological warfare.”** He also acknowledged that the COVID-19
virus might have accidentally leaked from a lab.>*

On November 21, 2024, Dr. Tim Spector, Professor at King’s College London, who
played a significant role in the pandemic response in the United Kingdom, recently doubled
down on his belief that the lab leak is the most likely source of the pandemic.* Dr. Spector noted
that “[i]t’s looking increasingly like that was a bit of a cover-up and the most likely source of this
was a lab leak from Wuhan.”3°

Over the course of the pandemic, there have also been studies suggesting COVID-19’s
emergence was zoonotic and transferred from an animal to a human.’” Dr. Lipkin described two
of these studies as “armchair epidemiology,”*® Dr. Baric described one as having a “major
problem,”* and Dr. Holden Thorp, the Editor-in-Chief of Science (the publisher of two of these
studies) testified these studies “do not conclusively prove [ ] the theory of natural origin.”*

As Mr. Ratcliffe testified, the ledger on the side of lab leak is full of convincing evidence
while the spillover side is nearly empty. Since January 2020, the body of evidence has only
grown stronger in support of a lab leak theory.

FINDING: “The Proximal Origin of SARS-CoV-2” Was “Prompted” by Dr. Anthony Fauci to
“Disprove” the Lab Leak Theory.

On February 16, 2020, Dr. Rambaut, on behalf of himself and his co-authors, Dr.
Andersen, Dr. Lipkin, Dr. Holmes, and Dr. Garry posted “The Proximal Origin of SARS-CoV-2"

32 1d.

33 Ashish K. Jha, et al., The U.S. could soon face a threat ‘more powerful’ than nuclear weapons, THE WASH. POST
(Nov. 11, 2024).

#*d.

35 Sarah Knapton, Lab leak most likely source of Covid, says Prof Tim Spector, THE TELEGRAPH (Nov. 21, 2024).

3 1d.

37 Alexander Crits-Christoph, et. al., Genetic tracing of market wildlife and viruses at the epicenter of the COVID-19
pandemic, CELL 187: 5468-5482; Edward Holmes, et. al., The origins of SARS-CoV-2: A critical review, CELL 184:
4848-4856; Jonthan Pekar, et. al., The molecular epidemiology of multiple zoonotic origins of SARS-CoV-2, SCIENCE
377:960-966; Michael Worobey, et. al., The Hunan Seafood Wholesale Market in Wuhan was the early epicenter of
the COVIDI-9 pandemic, SCIENCE 377: 951-959; Edward Holmes, et. al., The emergence and evolution of SARS-
CoV-2, ANN. REV. VIROL. (Sept. 11, 2024).

38 Transcribed Interview of lan Lipkin, M.D., John Snow Professor of Epidemiology, Columbia Univ. (Apr. 6, 2023)
[hereinafter “Lipkin TI”].

39 Transcribed Interview of Ralph Baric, Ph.D., Professor, University of N. Carolina, at 102 (Jan. 22, 2024)
[hereinafter “Baric TI”].

40 Academic Malpractice: Examining the Relationship Between Scientific Journals, the Government, and Peer
Review: Hearing Before the Select Subcomm. on the Coronavirus Pandemic, 118" Cong, (Apr. 11, 202) (Statement
of Dr. Holden Thorp, Editor-in-Chief, Science Journals).
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on the website Virological.*' One month later, on March 17, 2020, “The proximal origin of
SARS-CoV-2” [hereinafter “Proximal Origin”] was published in Nature Medicine.**

The authors of Proximal Origin stated two primary conclusions: (1) “...[COVID-19] is
not a laboratory construct or a purposefully manipulated virus,” and (2) “we do not believe that
any type of laboratory-based scenario is plausible.”*

January 2020

According to Dr. Farrar, the initial discussions regarding the sequence of COVID-19 and
any unusual aspects began on January 8 or 9.* At that point it is unclear what the concerns were
or who exactly was involved, however e-mails suggest that Dr. Farrar called both Chinese
officials and Dr. Collins.*®

Message

From: leremy Farrar

Sent: 7/28/202012:36:51 AM
To: Edward Holmes

cc: Kristian G. Ande”, anthony (NtH/N1aiD) (€] ([
Subject: Re: The authors who wrote the paper saying that SARS-CoV-2 is not human enginesred first tried convincing

Anthony Fauci of the opposite.

Thanks Eddie.

| will recheck emails and phones, | will try and do that today.

| think it really starts on the 8/9" January and the calls you and | had with China and the criginal sequence.
And others were also on those calls = Francis Collins, Mike Ferguson, Patrick Vallance.

| would suggest we get the sequence of events absolutely right before replying.

Best wishes Jeremy

According to Dr. Farrar he became aware of “chatter” suggesting the virus looked almost
engineered to infect human cells in the last week of January.*® In Dr. Farrar’s own words, “[t]hat
got my mind racing. This was a brand-new virus that seemingly sprang from nowhere. Except

41 Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., et. al., The Proximal Origin of SARS-CoV-2, VIROLOGICAL (Feb. 16, 2020),
https://virological.org/t/the-proximal-origin-of-sars-cov-2/398.

42 Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., et. al., The proximal origin of SARS-CoV-2, NATURE MEDICINE (Mar. 17, 2020)
[hereinafter “Proximal Origin”].

B

4 E-Mail from Jeremy Farrar, Dir., Wellcome Trust, to Eddie Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney, et. al.
(July 28, 2020, 12:36 AM).

4 Id. (Dr. Collins did not recall being on any calls with Chinese officials or Dr. Farrar, separately or together, during
this time period.).

46 Jeremy Farrar, Spike: The Virus vs. The People — The Inside Story (Profile Books 2021) [hereinafter “Spike: The
Virus vs. The People — The Inside Story™].
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that this pathogen had surfaced in Wuhan, a city with a BSL-4 virology lab which is home to an
almost unrivalled collection of bat viruses.”*” Dr. Farrar’s first concern was, “[c]ould the novel-
coronavirus be anything to do with ‘gain-of-function’ (GOF) studies?”*® This is a type of
research that Dr. Farrar, much like Dr. Fauci, believed to be “ultimately useful.”*

Around this same time, Dr. Andersen shared his concerns regarding the possibility the
COVID-19 pandemic was the result of a lab leak and that it had properties that may have been
genetically modified or engineered—specifically the furin cleavage site—with Dr. Holmes.>°
According to Dr. Holmes, Dr. Andersen texted, “Eddie, can we talk? I need to be pulled off a
ledge here.”!

Dr. Andersen went on to express concerns regarding two distinct aspects of the virus—the
RBD and the furin cleavage site. Dr. Andersen also found a paper written by Dr. Baric and Dr.
Shi [hereinafter “Baric/Shi Paper”] that purported to have inserted furin cleavage sites into
SARS. As recounted by Dr. Farrar, this paper was a “how-to-manual for building the Wuhan
coronavirus in a laboratory.”>? Dr. Holmes responded, “fuck, this is bad” and “oh my god what
worse words than that.”>3

On January 30, 2020, Dr. Holmes relayed Dr. Andersen’s concerns to Dr. Farrar via his
burner phone.** Dr. Andersen recalled Dr. Holmes saying that Dr. Farrar acted as Dr. Holmes’
“handler.”>® Then, as Dr. Holmes characterized it, the conversations went from “zero to 100.”3°

January 31, 2020

In a transcribed interview, Dr. Andersen testified that after discussing his concerns with
Dr. Farrar, they began to organize a conference call [hereinafter “February 1 Conference Call”].”’
The February 1 Conference Call was a forum for Dr. Andersen to “walk through my concerns
and then...discuss it.”®

Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023)

And Jeremy [Farrar] gets all of this set up. He, I’m sure, has been in touch
with Tony Fauci at the time, reaches out to Dr. Fauci, asks him to call me.>’

1.

®Id.

Y

30 Vincent Racaniello, This Week in Virology 940 (Sept. 28, 2022) [hereinafter “Racaniello”].
SUId.

52 Spike: The Virus vs. the People, supra note 46.

33 Id; Racaniello, supra note 50.

M Id.

35 Transcribed Interview of Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research, at 16 (June 16, 2023) (hereinafter
“Andersen TI”).

36 Racaniello, supra note 50.

57 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 16.

8 Id.

¥ Id.
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It 1s unclear whether Dr. Farrar and Dr. Fauci had significant contact prior to the call, but
it was at this point that Dr. Farrar alerted Dr. Fauci to potential concerns and they began
orchestrating a conference call.®® Dr. Fauci’s assistant replied, “Will call shortly...”%!

From: Jeremy Farrar W
Sent: Friday, January 31, :
To: Fauci, Anthony (NIH/NIAID) [E] _

Subject: Phone call

Tony

Really would like to speak with you this evening

It is 10pm now UK

Can you phone me on +44 _

Jeremy

From: "Conrad, Patricia (NIH/NIAID) [E]“—on behalf of "Fauci, Anthony (NIH/NIAID) [E]"

Date: Friday, 31 January 2020 at 22:34
To: Jeremy Farrar
Subject: RE: Phone call

Will call shortly...

Patricia L. Conrad

Public Health Analyst and

Special Assistant to the Director

National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases

The National Institutes of Health

Bethesda, Maryland 20892

fax

Presumably, Dr. Fauci and Dr. Farrar discussed the concerns raised by Dr. Andersen and
Dr. Holmes because after their call, Dr. Farrar responds to Dr. Fauci and asks him to call Dr.
Andersen, stating, “[t]he people involved are: Kristian Andersen..., Bob Garry..., Eddie
Holmes.”®?

 E-Mail from Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir., Wellcome Trust, to Anthony Fauci, M.D., Dir., Nat’l Inst. of Allergy &
Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health (Jan. 31, 2020, 5:23 PM).

6! E-Mail from Patricia Conrad, Special Asst. to the Dir., Nat’] Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of
Health, to Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D.. Dir., Wellcome Trust (Jan. 31, 2020, 22:34).

62 E-Mail from Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir., Wellcome Trust, to Anthony Fauci, M.D., Dir., Nat’l Inst. of Allergy &
Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health (Jan. 31, 2020, 5:57 PM).
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From: Jeremy Farrar W

Sent: Friday, January 31, 2

To: Fauci, Anthony (NIH/NIAID) [E] _
Subject: Re: Phone call

Thanks Tony

Can you phone Kristian Anderson

I

He is expecting your call now.

The people involved are:

Kristian Anderson

https://www.scripps.edu/faculty/andersen/

Bob Garry

Eddie Holmes

https://sydney.edu.au/science/about/our-people/academic-staff/edward-holmes.html|

Dr. Fauci memorialized his January 31, 2020 conversation with Dr. Andersen.® In this e-
mail, Dr. Fauci raised direct concerns regarding the furin cleavage site, directed Dr. Andersen to
“get a group of evolutionary biologists together to examine carefully the data to determine if his
concerns are validated,” and stated that if there is a possibility COVID-19 came from a lab leak,
they would need to “report it to the appropriate authorities.”%* This appears to be Dr. Fauci’s first
mention of setting up a conference call and drafting a report. Dr. Fauci concluded by saying, “...I
will alert my U.S. Government official colleagues of my conversation...and determine what
further investigation they recommend.”%’

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

63 E-Mail from Anthony Fauci, M.D., Dir., Nat’] Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health, to
Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir., Wellcome Trust, & Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research (Jan. 31, 2020,
4:38 PM).

6 1d.
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On Fri, Jan 21, 2020 at 4:38 PM Fauci, Anthony (NIH/NIAID) [E] _wmte:

Jeremy:

| just got off the phone with Kristian Anderson and he related to me his concern about the

Furine site mutation in the spike protein of the currently circulating 2019-nCoV. | told him
that as soon as possible he and Eddie Holmes should get a group of evolutionary biologists
together to examine carefully the data to determine if his concerns are validated. He should
do this very quickly and if everyone agrees with this concern, they should report it to the
appropriate authorities. | would imagine that in the USA this would be the FBI and in the UK
it would be MI5. It would be important to quickly get confirmation of the cause of his
concern by experts in the field of coronaviruses and evolutionary biology. In the meantime, |
will alert my US. Government official colleagues of my conversation with you and Kristian and
determine what further investigation they recommend. Let us stay in touch.

Best regards,

Tony

Anthony §. Fauci, MD
Director

REV0000750

Mational Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases

Mational Institutes of Health
Bethesda, MD 20882-2520
Phone:

FAX:

E-mail:

The information in this e-mail and any of its attachments is confidential and may contain sensitive
information. It should not be used by anyone who is not the original intended recipient. if you have received
this e-mail in error please inform the sender and delete it from your mailbox or any other storage devices. The
MNational Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID) shall not accept liahility for any statemenis made
that are the sender's own and not expressly made on behalf of the NIAID by one of its representatives.

Dr. Andersen testified that January 31 was the first time he spoke to Dr. Fauci personally,
outside of potential interactions at conferences.®® Accordingly, it was also on the January 31
phone call between Dr. Fauci and Dr. Andersen when the first discussion of a paper regarding a
possible lab leak took place.%’

Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023)

Q. Was this the first time that you had ever spoken to Dr. Fauci, like
personally?

A. Probably. Yeah...
Outside of conferences or - -?

A. Sure. Yes. Yes. Yes. Absolutely, yes.

ksksk

%6 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 16.
7 Id.
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Q. So, I think you testified, and you can correct me if this isn’t a fair
characterization, that Dr. Fauci suggested a peer-reviewed paper of
some kind. When did that suggestion happen?

A. That happened - - again, the first phone call I had with him, which
was immediately prior - - I think a day prior [January 31], right, to
the conference call itself [February 1] where I relayed my initial
concerns and findings. He specifically suggested considering
writing a peer-reviewed publication on 1it, and specifically I
remember hearing him saying that if you think this came from a lab,
you should write this up as a peer-reviewed paper, so it can be
judged by the peer community basically, yeah.5®

Then, Mr. Folkers forwarded Dr. Fauci an article entitled, “Mining coronavirus genomes
for clues to the outbreak’s origins.”® This article directly mentions the Baric/Shi Paper that Dr.
Andersen found alarming, and links directly EcoHealth to the WIV.” Dr. Fauci forwarded the
article to Dr. Farrar and Dr. Andersen and said, “[t]his just came out today. You may have seen it.
If not, it is of interest to the current discussion.””! Dr. Andersen responded:’?

From: Kristian G. Andersen _

Sent: Friday, January 31, 2020 10:32 PM

To: Fauci, Anthony (NIH/NIAID) (E] N

cc: Jeremy Farrar |GG

Subject: Re: FW: Science: Mining coronavirus genomes for clues to the outbreak’s origins

Hi Tony,

Thanks for sharing. Yes, | saw this earlier today and both Eddie and myself are actually quoted in it. It's a great article,
but the problem is that our phylogenetic analyses aren’t able to answer whether the sequences are unusual at individual
residues, except if they are completely off. On a phylogenetic tree the virus looks totally normal and the close clustering
with bats suggest that bats serve as the reservoir. The unusual features of the virus make up a really small part of the
genome (<0.1%) so one has to look really closely at all the sequences to see that some of the features (potentially) look
engineered.

We have a good team lined up to look very critically at this, so we should know much more at the end of the weekend. |
should mention that after discussions earlier today, Eddie, Bob, Mike, and myself all find the genome inconsistent with
expectations from evolutionary theory. But we have to look at this much more closely and there are still further analyses
to be done, so those opinions could still change.

Best,
Kristian

8 1d.

6 E-Mail from Greg Folkers, Chief of Staff, Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health, to
Anthony Fauci, M.D., Dir., Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health (Jan. 31, 2020):; Jon
Cohen, Mining coronavirus genomes for clues to the outbreaks’ origins, SCIENCE (Jan. 31, 2020).

70 Jon Cohen, Mining coronavirus genomes for clues to the outbreaks’ origins, SCIENCE (Jan. 31, 2020).

"1 E-Mail from Anthony Fauci, M.D., Dir., Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health, to
Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir., Wellcome Trust, & Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research (Jan. 31,
2020).

2 E-Mail from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research, to Anthony Fauci, M.D., Dir.. Nat’l Inst. of
Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health, to Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir., Wellcome Trust (Jan. 31, 2020,
10:32 PM).
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Dr. Andersen clarified what “unusual features” he was referencing.

Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023)

Q. Which features, at that time, were you talking about?

A. Yeah, I’m talking about, like, the furin cleavage site, the receptor
binding domain, and a few things associated with that, the BamH1
restriction site that I mentioned, as well as some features associated
with that - - basically, what I ended up presenting the next day at
that conference call.”

Dr. Andersen subsequently confirmed that when he said the “genome inconsistent with
expectations from evolutionary theory” he meant he thought COVID-19 could have been
engineered.

Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023)

Q. ...[W]as it the furin cleavage site and the RBD that looked
inconsistent from evolutionary theory?

skok ok

A. And when I’m saying the genome is inconsistent with expectations

from evolutionary theory, it’s a bit of a fancy way of basically
saying, like, look, guys, I think this could be engineered.”

The next day, February 1, 2020, a group of scientists, including Dr. Fauci, gathered via
conference call for Dr. Andersen to present these findings and discuss a path forward.

February 1, 2020

On February 1, 2020, Dr. Farrar emailed a large group to set up the February 1
Conference Call to discuss Dr. Andersen’s concerns about the origins of COVID-19. The original
attendee list included:

Kristian Andersen
Bob Garry
Christian Drosten
Tony Fauci

Mike Ferguson
Ron Fouchier
Eddie Holmes

3 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 16.
" Id.
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Marion Koopmans
Stefan Pohlmann
Andrew Rambaut
Paul Schreier
Patrick Vallance.”

Despite Dr. Farrar sending the invitation on February 1, Dr. Andersen testified he was
aware of the potential of a call prior to February 1.

Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023)

Q. When did you first learn of this call? Was it when the roster was sent
out, February 15'?

A. No. I knew that the call was going to happen, because Eddie, myself
had talked about it, and I talked to Jeremy Farrar...This is where I
became aware of all the details surrounding the conference call.”®

In a transcribed interview, Dr. Garry testified he was also aware of the potential
conference call prior to February 1.

Dr. Robert Garry (June 9, 2023)

Q. How were you invited to this call?

A I believe I received an email from Jeremy Farrar.

Q. ...[T]o the best of you recollection, what day was that?

A Probably the day before or - - at most 2 days before, but I think it
was the day before.”’

In addition to Dr. Fauci, at least two other federal government officials were on the call
despite not being on the official roster—Dr. Collins and Dr. Tabak.

E-mails suggest that Dr. Fauci personally invited Dr. Collins.”

75 E-Mail from Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir., Wellcome Trust, to Anthony Fauci, M.D., Dir., Nat’l Inst. of Allergy &
Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health, et. al. (Feb. 1, 2020).

76 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 16.

7 Transcribed Interview of Robert Garry, Ph.D., Professor, Tulane University School of Medicine, at 16 (June 9,
2023) [hereinafter “Garry TI”].

8 E-Mail from Anthony Fauci, M.D., Dir., Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health, to
Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir., Wellcome Trust, & Francis Collins, M.D., Ph.D., Dir., Nat’l Insts. of Health (Feb. 1,
2020, 15:48); E-Mail from Anthony Fauci, M.D., Dir., Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of
Health, to Robert Garry, Ph.D., Professor, Tulane School of Medicine, et. al. (Feb. 1, 2020, 15:50).
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From: "Fauci, Anthony (MIH/NI&ID) [E]" ) (8=
Date; Saturday, 1 February 2020 at 15:48

To: leremy Farrar k) 1)
Ce: Francis Collins (b {8}
Subject: RE: Teleconference

Jeremy:
Francis will be on the call, He istrying to phane you,
Tany

From: "Fauci, Anthony (MIH/MIAID) [E]" i) ()
Date: Saturday, 1 February 2020 at 15:50
To: "Garry, Robert F* W6 lgremy Farrar b ()
Cc: Patrick Wallance &8, “Drosten, Chrstian”
B8 parion Koopmans ) (5
B8 Edward Holmes
(b} (6)
B8 "Kristian G. Andersen” (LR
Paul Schreier Wi, rpichael FMedsci {0 ()
Francis Collins B8 "Tabak, Lawrence (NIH/OD) [E]"
) ()
Subject: RE: Teleconference

Please include Francis Collins (copied here) on all subsequent correspondence regarding this
call. Thanks.

On March 24, 2023, the Select Subcommittee requested Dr. Fauci clarify whether he
personally invited Dr. Collins to the conference call.” On March 27, 2023, Dr. Fauci responded,
via Counsel, “[a]s one would reasonably expect, Dr. Fauci advised his immediate supervisor, Dr.
Francis Collins, that the call was taking place. Dr. Collins expressed an interest in joining the
call.”®® In a transcribed interview, Dr. Fauci further clarified this sequence of events.

Dr. Anthony Fauci (January 9, 2024)

Q. So I want to talk about the first forward of yours to Dr. Collins. Did
Dr. Collins request to be on the call? Like, how did the process --
you obviously forwarded the call-in details to Dr. Collins. How did
that process play out?

A. Well, Dr. Collins is my boss. So this seemed like a pretty important
call for NIH, so I thought it would be a good idea to let my boss
know.

7 Letter from Hon. Brad Wenstrup, Chairman, Select Subcomm. on the Coronavirus Pandemic, to Anthony Fauci,
M.D. Dir., Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health (Mar. 24, 2023).

80 Letter from David Schertler & Danny Ornato, Counsel for Dr. Anthony S. Fauci, to Hon. Brad Wenstrup,
Chairman, Select Subcomm. on the Coronavirus Pandemic (Mar. 27, 2023).
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So you got invited -- or you had the January 31st call, got invited to
the conference call after Farrar set it all up, and then went and was
like, "Dr. Collins, there's this call happening. Would you like to take
part?" Is that fair?

I believe that's the way it went, because -- yeah, I believe that's the
way it went.

Okay. It's been in the news for a while and Dr. Redfield has talked
about this a lot and testified in front of us in March that he was not
included in the call. He was very clear to say he was not -- he's not
testifying that he was intentionally excluded, just that he was not
included. At any point, did —

Actually, he said that I kept him out of the call because he had a
different viewpoint.

He did say that —

He said that clearly.

Do you recall having any conversations with —
Sorry.

No. No problem. Do you recall having any conversations with Dr.
Redfield about the call?

No. No.

Why not?

Because why would I do that? This was a call that was organized by
Jeremy Farrar, who was the organizer of the call, and it wasn't my
call who was in and on. But it was perfectly appropriate for me to

notify my boss.

This is the beginning of a pandemic, discussing how to respond to
the pandemic.

Yeah. Yeah.
Dr. Redfield is the head of the CDC —

No, I'm sorry, I disagree with you.
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Okay.

A. I disagree with you completely. It is my responsibility to notify my
boss. The next morning, I notified the chief of staff of the
Department of Health and Human Services, who is the chief of staff
to the Secretary, who is Bob Redfield's boss.

Q. Did you have any conversations with Dr. Redfield after the fact
regarding the call?

A. I don't recall.®!

Dr. Tabak was also on the February 1 Conference Call.®?

Message

From: Mike Ferguson

Sent: 2/9/2020 12:00:46 PM

To: xga197s || R

cc: coIIinsf- afauci(_ Josie Golding
christian.drosten

Subject: Re: 2019 N-CoV -

Attachments: Summary.Feb7_MF.pdf

Dear Jeremy et al
| have made some comments and suggestions on the pdf attached.
| am not an expert on protein O-glycosylation - however, Dr Tabak, who was on the call last weekend, is and if

| were to consult anyone else on this it would be Henrik Clausen
nttps://icmm.ku.dk/english/research-groups/clausen-group/

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (January 5, 2024)

Q. ...And I don’t - - we don’t know - - I don’t know if Dr. Fauci ever
responded, but did you end up on the February 1* conference call?

A. Idid.®

Dr. Andersen testified to what he presented on the February 1 conference call.

81 Transcribed Interview of Anthony Fauci, M.D., former Dir., Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l
Insts. of Health, at 61-63 (Jan. 9, 2024) [hereinafter “Fauci TI 2”].

82 E-Mail from Mike Ferguson, Professor. University of Dundee, to Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir., Wellcome Trust. e.
al. (Feb. 9, 2020, 12:00 PM).

83 Transcribed Interview of Lawrence A. Tabak, D.D.S., Ph.D.. Principal Dep. Dir., Nat’l Insts. of Health, at 133
(Jan. 5, 2024) [hereinafter “Tabak TI”].
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Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023)

Q. And what, to the best of your recollection, and briefly, what did you
present on the call?

A. I presented the main findings I had, which was some of the features
that I found to be unusual in the viral genome, including the receptor
binding domain, the furin cleavage site, the damage, one site which
is a restriction site, and also just outlining some of the research that
have been ongoing at the Wuhan Institute of Virology. And I had a
presentation, which you have as part of your exhibits too.

Regarding the Wuhan Institute of Virology, what did you present?

A. Just in broad terms, the fact that they were culturing viruses from
bats, or attempting to culture viruses from bats, isolate viruses from
bat samples, which is not easy, in BSL-2; and, also, some of their
chimeric work using WIV-1, for example, which is a common
backbone that they are using; as well as just the general strategies
around creating chimeric viruses, much of which I believe was done
in BSL-2 and, as I mentioned, animal work in BSL-3. But those
were my, sort of, concerns around the research and the reason, of
course, for why we need to consider a potential lab leak as a
scientific hypothesis, yes.®*

Dr. Andersen further testified that the primary participants on the call were himself, Dr.
Rambaut, Dr. Holmes, Dr. Christian Drosten,® Dr. Ron Fouchier,*® and Dr. Marion
Koopmans.®” # Both Dr. Garry and Dr. Andersen testified about any comments made by Dr.
Fauci or Dr. Collins on the February 1 Conference Call.

Dr. Robert Garry (June 9, 2023)

Q. Did [Dr. Fauci] say anything?
A. He didn’t say a whole a lot.

Q. To your recollection - - what did he say?

8 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 89-90.

85 Dr. Christian Drosten: Professor, Deputy Coordinator Emerging Infections, German Center for Infection Research,
DE.

% Dr. Ron Fouchier: Deputy Head of the Erasmus MC Department of Viroscience, Erasmus MC, NL.

87 Dr. Marion Koopmans: Head of the Erasmus MC Department of Viroscience, Erasmus MC, NL.

88 Andersen T, supra note 55, at 98.
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A. He just acknowledged that he was there, but the details are not really
clear. He really didn't say much of substance. It was, you know -- I
mean, Jeremy Farrar was clearly sort of introducing and ending the
meeting. It was his call to make. Neither Fauci or Collins really
had much to say, other than just, you know, maybe a point of
clarification here or there.

&k

...Was Dr. Collins on the call?

A. He was on the call. What I remember was is that he was basically
on and off the call, because I think he was having some kind of a
social event at the time. So, he did come on and off. But he, you
know, he made his presence, you know, just I'm here, basically,
known a couple of times.

Q. Was that - - to your recollection, was that the substance of his
speaking role?

A. He really didn’t offer anything scientifically.®

Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023)

Q. On the conference call -- we talked a little bit about it -- what do you
recall Dr. Fauci saying, if he said anything?

A. I honestly don't remember Dr. Fauci, Collins -- I believe there
might've been other NIH contingents on the call too. They probably
had some questions, but I don't recollect that they -- they certainly
didn't add anything of substance to the scientific discussion. Again,
the discussions were: Jeremy said a few things to sort of set up the
call and "here's what we're going to do," but, otherwise, the
conversation was just between myself, Eddie Holmes, Andy
Rambaut, Christian Drosten, Ron Fouchier in particular, so among
the experts present on the call.

Do you recall Dr. Collins saying anything on the conference call?

A. I do not, no.*®

8 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 132.
% Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 96.
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In a transcribed interview, Dr. Tabak testified he joined the call to discuss the presence of
O-linked glycans and that the presence of these glycans does not indicate whether COVID-19
emerged as a natural spillover or via a laboratory related incident.

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (January 5, 2024)

Q. ...So0 kind of just the invitation just kind of fell into your inbox, and
you went from there?

A. I had a specific reason for wanting to join the call.
Q. What was that?

A. Because I had one observation that [ wanted to share with the group,
and I did.

Q. Was it the O-linked glycans?

A. Correct.
sokok
Q. I appreciate it. I'm not a scientist at all, so, like, anything that I've

learned is because I've just been listening to people like you. But the
presence of the O-linked glycans themselves does not lean one way
or another?

A. I don't think so.
Okay.

A. I think you could argue it either way. I really do.”!

The February 1 conference call was subsequently summarized in a memo.®?

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

°! Tabak TI, supra note 83, at 134- 136.
92 E-Mail from Lawrence Kerr, Ph.D., Dir., Off. Of Pandemic and Emerging Threats, Off. Of Global Affairs, U.S.
Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., to REDACTED (Feb. 5, 2020, 1:54 AM).
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DRAFT PROPOSAL: WHO-Convened Discussion on Evolutionary Origins of 2019-nCoV

Since the release of the first full genome sequence of 2019-nCoV on January 10, 2020, the global
scientific community has been rapidly and diligently analyzing the available sequence information and
other data in order to learn more about the origins and properties of this newly emerging virus. Initial
analyses have identified phylogenetic linkages to other betacoronaviruses from bats, and we anticipate
learning more about the origins of this virus as additional sequences are released and further analyses are
performed. However, the combination of the global spotlight on the outbreak, the speed at which the
results of these analyses are being released (not all of which have been peer-reviewed), and the creation
of rumors by multiple and varied interpretations of the results have fueled rumors and suspicion of
potential intentional creation of this new virus. To address responsibly such rumors and more fully
understand the potential future risk to human health from this and other coronaviruses of animal origin,
we propose that WHO bring together scientific experts that are broadly representative of the global
scientific community for the specific purpose of evaluating the evolutionary origins of 2019-nCoV.

On February 1, 2020, U.S. National Institutes of Health Director Francis Collins, U.S. National Institute
of Allergy and Infectious Diseases Director Anthony Fauci, and Wellcome Trust Director Jeremy Farrar
discussed emerging published analyses on potential evolutionary origins of the virus with several highly
esteemed scientists with expertise in evolutionary biology. The group was unanimous in their
assessment that the paper by an Indian research group pointing out that there are HIV gene sequences in
the 2019-nCoV virus and thus indicating intentional insertion were not credible. However, several in
the group noted that the sequences of published isolates of the nCoV included mutations in the virus that
have never been seen before in a bat virus. Although there were some who felt such mutations could
occur naturally, others felt that they were suggestive of intentional insertion, thus questioning the origin
of the virus. Thus, the group agreed that it would be beneficial to gather a larger group of scientific
experts broadly representative of the global scientific community convened by WHO to discuss the
evolutionary origins of 2019-nCoV and its lessons for future risk assessment and understanding of
animal/human coronaviruses.

Participants in the call included:
e Francis Collins, Director of the U.S. National Institutes of Health, U.S.;
e Anthony Fauci, Director of the U.S. National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, U.S.;
e Jeremy Farrar, Director of the Wellcome Trust;
e Patrick Vallance, U.K. Chief Scientific Adviser and Head of the Government Science and
Engineering;
e Kristian Anderson, Director of Infectious Disease Genomics, Scripps Research Translational
Institute, CA, U.S.;
e Christian Drosten, Director of Human Virology at the German Center for Infection Research at
Charité — Universitidtsmedizin, Germany;
e Edward Holmes, Professor of Viral Evolution at University of Sydney;
Andrew Rambaut, Professor of Molecular Evolution, University of Edinburgh’s Institute of
Evolutionary Biology, U.K.;
Ron Fouchier, Deputy Head of Department of Viroscience, Erasmus Medical Center, NL;
Robert Garry, Professor of Virology, Tulane University School of Medicine, Louisiana, U.S. ;
Mike Ferguson, Professor of Life Sciences at University of Dundee, U.K.; and
M.P.G. Koopmans, Head of Department of ViroScience, Erasmus Medical Center, NL.

SSCP_NIH004535
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Both Dr. Andersen and Dr. Garry testified regarding if Dr. Fauci ever directed them to
write a paper regarding the origins of COVID-19. Dr. Garry testified, “he never directed that to
me.”**> However, Dr. Garry clarified, “I'm not privy to all the communications that Dr. Fauci had
with the other authors.”** Dr. Andersen testified that in addition to Dr. Fauci “suggesting” a
paper about a potential lab leak on January 31, 2020, on the February 1 Conference Call, Dr.
Fauci “encouraged to, you know, follow the scientific process on this which ultimately ends up
in peer-reviewed publications.”®® Dr. Andersen clarified that Dr. Fauci specifically mentioned
drafting a peer-reviewed paper on January 31, stating, “he specifically mentioned that if
believed this was a lab leak, I should consider writing a peer-reviewed paper on it.”*®

When Dr. Andersen presented a draft of Proximal Origin to Nature, he stated it was

“prompted” by Dr. Fauci and later stated the goal of Proximal Origin was to “disprove the lab
leak theory.””’

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

9 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 133-134.

H*Id.

%5 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 145.

% Id.

97 E-Mail from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research, to Clare Thomas, Editor, Nature (Feb. 12,
2020, 23:09); E-Mail from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research, to Christian Drosten, Ph.D.,
Deputy Coordinator for Emerging Infections, German Center for Infection Research, ez. al. (Feb. 8, 2020).
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From: Kristian G. Andersen_

Sent: 12 February 2020 23:

To: Clare Thomas

Subject: Interest in commentary/hypothesis on SARS-CoV-2 origins?

Dear Clare,

[ can only imagine you must be crazy busy at the moment! I wanted to reach out to you to sce if there would be
interest in receiving a commentary/hypothesis piece on the evolutionary origins of SARS-CoV-2? There has
been a lot of speculation, fear mongering, and conspiracies put forward in this space and we thought that
bringing some clarity to this discussion might be of interest to Nature.

Prompted by Jeremy Farrah, Tony Fauci, and Francis Collins, Eddie Holmes, Andrew Rambaut, Bob Garry, Ian
Lipkin, and myself have been working through much of the (primarily) genetic data to provide agnostic and
scientifically informed hypotheses around the origins of the virus. We are not quite finished with the writeup
and we still have some loose ends, but I wanted to reach out to you to see if this might potentially be of interest?
We see this more as a commentary/hypothesis, as opposed to a more long-form Letter or Article.

Best,
Kristian

Kristian G. Andersen, PhD

Associate Protessor, Scripps Research
Director of Infectious Disease Genomics, Scripps Research Translational Institute
Director, Center for Viral Systems Biology

The Scripps Research Institute
10550 North Torrey Pines Road, SGM-300A
Department of Immunology and Microbial Science

La Jolla, CA 92037

0o GY

When asked about this e-mail, Dr. Garry testified:

Dr. Robert Garry (June 9. 2023)

Q. Did Dr. Andersen ever express this to you, the feeling that he was
prompted by Dr. Farrar, Dr. Fauci, and Dr. Collins?

A. I mean, I think in the -- in the broad sense. Yeah, I'm not quite so
sure how to answer that. I mean, you know, this is the first time I'm
actually seeing this email, the way he wrote it here. So, I'm a little
surprised that he wrote it that way. I probably wouldn't have written
it this way. But, you know, I think you're probably going to have to
ask Kristian what he thought about, you know, why he put it that
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way. Maybe he was, you know -- I don't know. I really shouldn't
speculate on that. You probably need to ask him.”8

When asked about this email, Dr. Andersen confirmed that he was referencing the
January 31 phone call with Dr. Fauci.

Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023)

Q. What did you mean by “prompted by Jeremy Farrar, Tony Fauci,
and Francis Collins”?

A. I mean specifically that -- again, as I've already explained, is that
they prompted us to the idea of seriously considering the origin of
the virus and to consider producing a paper on that...And, again,
remember my first conversation with Tony Fauci, where he
specifically suggests that if I think this came from the lab, I should
consider writing a scientific paper on it.

Q. So that’s what the - - the prompt he was referencing - - that first
conversation?

A. Correct.”’

The first draft of a report that would become Proximal Origin was completed by 7:40
p.m. on February 1—only hours after the conference call. While it may not have been the goal of
the February 1 Conference Call, a written product of some sort was certainly discussed and
contemplated on the February 1 Conference Call.

Dr. Robert Garry (June 9, 2023)

Well, you know, of course, we had the teleconference on February the 1st,
2020. And we had already, you know, had many discussions amongst
ourselves, I mean. And by ourselves, I mean Kristian and Eddie and
Andrew and I, with other people. So, you know, there were sort of notions
and ideas circulating around.

And, you know, the possibility of the paper, we're scientists. We write
papers. We communicate. We do, you know, we do science
communication. That's the sort of the final stamp on a lot of work that you
might do is to write up a paper. So, of course, I think that was in everyone's
mind...

% Garry TI, supra note 77, at 166.
9 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 170.
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And so, I think by, you know, by that February 1 teleconference, if you want
to mark it there, I mean, it didn't take too many days after that.'%

The Stated Goals of Proximal Origin

First, on February 8, 2020, Dr. Andersen wrote, “[o]ur main work over the past couple of
weeks has been focused on trying to disprove any type of lab theory, but we are a crossroad
where the scientific evidence isn’t conclusive enough to say that we have high confidence in any
of the three main theories considered.”!’!

On 8 Feb 2020, at 22:15, Kristian G. Andersen — wrote:

A lot of good discussion here, so | just wanted to add a couple of things for context that | think are important - and why
what we're considering is far from "another conspiracy theory", but rather is taking a valid scientific approach to a
question that is increasingly being asked by the public, media, scientists, and politicians (e.g., | have been contacted by
Science, NYT, and many other news outlets over the last couple of days about this exact question).

To Ron's question, passage of SARS-like CoVs have been ongoing for several years, and more specifically in Wuhan under
BSL-2 conditions - see references 12-15 in the document for a few examples. The fact that Wuhan became the epicenter
of the ongoing epidemic caused by nCoV is likely an unfortunate coincidence, but it raises questions that would be
wrong to dismiss out of hand. Our main work over the last couple of weeks has been focused on trying to disprove any
type of lab theory, but we are at a crossroad where the scientific evidence isn't conclusive enough to say that we have
high confidence in any of the three main theories considered. Like Eddie - and | believe Bob, Andrew, and everybody on
this email as well - | am very hopeful that the viruses from pangolins will help provide the missing pieces. For now, giving
the lab theory serious consideration has been highly effective at countering many of the circulating conspiracy theories,
including HIV recombinants, bioengineering, etc. - here's just one

example: https://www.factcheck.org/2020/02/baseless-conspiracy-theories-claim-new-coronavirus-was-

bioengineered/.

As to publishing this document in a journal, | am currently not in favor of doing so. | believe that publishing something
that is open-ended could backfire at this stage. | think it's important that we try to gather additional evidence - including
waiting on the pangolin virus sequences and further scrutinize the furin cleavage site and O-linked glycans - before
publishing. That way we can (hopefully) come out with some strong conclusive statements that are based on the best
data we have access to. | don't think we are there yet.

Best,
Kristian

Second, on February 20, 2020, Dr. Andersen—in trying to defend the viability of
Proximal Origin—wrote, “[u]nfortunately none of this helps refute a lab origin and the
possibility must be considered as a serious scientific theory (which is what we do) and not
dismissed out of hand as another ‘conspiracy’ theory. We all really, really wish that we could do
that (that’s how this got started), but unfortunately it’s just not possible given the data.”!??

10 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 130-131.

101 E_Mail from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research, to Christian Drosten, Ph.D., Deputy
Coordinator for Emerging Infections, German Center for Infection Research, et. al. (Feb. 8, 2020, 22:15).

102 E_Mail from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research, to Clare Thomas, Ph.D., Senior Editor,
Nature (Feb. 20, 2020, 17:48).
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From: Kristian G. Andersen

Sent: 20 February 2020 17:48

To: Clare Thomas

Subject: Re: Decision on Nature submission 2020-02-02583

Thanks Clare for letting me know so quickly. I'll discuss with the other authors to see what the best path
would be - just one thing to make clear though, reviewer 2 is unfortunately wrong about "Once the authors
publish their new pangolin sequences, a lab origin will be extremely unlikely". Had that been the case, we
would of course have included that - but the more sequences we see from pangolins (and we have been
analyzing/discussing these very carefully) the more unlikely it seems that they're intermediate hosts. They
definitely harbor SARS-CoV-like viruses, no doubt, but it's unlikely they have a direct connection to the
COVID-19 epidemic. Unfortunately none of this helps refute a lab origin and the possibility must be
considered as a serious scientific theory (which is what we do) and not dismissed out of hand as another
‘conspiracy' theory. We all really, really wish that we could do that (that's how this got started), but
unfortunately it's just not possible given the data.

Thanks again for considering our manuscript and while we had of course hoped for a better outcome, we
understand the decision.

Best,
Kristian

According to Dr. Farrar, in addition to the specific goal of disproving the lab leak theory,
Proximal Origin was to be a “go to scientific statement to refer to.”!% Further, Dr. Farrar e-
mailed Dr. Daszak and stated the goal of Proximal Origin was to “effectively [put] to bed the
issue of the origin of the virus.”!*

From: Jeremy Farrar <

To: "Peter Daszak" "Christian Drosten"

"Michael RYAN" "Bernhard F. SCHWARTLANDER"

Subject COVID-19 issue
Sent: Wed 2/12/2020 9:34:49 AM (UTC-035:00)

Got a taxi to airport and on flight with Peter.

| hope there is a paper/letter ready this week to go to Nature (and WHO) which effectively puts to bed the
issue of the origin of the virus.

| do think important to get ahead of even more discussion on this which may well come if this spreads
more to US and elsewhere and other “respected” scientists publish something more inflammatory.

103 E-Mail from Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir., Wellcome Trust, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps

Research, et. al. (Feb. 8, 2020).

104 E-Mail from Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir., Wellcome Trust, to Peter Daszak, Ph.D.. Pres., EcoHealth Alliance, Inc.
(Feb. 12, 2020, 9:34 AM).
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The Possible Motives of Proximal Origin

The first possible motive to downplay the lab leak theory was an interest by those
involved to defend China. This motive was expressed by numerous individuals including Dr.
Farrar, Dr. Rambaut, Dr. Andersen, Dr. Fouchier. Similarly, Dr. Collins expressed concerns
regarding “international harmony.”!%

1. Dr. Andrew Rambaut

On February 2, 2020, Dr. Rambaut, communicating over a private Slack channel with Dr.
Andersen, Dr. Holmes, and Dr. Garry, wrote, “given the shit show that would happen if anyone
serious accused the Chinese of even accidental release, my feeling is we should say that given
there is no evidence of a specifically engineered virus, we cannot possibly distinguish between
natural evolution and escape so we are content with ascribing it to natural process.”!%

2. Dr. Kristian Andersen

In response to Dr. Rambaut’s message above, Dr. Andersen replied, “[y]up, I totally agree
that that’s a very reasonable conclusion. Although I hate when politics is injected into science —
but its impossible not to, especially given the circumstances.”!?’

3. Dr. Ron Fouchier

Dr. Fouchier, in emails following the February 1 Conference Call, stated, “...further
debate about such accusations would unnecessarily distract top researchers from their active
duties and do unnecessary harm to science in general and science in China in particular.”!%

4. Dr. Francis Collins

Dr. Collins, in emails following the February 1 Conference Call, stated, “...the voices of
conspiracy will quickly dominate, doing great potential harm to science and international
harmony.”!'%

The second possible motive to downplay the lab leak theory was to lessen the likelihood
of increased biosafety and laboratory regulations. Dr. Fouchier stated, “[t]his manuscript would
be much stronger if it focused on the likelihood of the first 2 scenarios as compared to intentional
or accidental release. That would also limit the chance of new biosafety discussion that would

105 E_Mail from Francis Collins, M.D., Dir. Nat’l Insts. of Health, to Jeremy Farrar, M.D., Dir. Wellcome Trust, et.
al. (Feb. 2, 2020).

106 Message from Andrew Rambaut, Ph.D., Slack (Feb. 2, 2020, 11:53 AM).

107 Message from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Slack (Feb. 2, 2020, 11:56 AM).

108 E-Mail from Ron Fouchier, Ph.D., Deputy Head of the Erasmus MC Department of Viroscience, Erasmus MC, to
Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir. Wellcome Trust, et. al. (Feb. 2, 2020, 8:30 AM).

109 E_Mail from Francis Collins, M.D., Ph.D., Dir. Nat’l Insts. of Health, to Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir. Wellcome
Trust, et al. (Feb. 2, 2020, 10: 27).
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unnecessarily obstruct future attempts of virus culturing for research and diagnostic purposes for
any (emerging/zoonotic virus).”!°

Message

From: R.A.M. Fouchie

Sent: 2/8/2020 11:36:30 AM

To: Jeremy Farrar Edward Holmes— kga1978_;

Andrew Rambaut rfgarry
CcC: ; ; collinsf (NN - fauci ; Josie Golding
M.P.G.Koopmans ; christian.drosten-; Mike

Subject: Re: 2019 N-CoV
Attachments: Summary.Feb7 RF.pdf

I am not in favor of publishing as is. | fail to see how the last of the three discussed scenarios (passaging) does not fall
under the category of “laboratory manipulation”. There is no evidence that might hint to this scenario and hence it
should be put aside just like the engineering option. As far as | am aware, no laboratory has worked on passaging the
pangolin-origin virus, the bat-CoV RaTG13, or another closely related virus or had access to it prior to the outbreak. That
nCoV-2019 could originate from a SARS-like virus in Chinese labs can also be excluded. This information could be added
after reference 10 in the manuscript, to provide further argument.

If we assume passaging as a possible scenario here, we must assume it is also plausible for all outbreaks from the past,
present and future. This manuscript would be much stronger if it focused on the likelihood of the first 2 scenarios as
compared to intentional or accidental release. That would also limit the chance of new biosafety discussions that would
unnecessarily obstruct future attempts of virus culturing for research and diagnostic purposes for any
(emerging/zoonotic) virus.

| made some additional comments in the attached pdf, also in line with Andrew’s comments.

With kind regards,
Ron

The Involvement of Dr. Fauci, Dr. Collins, and Dr. Farrar

Throughout the drafting process, the authors of Proximal Origin were keenly aware of the
influence of Dr. Fauci, Dr. Collins, and Dr. Farrar.

It appears a draft of Proximal Origin did not leave the authorship group until on or around
February 4 or 5. Dr. Andersen wrote to Dr. Holmes, Dr. Garry, and Dr. Rambaut, “[u]nless others
have further comments, I’d say this is ready to go up the chain.”!!! Dr. Holmes responded,
“[w]orks for me. Should I quickly check with Jeremy to see if he is happy for it to be circulated
to the higher group?”!'? A few hours later, Dr. Holmes sent the first summary to Dr. Farrar.!!?

110 E_Mail from Ron Fouchier, Ph.D., Deputy Head of the Erasmus MC Department of Viroscience, Erasmus MC, to
Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir. Wellcome Trust, et. al. (Feb. 8, 2020, 11:36 AM).

11 E_Mail from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor Scripps Research, to Robert Garry, Ph.D., Professor, Tulane
School of Medicine, et. al. (Feb. 5, 2020).

112 E_Mail from Dr. Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., et. al.,
Professor Scripps Research (Feb. 4, 2020).

113 E-Mail from Dr. Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney, to Robert Garry, Ph.D., et. al.,
Professor, Tulane School of Medicine (Feb. 4, 2020, 12:36 PM).
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On Tue, Feb 4, 2020 at 12:36 PM Edward Holmes _ wrote:

I've just passed to Jeremy.

PROFESSOR EDWARD C. HOLMES FAA FRS
ARC Australian Laureate Fellow

THE UNIVERSITY OF SYDNEY

Marie Bashir Institute for Infectious Diseases & Biosecurity,

School of Life & Environmental Sciences and School of Medical Sciences,
The University of Sydney | Sydney | NSW | 2006 | Australia

T

E

Dr. Farrar immediately sent the draft to Dr. Fauci and Dr. Collins. !

From: Jeremy Farrar ) (6)

Sent: Tuesday, February 4, 2020 2:01 AM

To: Fauci, Anthony (NIH/NIAID) [E] < ®) (6)>; Collins, Francis (NIH/OD) [E]
‘ ® ©6)>

Subject: FW: Prevalence of infection and stage of the epidemic in Wuhan

Please treat in confidence — a very rough first draft from Eddie and team — they will send on the edited,
cleaner version later.

Pushing WHO again today

In response to the draft, Dr. Collins wrote, “...repeated tissue culture passage is still an
option — though it doesn’t explain the O-linked glycans” and “I’d be interested in the proposal of
accidental lab passage in animals (which ones?).” Dr. Fauci responded, “?? Serial passage in
ACE2-transgenic mice.”

After Dr. Farrar received their responses, he recounted them to Dr. Holmes.!!’

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

114 E-Mail from Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir. Wellcome Trust, to Anthony Fauci, Dir., Nat’l Inst. of Allergy &
Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health, & Francis Collins, M.D., Ph.D., Dir.. Nat’l Insts. of Health (Feb. 4, 2020,
2:01 AM).

115 E-Mail from Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney. to Robert Garry, Ph.D., Professor, Tulane
School of Medicine, ef. al. (Feb. 4, 2020, 2:59 PM).
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On Tue, Feb 4, 2020 at 2:59 PM Edward Holmes _wrote:

Agreed. Timing is perfect.

Bob - a question from Jeremy:

"Quick question though - why could passage in animals in lab work add the glycans?”
Any thoughts?

Eddie

PROFESSOR EDWARD C. HOLMES FAA FRS
ARC Australian Laureate Fellow

THE UNIVERSITY OF SYDNEY

Marie Bashir Institute for Infectious Diseases & Biosecurity,

School of Life & Environmental Sciences and School of Medical Sciences,
The University of Sydney | Sydney | NSW | 2006 | Australia

T

E

Around this time, the authors were awaiting new sequences, Dr. Holmes stated, “[s]hould
I tell Jeremy to hold sending the summary out to the group while we investigate more or does
that really matter? He did say that more wildlife needed to be studied. He’s sent it to the
Bethesda Boys.”!!¢ Dr. Rambaut responded, “[p]erhaps we say we are adding new information?
See whether he wants to hold off. I suspect Bethesda will be sending it round already?”’!!” These
are apparent references to Dr. Fauci and Dr. Collins.

Dr. Robert Garry (June 9, 2023)
Q. Who do you think the “Bethesda Boys” are?

A. I’m not 100 percent sure, but I think I can make an educated guess
that this was Dr. Fauci and Dr. Collins.

Q. Is 1t your estimation that “Bethesda” also refers to Dr. Fauci and Dr.
Collins?
A, Yes!®

Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023)

Q. Who 1s Dr. Holmes referencing when he says, “Bethesda Boys™?

A. I don't know, but I assume he means the NIH folks and -- them, so
that would be my best guess, yeah.

116 E-Mail from Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney, to Andrew Rambaut, Ph.D., Professor,
University of Edinburgh, et. al. (Feb. 5, 2020).

17 E-Mail from Andrew Rambaut, Ph.D., Professor, University of Edinburgh, to Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor,
University of Sydney, et. al. (Feb. 5, 2020).

U8 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 174.
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Q. Is it your same presumption that he's referencing NIH?

A. That's my assumption, yes.'!’

On February 7, 2020, Dr. Farrar said, “will share with TC [teleconference] group over the
weekend...”!?° On February 8, Dr. Farrar forwarded a draft of Proximal Origin to the same
participants of the February 1 Conference Call—further linking that call to the conception of
Proximal Origin.'?!

Within hours of receiving the draft, Dr. Fauci, worried about the possibility of serial
passage in animals in a lab, asked the whole group, “[w]ould serial passage in an animal in the
laboratory give the same result as prolonged adaption in animals in the wild? Or is there
something that is fundamentally different in what happens when you serial passage versus
natural animal adaption?”’!?? Dr. Garry responded, “[i]t’s possible to fairly rapidly select for more
pathogenic variants in the laboratory.”!?*

In addition to Dr. Fauci’s and Dr. Collin’s involvement, Dr. Farrar led the drafting process
and made at least one direct edit to Proximal Origin. Dr. Farrar, however, is not credited as
having any involvement in the drafting and publication of Proximal Origin, when in fact he led
the drafting process and made direct substantive edits to the publication.

On February 17, 2020, right before publication, Dr. Lipkin emailed Dr. Farrar to thank

him for leading the drafting process of Proximal Origin, to which Dr. Farrar responded that he
will “push” the publisher.'*

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

119 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 176.

120 E_Mail from Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir. Wellcome Trust, to Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of
Sydney, et. al (Feb. 7, 2020).

121 E-Mail from Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir. Wellcome Trust, to Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of
Sydney, et. al (Feb. 8, 2020).

122 E-Mail from Anthony Fauci, M.D., Dir., Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health, to
Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir., Wellcome Trust , et. al (Feb. 8, 2020).

123 E-Mail from Robert Garry, Ph.D., Professor, Tulane College of Medicine, to Anthony Fauci, M.D., Dir., Nat’l
Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health , et. al (Feb. 8, 2020).

124 E-Mail from Ian Lipkin, M.D., Professor, Columbia University, to Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir. Wellcome Trust
(Feb. 17, 2020).
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From: Jeremy Farrar

Sent: Monday, February 17, 2020 10:42 AM EST
To: lan Lipkin
Subject: Re: Connections COVID-19

Yes I know and in US - why so keen to get out ASAP.
I will push Nature

On 17 Feb 2020, at 16:41, Tan Lipkin_ wrote:

Jeremy,
Thanks for shepherding this paper. Rumors of bioweaponeering are now circulating in China.

Tan

Further, Dr. Andersen testified that Dr. Farrar was the “father figure” of Proximal
Origin.!? In addition to leading the drafting and publication process, Dr. Farrar made at least one
direct edit to Proximal Origin. '

From: "Kristian G. Andersen"
Date: Monday, 17 February 2020 at 18:11
To: Jeremy Farrar

: "Garry, Robert F" B
Edward Holmes , lan Lipkin

Subject: Re: Connections COVID-19

Sure, attached.

K

On Mon, Feb 17, 2020 at 9:02 AM Jeremy Farrar_ wrote:

Sorry to micro-manage/microedit!
But would you be willing to change one sentence?

From

It is unlikely that SARS-CoV-2 emerged through laboratory manipulation of an existing
SARS-related coronavirus.

To

It is improbable that SARS-CoV-2 emerged through laboratory manipulation of an existing
SARS-related coronavirus.

This evidence suggests that Dr. Farrar was involved in the drafting and publication of
Proximal Origin and probably should have been credited or acknowledged for this involvement.
Both Dr. Fauci and Dr. Collins testified they did not provide edits to Proximal Origin.

125 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 180.
126 E_Mail from Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir., Wellcome Trust, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps
Research, et al. (Feb. 17, 2020, 10: 42 AM).
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The Involvement of Dr. Lipkin

Dr Lipkin was the only author of Proximal Origin that was not on the February 1
Conference Call.!?’” Dr. Lipkin confirmed he was not even invited to the February 1 Conference
Call, and he had no prior knowledge of the call taking place.!?®

Dr. Ian Lipkin (April 6, 2023)

Q. When did you eventually learn of the call?

A. Actually, I learned of it far more recently than you might expect - -
I can’t tell you precisely when, but I did not know about it in
February of 2020.

Q. The existence of the call or what was communicated on the call was
not communicated to you during the drafting or Proximal Origin?

A. That is correct.'?’

Despite the authors completing the first draft of Proximal Origin by February 1, Dr.
Lipkin was not invited to join and was not sent a draft until February 10.!%° In that email, Dr.
Holmes stated, “I’ll have to chat with Jeremy in a little while to see if I can get you more directly
involved.”!3! It is unclear, why Dr. Farrar had approval over Dr. Lipkin’s involvement.

Prior to being added as an author, Dr. Lipkin spoke to Dr. Holmes a few times. On at least
one occasion, Dr. Lipkin raised concerns regarding the furin cleavage site. As Dr. Holmes
recounted on February 10, “Ian Lipkin just called — very worried about the furin cleavage site
and says that high ups are as well, inc. intel.”!*? Dr. Holmes later said, “I think Ian thinks it’s
from a lab.”!3?

After reading the draft shared with him, Dr. Lipkin responded: '3

127 Lipkin TI, supra note 38, at 92.

128 Id.

129 Id.

130 E_Mail from Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney, to lan Lipkin, M.D., Professor, Columbia
University (Feb. 10, 2023).

131 [d

132 E-Mail from Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney, to Andrew Rambaut, Ph.D., Professor,
University of Edinburgh, et. al. (Feb. 10, 2020).

133 E-Mail from Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor
Scripps Research, et. al. (Feb. 11, 2020).

134 E-Mail from Ian Lipkin, M.D., Professor, Columbia University, to Eddie Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of
Sydney (Feb. 11, 2020, 9:01 AM).
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On 11 Feb 2020, at 9:01 am, Ian Lipkin_ wrote:

It’s well reasoned and provides a plausible argument against genetic engineering. It does not
eliminate the possibility of inadvertent release following adaptation through selection in
culture at the institute in Wuhan. Given the scale of the bat CoV research pursued there and
the site of emergence of the first human cases we have a nightmare of circumstantial evidence
1o assess.

Tan

Dr. Garry testified that Dr. Lipkin ““...made a nice authorship contribution” and that “he
read the paper many times and made some good comments back and forth...”!* Dr. Lipkin
testified that he believed he was added to Proximal Origin because of his prior authorship of
related papers.

Dr. Ian Lipkin (April 6, 2023)

Q. Why do you think Dr. Holmes invited you to join as an author?

A. I had written an article on why the risk of wild animal markets. I
sent it to him, asked him to be a coauthor with me. He agreed. And

my guess is that it was in that context that he invited me to join this

paper.!36

However, this is not what the other authors discussed when considering whether to add
him to the authorship group. According to Dr. Holmes, the authors added Dr. Lipkin as an author
not necessarily for his expertise but for “safety in numbers” and “gravitas.” !’

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

135 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 160.

136 Lipkin TI, supra note 38, at 93.

137 E-Mail from Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor,
Scripps Research, et. al. (Feb. 12, 2020, 1:15 AM).
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From: Edward Holmes
Sent: Wednesday, February 12, 2020 1:15 AM

To: Kristian G. Andersen_ Garry, Robert F —; Andrew Rambaut
I

Subject: Fwd: A few thoughts on the summary

External Sender. Be aware of links, attachments and requests.
From lan about the Feb 7 summary.

Think we should add him as an author. Safety in numbers. In his own mind he brings a lot of gravitas...plus
because he is involved in the GOF | think it add weights. Happy to be over-ruled though.

PROFESSOR EDWARD C. HOLMES FAA FRS
ARC Australian Laureate Fellow

THE UNIVERSITY OF SYDNEY

Marie Bashir Institute for Infectious Diseases & Biosecurity,

School of Life & Environmental Sciences and School of Medical Sciences,
The University of Sydney | Sydney | NSW | 2006 | Australia

T I

E I

Dr. Garry testified that he agreed with Dr. Holmes, stating, “I mean, I think I must have
agreed generally about it because I did concur with adding him as an author. I’'m not sure I agree
with every rationale there. I'm not sure that the GOF really adds much weight.”!38

Dr. Andersen testified that he agreed with Dr. Holmes, stating, “I think he 1s an -- you
know, he has done important work and including collaborated with Chinese authors. He's a well-
known individual within sort of the emerging infectious disease field. So, from that perspective,
adding Ian as an author, yes, that helps add to the weight of the paper and the authors, and, like,
look, these are really experts to have looked at this, yes.”!**

Proximal Origin’s Flawed Scientific Analysis

The conclusions of Proximal Origin rested on three main arguments: (1) the presence of a
non-optimal RBD and that RBD appearing in other viral sequences—particularly pangolins, (2)
the presence or furin cleavage sites in other coronaviruses, and (3) the concept that any
laboratory manipulation would have used an already published viral backbone.'*® Each of these
arguments was flawed and rested on unsupported assumptions.

1. The Receptor Binding Domain

“While the analyses above suggest that SARS-CoV-2 may bind human ACE?2 with high affinity,
computational analyses predict that the interaction is not ideal and that the RBD sequence is
different from those shown in SARS-CoV to be optimal for receptor binding. Thus, the high-
affinity binding of the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein to human ACE?2 is most likely the result of
natural selection on a human or human-like ACE?2 that permits another optimal binding solution

138 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 161.
139 Andersen TI. supra note 55, at 163-164.
140 proximal Origin, supra note 42.
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to arise. This is strong evidence that SARS-CoV-2 is not the product of purposeful
manipulation.”'¥!

As discussed in a May 26, 2020 Working Paper authored independently by DIA scientists
entitled, “Critical analysis of Andersen et al. The proximal origin of SARS-CoV-2" [hereinafter
“Working Paper”], this argument rested on assumptions rather than facts.'*? Instead of relying on
scientific data or evidence, Proximal Origin assumes a methodology and intent of a fictional
scientist.'* In essence, Proximal Origin argues that this fictional scientist would want to design
the most optimal RBD possible, which COVID-19 does not possess.

Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023)

We knew, based on, you know, much of the great research that Dr. Baric did
with SARS-1 is that based on that were predictions of here's the optimal
way in which a sarbecovirus will bind into the human ACE2 receptor. That
is described in the literature, right? So, if you were to design a new receptor
binding domain, presumably you would choose that, right? That would be
the logical way to do it.

And SARS-2 doesn't have that at all. It has a completely different solution,
right, which we had never seen before. Yet it still appeared to bind well to
the human ACE2 receptor -- which we now know, yes, it does bind well to
the human ACE2 receptor, but it binds well to a lot of other ACE2 receptors,
right, not just human.

So, yeah, that's the idea behind, like, if you were to build this from scratch,
you would take the solution that you already know works well. Because
that's how science is done, molecular biology is being done.'**

The Working Paper outlined that a more common approach is to simulate nature in the
lab by taking novel coronaviruses and simulating recombination events—even by inserting furin
cleavage sites—instead of optimizing the virus.'* This was explained further during a
transcribed interview with an author of the Working Paper, CDR Chretien.

CDR Jean-Paul Chretien (June 29, 2023)

A. Well, they had pointed out that the receptor-binding domain would
not have been predicted to be very good or optimal for infecting
human cells. And for me that implied an assumption that if

141 proximal Origin, supra note 42.

142 CDR Jean-Paul Chretien & Dr. Greg Cutlip, Working Paper 26 May 2020: Critical Analysis of Andersen et. al.
The proximal origin of SARS-Cov-2, DEF. INTEL. AGENCY (May 26, 2020) [hereinafter “Chretien & Cutlip Working
Paper™].

143 Id.

144 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 122.

145 Chretien & Cutlip Working Paper, supra note 142.
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SARS-CoV-2, whatever was in lab, that it probably would have
come about in that way where one might have a priori designed a
sequence to infect human cells. And that certainly is possible, but
we showed examples of the literature of novel coronaviruses being
developed in different ways, and what we -- what we found was
more of an empirical approach where one might take a backbone
virus, a coronavirus from one species and insert part of a coronavirus
from another species to observe the effects, and all serving stated
purposes of developing medical countermeasures or improving
public health. But what we saw in scientific practice was much more
of an empirical approach and not -- not an approach by design to
achieve a specific function.

Q. So, the reality was scientists more taking an approach to try to mimic
natural recombination to see what those viruses would do in a
human population?

A. Yes.

Q. Not with a stated goal of making the most effective coronavirus
possible?

A. That's right. !4

When asked if the arguments in Proximal Origin regarding the RBD rested on
assumptions, Dr. Garry testified:

Dr. Robert Garry (June 9, 2023)

Q. Is that still resting on an assumption that that’s not done, that they
weren’t testing suboptimal RBDs at some point?

A. I suppose, but why would you do that, you know? I mean, especially
if you’re thinking that this virus was somehow engineered to be a
weapon or, you know, at least be a good pathogen, you wouldn’t
make a binding domain that was, you know, as poor as your
computer predicted it would be for either one of those scenarios. '’

“The finding of SARS-CoV-like coronaviruses from pangolins with nearly identical RBDs,
however, provides a much stronger and more parsimonious explanation of how SARS-CoV-2
acquired these via recombination or mutation.”'#

146 Transcribed Interview of CDR Jean-Paul Chretien, Program Manager, Biological Technologies Office, Defense
Advanced Research Projects Agency, at 35 (June 29, 2023) [hereinafter “Chretien TI”].

147 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 151.

148 Proximal Origin, supra note 42.
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Again, according to CDR Chretien, the discovery of a very similar RBD in a naturally
occurring pangolin virus is largely irrelevant.

CDR Jean-Paul Chretien (June 29, 2023)

So one of the -- the scenarios we laid out as plausible, and I think would
still be plausible, is to begin with a bat origin coronavirus, something along
the lines of RaTG13 but more similar to the -- or very, very closely similar
to SARS-CoV-2, and then -- and then evaluate the effects of inserting a
receptor-binding domain from another species, such as a pangolin. And
that's consistent with work that we've seen published from various
coronavirus research labs and would be consistent with the observed
SARS-CoV-2 as well.'#

Dr. Garry agreed that this scenario was an entirely plausible outcome.

Dr. Robert Garry (June 9, 2023)

Q. If I in theory were to take that particular pangolin spike protein and
attach it to a backbone of some other virus, that product that [ would
have created, though, theoretically in a lab, would itself have had
the six key amino acid mutations being discussed here, right? I
know that's a - - hypothetical question.

A. The way you said it, hypothetically, sure.'>

Further, Dr. Garry testified that the pangolin sequences “are interesting, but they, you
know, by themselves, don’t tell you that, the virus was natural or from a lab.”!>!

Dr. Robert Garry (June 9, 2023)

Q. What does this mean?

A. Okay. It means that, you know, the pangolin sequences are
interesting, but they, you know, by themselves, don’t tell you that,
the virus was natural or from a lab...You know, the pangolin viruses,
by themselves you know, they have the similarity in the receptor
binding domain, but, you know, there are other viruses out there like
RaTG13 that is still, you know, a closer virus overall. None of the
viruses that were known have a furin cleavage site, at least in these,
you know, these close -- the ones that we're talking about here. !>

149 Chretien TI, supra note 146, at 36.
150 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 112.

151 [d.

152 [d.
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When asked if Proximal Origin’s arguments regarding the RBD ruled out a lab origin,
CDR Chretien testified, “[n]ot in my assessment.”!>* It is clear, the science and facts did not
support Proximal Origin’s conclusion that COVID-19’s RBD “is strong evidence that SARS-
CoV-2 is not the product of purposeful manipulation.”!3*

2. The Furin Cleavage Site

“Polybasic cleavage sites have not been observed in related ‘lineage B’ betacoronaviruses,
although other human betacoronaviruses, including HKUI (lineage A), have those sites and
predicted O-linked glycans. Given the level of genetic variation in the spike, it is likely that

SARS-CoV-2-like viruses with partial or full polybasic cleavage sites will be discovered in other
species.”!>

The central pillar of Proximal Origin’s argument is that science would eventually find a
furin cleavage site in a related coronavirus. This is a clear assumption with no proof nor
evidence. Further, as of December 4, 2024, there still has not been a furin cleavage site
discovered in sarbecoviruses—the subgenus COVID-19 belongs to—despite years of searching.

Dr. Andersen confirmed the rarity of furin cleavage sites in sarbecoviruses, stating,
“...the furin cleavage site itself, which we had not seen in sarbecoviruses before.”!*® Dr. Garry
confirmed this, stating, “...SARS-Cov-2 so far is the only sarbecovirus that has a furin cleavage
site.”'>” Further, Dr. Lipkin stated, “[s]o, amongst the SARS-like viruses, and there are many
coronaviruses, that was the first time that we’d seen that furin cleavage type.”!>® When asked,
“[h]ave there been any other SARS-related viruses...that has had a furin cleavage site?,” Dr.
Farzan testified, “[n]o.”'>® Finally, when asked, .. .has there been a furin site observed in any
viruses in the sarbecovirus family other than COVID-19?,” CDR Chretien stated, “...not to my
knowledge.”!°

“The acquisition of both the polybasic cleavage site and predicted O-linked glycans also argues
against culture-based scenarios. New polybasic cleavage sites have been observed only after
prolonged passage of low-pathogenicity avian influenza virus in vitro or in vivo. Furthermore, a
hypothetical generation of SARS-CoV-2 by cell culture or animal passage would have required
prior isolation of a progenitor virus with very high genetic similarity, which has not been
described. Subsequent generation of a polybasic cleavage site would have then required repeated
passage in cell culture or animals with ACE2 receptors similar to those of humans, but such
work has also not previously been described. Finally, the generation of the predicted O-linked

153 Chretien TI, supra note 146, at 36.

154 Proximal Origin, supra note 42.

155 Id.

156 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 95.

157 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 119.

158 Lipkin TI, supra note 38, at 70.

159 Transcribed Interview of Michael Farzan, Ph.D., Professor of Pediatrics, Harvard Medical School (Apr. 21, 2023)
[hereinafter “Farzan TI”].

160 Chretien TI, supra note 146, at 37.
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glycans is also unlikely to have occurred due to cell-culture passage, as such features suggest the
involvement of an immune system.”

Again, according to the Working Paper, this argument rested on a false assumption that
all research is published. Dr. Garry testified:

Dr. Robert Garry (June 9, 2023)

Q. Is it possible - - maybe not probable, but possible - - that scientists
do experiments they don’t publish?

A. Sure. ¢!

Dr. Lipkin testified:

Dr. Ian Lipkin (April 6, 2023)

Q. Do you know of any researchers that don’t publish everything they
sequence?

A. Yes. 162

Dr. Farzan testified:

Dr. Michael Farzan (April 21. 2023)

Q. ...have you ever conducted or known someone to conduct an
experiment that they did not publish or make public?

A. Sure.'®

Further, many involved in Proximal Origin, or the February 1 Conference Call believe
that it is possible to manipulate a novel coronavirus in a lab to force the selection of a furin
cleavage site. In an email, Dr. Garry wrote, “[bJottom line — I think that if you put selection
pressure on a Cov without a furin cleavage site in cell culture you could well generate a furin
cleavage site after a number of passages...” %4

161 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 153.

192 Lipkin TI, supra note 38, at 70.

163 Farzan TI, supra note 159, at 26.

164 E_Mail from Robert Garry, Ph.D., Professor, Tulane School of Medicine, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor,
Scripps Research, et. al. (Feb. 4, 2020, 2:50 PM).
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From: Robert Garry N

Date: Tuesday, February 4, 2020 at 5:56 PM

To: Kristian Andersen . c<v2rd Holmes |G
Cc: "rambaut

Subject: Re: Summary - Invitation to edit

Kristian that’s correct about everything he said for the P residue. It's what’s shifted me to thinking that the insert of the
furin site is the result of cell culture passage [or less likely intense transmission in a nonbat host]. Really need to see the
data from Ron about generating the furim cleavage site on in vitro passage. Really!

CoV come with or without a furin site. CoV without a furin site are said to be non-cleaved and rely on endosomal
proteases like cathepsin for entry. However if you infect a virus like SARS in culture in the presense of exogenous
protease like trypsin its 100X more effective at entering because the spike gets cleaved and it can enter at the cell
surface.

You have to infect flu viruses (the ones without the multibasic cleavage site) in the presence of trypsin, and include
trypsin in the overlay if you want to get virus spread aka plaques.

This also contributes to the pathogenicity of - well - highly pathogenic flu virus — different tissues have different
proteases and are able to “activate” flu to different extents - if the flu v has a furin cleavage site it has a lot more
choices and canmore easil go systemic.

This is an excellent review on CoV fusion — deals with all the complexities:
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3397359/

Bottom line — | think that if you put selection pressure on a Cov without a furin cleavage site in cell culture you could
well generate a furin cleavage site after a number of passages (but let’s see the data Ron!). It will infect a lot better if it
can effectively fuse at the cell surface and doesn’t have to rely on endosomal cleavage and receptor mediated
endocytosis..

Via Slack, Dr. Garry stated, “you can synthesize bits of genes de novo with perfect
precision then add them back in without a trace.”'®> This idea was reiterated by Dr. Fouchier,
who stated, “[M]olecular biologists like myself can generate perfect copies of viruses without
leaving a trace, eg the BAM HI site.”!%

Message
From: R.A.M. Fouchier_
Sent: 2/8/2020 2:50:00 PM

To: Andrew Rambaut ; Jeremy Farrar_

cC: Christian Drosten
; rigarry [ . o.vallancel ; collinsf
; Josie Golding E M.P.G. Koopmans
Mike Ferguson
Subject: Re: [ext] 2019 N-CoV

I do not understand Andrews argument “ The sequence data clearly and unambiguously rules out any form of
lab construct or engineering of the virus. *“. Molecular biologists like myself can generate perfect copies of
viruses without leaving a trace, eg the BamHI site. The arguments for and against passaging and engineering are
the same if you ask me.

Ron

165 Message from Robert Garry, Ph.D., Slack (Feb. 6. 2020, 7:09 PM).
166 E-Mail from Ron Fouchier, Ph.D., Deputy Head of the Erasmus MC Department of Viroscience, Erasmus MC, to
Andrew Rambaut, Ph.D., Professor, University of Edinburgh (Feb. 8. 2020, 2:50 PM).
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Further, Dr. Garry testified that it would be possible to generate a furin cleavage site in a
lab.

Dr. Robert Garry (June 9, 2023)

Q. But a novel coronavirus, if I just bring in a novel coronavirus, its
still possible that I could create a furin cleavage site?

A. I mean, its possible. I - - you know, its possible.'®’

Additionally, Dr. Garry testified that a scientist could conduct serial passaging of a virus
in animals to generate a furin cleavage site and that this virus would be indistinguishable from a
natural one.

Dr. Robert Garry (June 9, 2023)

Q. Would past evolutionary passage in an animal in a laboratory look
the same as evolutionary passage in an animal in the wild?

A. In principle, yes. It's a very difficult experiment you are describing
though.

Q. Are people capable of conducting that experiment?

A. They're capable of doing it. There would have to be a reason why

they would want to do that. And just doing it on some random bat
viruses is probably not something that most scientists would
consider.

Q. Could you put enough laboratory selection pressure on a novel
coronavirus to generate a furin cleavage site?

A. I mean, is it possible? It's in the realm of -- it's something -- I mean
most everything is possible, right? Is it probable? Probably not, I
would have to say. I mean, in principle, you know, lots of things can
happen; you know, unexpected things can happen. But designing an
experiment to actually make that happen, I'm not sure that there's
any scientist that's really capable of doing that.!6®

Dr. Andersen agreed when asked, “you could put enough pressure on a coronavirus to
generate a furin cleavage site?” He responded, “I think as a hypothesis, I think it’s a good
hypothesis.” 1%

167 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 34.
18 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 32-33.
199 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 159.
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No known SARS-related coronavirus or sarbecovirus—the subgenus that COVID-19
belongs to—has a furin cleavage site and none have been found since the beginning of the
pandemic. Further, those involved with Proximal Origin believed it is possible to artificially
create a furin cleavage site in the lab. When asked if the arguments regarding the furin cleavage
site put forth in Proximal Origin ruled out a lab origin, CDR Chretien testified, “no, not in my
mind.”!7°

3. The Novel Backbone

“Furthermore, if genetic manipulation had been performed, one of the several reverse-genetic
systems available for betacoronaviruses would probably have been used. However, the genetic
data irrefutably show that SARS-CoV-2 is not derived from any previously used virus backbone.’

’

The Proximal Origin authors are correct that COVID-19 does not derive from any
published backbone, but they once again assume that all data has been previously published, a
faulty assumption. As noted in the Working Paper, “[r]ecent technological innovations make it
easier than ever for scientists to develop new reverse genetics systems.”!’! When asked for more
detail, CDR Chretien testified:

CDR Jean-Paul Chretien (June 29, 2023)

Q. So, it would be possible that there are novel backbones or novel
reverse genetics systems that are out there but not published?

A. Yes.

Q. And even simpler than that, not necessarily a novel backbone, but is
it possible that researchers just used an unsequenced or unpublished
coronavirus as the backbone?

A. Yes.!7?

Via Slack, the Proximal Origin authors rebuted their own argument. Dr. Andersen wrote,
“[j]ust in case people think it is difficult to make a CoV reverse genetics clone from scratch —
these guys did it in a week...”!”3

Further, Dr. Andersen wrote, “[o]ne important thing I came across though — for the SARS
GoF studies they created a reverse genetics system for their bat virus on a whim. So, Ron’s and
Christian’s argument (which I found to be the strongest) about that not being feasible is not true
— they were already creating those.”!”*

170 Chretien TI, supra note 146, at 39.

17 Chretien & Cutlip Working Paper, supra note 142.

172 Chretien TI, supra note 146, at 39.

173 Message from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Slack (Feb. 21, 2020 9:05 PM).
174 Message from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Slack (Feb. 2, 2020 6:48 PM).
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The Proximal Origin authors did not believe their own arguments against a lab leak as
written in Proximal Origin. This is exemplified by comparing the authors’ contemporaneous
Slack messages and e-mails, media reports, and interview transcripts with the two primary
conclusions of Proximal Origin—“we do not believe that any type of laboratory-based scenario
1s plausible” and “[o]ur analysis clearly show that SARS-CoV-2 is not a laboratory construct or a
purposefully manipulated virus.”!7

The Publication of Proximal Origin

On February 6, 2020, Dr. Farrar first suggested publishing Proximal Origin.”®

Message

From: Edward Holmes_

Sent: 2/6/2020 2:36:30 AM

To: Kristian G. Andersen

CcC: Garry, Robert F | Andrew Rambaut_
Subject: Re: Summary - Invitation to edit

From Jeremy.
"Do you think in the report....possible to dampen down further the ‘conspiracy’ idea and make totally neutral?

Talking with Marion last night and with the WHO meeting next week....both wondering whether actually publishing this
sooner, but ruthlessly on the science....is worthwhile to put that flag down...”

Thoughts?

PROFESSOR EDWARD C. HOLMES FAA FRS
ARC Australian Laureate Fellow

THE UNIVERSITY OF SYDNEY

Marie Bashir Institute for Infectious Discases & Biosecurity,

Scheol of Life & Environmental Sciences and School of Medical Sciences,
The University of Sydney | Sydney | NSW | 2006 | Australia

T
B

On February 7, 2020, Dr. Farrar suggested possible journals for publication of Proximal

Origin.!”’

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

175 Proximal Origin, supra note 42.

176 E-Mail from Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney. to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor,
Scripps Research, et. al. (Feb. 6, 2020, 2:36 AM)

177 E-Mail from Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir. Wellcome Trust, to Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of
Sydney, et. al. (Feb. 7, 2020).
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On 7 Feb 2020, at 5:26 pm, Jeremy Farrar _ wrote:

When can you update?

Lancet

Nature

NEIM

Will all review immediately, after quick QC, will share with WHO.

Can I help with any of the editors?

Who will be authors from your side?

Then, right before Proximal Origin was publicly released, it received the final publication
push and approval from Dr. Collins. In an email from Dr. Holmes, he recounted Dr. Collins
writing, “[t]his is really well done, and I would argue ought to be made public ASAP (Jeremy
sent it this morning).”!”®

Message

From: Edward Holmes

Sent: 2/16/2020 3:06:49 PM

To: Garry, Robert F

cc: lan Lipkin : Kristian G. Andersen _ Andrew Rambaut_
Subject: Re: Paper

Just got this from Francis Collins.
"This is really well done, and | would argue ought to be made public ASAP (Jeremy sent it this morning).
Francis”

I’ll submit and send to Magda/Clare this morning. If they ok we can then put on bioRxiv and perhaps
Virological.org as well?

Cheers,

Eddie

PROFESSOR EDWARD C. HOLMES FAA FRS
ARC Australian Laurcate Fellow

THE UNIVERSITY OF SYDNEY

Marie Bashir Institute for Infectious Diseases & Biosecurity,

School of Life & Environmental Sciences and School of Medical Sciences,
The University of Sydney | Sydney | NSW | 2006 | Australia

T

E

178 E-Mail from Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney. to Robert Garry, Ph.D., Professor, Tulane
College of Medicine, et. al. (Feb. 16, 2020, 3:06 PM).
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Four hours later, according to Dr. Holmes, “[a]ll came together very quickly in the end.
Jeremy Farrar and Francis Collins are very happy. Works for me.”!”

Message

From: Edward HoImes_

Sent: 2/16/2020 6:59:20 PM

To: Kristian G. Andersen

CcC: Andrew Rambaut ; Garry, Robert F_ lan Lipkin_
Subject: Re: Paper

All came together very quickly in the end. Jeremy Farrar and Francis Collins are very happy. Works for me.

PROFESSOR EDWARD C. HOLMES FAA FRS
ARC Australian Laureate Fellow

THE UNIVERSITY OF SYDNEY

Marie Bashir Institute for Infectious Diseases & Biosecurity,

School of Life & Environmental Sciences and School of Medical Sciences,
The University of Sydney | Sydney | NSW | 2006 | Australia

T

E

Proximal Origin Gets Rejected from Nature

On February 12, 2020, Dr. Andersen pitched Proximal Origin to Nature.'® In his first
pitch, as described above, he wrote, “[p]rompted by Jeremy Farrah [sic], Tony Fauci, and Francis
Collins, Eddie Holmes, Andrew Rambaut, Bob Garry, lan Lipkin, and myself have been working
through much of the (primarily) genetic data to provide agnostic and scientifically informed
hypothesis around the origins of the virus. We are not write finished with the writeup and we still
have some loose ends, but I wanted to reach out to you to see if this might be potentially of
interest? We see this more as a commentary/hypothesis, as opposed to a more long-form Letter
or Article.”!®!

Senior Editor at Nature Clare Thomas responded, “Yes please!”!®?

On February 17, 2020, Dr. Holmes, on behalf of Dr. Andersen, submitted a manuscript
titled, “The Proximal Origin of SARS-CoV-2” to Nature for review.'®® Later that day, Dr.
Andersen followed up writing, “[s]orry for contracting you again. The manuscript was put on
Virological this morning, which has created some urgency from Wellcome, WHO, and

179 E-Mail from Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor,
Scripps Research, et. al.(Feb. 16, 2020, 6:59 PM).

180 E-Mail from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research, to Clare Thomas, Editor, Nature (Feb. 12,
2020).

181 [d

182 E_Mail from Clare Thomas, Editor, Nature, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research (Feb. 13,
2020).

183 E-Mail from Clare Thomas, Editor, Nature, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research (Feb. 17,
2020).
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others...this is an extremely rapidly evolving situation — which has unfortunately been amplified
due to some recent “speculations” from parts of the US media.”!#*

Ms. Thomas responded, “I have two reviewers looking at it already...”!®

The Proximal Origin authors, themselves, recommended reviewers. According to Dr.
Garry, “[s]o as you know when you submit, you’ll need to suggest reviewers to include and
exclude. Seems easy — there are some natural choices for both lists.”!%¢ Dr. Holmes responded,
“[o]h, yes the reviewers are easy...I think this is a slam dunk.”'®” These comments raise serious
bias concerns with both the review of Proximal Origin and the scientific peer review process
generally. Neither Dr. Andersen nor Dr. Garry knew which suggested reviewers were included or
excluded.

On 16 Feb 2020, at 7:36 pm, Garry, Robert F _wrotc:

Yeah I know and that’s a good choice for him.
So, as you know when you submit you’ll need to suggest reviewers to include and exclude. Seems easy - there
are some natural choices for both lists. Nature commentaries are peer reviewed iirc but I'm guessing they’ll

push this as fast as possible.

Sent from my iPhone

Message

From: Edward Holmes

|

Sent: 2/16/2020 2:38:46 AM
To: Garry, Robert F

cc: lan Lipkin

External Sender. Be aware of links, attachments and requests
Andrew Rambaut

Kristian

G. Andersen

Subject:Re: Paper

Oh yes, the reviewers are easy...I think this is a slam dunk.

PROFESSOR EDWARD C. HOLMES FAA FRS
ARC Australian Laureate Fellow

THE UNIVERSITY OF SYDNEY

Marie Bashir Institute for Infectious Diseases & Biosecurity,

School of Life & Environmental Sciences and School of Medical Sciences,
The University of Sydney | Sydney | NSW | 2006 | Australia

T

E

184 E-Mail from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research, to Clare Thomas, Editor, Nature (Feb. 17,
2020).

185 E-Mail from Clare Thomas, Editor, Nature, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research (Feb. 18,
2020).

186 E-Mail from Robert Garry, Ph.D., Professor, Tulane College of Medicine, to Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor,
University of Sydney, et. al. (Feb. 16, 2020, 7:36 PM).

187 E-Mail from Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney. to Robert Garry, Ph.D., Professor, Tulane
College of Medicine, et. al. (Feb. 16, 2020, 2:38 AM).
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On February 20, 2020, Nature officially rejected Proximal Origin for publication. Ms.
Thomas stated, “[w]e’ve now obtained two ref reports on the paper (appended below), and I’ve
had the opportunity to discuss them with our chief editor Magdalena Skipper. In the light of the
advice received I am afraid we have decided that we cannot offer to publish in Nature.”!® The
primary reason for denial, as stated by Ms. Thomas, was, ““...one of our referees raised concerns
(also emphasized to the editors) about whether such a piece would feed or quash the conspiracy
theories.” !’

Regarding the denial, Dr. Andersen testified:

Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023)

Q. Did you ever get told why Nature originally rejected Proximal
Origin?

A. They -- I think they rejected the paper because I think the reviewers
felt that probably -- I mean, reviewer two was pretty critical about
our conclusions of the paper and felt that they should have been
stronger, and I think he had relayed those concerns to the editor, and
I think that that would have been the reason.

The conclusions that -- what do you mean?

A. Basically, that we -- because, again, we kept the possibilities
of -- remember the submitted version to that was open-ended,
agnostic as to whether it could have been a lab passage of the two
versions of the natural origin that we discuss. And I think the editor
probably felt that that was too open-ended. That was clearly
what -- especially reviewer two pointed that out in their review,
which we disagreed with. !

Dr. Garry testified:

Dr. Robert Garry (June 9, 2023)

Q. What were the reasons for the rejection?

A. They -- well, I mean, you can read all the reviews of the paper. They
thought that we came down too strongly on the side that the virus
had been of possible lab origin. And some of the reviewers wanted
us to take that out, and we didn't think that was appropriate. '’

188 E_Mail from Clare Thomas, Editor, Nature, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research (Feb. 20,
2020).

189 [d

190 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 186.

1 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 176,
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After the denial, Ms. Thomas suggested submitting Proximal Origin to Nature
Medicine."?

Proximal Origin Gets Accepted at Nature Medicine

On February 27, 2020, Dr. Andersen submitted Proximal Origin to Nature Medicine.'** In
his submission, Dr. Andersen wrote:

I believe Clare over at Nature might have mentioned our commentary on
the proximal origins of the hCoV-19 virus last week. We have been
incorporating some critical changes to the reviewer's comments, so I just
wanted to reach out to you to see if you're still interested in having a look
at this manuscript? We're still incorporating a few changes but will have all
of this wrapped up shortly as we're on a tight deadline - the media interest
in this has been enormous and hasn't slowed down (we have refrained from
commenting until formal publication). The public interest has also been
very high, with more than 65,000 reads of the blog post version over the last
week. %4

After having been denied by Nature for not downplaying the possibility of a lab leak
strongly enough, the authors decided to make this submission stronger.

Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023)

Q. You, and correct me if I'm wrong, said something along the lines
earlier that the line: We do not believe that any type of
laboratory-based scenario is plausible was added at some point?

A. Correct. That was added to the final version of -- this was added
after it went over to Nature Medicine, yes.

Did Nature Medicine add the line?
No.

How did that process play out? How did that line get added?

> o> R

That's based on our edits to the paper. Again, as the editor at Nature
Medicine states, is that he thought that the paper had grown
significantly since the one he had seen from Nature. We had to
shorten it. You need to trim this back down, more or less, to the size

192 E-Mail from Clare Thomas, Editor, Nature, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research (Feb. 20,
2020).

193 E-Mail from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor Scripps Research, to Joao Monterio, Editor, Nature Medicine
(Feb. 27, 2020).

194 14
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of the Nature version while retaining the major changes in response
to the reviewers. And some of the responses to the reviewers was
that the reviewer felt that we could be more specific on, for example,
that lab origins were less likely than we initially entertained, and I
agreed with that. I think we all agree with that, and those were
changes that we incorporated. So that includes that we don't believe
that any type of lab origin is plausible. It's something that was added
in response to the reviewers, our own thinking of the topic, and then
getting it published in Nature Medicine, as opposed to Nature.'*®

On March 5, 2020, Nature Medicine accepted Proximal Origin for publication. ¥

The Anonymous Whistleblower to Jon Cohen

On July 25, 2020, an anonymous whistleblower emailed Mr. Jon Cohen, a reporter for
Science magazine, and alleged that Proximal Origin plagiarized the arguments of others from the
February 1 conference call.'”” The whistleblower also alleged that this was one of the reasons
that Nature rejected the paper.'*® Mr. Cohen forwarded these claims to Dr. Andersen and Dr.
Holmes and said, “[h]ere’s what one person who claims to have inside knowledge is saying
behind your backs...”!”

Dr. Andersen and Dr. Holmes then drafted a response to Mr. Cohen and forwarded their
draft to Dr. Fauci and Dr. Farrar for approval.?”’ In this email, Dr. Andersen expressed concerns
about confirming that the February 1 Conference Call took place, stating, “[w]e need to reply
back to Jon, which would include confirming that this meeting took did indeed take place with
you and Jeremy present. Please let me know if you have any comments or concerns in this
regard.”?"!

In response to Dr. Andersen, Dr. Farrar replied, “[c]an we get the sequence of events right
and agreed before a substantive reply goes back to Jon?’?*? Dr. Holmes, responded with a
revised draft and wrote, “[f]or Tony’s benefit a revised draft of the email to Jon is pasted
below.”%

While the identity of the anonymous whistleblower is still unknown, the Proximal Origin
authors had their own suspicions. Dr. Holmes opined, “...I'm 100% sure it was Ron who leaked

195 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 186-187.

196 E-Mail from Nature Medicine, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research (Mar. 5, 2020).

197 E-Mail from Jon Cohen, Reporter, Science, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research, & Edward
Holmes, Ph.D., Professor University of Sydney (July 25, 2020).

198 Id.

199[d~

200 E-Mail from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research, to Anthony Fauci, M.D., Dir., Nat’l Inst. Of
Allergy & Infectious Diseases, et. al., (July 28, 2020).

201 Id.

202 E-Mail from Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir., Wellcome Trust, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor Scripps
Research, et. al. (July 28, 2020).

203 E-Mail from Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney, to Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir. Wellcome
Trust, et. al. (July 28, 2020).
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it — he was the most angry — and I still think it was like Baric who emailed Jon Cohen.”?% Dr.
Rambaut responded, “I agree — most likely Ron doing the leaking.”?%

On 28 Jul 2020, at 6:21 pm, Andrew Rambaut ||| GG v ote:

I agree - most likely Ron doing the leaking. Whoever it was that talked to the emailer was indignant that 'non-
coronavirus-experts’ were involved. I can’t see any of the others having this sort of pompous, arrogant view of
the world. Marion approached me well after this to help analyse the Dutch data. Christian I have worked with
before on MERS. I doubt even that Ron was that bothered - probably just told the story to whoever it was and
misremembered or ‘enhanced’ it for effect.

A

On 28 Jul 2020, at 03:58, Edward Holmes _ wrote:

Pohlmann as on it and very good. Christian was also v. interested in the furin cleavage site (I’ve other emails).

Despite this, I’'m 100% sure it is Ron who leaked it - he was the most angry - and I still think it was like Baric
who emailed Jon Cohen.

I just thought "I would conclude that a follow-up discussion on the possible origin of 2019-nCoV would be of
much interest” was very interesting.

PROFESSOR EDWARD C. HOLMES FAA FRS
ARC Australian Laureate Fellow

THE UNIVERSITY OF SYDNEY

Marie Bashir Institute for Infectious Diseases & Biosecurity,

School of Life & Environmental Sciences and School of Medical Sciences,
The University of Sydney | Sydney | NSW | 2006 | Australia

Dr. Baric denied being the anonymous individual that e-mailed Mr. Cohen.

Dr. Ralph Baric (January 22. 2024)

Q. After the fact -- and then there's a reporter at Science Magazine
named John Cohen.

A. I know him.
Q. He put out some emails after the fact of an anonymous person that
claimed that the "proximal origin" authors plagiarized some ideas

and went a little bit too far. Are you aware of those emails?

A. John contacted me.

204 E-Mail from Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor,
Scripps Research, et. al. (July 28, 2020, 3:58 PM).

205 E-Mail from Andrew Rambaut, Ph.D., Professor, University of Edinburgh, to Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor,
University of Sydney, ef. al. (July 28, 2020, 6:21 PM).
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Q. Were you the —

A. No, I was not. I was not. I was building suspense.
Q. So Dr. —

A. And it worked.

Q.

It did. Part of it is because Dr. Holmes thinks you were the one that
contacted John Cohen.

A. Well, that's why he may say it. He and -- I'm forgetting his name,
sorry -- Andersen. If that's what they thought, he may have been
really irritated with me if he felt that it was me, but it was not.

What did Mr. Cohen contact you about?

A. He was asking me the same question you asked me, was I the author
of that statement? And I said, no, I was not.

Do you know who is?

A. No, I don't.2%

The Critical Reception of Proximal Origin

On February 19, 2020, Proximal Origin was cited in the letter in 7he Lancet titled,
“Statement in support of the scientists, public health professionals, and medical professionals of
China combatting COVID-19.”27 Proximal Origin was cited as proof “this coronavirus
originated in wildlife.”2%

On March 17, 2020, Dr. Andersen’s employer, Scripps Research, put out a press release
regarding Proximal Origin entitled, “The COVID-19 coronavirus pandemic has a natural origin,
scientists say.”?? Dr. Andersen is quoted in this release saying, *...we can firmly determine that
SARS-COV-2 originated through natural process.”!° Dr. Farrar’s organization, The Wellcome
Trust, is also quoted in the release, stating, “they conclude that the virus is the product of natural
evolution.”?!!

NIH and NIAID were keenly anticipating the release of Proximal Origin. On February
19, 2020, the NIAID Office of Communications spoke internally regarding the paper and stated,

206 Baric TI, supra note 39, at 124-125.

207 Charles Calisher, Ph.D., et. al., Statement in support of the scientists, public health professionals, and medical
professionals of China combatting COVID-19, THE LANCET (Feb. 19, 2020).

208 17

209 The COVID-19 coronavirus epidemic has a natural origin, scientists say, SCRIPPS RESEARCH (Mar. 17, 2020).
210 77

211 g
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“[t]he Office of Communications asked if we could alert them if this paper is accepted in a peer
review journal. Do you know if the authors have submitted it to a journal?”?!2

From: Coleman, Amanda (NIH/NIAID) (<] | ENENEN|

Sent: Wednesday, February 19, 2020 1:21 PM
To: Shabman, Reed (NIH/NIAID) [E] I
Cc: Brown, Liliana (NIH/NIAID) [E] I N

Subject: RE: COVID-19 preprint of interest

Hi Reed — The Office of Communications asked if we could alert them if this paper is accepted in a peer reviewed journal.
Do you know if the authors have submitted it to a journal?

Thank you,

Amanda Coleman [C]

An NIH employee responded, “I reached out to Kristian and team...the text is submitted
to Nature. Kristian suggests that the office of Communication can communicate directly with
Chris Emery [Scripps Research].”?!3

From: Shabman, Reed (NIH/NIAID) [E]
Sent: Wednesday, February 19, 2020 3:30 PM

To: Coleman, Amanda (NIH/NIAID) [C!

Ce: Brown, Liliana (NIH/NIAID) [E] Chris Emery_

Subject: RE: COVID-18 preprint of interes!

Hi Amanda,

| reached out to Kristian and team and copied his response below in italics. As you can see from his note, the text is

submitted to Nature. Kristian suggests that the Office of Communications can communicate directly with Chris Emery
(copied here).

REV0002496

Thanks,

Reed

Yes, it's been submitted for peer review (in Nature) and we are holding off on giving further comments to the media until
it's been through that and published. Chris Emery from our communications department (cc'd here) is taking the lead on
creating a press release / summary in lay language, as well as a Q&A with questions the public and policy makers might
have - Wellcome is involved as well to help out. If there's interest on NIAID's side, I'm sure Chris and the team would
welcome coordination/coliaboration, so if you can please reach out to him directly.

Best,
Kristian

212 E-Mail from Amanda Coleman, Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. Of Health, to Reed
Shabman, Program Office, Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. Of Health (Feb. 19, 2020, 1:21
PM).

213 E-Mail from Reed Shabman, Program Office, Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. Of Health,
to Amanda Coleman, Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. Of Health (Feb. 19, 2020, 3:30 PM).
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On March 26, 2020, Dr. Collins wrote a blog post for the NIH regarding Proximal
Origin.?'* Dr. Collins wrote, “[a] new study debunks such claims by providing scientific
evidence that this novel coronavirus arose naturally.”?!> Dr. Collins concluded, “[e]ither way, this
study leaves little room to refute a natural origin for COVID-19.”216

On April 16, 2020, more than two months after the original February 1 Conference Call
and a month after Proximal Origin was published, Dr. Collins emailed Dr. Fauci and expressed
dismay that Proximal Origin did not successfully squash the lab leak theory. He stated, “I hoped
the Nature Medicine article on the genomic sequence of SARS-CoV-2 would settle this...”?!”
Then Dr. Collins asked Dr. Fauci, “[w]ondering if there is something NIH can do to help put
down this very destructive conspiracy...Anything more we can do?”?'®

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

214 Francis Collins, Genomic Study Points to Natural Origin of COVID-19, NAT’L INSTS. OF HEALTH (Mar. 26,
2020).

215 I1d.

216 I1d.

217 E-Mail from Francis Collins, Dir., Nat’l Insts. Of Health, to Anthony Fauci M.D., Dir. Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy &
Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. Of Health (Apr. 16, 2020, 10:45 PM).

218 17
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From: Fauci, Anthony (NIH/NIAID) [E]
To: Collins, Francis (NIH/OD] [E
subject: RE: conspiracy gains momentum
Date: Thursday, April 16, 2020 10:45:00 PM
Francis:

| would not do anything about this right now. Itis a shiny object that will go away in time. @Q}?
Best, QL 6
Tony . \"f\\ . Q(Z-’

SO &
| . o c@

From: Collins, Francis (NIH/OD) [E] _ O\"s CQ
Sent: Thursday, April 16, 2020 5:02 PM 0O Q}Q\
To: Fauci, Anthony (NIH/NIAID) (€] || G ;\\\* \}((\
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Subject: conspiracy gains momentum
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Wondering if there is something NIH can do to help put down
what seems to be growing momentum:

https://www.mediaite.com/tv/foxs-bret-baier ssurue\;tuc ’c—\
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Y
| hoped the Nature Medicine article on the %&@m@quence of SARS-CoV-2 would settle this. But
probably that didn't get much visibility. C)

started-in-wuhan-lab/

2 s\@
Anything more we can do? Ask thg&atio@%cademy to weigh in?
&
_ fZJ »\\C?
Francis \EZ)
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o
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Dr. Collins testified that “Nature Medicine article” was in reference to Proximal
Origin.?"” The next day, on April 17, 2020, Dr. Fauci cited Proximal Origin from the White
House podium.

White House Press Conference (April 17, 2023)

Q. Mr. President, [ wanted to ask Dr. Fauci: Could you address
these suggestions or concerns that this virus was somehow
manmade, possibly came out of a laboratory in China?

Dr. Fauci. There was a study recently that we can make available to

you, where a group of highly qualified evolutionary

219 Transcribed Interview of Francis Collins, M.D., Ph.D., former Dir., Nat’l Insts. of Health (Jan. 12, 2024)
[hereinafter “Collins TT”].
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virologists looked at the sequences there and the sequences
in bats as they evolve. And the mutations that it took to get
to the point where it is now is totally consistent with a jump
of a species from an animal to a human. So, I mean, the paper
will be available — I don’t have the authors right now, but
we can make that available to you.??°

After the briefing, a reporter directly asked which paper Dr. Fauci cited and was then sent
Proximal Origin. The reporter wrote, “Dr. Fauci on Friday said he would share a scientific paper
with the press on the origin of the coronavirus. Can you please help me get a copy of that

paper?”ZZI
<
s
On Apr 19, 2020, at 2:21 PM, Bill Gertz Redacted o5 Qrote:
S L
; e ™.
Katie 0 o
; “ %o
O
Dr. Fauci on Friday said he would share a scientific paperﬂhh nress on the origin of
the coronavirus. Can you please help me get a copy of at pdpier? Thanks in advance.
S &
Bill Gertz Lo
VC &
Mational Security Correspondent CA Q“;
@BillGertz | direct, _Redacted SRS
TheGerzFile.com -
A
7y -
<twtlogo.jpg> QU o~
O N
> &
3600 Mew York Ave NE |Wash|@§)n D@ 0002
o, &
S o

Dr. Fauci responded, “[h]ere are the links to the scientific papers and a commentary about
the scientific basis of the origins of SARS-Cov-2" and lists Proximal Origin.?*?

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

220 Remarks by President Trump, Vice President Pence, and Members of the Coronavirus Task Force in Press
Briefing, The White House (Apr. 17, 2020) [hereinafter “Remarks by President Trump April 17, 20207].

221 E-Mail from Bill Gertz, Correspondent, The Wash. Times, to Anthony Fauci, M.D., Dir. Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy &
Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. Of Health (Apr. 19, 2020, 2:21 PM).

222 E-Mail from Anthony Fauci, M.D., Dir. Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’1 Insts. Of Health, to
Bill Gertz, Correspondent, The Wash. Times (Apr. 19, 2020, 9:25 PM).
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On Apr 19, 2020, at 9:25 PM.L@M J\ha:m},' (NIH/NIAID) [E] =i  Redacted > wrote:

o~
Bill: £ S

Here are the links to t cig&ﬁ?ic papers and a commentary about the scientific basis of the origins of SARS-

Cov-2. Q o~

~J
The proximal origigg%ﬁﬂ%uv—z. Andersen KG, Rambaut A, Lipkin WI, Holmes EC, Garry RF. Nat Med. 2020

Apr;26(4):450-452 (doi: 038/s41591-020-0820-9. No abstract available.
i i igin a

https:// [ 2¢m1UGe
(@]
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T
ony'S. Fauci, MD
Q' rector
SSCP_NIHD02046
&

National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases ;\?‘
Building 31, Room Redsces QJ\J
31 Center Drive, MSC 2520 Q_ &
National Institutes of Health %, @
Bethesda, MD 20892-2520 .0
Phone: Redacted | \Q) ,ﬂ‘
FAX: (301) 496-4409 &Co 2y
E-mail Redacted } @ CO
The information in this e-mail and any of its attachments is confidential and may conrﬁens@e information. It
should not be used by anyone who is not the original intended recipient. If you have ived.this e-mail in error

please inform the sender and delete it from your mailbox or any other storage devic Th tional Institute of
Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID) shall not accept liability for any statements"aiade that are the sender's
own and not expressly made on behalf of the NIAID by one of its mpmsnntatives&}w \2\

D>

Dr. Fauci later stated he may not have ever actually read Proximal Origin.?** This raises
questions of why he would cite a paper, he did not even read, from the White House podium as
proof COVID-19 was not the result of a lab leak.

Dr. Collins testified that despite his e-mail suggesting he desired more action to “put
down” the lab leak hypothesis, he did not instruct Dr. Fauci to cite Proximal Origin from the
White House.??* Dr. Fauci also testified that his statement at the White House was not in
response to Dr. Collins’ e-mail.??

On January 9, 2024, Mr. Don McNeil, former science and health reporter for the New
York Times, published “The Wisdom of Plagues: Lessons from 25 Years of Covering
Pandemics.” In Wisdom of Plagues, Mr. McNeil recounted:

223 Megan Stack, Dr. Fauci Could Have Said a Lot More, THE N.Y. TIMES (Mar. 28, 2020).

224 See Collins TI, supra note 219.

225 See, Transcribed Interview of Anthony Fauci, M.D., former Dir., Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases,
Nat’l Insts. of Health (Jan. 8, 2024) [hereinafter “Fauci T 17°].
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Far more serious errors occur when sources deliberately deceive reporters.
In late July 2023, this book was almost in print when I learned, from emails
and Slack chats [released] by the Congressional Subcommittee on the
Coronavirus Pandemic and posted on Public, a Substack magazine, that |
was the victim of deception in the pandemic’s earliest days. In February
2020, four eminent scientists whom I respected had discussed with each
other various ways to throw me off track when I asked whether it was
possible that the virus had been manipulated in a lab or might have leaked
from one. Their efforts affected how I viewed the controversy over Covid’s
origins and how the 7imes covered it. My publisher allowed me to quickly
rewrite this chapter.??

Mr. McNeil also confirmed that the Proximal Origin authors’ deception altered how the
New York Times reported on COVID-19 origins.

226 Donald G. McNeil, Jr., The Wisdom of Plagues: Lessons from 25 Years of Covering Pandemics (Simon &

Schuster, 2024).
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II. The Failures of EcoHealth Alliance, Inc.

EcoHealth is a non-profit scientific research organization that is primarily funded by U.S.
taxpayer dollars. Its President is Dr. Daszak, and both EcoHealth and Dr. Daszak are long time
collaborators with the WIV and Dr. Shi. Beginning in April 2020, NIH investigated both
EcoHealth and Dr. Daszak for numerous grant policy violations and accusations of facilitating
dangerous research at the WIV.

Starting in February 2023, the Select Subcommittee began its own investigation into
EcoHealth.??” In July 2023, HHS debarred the WIV for a period of 10 years for non-
compliance.??® Further, in May 2024, as a direct result of the Select Subcommittee’s
investigation, HHS immediately suspended and proposed for debarment both EcoHealth, as an
institution, and Dr. Daszak, as an individual.??° As of December 4, 2024, neither EcoHealth’s nor
Dr. Daszak’s debarment is finalized. Both NIH and Dr. Fauci support the debarment of
EcoHealth.

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (November 14, 2024)

Q. And does NIH still support the debarment of EcoHealth and Dr.
Daszak?

A. We do. And we have provided all necessary documents to the
Department. >3

Dr. Anthony Fauci (June 3, 2024)

Q. During previous TIs and hearings, when asked if they supported
every one of these actions..., both Dr. Collins and Dr. Tabak said
yes. Sitting here today, do you support the suspension and
debarment of EcoHealth?

A. Yes. 3!

FINDING: EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. Facilitated Gain-of-Function Research at the Wuhan
Institute of Virology.

227 Letter from Hon. Brad Wenstrup, Chairman, Select Subcomm. on the Coronavirus Pandemic, to Peter Daszak,

Ph.D., Pres., EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. (Feb. 13, 2023).

228 Letter from Deputy Assistant Sec’y for Acquisitions, Suspension and Debarment Official, to Yanyi Wang, Dir.,
Wauhan Institute of Virology (July 18, 2023).

229 Letter from Henrietta Katrina Brisbon, Suspension and Debarment Official and Deputy Assistant Sec’y for
Acquisitions, HHS, to Peter Daszak, President, EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. (May 2024).

230 Preparing for the Next Pandemic: Lessons Learned and the Path Forward: Hearing Before Select Subcomm. on
Coronavirus Pandemic, 118" Cong. 2, at 19 (Nov. 14, 2024) (testimony of Dr. Tabak) [hereinafter “Preparing for the
Next Pandemic™].

21 A Hearing with Dr. Anthony Fauci: Hearing Before Select Subcomm. on Coronavirus Pandemic, 118th Cong. 2,
at 122 (June 3, 2024) [hereinafter “Fauci Hearing”]. (The actions referenced in this question refer to NIH’s
enforcement and oversight actions preceding the 2024 suspension and debarment.)
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What Is Gain-Of-Function Research?

The term gain-of-function research encompasses a wide swath of life sciences research, a
subset of which involves creating potential pandemic pathogens. The meaning to the public
versus the scientific community is different and ever shifting, especially as federal government
oversight policies and procedures have shifted. However, the term gain-of-function is not tied to
any specific policy or oversight framework and, instead, has a long-established lay definition.

Throughout this investigation, the Select Subcommittee found the term “gain-of-
function” could mean something completely different to one person in the field than to another
person simply using the term. In fact, different experts also have different understandings of the
term. Consequently, a nuanced understanding of the term is essential to facilitate effective
oversight and understanding of this type of research.

As of October 19, 2020, according to the NIH website, gain-of-function meant “a type of
research that modifies a biological agent so that it confers a new or enhanced activity to that
agent.,,232

Gain-of-Function Research

The term gain-of-function (GOF) research describes a type of research that modifies a biological agent so that it confers new or enhanced activity to that agent. Some
scientists use the term broadly to refer to any such modification. However, not all research described as GOF entails the same level of risk. For example, research that
involves the modification of bacteria to allow production of human insulin, or the altering of the genetic program of immune cells in CAR-T cell therapy to treat cancer
generally would be considered low risk. The subset of GOF research that is anticipated to enhance the transmissibifity and/or virufence of potential pandemic pathogens,
which are likely to make them more dangerous to humans, has been the subject of substantial scrutiny and deliberation. Such GOF approaches can sometimes be
justified in laboratories with appropriate biosafety and biosecurity controls to help us understand the fundamental nature of human-pathogen interactions, assess the
pandemic potential of emerging infectious agents, and inform public health and preparedness efforts, incuding surveillance and the development of vaccines and
medical countermeasures. This research poses biosafety and biosecurity risks, and these risks must be carefully managed. When supported with NIH funds, this subset
of GOF research may only be conducted in laboratories with stringent oversight and appropriate biosafety and biosecurity controls to help protect researchers from

infection and prevent the release of microorganisms into the environment,

This definition was confirmed by multiple witnesses interviewed by the Select
Subcommittee.

Dr. Hugh Auchincloss (Dec. 20, 2023)

Q. So, this is the NIH website for gain-of-function research involving
potential pandemic pathogens, and this version was last updated July
12, 2021. There has since been a new version, and under the header
"Gain-of-Function Research" is that definition that I just read to you.
It does have the qualifier, not all research described as gain-of-
function entails the same level of risk, and I guess one of the kind of
semantics here is that what a layperson thinks of as gain-of-function,
I think falls under this definition: Any research that attributes a new
attribute to a biological agent, whether it's taking avian influenza
virus that can't infect humans or making it able to infect humans or

232 Gain-of-Function Research Involving Potential Pandemic Pathogens, NAT’L INSTS. OF HEALTH (last updated July
12, 2021) (last accessed Oct. 19, 2021) (archived version on file with Select Subcomm. Staff).

Page 59 of 520




taking a bat Coronavirus that can't infect mice and making it infect
mice, either of which would qualify as gain-of-function under that
definition.

Do you agree?

A. I do, and I think that this is making the same points that I've been
making earlier. There's gain-of-function which is common in
virology and that's not the same as the gain-of-function research of

concern.??

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (Jan. 5, 2024)

Q. ...My, kind of, understanding is that there's -- it's a complicated
definition. There's a lot of different pieces to it. There are pieces that
NIH regulates; there's pieces that HHS regulates. There are pieces
that have dual-use problems. So, I'm going to run through each
definition, and you just tell me if I'm kind of on the right page. The
high-level gain-of-function, as was defined by NIH: a type of
research that modifies a biological agent so that it confers new or
enhanced activity to that agent.

Is that right?

A. It -- as an agent, yes.?**

In addition to the above definition, the federal government requires that certain types of
gain-of-function research receive further oversight and review. In 2014 OSTP determined that a
subset of gain-of-function research needed further regulation and paused all new federal funding
for that type of research [hereinafter “2014 OSTP Pause™].

New USG funding will not be released for gain-of-function research
projects that may be reasonably anticipated to confer attributes to influenza,
MERS, or SARS viruses such that the virus would have enhanced
pathogenicity and/or transmissibility in mammals via the respiratory route.
The research funding pause would not apply to characterization or testing
of naturally occurring influenza, MERS, and SARS viruses, unless the tests
are reasonably anticipated to increase transmissibility and/or
pathogenicity.?*

233 Transcribed Interview of Hugh Auchincloss, M.D., Dep. Dir., Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l
Insts. of Health, at 100-101 (Dec. 20, 2023) [hereinafter “Auchincloss TI”].

234 Tabak TI, supra note 83, at 27.

235 U.S. GOVERNMENT GAIN-OF-FUNCTION DELIBERATIVE PROCESS AND RESEARCH FUNDING PAUSE ON SELECTED
GAIN-OF-FUNCTION RESEARCH INVOLVING INFLUENZA, MERS, AND SARS VIRUSES, OFFICE OF SCIENCE AND TECH.
PoLicy, WHITE HOUSE (Oct. 17, 2014).
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This definition is clear—it is not a pause on all gain-of-function research, but on a
specific subset. Therefore, it is possible for research to qualify as gain-of-function without
qualifying for the 2014 OSTP Pause.

In 2017, as a result of and replacing the 2014 OSTP Pause, HHS released the
“Framework for Guiding Funding Decisions About Proposed Research involving Enhanced
Potential Pandemic Pathogens (P3CO)” [hereinafter “P3CO Framework™].2*¢ Similar to the 2014
OSTP Pause, the P3CO Framework did not apply to all gain-of-function research but only a
specific subset.

The P3CO Framework applies to “[p]roposed intramural and extramural life sciences
research that is being considered for funding and that has been determined by the funding agency
as reasonably anticipated to create, transfer, or used enhanced PPPs [potential pandemic
pathogens]...”%*” A PPP is defined as a pathogen that:

(1) “is likely highly transmissible and likely capable of wide and
uncontrollable spread in human populations” and

(2) “is likely highly virulent and likely to cause significant morbidity and/or
mortality in humans.”?3#

An enhanced PPP—the type of pathogen the P3CO Framework is designed to oversee—
is defined as a potential pandemic pathogen “resulting from the enhancement of the
transmissibility and/or virulence of a pathogen.”?*° This applies to only a very narrow subset of
research. In fact, out of all the grants issued since the P3CO Framework went into effect, HHS
has only reviewed three potential studies that fall under this definition.?** Again, the P3CO
Framework is clear—it only applies to a small subset of gain-of-function research. Therefore, it
is possible for research to qualify as gain-of-function without qualifying for the P3CO
Framework.

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (Jan. 5, 2024)

Q. Can there be a subset of research that would qualify under that
definition of modifying -- of providing a new function to a
biological agent --

A. Uh-huh.

236 FRAMEWORK FOR GUIDING FUNDING DECISIONS ABOUT PROPOSED RESEARCH INVOLVING ENHANCED POTENTIAL
PANDEMIC PATHOGENS, U.S. DEP’T OF HEALTH & HUMAN SERVS. (2017).

237 [d

238 Id.

239 Id.

240 Research Involving Enhanced Potential Pandemic Pathogens, NAT’L INSTS. OF HEALTH, U.S. DEP’T OF HEALTH
& HUMAN SERVS. (last updated June 5, 2023) (last accessed Apr. 23, 2024).
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Q. -- without falling under the categories of being regulated by the
P3CO?

A. Absolutely. 2!

Applying the Definition of Gain-Of-Function to EcoHealth’s Reported Experiments.

The Select Subcommittee endeavored to determine if research facilitated by EcoHealth—
paid for with U.S. taxpayer dollars—and conducted in Wuhan by the WIV qualified as gain-of-
function research. The research in question was published by EcoHealth in its Year 5 Research
Performance Progress Reports (RPPR) [hereinafter “Year 5 Report”].?*?

3.1 In vivo infection of Human ACE2 (hACE2) axp“rhﬁsmgmma with SARSr-CoV 5 protein

wvariants f“' h:‘_
In Year 5, we continued with in wivo infection exﬁbn’nms of diverse bat SARSr-CoVs on
transgenic mice expressing human ACE2 I'-.ulir-.'.ercr‘nfc ted with 4 sirains of SARSr-CoVs
with different S protein, induding the full-keabth cimbinant virus of SARSr-CoV WIV and
three chimeric viruses with the backbone §FWh and S proteins of SHC014, WIV16 and
Rs4231, respectively. Pathogenicity ui-tf‘pi;'d SARS~CoV's was evaluated by recording the
survival rate of challenged mice in a Mﬂp{q{rﬁjrﬁe Al of the 4 SARSr-CoV's caused lethal
nfection in hACEZ transgenic mice, ot § hq?horralr.y rate vary among 4 groups of infected mice
(Fig. 13a). 14 days post mfcctu:um‘oula‘t mice infected with WIV1 remained alive (71.4%),
while only 2 of 8 mice infected with r"a'l‘ff' SHCO14 5 survived (25%). The survival rate of mice
nfected with AWIVA-WIV1ES 400 AVEMT-42315 were 50%. Viral replication was confirmed by
quantitative PCR in spleen, ‘E!n [\T\té‘thp and brain of infected micea. In brain, rWIV1, Wi 1-
WIV16S and IW-'IU‘-dzgk{uanr_@tbe detected 2 days or 4 days post infection. However,
rWIv1-SHCO14 was deitefed-staall time points and showed an increasing viral titer after
nfection. The viral I:&:Q{cacﬁ‘&d more than 107 genome copies/g at the dead point (Fig. 13b).
We also conducted h.fs-::upﬁinlugucal section examination in infected mice. Tissue lesicn and
lymphocytes inf Itraﬁ:nr l:ah‘EE observed in lung, which is more significant in mice infected with
rWIV1-SHCO14 $_fF|g.k“ﬂ3dj than those infected with r'WWiV1 (Fig. 13c). These results suggest
that the parh%wg@d"SHG‘ 14 is higher than other tested bat SARSr-CoVs in transgenic
mice that E‘ﬂ_tfbs haCEZ.

The Year 5 Report describes an experiment in which the WIV infected transgenic mice
with four different coronaviruses, three of which were chimera or recombinant viruses with
different spike proteins. The WIV then measured the pathogenicity of the novel laboratory
created viruses as compared to the control, which was a full-length backbone of WIV1. The

pathogenicity of the three chimeras was then compared to the control—the full-length backbone
of WIV1.

In the experiment, the survival rate of mice infected with WIV1 was 71.4 percent while
the survival rate of the mice infected with one of the chimeric viruses (WIV1-SHC014) was just
25 percent. Therefore, the laboratory generated chimera was more pathogenic than the control
virus and the mice infected with that chimera became sicker.

241 Tabak TI, supra note 83, at 29.
24 Interim Research Performance Progress Report, EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., at 15 (Aug. 3, 2021).
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In the October 20, 2021 letter to Mr. Comer, Dr. Tabak described this experiment and its
result as “unexpected.”?*’ Regardless of whether the results were expected or not, it appears this
experiment would constitute gain-of-function research.

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (Jan. 5, 2024)

Q. NIH has said a lot that the experiment in the EcoHealth grant was
not gain-of-function research, that it didn't qualify. Did NIH mean it
wasn't ePPP research?

A. It is certainly an example of generic gain-of-function, if that’s what
you mean.

Q. Yes. So, I'm trying to get at, like, words matter. And using a term
that has an established definition, "gain-of-function" -- it's on the
NIH's website —

A. Right.

Q. -- has an established definition, that when people say that what

EcoHealth did was not gain-of-function research, that's not true. It's
not gain-of-function research of concern or that HHS would
regulate. Is that fair?

A. That is fair. And I have always, when asked, tried to make that
distinction.

All right.

A. Because, as you point out, there's lots of gain-of-function research,
and, as is written here, however, not all such research entails the
same level of risk.

And I agree with that. I'm just —
A. Yeah.

Q. When there's such a -- like, I don't remember the infection count or
the death toll in 2021. And origins has been such a hot-button issue.
But, like, when I write things for my bosses that are going to go out
and speak or if I was prepping someone for congressional testimony,
I'd want to make sure that they're using the right phrases. And
whenever we've talked to NIH -- I think I was briefed by you once;
it might've been on this letter -- maybe outside of that, we've heard

243 Letter from Lawrence Tabak, D.D.S., Ph.D., Principal Dep. Dir., Nat’l Insts. of Health to Hon. James Comer,
Ranking Member, H. Comm. on Oversight & Reform (October 20, 2021).
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A.

"NIH did not fund gain-of-function research in Wuhan," period.
That's, at best, misleading.

I have always tried to make sure that whoever is asking the question
is speaking about gain-of-function research of concern. I can only
speak for how I'm trying to answer questions of this type. Because
you're right, words matter.

And I won't harp too long, but just -- you would agree, what's
described in this letter, what's described in the EcoHealth year
progress report, would fit the definition -- the broad definition of
gain-of-function research?

The generic, broad description of what gain-of-function is, yes.***

Dr. Ralph Baric (Jan. 22, 2024)

Q.

ook ok

Dr. Baric, you've read the year 5 paragraph now, the in vivo
infection where five of the seven mice infected with just the WIV1
backbone survived, but only two of the eight mice infected with the
WIV1 SHCO014 [survivied].

You should be able to do the statistics on that, and it should show
that there's a statistical difference, which means there was an
increase in virulence and the entire review process would have been
triggered.

So, my question is, and we've gotten different answers on
everything, and it depends on if you're using the P3 definition or
whatever definition. This reads like gain-of-function to me.

Okay. So what year was this? I just want to make sure I'm in the
right gain-of-function regulation.

2019.

So, it's the NSABB regulation...So based on those regulations, yes,
this is -- as my interpretation, is that, yes, these would be exempt.
But is it a gain-of-function phenotype? Absolutely. You can't argue
with that.?*

244 Tabak TI, supra note 83, at 95-97.
24 Baric TI, supra note 39, at 181-184.
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Dr. Lawrence Tabak (May 16, 2024)

Q. ...Dr. Tabak, did the NIH fund the gain-of-function research at the
Wuhan Institute of Virology through EcoHealth?

A. It depends on your definition of gain-of-function research. If you are
speaking about the generic term, yes, we did...%*

Dr. Baric previously stated and testified that the WIV should not have been conducting

this type of research at BSL-2. This is a divergence from the beliefs of Dr. Daszak. This

divergence was exemplified by the following email exchange.

247

From: Ralph Baric
Sent: Monday, May 10, 2021 12:21 PM

Subject:

B5L2 noled in methods

JW¥irol. 2016 Jul 15; 90{14): 6573-6581.

Published cnline 2016 Jun 24. Prepublished online 2016 May 11. doi: 10.1128/1V1.03079-15

PMICID: PMC4935131; PMID: 27170748

Bat Severe Acute Respirgtory Syndrome-Like Coronavirus WIV1 Encodes an Extra Accessory Protein, OREX, Involved in
Modulation of the Host Immune Response Lei-Ping Zeng.a Yu-Tao Gao.a Xing-¥i Ge.a Qian Zhang,a Cheng Peng.a Xing-
Lou Yang.a Bing Tan,a Jing Chen,a alaksei A. Chmura,b Peter Daszak,b and Zheng-Li Shicorresponding author

I¥irol. 2020 Oct; 94(20): e00302-20.

Published online 2020 Sep 29. Prepublished online 2020 Jul 22, doi: 10.1128/1V1.00202-20

PMCID: PMLCT527062

PMID: 32659095

Evolutionary Arms Race between Virus and Host Drives Genetic Civersity in Bat Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome
Related Coronavirus Spike Genes Hua Guo,#a,b Bing-lie Hu#a Xing-Lou Yang,a Lei-Ping Zeng.a Bei Li,a Songying
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Ithink there are at least one more such paper. i'll forward letter to the editor shortly, but thought you should be
informed this methodology continued into 2020

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

246 OQverseeing the Overseers: A Hearing with NIH Deputy Dir., Dr. Lawrence Tabak: Hearing Before Select
Subcomm. On the Coronavirus Pandemic, 118" Cong., 2, at 95-97 (May 16, 2024) [hereinafter “Tabak Hearing”).
247 Baric TI, supra note 39, at 181-184.
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From: Ralph Baric

Sent: Monday, May 10, 2021 4:44 FM

Subject: Re:

Hi Peter, 1t 15 true that this isn't defimtive proof and | agree there 15 no evidence of a SARS2 like virus in their
collection that is closer than RaTG 13, which is still pretty distant. 1 also still agree that a natural origin from
nature 15 the most likely scenario. Take care, Ralph

On Mon, "q.-'Iu:v 10, 2021 at 1:57 PM Peter Daszak _ wrile:

Thanks Ralph = I'd seen those and | understand your rationale for signing the letter. I've already seen a copy—
reporters are already lining up guestions for me, towhich I'm saying — you should contact WHO.

The real issue that everyone seems ta forget is whether they had a virus similar to SARS-CoV-2 in their collection.
Given that we publishad ~850 novel RdRps [alpha and beta covs) in spring 2020, and that they were piling in every
single positive they had, it just seems like a very implausisle scenario. Yes, they cultured bat-CoVs at a safety level you
don’t, but there's no evidence anywhere that they had SARS2 or & progenitar. lournalists will write whatever they
want | guess...

Cheers,

-SSCPL{V-Uﬁam

Peter

Peter Daszak

President

EcoHealth alliance

520 Eighth Avenue, Suite 1200
Mew York, NY 10018-6507
USA

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]
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MMessage

From: Ralph Baric
Sent: f27/2021 7:00:34 AM
Ta: Peter Daszak

Subject: Re: ESL levels Il::-r viral culturz in !!-na, !! a:!ﬂr countries

Sarry Peter. Your being told a bunch of BS. Bsl2 w negative pressure, give me a break. There last paper
mentioned bsl2 w appropriate PPE. This last part was the first and only time this was ever mentioned, never in
earlier pupers, and in the latest paper never defined either. 1have no doubt that they followed stale determined
rules and did the work under bsl2. Yes china has the right to set their own policy. You believe this was
appropriate containment if you want but don't expect me to believe it. Moreover, don't insult my intelligence
by trying to feed me this load of BS.

Ralph

On Thu, May 27, 2021, 1:08 AM Peter Daszak _wmte.

Hi Ralph,
Hope all's well, given this ridiculous wezk for politics around covid origins in the news!

Since we last spoke, I'va checked ona bunch of rules governing culture of viruses in the US, China and other countries,
Hope you don’t take this the wrong way = 'm sending you this 0 you're aware, and in case you get questions from
reporters, and other scientists, or the govt agencies etc., not to disagree with your opinion, which | respect.

In China, the rules allow for organizations to conduct culture of animal viruses at BSL-2, including chimeras, We
checked with Zhengli, who let us know that she used “B5L-2 with negative prassure and appropriate PPE”. | also know
that they are stricter now on SAD5-CoV (it's BSL-3 | believe) ever since you showed it was able to infect human airway
epithelial cells, so that's evidence they do take these things more seriously than it would seem on the surface.

| also checked the rules an a bunch of viruses for the US and was surprised to find lethal human pathogens cultured at
BSL-2 (e.g. Rabies, some vector borne viruses) as well as ma ny wildlife viruses. | also spoke with Chris Broder who let
me know that the bat paramyxovirus Cedar virus (close to Mipah/Hendra) is cultured at BSL-2, including the
recombinants he fas made witn Nipah and Hendra elemeants. Reference here:

hitps:/'www nebinlm.nih.sov'pmefarticles PMCS 869790/

I've attached a list of some of the findings with refs. Hope it's useful in case there are questions about this. I'm sure
thers are reasons for all of the above classifications, and justifications that can be debated, but | just want you to know
that | did the due diligence on this, and checked that they were following the rules, and that similar rules exist here. I'm
sure it will ba eriticized, and maybe there will be tightening of biosafety levels given the hype around the lab leak
hypothesis at the moment. However, I'm still very confident that nothing untoward happened there, and have good
reasons for that based on the protocols they used, and the results they were sharing as we wrote a paper for Nat.
Communications in the lead up to the cutbreak

Cheers,

B sscPoo406590

Peter
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FINDING: EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. Submitted its Year 5 Annual Progress Report Nearly Two
Years Late.

During the life cycle of a grant, the principal investigator must provide annual reports,
known as RPPR, to its funding agency.?*® These reports provide the funding agency with updates
on the progress of the work funded by the grant and any anticipated changes in the research
approach or direction going into the next funding year. In the case of EcoHealth, these reports,
especially its Year Five Report, have come under scrutiny from the NIH Office of Extramural
Research and the Select Subcommittee’s investigation.

EcoHealth’s Year 5 Report was due September 28, 2019. However, the report was not
submitted until August 3, 2021—nearly two years late.** This failure was first reported to
Congress via an October 20, 2021 letter from Dr. Tabak to Mr. Comer.>>°

Each year, regardless of whether a grant is being evaluated for a competitive renewal, the
principal investigator must submit an annual progress report. As stated above, EcoHealth’s Year
5 Report—the report that included the results of research and experiments for June 2018 through
May 2019, the time period immediately preceding the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic—
was due September 28, 2019. However, EcoHealth submitted this report nearly two years later
on August 3, 2021.

For project years one through four, Dr. Daszak, in addition to submitting the annual
report via the NIH online reporting system, would routinely also send it via e-mail to his
program officer, Dr. Stemmy. The Select Subcommittee are in possession of these e-mails for
reporting years one, two, and four:

1) On May 1, 2015, Dr. Daszak emailed Dr. Stemmy the Year 1 RPPR stating, “[w]e just
uploaded our Y1 Report for our Understanding the Risk of Bat Coronavirus Emergence
award (1R0O1AI110964-01). I wanted to send you a copy of the report as well.”?*!

2) On May 13, 2016, Dr. Daszak emailed Dr. Stemmy the Year 2 RPPR stating, “I just
wanted to let you know that we submitted our Year 2 Report yesterday (attached as

pdf).”252

248 Research Performance Progress Report (RPPR), NAT’L INSTS. OF HEALTH (last updated Nov. 2, 2022) (last
accessed Apr. 24, 2024).

249 Understanding the Risk of Bat Coronavirus Emergence, RPPR (Aug. 3, 2021).

250 Letter from Lawrence Tabak, D.D.S., Ph.D., Principal Dep. Dir., Nat’l Insts. of Health, to Hon. James Comer,
Ranking Member, H. Comm. on Oversight & Reform (Oct. 20, 2021).

231 E-Mail from Peter Daszak, Ph.D., President, EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., to Erik Stemmy, Ph.D., Program Officer,
Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health, ef al. (May 1, 2015) (On file with Select
Subcomm. Staff).

252 E-Mail from Peter Daszak, Ph.D., President, EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., to Erik Stemmy, Ph.D., Program Officer,
Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health, ef al. (May 13, 2016) (On file with Select
Subcomm. Staff).
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3) On April 25, 2018, Dr. Daszak emailed Dr. Stemmy the Year 4 RPPR stating, “I just
wanted to send you a pdf of our Year 4 Report which I submitted last week.”?>

When asked why he did not continue this pattern for the Year 5 Report, Dr. Daszak testified
that he “wish[ed]” he did email the Year 5 Report to the NIH grants office but did not.

Dr. Peter Daszak (Nov. 13, 2023)

Q. Okay. And I think we had seen in, I think at least 1 year prior, maybe
year 4, a practice of submitting the annual report through the
Commons system —

Yeah.

-- of course the way that it's submitted?

Yeah.

And then separately from that, emailing it over to your grants office?

Yeah. [ remember doing that a couple of times, yeah.

Did that happen here?

SR S S

No, unfortunately. I wish I'd done that. I didn't do it. You know, it's
unfortunate.?>*

Dr. Stemmy was the NIAID official responsible for tracking and ensuring EcoHealth’s
progress reports were submitted on time. According to Dr. Stemmy, Dr. Daszak did not send an
e-mail with the Year 5 Report until Dr. Daszak officially submitted it August 3, 2021.

Dr. Erik Stemmy (Nov. 13, 2023)

Q. So this is minority exhibit G. It is the year 4 progress report along
with the sort of cover email from Dr. Daszak to you in April 25th,
2018. So we have this email attaching the year 4 report where he's
going outside of the eRA Commons system to sort of personally
hand you a copy of what he's up to. They had the big success with
SADS and some other notable events.

Did he do this for year 5?

253 E-Mail from Peter Daszak, Ph.D., EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., to Erik Stemmy, Ph.D., Program Officer, Nat’l Inst.
Of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health, et. al. (Apr. 25, 2018) (On file with Select Subcomm.
Staff).

234 Transcribed Interview of Peter Daszak, Ph.D., EcoHealth Alliance Inc. (Nov. 14, 2023) (hereinafter “Daszak T1”).
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A. I believe he sent me an email in -- contemporaneous with when he
submitted the progress report in 2021, I believe that August, right?
Is that when that one came in? So I believe he copied me on a
message then, but not around the time that it would have been
due.?%

Dr. Daszak also testified that “the information from the Year 5 Report was in the
resubmitted - - [year 6 competitive] renewal submission, in the first part of that renewal
submission.”?>

Dr. Peter Daszak (Nov. 14, 2023)

Q. Could I ask —
A. But -- yeah, go ahead, go ahead.

Q. Could I ask why not, in other words, it seems as if there was a
knowledge that you can always just attach the PDF to the email and
send it over to Erik Stemmy.

A. Yeah.

Q. We're struggling, I think, a little bit to understand why that would
not have occurred here.

A. Well, you know, one, it's me second-guessing my decisions 4 years
ago, but one reason why there's less concern is, the information from
the year 5 report was in the resubmitted -- the renewal submission,
in the first part of that renewal submission. We had information of
relevance to the work we were doing in China in that submission.
So Erik Stemmy, the program officer, had seen that, without a doubt.
That was part of his job to read that proposal.?’

This sentiment was reiterated by multiple witnesses throughout the inquiry. However,
after a review of the Year 6 competitive renewal, the Select Subcommittee does not believe the
experiment in question in the Year 5 Report was in the renewal application. Regardless, simply
because there is a renewal application, does not exempt EcoHealth from following the terms of
its grant and submitting its Year 5 Report on time. As multiple NIH witnesses testified, the Year 5
Report is still due on time regardless of the competitive renewal application.

Dr. Erik Stemmy (Nov. 13, 2023)

255 Transcribed Interview of Erik Stemmy, Ph.D., Program Officer, Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases,
Nat’l Insts. of Health, at 142 (Nov. 13, 2023) [hereinafter “Stemmy TI”].

256 Daszak TI, supra note 253, at 52.

257 Id.
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Q. If a grant is suspended or terminated, does the prime awardee
still have to complete the requirements under the grant --
administrative requirements?

HHS Counsel. If you know.

A. So my understanding is that this was a unique
situation. I do recall that, when they came up for their
first annual progress report, I believe the, they
reached out to grants management to ask what they
should submit. So I believe they still have to submit
something, but, in essence, it was a paper that said,
"This grant is terminated," and no action has been
undertaken.

Q. No. I'm saying -- so the grant that was suspended was
the renewal, the type 2, right? But they hadn't
completed all the requirements on the type 1 prior to
having the funding for the type 2.

A. Correct.

Q. If the type 2 is suspended, does it just waive their
requirements to complete the type 1?

A. No.>*

As an excuse for why EcoHealth’s Year 5 Report was late, Dr. Daszak testified that he
attempted to submit it but was “locked out” by the NIH system.

Dr. Peter Daszak (May 1, 2024)

Q. Right. ’'m sorry. September 28, 2019?

A. Yes.

Q. Perfect. Thank you. But it is also true that you did not submit this
report until August 2021, nearly 2 years later, as my colleague just
represented.

A. Well—

Q. You did not submit the report at the end of September 2019?

258 Stemmy TI, supra note 255, at 140-141.
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A.
out...

We uploaded the report into the system. The system locked us

259

This testimony does not stand up to further scrutiny. Dr. Lauer and NIH conducted a
forensic audit across their systems to attempt to confirm Dr. Daszak’s claim, however, NIH could

not verify the claim.

Dr. Michael Lauer (Nov. 2, 2023)

Q.

Okay. Oh, I meant to -- I had one other question on this late year-
five report. You said earlier to somebody's questioning today that
you were not convinced that EcoHealth -- EcoHealth sent a product.
They had a submission. They were trying to submit it in July 2019,
and they experienced a lockout. They were locked out of the eRA
Commons system, and they weren't able to do it. Now, you said you
were not convinced. So could you explain why you were of that
view?

Yeah. So our office did an electronic forensic investigation of
EcoHealth's encounters with our grant system, and that included
both looking at activity logs. Every time that anyone interacts with
our system, there is an activity log that describes when they came
in, who came in, what actually happened. And it also involved our
help desk ticket. So we have a help desk. And so whenever
somebody calls in and says, "I am having problems with the
system," that encounter that they have with our staff is recorded. We
never found any evidence that they had been locked out of our
system. We did see that on one day somebody from EcoHealth had
attempted to log in through one -- you can log into our system in
multiple different ways. And they had attempted to log in in one way
and had entered the wrong password, I think, three times. And so
that particular channel did get blocked. But then, on the very same
day, later they were interacting with our system having logged in
through a different route. And then we looked at the help desk
tickets, we also looked at emails with NIAID staff, and we never
saw any evidence that they claimed that they were unable to submit
their progress report because the eRA system had locked them out.

Okay. And if it had locked them out, weren't there other ways they
could have gotten the report into NIH if they had called somebody?

If they were unable to submit any document because they had been
locked out of the system, then what they would do is they could call

2% A Hearing with the President of EcoHealth Alliance, Dr. Peter Daszak: Hearing Before Select Subcomm. On the

Coronavirus Pandemic, 118" Cong. 2, at 23 (May 1, 2024) [hereinafter “Daszak Hearing”].
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up our help desk, and then our help desk would work with them to
figure out what was going on.?®°

In response to Dr. Lauer’s testimony, Dr. Daszak deflected by stating that both the fact
that Dr. Lauer’s forensic investigation failed to find evidence supporting Dr. Daszak’s claim, and
his underlying claim can both be true.

Dr. Peter Daszak (Nov. 14, 2023)

Q. So I'm going to show you what's going to be majority exhibit No. 5.
This is an excerpt of a transcribed interview with Dr. Lauer that the
committees took earlier this month. So we asked Dr. Lauer what, as
part of his compliance review of the grant, what steps he did to look
into this lockout issue...So we plan to ask for that, the results of that
forensic audit. But, again, wanted to get your impression as to how
correct that is.

A. It's absolutely possible. What Dr. Lauer says there is true and what
I'm saying to you is true. It can be true that there is, as he states,
there's no evidence of us contacting the help desk and getting a help
desk ticket because we maybe didn't do that. We contacted the grants
officer. It can also be true that Dr. Lauer doesn't have any evidence
that we'd been locked out of the system and that we were locked out
of the system. Just because he can't find evidence of that doesn't
mean it's not true. We were locked out of the system. Not only were
we locked out of the system then, when Dr. Lauer wrote to us
demanding that we immediately send the year 5 report and upload it
into the system, NIH couldn't get the system to work for 11 days.
We have it on record. And that's how we did keep email. So look,
Dr. Lauer is a very senior manager at NIH. I'm sure that it's logical
to him that someone would go to the help desk. But we had a direct
point of contact in charge of grants management who never
responded to us by phone. All we can do is try. And if NIH was
unable to, even when they demanded the report 2 years later, they
were unable to unlock the system for a number of days, it was clearly
locked.

Q. Sure. I'm just giving you the opportunity to comment on his [sic].
And we don't have the forensic audit so we don't have a firm idea of
the scope.

A. Well, if the forensic audit tests whether we got a help desk ticket or
assesses whether we tried to log into a system or assesses whether
we sent an email, then maybe the forensic audit won't find that. But

260 Transcribed Interview of Michael Lauer, M.D., Dep. Dir., Extramural Research, Nat’] Insts. of Health, at 102-103
(Nov. 2, 2023) [hereinafter “Lauer TI”].
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we tried to upload that report. We even tried when NIH told us 2
years later immediately send it and we weren't able to. The system
locked us out. It's a fact.

You said that you had emailed your point of contact at NIAID or
NIH to try to rectify the situation, right?

My admin staff called the point of contact.
Called?

I believe so, yeah. I think they emailed her, received no response,
called.

Because Dr. Lauer also testified that during the course of this audit
they looked at emails with NIAID staff and still never saw any
evidence that EcoHealth claimed you were unable to submit a
progress report because the eRA system had locked them out?

Well, again, like I said, they may find no email evidence, but we did
try to submit the report. It did lock us out. I mean, you can't get much
more clearer than when NIH specifically instructed us to upload it
immediately, 2-1/2 years later, in a matter of urgency, where they
knew all about it and were waiting for it, they still couldn't get the
system to unlock. Clearly that system needs to be fixed.?*!

The forensic analysis of the NIH reporting system concluded “[t]he user was never
locked out of the system.”?6? Further, the analysis determined that EcoHealth accessed the
reporting system at least once a day for 72 days between July 24, 2019 and July 27, 2021.2%° The
analysis stated, “[e]ach of those times accessing Commons was an opportunity to route the RPPR
so it could be submitted to NIH.”2% In summary, EcoHealth could have chosen to submit its Year

5 RPPR and chose not to.%

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

261 Daszak TI, supra note 253, at 139-141.

262 RPPR Related Activities for RO1AT110964-05 and Other Actions Performed, NAT’L INSTITUTES OF HEALTH (on

file with Select Subcomm. Staff).
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RPPR related activities for R01AI110964-05 and other actions performed
The user was never locked out of the system;
1. eRA logs show that there was activity by Pl and SO from the organization.

2. Pl has a proven history of familiarity with and usage of eRA Commons, having initiated and routed 7 RPPRs during
years 2015, 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019, 2021.

3. Pl Initiated the Interim RPPR through the link provided on 07/24/2019 but he did not route it to the SO.
The day before the I-RRPR was routed by the PI to the SO (07/26/2021), the Pl linked his account to Login.gov.

Then on 07/27/2021 he unsuccessfully attempted to change his eRA Commons password, and the password'was
locked.

6. He continues accessing eRA using Login.gov
Details:
Interim RPPR for Year 5
e RO01AI110964-05 went into the systematic Closeout Process at the end of the project period.

* 06/04/2019 first email regarding documents needed for closeout was sent to-the Pl the SO and the Closeout email
identified by the organization in their Commons Institutional Profile.

e« (7/19/2019 grant was removed from closeout and the Interim RPPR Jink became available systematically to both
the Pl and all SOs of the organization.

e 07/24/2019 - PI Initiated the Interim RPPR through the link provided:

o (05/26/2020 - Pl accessed this Interim RPPR to upload a decument’and to enter data.
« 07/27/2021 - Pl routed this Interim RPPR to SO.

e (08/02/2021 - SO uploaded documents for this Interim RPPR.

o 08/03/2021 - SO submitted this Interim RPPR to NIH:

From 7/19/2019 to 8/3/2021 the Interim RPPR.link-was available to access in both the Pl and SOs Commons Status.
Both the Pl and SO accessed other applications and grants via their Commons Status, including but not limited to Just-
In-Time actions and Application viewing.

During the timeframe after Pl initiated.the Interim RPPR through routing to the SO (07/24/2019 - 07/27/2021), the PI
successfully logged into and was active in eRA systems (Commons, Commons Status, Assist) a total of 72 days. Each
of those times accessing Commons was an opportunity to route the RPPR so it could be submitted to NIH.

+ 12 more days in 2019 (07/25/2019, 0B/05/2019, 08/16/2019, 09/10/2019, 10/02/2019, 11/08/2019, 11/18/2019,
11/21/2019, 11/2272019,'12/03/20189, 12/05/2019, 12/06/2019)

+ 38 days in 2020 (01/24/2020, 01/28/2020, 01/29/2020, 01/30/2020, 02/20/2020, 02/21/2020, 05/08/2020,
05/15/2020, 05/25/2020, 05/26/2020, 06/01/2020, 06/02/2020, 06/09/2020, 06/11/2020, 07/03/2020, 07/07/2020,
07/11/2020,.07/15/2020, 07/28/2020, 08/07/2020, 08/10/2020, 08/13/2020, 08/20/2020, 09/16/2020, 09/17/2020,
09/23/2020,/09/28/2020, 09/30/2020, 10/05/2020, 11/06/2020, 11/11/2020, 11/16/2020, 11/27/2020, 11/19/2020,
12/01/2020, 12/14/2020, 12/19/2020, 12/21/2020)

e 22 days in 2021 (03/10/2021, 03/156/2021, 03/22/2021, 03/23/2021, 03/24/2021, 03/25/2021, 03/29/2021,
03/30/2021, 03/31/2021, 04/08/2021, 04/09/2021, 04/25/2021, 05/19/2021, 05/21/2021, 05/24/2021, 06/08/2021,
06/09/2021, 06/10/2021, 06/11/2021, 06/15/2021, 07/26/2021, 07/27/2021)

Pl Account details regarding "locked account”
o (07/26/2021 Pl mapped their Commons account to Login.gov.

o 07/27/2021 Pl was logged in with their Commons account to route the Interim RPPR to the SO and entered invalid
credentials 5 times to lock their Commons password. However, before the password was locked, the Pl had
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already successfully logged in, was using multiple browser windows (logs show same IP and browser) and was
able to continue working in another active browser window.

o (07/28/2021 - Pl logged into Commons using Login.gov and logs show continued activity through present day.

“Regenerated” Annual RPPR

+ 09/16/2020 - Signing Official contacted the eRA service desk about filling out the Inclusion Enroliment data. During
that call, the eRA service desk agent inadvertently regenerated the RPPR, which caused the date and list of

publications to be updated.

+ Grant Folder: the Annual RPPR in the eAppls section reflects the regenerated RPPR and the original RPPR is
included in the eAdditions section.

Dr. Daszak, himself, publicly and via e-mail appeared to contradict his own claims that
he was “locked out” from submitting the Year 5 Report on time. On October 1, 2021, Dr. Daszak
wrote in an email regarding the late Year 5 Report, “[f]or your interest, here’s the truth behind the
mystery: We got our report ready to file for yr5 of the grant, but when it was re-funded we
assumed we didn’t need to...eventually NIH wrote to us and told us to file, so we did.”?°

Date: Fri, 1 0cl2021 3:.02:44 PM -0400
Sent: Fri, 1 Oct2021 3:02:20 PM -0400

Subject: Biggest non-story yet
To: David Morens keuschF Roberts, Rich Robert
) Kessler ; Aleksel Chmura

Attachments: image001.jpg; image002.jpg; image003.jpg; image004.jpg; image005.jpgy; imagel06.jpy

It Iwasn’t sosick of being pilloried in the press, I would find this one amusing! These investigative reporters have found outin
our pile of foia’d docs that we were late submitting a report to NIH, and managed to turn it into an innuendao filled hit job. Just

awful. ..

hips:/iheintercept.com/202 1/10/01/nib- bat-coronavirus- grant-ecohealth-alliance/

For your interest, here’s the truth behind this mystery: We got our report ready to file for yr 5 of the grant, but when it was re-
funded we assumed we didn’t need to. I was the first time we’'d had a renewal. We then had our grant terminated by Trump and
assumed we definitely wouldn’t need to at that point. Eventually NTH wrote to us and told us to file, so we did.

Meanwhile, I can’t believe that people like Larry Gostin are willing to be quoted in this sort of crap. I used to think he did good
work, buthe's repeatedly spoken out over the last few months to support Tedros and whine about our ‘lack of ransparency’.

Furthermore, on September 24, 2024, EcoHealth published a document [hereinafter
“EcoHealth’s document] that included more information regarding the Year 5 Report
submission.?®” This document did not support Dr. Daszak’s testimony that he was “locked out”
of the NIH reporting system. In fact, this document directly contradicts Dr. Daszak’s sworn

testimony.

266 E-Mail from Peter Daszak, Ph.D., President, EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., to David Morens, M.D., Senior Advisor,

Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy & Infectios Diseases, et al., (Oct. 1, 2021, 3:02 PM).
267 EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., EcoHealth Alliance Corrects the Record (Sept. 24, 2024).
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1) On page one, EcoHealth’s document stated, “[e]vidence shows that EcoHealth Alliance
made substantial efforts to upload its Year 5 Report, but was stymied by confusing
instructions, and an NIH reporting system that had a history of substantial glitches and

eITors 99268

2) On page two, EcoHealth’s document stated, “[w]e provide public records of other
organizations and scientists that have been locked out from submission to eRA
Commons, or had difficulties uploading reports.”?%

3) On page nine, EcoHealth’s document stated, ““...a lack of clarification and the subsequent
renewal grant award without any further request for the Year 5 report led EcoHealth to its
mistaken impression that the Year 5 report was not required by NIH for its work to be in
compliance.”?”°

4) On page 19, EcoHealth’s document included an email from NIH that informs EcoHealth,
“[a]s reflected in the terms and conditions in the Notice of Award, NIH grant closeout
policy requires the submission of three final reports no later than 120 calendar days after
the termination of the grant. The following documents must be submitted no later than
09/28/2019.”271

In fact, nowhere in the 139-page document does it state EcoHealth, itself, was locked out
from submitting its Year 5 Report on time. None of the above statements support Dr. Daszak’s
testimony that EcoHealth was locked out or otherwise prevented from submitting its Year 5
Report.

Dr. Daszak also testified that, once NIH formally requested the late Year 5 Report, NIH
could not open the system for 11 days.

Dr. Peter Daszak (November 14, 2023)

A. We were locked out of the system. Not only were we locked out of
the system then, when Dr. Lauer wrote to us demanding that we
immediately send the year 5 report and upload it into the system,
NIH couldn’t get the system to work for 11 days. We have it on
record...?’?

A. Again we went online, and it was locked out. And we contacted
NIH, and then it took something like 11 days to open up that system
to allow us to submit...?"3

268 1d. at 1.

29 Id. at 2.

270 Id. at 9.

21 Id. at 19.

272 Daszak TI, supra note 253, at 140.
273 Daszak TI, supra note 253, at 197.
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Dr. Peter Daszak (May 1, 2024)

A. But let me explain, please I if I can. NIH told us 2 years later to
submit that report. It took NIH 11 days to unlock the system—so
any assertion that the system was not locked are demonstrably
false—11 days...?’*

Dr. Daszak’s testimony is directly contradicted by NIH.

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (May 16, 2024)

Q. Thank you. When EcoHealth eventually submitted its year-5 report,
Dr. Daszak testified it took 11 days to unlock the NIH system. Is this
true?

A. We have no evidence of that.?””

The fact is that Dr. Daszak was able to submit the Year 5 Report on time and he simply
chose not to. This is supported by both the NIH’s internal forensic analysis and Dr. Daszak’s own
statements.

FINDING: EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. Failed to Timely Report a Dangerous Experiment to the
U.S. National Institutes of Health.

EcoHealth was required to “monitor the activities of the subrecipient as necessary to
ensure that the subaward is used for authorized purposes, in compliance with Federal statutes,
regulations, and the terms and conditions of the subaward . . .”?7® As stated in the Notice of
Award, “[a]cceptance of this award including the ‘Terms and Conditions’ is acknowledged by the
grantee when funds are drawn down or otherwise obtained from the grant payment system.”?”’
Even grantees that function as pass-through entities must monitor the activities of subrecipients,
including foreign subrecipients, to ensure that subawards are used for authorized purposes in
compliance with relevant laws and the terms and conditions of the subaward.?”®

This was particularly true when NIAID identified possible gain-of-function research
concerns in an experiment proposed by EcoHealth and to be conducted by the WIV. In a July 7,
2016 letter to EcoHealth, as a grantee undertaking potentially dangerous gain-of-function
experiments, NIAID officials advised:

NIAID acknowledges that if any of the MERS-like or SARS-like chimeras
generated under this grant show evidence of enhanced virus growth greater

274 Daszak Hearing, supra note 259, at 25.

275 Tabak Hearing, supra note 246, at 8.

276 45 C.ER. § 75.352(d).

277 NIAID, Notice of Award, EcoHealth Alliance, Grant Number 1R01A1110964-01, Understanding the Risk of Bat
Coronavirus Emergence (May 27, 2014).

278 45 CFR § 75.352.
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than 1 log over the parental backbone strain, Dr. Daszak will immediately
stop all experiments with these viruses and provide the NIAID Program
Officer and Grant Management Specialist, and Wuhan Institute of Virology
Institutional Biosafety Committee, with the relevant data and information
related to these unanticipated outcomes.?”’

This advisement was memorialized in EcoHealth’s Notice of Award.

SECTION IV - Al Special Terms and Conditions — 5R01AI110964-03 REVISED

REVISED AWARD: This Notice of Award Is revised to provide approval for collaboration with the
Wuhan University School of Public Health (CHINA) in accordance with the request submitted

by Aleksel Chmura, Ecohealth Alliance, Inc. on October 6, 2016.
Supersedes previous Notice of Award dated 7/26/2016.

HRERRAEEATATRRATLRR

Mo funds are provided and no funds can be used to support gain-of-function researeb/coveiad
under the October 17, 2014 White House Announcement (NIH Guide Notice NOT-©D-15.0:1).

Per the letter dated July 7, 2016 to Mr. Aleksei Chmura at EcoHealth Alliance~should™any of the
MERS-like or SARS-like chimeras generated under this grant show evidenc&of enhanced virus
growth greater than 1 log over the parental backbone strain you must stop_all expesiments with
these viruses and provide the NIAID Program Officer and Grants Management-3pecialist, and

Wuhan Institute of Virology Institutional Biosafety Committee with the relevant data and
information related to these unanticipated outcomes.

In Dr. Tabak’s October 20, 2021 letter to Mr. Comer, he noted that an experiment

published in EcoHealth’s Year 5 Report exhibited greater than one log growth and should have

been reported to NIAID but was not.

However, out of an abundance of caution and as an additional layer of
oversight, language was included in the terms and conditions of the grant
award to EcoHealth that outlined criteria for a secondary review, such as a
requirement that the grantee report immediately a one log increase in
growth. These measures would prompt a secondary review to determine
whether the research aims should be re-evaluated or new biosafety
measures should be enacted. EcoHealth failed to report this finding right
away, as was required by the terms of the grant.?%

NIH concluded that EcoHealth facilitated an experiment that was published in its Year 5

Report that violated this grant term and was not reported. EcoHealth argued that if an experiment
did violate the one log notification requirement, it was previously reported in its Year 4 Report.

279 Letter from Erik J. Stemmy, Ph.D., Program Officer, Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’] Insts. of

Health to Mr. Aleksei Chmura, Ph.D., Chief of Staff, EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. (July 7, 2016).

280 Letter from Lawrence A. Tabak, D.D.S., Ph.D., Principal Dep. Dir., Nat’l Insts. of Health, to Hon. James Comer,

Ranking Member, H. Comm. on Oversight & Reform (Oct. 20, 2021).
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This argument is contested by NIH. Regardless, the grant term required “immediate
notification”, and witness testimony confirms that notification should occur within one or two
business days and that simply adding the experiment to an annual report does not satisfy that
requirement. 8!

As stated, whether the experiment in question occurred during Year 4 or Year 5 is a
matter of dispute between EcoHealth and NIH. After reviewing the experiment, NIH determined
it believed there are two separate experiments.

Dr. Erik Stemmy (Nov. 13, 2023)

Q. ...That all seems, I think, consistent with what you're describing,
which is, at this point, which is after the submission of the year 4
report, neither the NIAID side of things nor it sounds like Dr. Daszak
understood the one log rule to have been previously implicated. In
other words, you all sort of were on the same page that year 4 report
did not show growth greater than one log. Is that right?

A. Yes. That's my best recollection, yes.?*?

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (Jan. 5, 2024)

Q. It says in the fourth paragraph, the first sentence, "The limited
experiment described in the final progress report provided by
EcoHealth Alliance...." Is it your understanding or recollection that
the experiment in year 5 was different from the experiment in year

47
A. That was our conclusion.
Okay.
A. That was our conclusion. Yes.?®3

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (May 16, 2024)

Q. OK. I appreciate that clarification. So, going back to that, whether it
was conducted in Year 4 or 5 of that grant, what is NIH’s
determination? Did it occur in Year 4 or 5?

281 Stemmy TI, supra note 255, at 73-743; Transcribed Interview of Emily Erbelding, M.D., M.P.H., Dir., Division
of Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, at 102-103 (Nov. 28, 2023)
[hereinafter “Erbelding TI].

282 Stemmy TI, supra note 255, at 106.

283 Tabak TI, supra note 83, at 81.
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A. It was our evaluation that it occurred in Year 5, but because of the
uncertainty, we asked for the original metadata, that is the electronic
records, and the actual lab notebooks, that would have memorialized
the actual events. And as you know, we never received those.

Further, Dr. Baric testified that he believed this to be two separate experiments and
should have been reported to NIAID.

Dr. Ralph Baric (Jan. 22, 2024)

Q. Dr. Baric, you've read the year 5 paragraph now, the in vivo
infection where five of the seven mice infected with just the WIV1
backbone survived, but only two of the eight mice infected with
the WIV1 SHCO14.

A. You should be able to do the statistics on that, and it should show
that there's a statistical difference, which means there was an
increase in virulence and the entire review process would have
been triggered.

So that's --
A. I think, if you did the statistics on those numbers.

Q. That's my question, is that this wouldn't have triggered P3 because
it's not a human virus.

A. It doesn't matter whether it triggered P3 or not. It triggered the
regulation that they agreed to in the document to follow.?%*

To support Dr. Daszak’s claim that the Year 4 and 5 experiments were the same, he called
Dr. Shi who assured him.

Dr. Peter Daszak (Nov. 14, 2023)

Q. This is 2021. We've had a year of all this controversy. We've had
the grant canceled. We've had President Trump making his
statements, Senator Cotton making his statements. And you just
have this -- you have like a standing -- maybe not a standing call,
but a call with the WIV, and you ask them, "One experiment or
two?" "One." "I thought so. It seems like that was the case." And
there was no further follow-up?

284 Baric TI, supra note 39, at 181-182.
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| A.  Correct.?®

On Oct 23, 2021, at 00:56, Peter Daszak _mte:

Just wanted to give you some very good news from China just now.

Wwe’ve checked with Wuhan and they only did the one experiment on humanized mice. It was done during year 4
of our grant and we reported initial results from this as soon as we received them back in 2019. They didn’t do viral
titers, just genome copies, and we reported lung tissue data and weight loss data. The figure in the year 5 report
(filed in 2021 due to grant termination etc) is from the same experiment — it’s simply the follow-up histopath and
survival data from that same group of mice —all done under BSL3, and all permitted by NIH. Isuspected as much
today because the pattern is the same for all outcomes: Genome copies per gram in lung and brain, weight loss and
survival all increase more rapidly in the chimera SHC014, but level off to insignificant differences by the end of
the experiment.

This is good news because it means NIH’s assumption that we failed to comply with timely reporting is dead
wrong, and we can push back directly to Michael Lauer in our letter about both the timing of our reporting, and
about the substance of it on that issue of titers vs. genome copies, and the fact that all variables had equalized by
Day 6-8 of the expt.

Breathing a slight sigh of relief here. We’ll still be pilloried in the press until this new information comes out, hut it
gives us a chance for strong but diplomatic pushback that can then be shared with reporters at some point next
week...

occurred, did result in a chimeric virus that grew more than one log faster.

Dr. Daszak also confirmed that the experiment in question, regardless of when it
286

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

285 Daszak TI, supra note 253, at 146.
286 E_Mail from Dr. Peter Daszak, Ph.D., President, EcoHealth Alliance Inc., to David Morens, M.D., Senior
Advisor, Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy & Infectious Diseases (Oct. 20, 2021, 8:14 PM).
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Date: Wed, 20 Oct 2021 8:14:29 PM -0400
Sent: Wed, 20 Oct 2021 8:13:08 PM -0400
Subject: NIH is now accusing me publicly of not following GoF rules; Republicans are saying we lied to NIH

From: Peter Daszak

To: Keusch, Gerald T

cc pksei comura

NIH_NOA_5R01AI110964-03.PDF; NIH letter to James Comer Oct 20th 2021 fif; NIH letter to James
Attachments: Comer Oct 20th 2021 2nd page ffif; Year 4 NIAID CoV Repart.pdf; To EcoHealth 10 13 21 R0O1A1110964 10
20 21.pdf

I need some help and advice here, and it’s complicated.

In year 3 of our NIAID grant, we were given the go-ahead to conduct experiments with chimeric viruses based on SARSr and
MERST backbones, but with a proviso that:

“Per the letter dated July 7, 2016 to Mr. Aleksei Chmura at EcoHealth Alliance, should any of the

MERS-like or SARS-like chimeras generated under this grant show evidence of enhanced virus

growth greater than 1 log over the parental backbone strain you must stop all experiments with

these viruses and provide the NIAID Program Officer and Grants Management Specialist, and

Wuhan Institute of Virology Institutional Biosafety Committee with the relevant data and

information related to these unanticipated outcomes.”

That text is in the NoA pdf attached NIH-NOA_5401A1110964-03.PDF

We asked WIV for a report on the year’s work during year 4, and put a graph of an experiment they did where one of the chimeric
viruses did grow a more than 1 log faster, but by day 4, the parental strain had leveled this out. We heard about this after the fact,
and reported it in our end-of-year report. No one said anything about it at NIH until now.

NIH was FolA’d for all documents on our original China grant, including this, and a Congressional member James Comer has
asked them to explain, I think. NTH have now responded to him (and he’s made the letter public) - see two image files “NIH letter
to James Comer Oct 20 20217, These are from Lawrence Tabak, and they state that we “failed to report this finding right away,
as was required”. They’ve now written to us with 5 days notice to send them the IACUC and all unpublished data. They state this
in the letter to James Comer as a way of saying they’re calling us to task, but it seems like nothing to do with the experiments
anyway.

My problem is that James Comer is now saying EcoHealth hid GoF work from NIH.

Cheers,

Peter

Peter Daszak
President

EcoHealth Alliance

520 Eighth Avenue, Suite 1200
New York, NY 10018-6507
usa

Tel.: +1-212-380-4474
Website: www.ecchealthalliance.org
Twitter: (@ PeterDaszak
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Dr. Tabak testified that simply calling Dr. Shi to “verify” when the experiment occurred
is not sufficient and that production of the underlying data and lab notebooks was necessary and
required.

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (May 16, 2024)

Q. Thank you. Dr. Daszak wrote in an email that he “verified” this
experiment by calling Dr. Shi at the Wuhan Institute of Virology and
asking her. Is that alone sufficient to meet his requirement to oversee
subgrantees?

A. It is not, sir, which is why we asked to see the metadata, electronic
records, and the laboratory notebook.

Q. [Would] the lab notebooks that Dr. Daszak failed to produce,
provide information that may potentially validate this experiment?

A. I certainly hoped they would, yes.?*’

Without verifiable evidence—such as what may be in the NIH requested laboratory
notebooks that Dr. Daszak has failed to provide—Dr. Daszak’s claim lacks credibility.

FINDING: EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. Failed to Provide National Institutes of Health with
Research the U.S. Taxpayer Funded.

On November 5, 2021, Dr. Lauer requested Dr. Daszak produce “original laboratory
notebook entries” to verify certain experiments and determine if those experiments violated
EcoHealth’s grant terms and conditions—specifically the condition requiring notification to NIH
of any experiment that exhibits excessive growth.?*®

Dr. Daszak testified that he was not required to have access to or produce the underlying
original lab notebooks.

Dr. Peter Daszak (November 14, 2023)

Q. ...Pursuant to these regulations did EcoHealth get the lab notebooks
and the lab electronic files at the time the human mice experiment
were conducted in 2017 to 2018, and reported it in the year 4
progress report?

A. No, we did not. Had we got those reports, we would have submitted
them to NIH when requested].]

287 Tabak Hearing, supra note 246, at 8-9.
288 Letter from Michael Lauer, M.D., Dep. Dir. Of Extramural Research, Nat’l Insts. of Health, to Peter Daszak,
Ph.D., Pres., EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. (Nov. 5, 2021).
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Q. So I guess my question then is, why didn’t you send off the alarm
bells that something wasn’t right, that we weren’t getting the data
that we were contractually obligated to get?

A. No, no, no. We definitely got the data we were contractually
obligated to get, which is the results of the experiments. There is no
contractual obligation at that time that a grantee should get the lab
notebooks. That’s a very different thing].]

It’s in the regulations as part of what you’re operating under.

A. No. I understand your interpretation of regulations, but my
interpretation, our administrative team, at the time, the regulations
were not considered by any organization that you should get all the
lab notebooks. And I want to point out that NIH has now made it a
new rule to get hold lab notebooks to clarify what is clearly not
obvious in the codes and regulations.*®

However, according to witnesses, EcoHealth should have had and was required to have
access to these notebooks.

Dr. Emily Erbelding (Nov 28. 2023)

Q. Thank you. Yes. That's what I was asking. When Dr. Lauer -- he's
asked for the notebooks a couple times. We've already discussed
EcoHealth hasn't produced them. And it is EcoHealth's
responsibility to produce them when requested. Is that correct?

A. [Nonverbal response. ]

You have to give an audible answer.

A. Yes. Oh, I'm sorry. Yes.>

Dr. Michael Lauer (Nov. 2, 2023)

Q. And, in your opinion, NIH had the authority to ask for those
notebooks and files?

A. Yes.

289 Daszak TI, supra note 253, at 77-78.
20 Erbelding TI, supra note 281, at 101.
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Q. And, in your opinion, EcoHealth should've had access to those
notebooks and files?

A. Yes.?!

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (Jan. 5, 2024)

Q. So, at the time of the EcoHealth enforcement actions, it would have
been a requirement, if NIH requested lab notebooks, for EcoHealth
to provide them?

A. Yes, it would've been.??

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (May 16, 2024)

Q. Dr. Tabak, when the National Institute[s] of Health requested the
notebooks from EcoHealth, was EcoHealth required to produce
them under its grant’s terms?

A. Yes, they were.

Q. OK. Thank you. When NIH requested notebooks from EcoHealth,
should EcoHealth have been able to access them or already have
access them?

A. That is correct.

Q. OK. Thank you. Did EcoHealth ever produce the requested
notebooks?

A. They have not.
Q. Never did. Thank you. Dr. Daszak testified 2 weeks ago that he was

not required to produce the lab notebooks. Would NIH disagree with
that testimony?

A. Yes, we disagree with that testimony.

On November 18, 2021, Dr. Daszak said that, despite the requirement to do so, he does
not have access to the requested laboratory notebooks. Specifically, Dr. Daszak stated, “[w]e do
not have copies of these, which were created by and retained by the WIV. Nonetheless, I have
forwarded your letter to the WIV, and will let you know their response soon as the WIV replies

21 Lauer TI, supra note 260, at 74.
292 Tabak TI, supra note 83, at 100.
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to our request.”?*® It appears Dr. Daszak never explicitly requested the notebooks from the WIV,
but instead simply informed it of the request from NIH.

Letter from NIH

Peter Daszak > Man, Nov 15, 2021 at 6:55 PM
Ta: Zhengli Shi >

Dear Zhengli,

FPlease see the attached letier, There are two questions that NIH have asked me to answer. The first one, on the
permission to work with vertebrate animals (bats in caves etc.), | have the information for and will respond to NIH. The
sacond issue, | will wiite 1o NIH and explain that I've fonvarded it to WIV, because | dont have that information.

On April 26, 2024, NIH followed-up and asked EcoHealth for more information
regarding its efforts to recover the laboratory notebooks.?%*

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

293 Letter from Peter Daszak, Ph.D., President, EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., to Michael Lauer, M.D., Dep. Dir.
Extramural Research, Nat’l Insts. of Health (Nov. 18, 2021).

2% Letter from Michael Lauer, M.D., Dep. Dir. Of Extramural Research, Nat’l Insts. of Health, to Peter Daszak,
Ph.D., President, EcoHealth Alliance Inc. (Apr. 26, 2024).
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Here's the brunt of Lauer’s email:

By the way — we just received a response from Michael Lauer re. the lab notebooks. We voluntarily shared the email
from us to WIV that the SSCP has asked for, that shows we forwarded NIH’s demand for us to get WiIV’s notebooks. As is
typical for Lauer, rather than say ‘thanks’ and move on, he’s come back with further questions and demands, written in
the style of a suspicious NKVD operative under Stalin. He knows these will be foiad at some point, and has written them
in a way that once again implies we're either hiding information or didn’t’ fully comply with their request 2 yrs ago.
They’re also designed to make a point — if we are still communicating with WIV (which we have to if we’re going to
publish papers from our prior work), why aren’t we demanding the notebooks? This, even though NIH has specifically
told us no work in China, and HHS has debarred them from federal funding. It's a massive overreach from NIH and more
like the sort of work a CIA operative would do...

Dear Dr. Chmura,
Thank you for your response. We have some follow-up questions:

. When you (EHA) received no response from W1V, did you follow-up with WIV to confirm receipt of the
email, or did you otherwise follow-up with them after not hearing back?

° Did you communicate with or attempt to communicate with WIV after NIH sent a follow-up letter in
January 2022 (3"attachment)?

o Did you ever explicitly request that WIV send the lab notebooks and electronic files to you? All we see
is that you forwarded the NIH email to WIV and stated, “I will write to NIH and explain that I've forwarded it to
WIV, because | don’t have that information.”

° Were there any other EHA communications with WIV during the period of November 15, 2021, and
February 1, 2022?

Sincerely,
Michael S Lauer, MD

Dr. Daszak’s responses to NIH indicate that the WIV did receive the request for lab
notebooks—but ignored it, EcoHealth did not follow up and re-request the lab notebooks, and
that communications between EcoHealth and the WIV were allegedly “strained.”?*>

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

293 Letter from Peter Daszak, Ph.D., President, EcoHealth Alliance Inc., to Michael Lauer, M.D., Dep. Dir. Of
Extramural Research, Nat’l Insts. of Health (Apr. 26, 2024).
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Message

From: Peter Daszak _

Sent: 5/10/2024 1:15:44 PM

To: eff Sturchio
Aleksei Chmura

Subject: What we sent to NiH re. contacting WIV for their lab notebooks

Attachments: EcoHealth Alliance - Letter to NIH re Grant Suspension 8-13-2020 (with Exhibits).pdf; To EcoHealth RO1AI110964 11 5
21 clean.pdf; January 2022 To EcoHealth RO1AI110964 final.pdf; Response to NIH April 2021 re. reactivation and
suspension of 2R01AI110964.pdf; EHA to WIV Lab Notebook Email (1).pdf; To EHA document request 4 12 24[94].pdf

Importance: High

Re. Jeff’s earlier email. In early April, after the SSCP made public the letter of them asking us for further information we
got an email from Michael Lauer of NIH asking us to share with them everything we were going to send to the SSCP re.
questions about our handing over of the lab notebooks from WIV. There was just one email — me forwarding the letter
to WIV with NIH’s demand for us to acquire their lab notebooks and hand them over. We did contact them ahead of that
and let them know that the email would be coming and what it was about.

Of course, as usual, Lauer came back with more questions, which we carefully answered below, with Jeff's help. | can’t
remember if we ran this by you — there was a lot on and he upped the ante yesterday by emailing again, demanding a
faster response.

Please read what we sent so you're aware. It's all true, and I'm fairly certain does not provide anyone any evidence of
any willful negligence, violation of CFRs etc. but of course, it’s all about public show and Lauer’s email is written in a
‘breathless’ way designed to imply we're stonewalling.

Final point is that we might get another letter by COB today from Michael Lauer requesting us to provide detailed

information to all the points that the SSCP has asked Tabak. That would put us in a difficult position — tipping our hand to
the people who are willing to throw us under the bus. I'll let you know if one emerges.

Cheers,

Peter

Peter Daszak
President

FcoHealth Alliance

520 Eighth Avenue, Suite 1200
New York, NY 10018-6507
USA

Tel.: +1-212-380-4474

FOIA Confidential Treatment Requested JLS_00033211
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halliance org

From: Aleksei Chmura
Sent: Thursday, May 9, 2024 12:03 PM
To: Jeff Sturchio
Cc: Peter Daszak
Subject: Fwd: REPLY REQUESTED - Re: Re: Time sensitive document request from NIH

Begin forwarded message:

From: Aleksei Chmura
Subject: REPLY REQUESTED -- Re: Re: Time sensitive document request from NIH
Date: May 9, 2024 at 11:51:07 EDT

To: "Lauer, Michael (NIH/OD) [E]"
Cc: "Liza (NIH/OD) [E] Bundesen™ "Bulls, Michelle G. (NIH/OD) [E]"
"Ta, Kristin (NIH/OD) [E]" Peter Daszak

ison Ancre -

Dr. Lauer,
Thank you for your email of April 26th. We have answered your questions below.

However, first we would like to remind you that in April 2020, you wrote to EcoHealth Alliance with questions
about WIV’s current status on ROl AI110964. We informed you that we did not have an active contract with the
W1V and would not execute one until further instructions from NIH. You then terminated our grant at the
behest of President Trump. You then reinstated and instantly suspended in July 2020 with a number of
conditions that were impossible to address in the middle of a pandemic, and with COVID-19 origins allegations
causing a political storm between the USA and China, specifically around issues related to the WIV. In your
‘reactivation and suspension’” letter of July 2020, you instructed us that “Additionally, during the period of
suspension, EcoHealth Alliance may not allow research under this project to be conducted.” The
communication from NIH to EcoHealth Alliance in November 2021 requesting the WIV lab notebooks was
therefore sent during a time when we had no contractual obligation with the WIV, and when the WIV had been
non-responsive to multiple joumnalist requests on similar issues, and did not comply with direct requests for
their audits made by Dr. Daszak as part of the WHO mission to Wuhan in January and February 2021 (scc
attached 11 April 2021 letter that Dr. Daszak sent to you detailing the requests that he made to the WIV during
the WHO mission). It’s also important to remember that public reporting prior to our request to WIV included
NIH Director Dr. Collins” comments about NIH wanting to see the lab notebooks
(https://www.cnbec.com/2021/08/23/covid-origin-nih-director-doesnt-rule-out-that-virus-could-have-leaked-
from-lab.html) and there were already stories in the press (e.g.
https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/2020/04/14/state-department-cables-warned-safety-issues-wuhan-
lab-studying-bat-corenaviruses/) clearly indicating that the US intelligence agencies were investigating
allegations that WIV was the source of a lab leak that led to COVID-19. Therefore it is not unreasonable to
conclude that any request for WIV’s lab notebooks, whether from a non-profit, or a US agency, would be dealt
with at the highest political levels within China, and given the pattern of prior responses, ignored.

Despite these difficulties, and our lack of a formal business relationship with the WIV, EcoHealth Alliance
made a good faith effort to obtain the lab notebooks. We were, not surprisingly, unsuccessful. This was part of a

FOIA Confidential Treatment Requested JLS_00033212
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pattern of non-responsiveness from Chinese institutions on issues of political tension, and in particular on
COVID origins, which culminated in the debarment letters sent by HHS to Wuhan via UPS being ‘returned to
sender’. It is unreasonable, therefore to expect a US-based non-profit to get a response on this issue where a US
government agency was unable to.

Your request then, and your questions now, put our staff in an unfortunate position. We owe a duty to the
American people to get the best value for the taxpayer funding that we used to collect thousands of samples in
China, and for the scientific research we did in collaboration with the WIV. We have therefore continued to
keep the scientific channels with collaborators in China open to the best of our ability, allowing us to analyze
data, finish scientific manuscripts, and upload sequences into the US NIH Genbank database — without any
further expenditure of US taxpayer funds. While communication is difficult, we have been able to do that
successfully and we hope that you agree that securing the data and publishing them in the peer-reviewed
literature is a worthy goal consistent with the objectives of our RO1 grant from the NIH.

We have responded to your questions below, to the best of our ability.
Sincerely,

- Dr. Chmura

Aleksei Chmura, PhD, MBA
Chief of Staff &
Authorized Organizational Representative

EcoHealth Alliance
520 Eighth Avenue, Suite 1200
New York, NY 10018-4182

+1.917.385.5267
www.ecohealthalliance.org

Fooienlth Affance develops science-based solutions to prevent pandemics and promoete consarvalion.

1. When you (EHA) received no response from WIV, did you follow-up with W1V to confirm receipt of
the email, or did you otherwise follow-up with them after not hearing back?
We were informed that they had received our email. This was communicated to us by phone.

2. Did you communicate with or attempt to communicate with WIV after NIH sent a follow-up letter in
January 2022 (3rd attachment)?

Your letter of January 2022 stated that “We [NIH] are following up to confirm whether you received a response
from WIV and whether the materials are forthcoming.” It also asked that “Upon receipt of this letter, please
confirm whether you have received a response from WIV and whether the materials are forthcoming. If the
materials are forthcoming, we request that they be provided to us no later than close-of-business on January 14,
2022.” We had received no response from the WIV at that time (nor have we since) regarding the lab
notebooks, and informed you of that rapidly. We did not send further communications to the WIV to request the
laboratory notecbooks, since it seemed to us that their lack of a responsc was a clear indication that our cfforts
would have been futile, and because it was also in keeping with their prior lack of response to media, WHO or
US agency requests, and also that NIH or HHS would have been able to take this up directly with the WIV or
the Chinese Government at a higher level.

FOIA Confidential Treatment Requested JLS_00033213
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3. Did you ever explicitly request that WIV send the lab notebooks and electronic files to you? All we see
is that you forwarded the NIH email to WIV and stated, “I will write to NIH and explain that I’ve
forwarded it to WIV, because I don’t have that information.”

Yes, we informed WIV by phone ahead of our email request to make sure they understood the nature of the
letter and what was required of them by NIH. We then sent the letter by email, as we shared with you and the
SSCP. The letter is crystal clear in its request from NIH that WIV supply the lab notebooks (your letter is
attached). Additionally, it is commonsense that WIV were fully aware of the contents of that request — it was
international news at the time.

4. Were there any other EHA communications with WIV during the period of November 15, 2021, and
February 1, 2022?

Communications were extremely strained at that time. Our search of emails reveals none directly related to this
issue — in keeping with our understanding that the WIV were not willing to hand over lab notebooks. The only
other communications represented our staff trying to obtain information to finalize research papers related to
earlier work from RO1 AI110964 and other publication issues.

From: Lauer, Michaecl (NIH/OD) [E]
Date: Friday. April 26, 2024 at 5:00 A
To: Aleksei Chmura

- - M D) [E] , Bundesen, Liza (NIH/OD) [E]
Bulls, Michelle G. /OD) _ Ta, Kristin (NTH/OD)
©
Subject: Re: Time sensitive document request from NIH

Dear Dr, Chmura,

Thank you for your response. We have some follow-up questions:

1. When you (EHA) received no response from WIV, did you follow-up with WIV to confirm receipt of the
email, or did you otherwise follow-up with them after not hearing back?

2. Did you communicate with or attempt to communicate with WIV after NIH sent a follow-up letterin
January 2022 (3™attachment)?

3. Did you ever explicitly request that WIV send the lab notebooks and electronic files to you? All we see
is that you forwarded the NIH email to WIV and stated, “l will write to NIH and explain that I’'ve forwarded it to
WIV, because | don’t have that information.”

4. Were there any other EHA communications with WIV during the period of November 15, 2021, and
February 1, 20227

Sincerely,
Michael S Lauer, MD

Michael S Lauer, MD

NIH Deputy Director for Extramural Research
Director, NiH Office of Extramural Research

1 Center Drive, Room 144, Bethesda MD 20892
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From: Alcksei Chmura

Date: Tucsday, April QW
To: Lauer, Michael (NIH/OD) [E]
Peter Daszak Bulls,
L Ta, Kristin (NIH/OD) [E] | Alison

Ce: Bundesen, Liza (NIH/OD) [E
Michelle G. (NIH/OD) [E] ;
Subject: Re: Time sensitive document request from NIH

Dear Dr. Lauer,

The Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus Pandemic (SSCP) and the Committee on Energy and Commerce
requested item on page 6, a.iii referenced in your letter from the 12th of April, asked for "Documents and
communications regarding EcoHealth’s efforts to obtain WIV laboratory notebooks pursuant to NIH oversight
and compliance efforts”. On the SSCP deadline of the 18th, EcoHealth Alliance provided the following file:

This file is an email in which Ecolealth Alliance conveyed NIH's request for the Wuhan Institute of Virology
laboratory notebooks. EcoHealth Alliance received no response from Wuhan Institute of Virology at the time,
nor has it ever received any response, nor ever seen the requested laboratory notebooks.

Sincerely,

-Dr. Chmura

Aleksei Chmura, PhD, MBA
Chief of Staff &
Authorized Organizational Representative

EcoHealth Alliance
520 Eighth Avenue, Suite 1200
New York, NY 10018-4182

www. acoheaithaliance

Feofeaith Alfiance develops science-based solutions to prevent pandemics and promote conservation.

On Apr 12, 2024, at 16:00, Lauer, Michael (NTH/OD) [E] _ wrote:
Dear Dr. Chmura,

Please see attached.

Many thanks, Mike

Michael S Lauer, MD
NIH Deputy Director for Extramural Research
Director, NIH Office of Extramural Research

1 Center Drive, Room 144, Bethesda MD 20892
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EcoHealth’s document contended that “[a]t the time of NIH’s request for WIV lab
notebooks from EcoHealth Alliance, there was no specific requirement for NIH grantees to
require foreign subrecipients to provide laboratory notebooks and other raw data.”?%° This
statement is disputed by NIH.

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (November 14, 2024)

Q. Okay. Thank you. One final question for you. Dr. Daszak has
routinely said that the regulations did not require that he provide
NIH with lab notebooks from the Wuhan Institute of Virology. Last
year, NIH put out a new rule regarding this issue. So, just to clarify,
when NIH asked for these lab notebooks, was Dr. Daszak required
to produce them?

A. He was indeed.?®’

According to Dr. Daszak’s consultant, Dr. Sturchio, they agreed that pursuant to
regulations “NIH has the right to review original lab notebooks and data, and that EHA would in
the normal course of events be able to obtain these data from the WIV.”?%

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

26 Executive Summary: EcoHealth Alliance responses to recent allegations from the SSCP, ECOHEALTH ALLIANCE,
INC., available at https://www.ecohealthalliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/09/EcoHealth-Alliance-Responses-to-
Questions-from-SSCP.pdf.

297 Preparing for the Next Pandemic, supra note 230, at 20.

298 E-Mail from Jeffrey Sturchio, Ph.D. Consultant, Peter Daszak, Ph.D., EcoHealth Alliance Inc., ef al. (Jan. 17,
2022, 10:40).

Page 94 of 520




Message

From: leffrey Sturchio_

Sent: 1/17/2022 10:40:04 PM

To: Peter Daszak— Keusch, Gerald T _
cC: Aleksei Chmura [chmura@ecohealthalliance.org)

Subject: RE: Draft response to the first of the two letters from NIH

Peter: | think the response is a good draft. Let's spend some time refining and
tightening the argument. On issue 1, the IACUC approval, Lauer continues to move
the goalposts on you. In his initial letter, he asked for the WIV IACUC approval for
field wark, which you quite rightly pointed out is not required by Chinese regulations, so
there is no WIV IACUC approval for field work. He then dings you for non-compliance
for not sending him the information about the Tufts IACUC approval — when it was
available in the NIH system all along. This is at most a misunderstanding, and seems
to me hard to construe as non-compliance with NIH regulations.

Issue 2 is a bit more complicated, as you appreciate, but | think we can boil it down to
the following. Yes, there is CFR language that NIH has the right to review original lab
notebooks and data, and that EHA would in the normal course of events be able to
obtain these data from the WIV. But his pedantic insistence on these rules completely
ignores the context of his request — the NIH unilaterally suspended your relationship
with the W1V for political reasons in April 2020 and thus your usual interactions with
WIV collaborators were abrogated through no fault of EHA’s. Since that decision by
the NIH — due to White House political pressure stemming from the then President’s
fraught relationship with China — the situation surrounding this grant was disrupted in a
unique way. ltis disingenuous, to say the least, for Lauer to now demand that you turn
over WIV’s laboratory notebooks and related data, when the actions of NIH and the
USG have made it impossible for you to maintain the usual kind of relationship with
your Chinese collaborators on which that exchange of data would usually be

based. Under the circumstances, you have taken the appropriate action — asking the
WIV to provide the data, which is under their control. If Lauer feels it is so important to
see the original data, it is unreasonable of him to expect EHA to be able to provide it,
given the political context of this grant; under these circumstances, he should use NIH
intergovernmental channels to gain access to the data. That kind of cooperative
action would be more appropriate than the confrontational approach he is taking.

As ever,
Jeff

In addition to Dr. Daszak arguing that he was not required to provide the laboratory

notebooks to NIH, he also stated “[t]he geopolitical tensions with China regarding COVID-19
made NIH’s requests effectively impossible for EcoHealth Alliance to fulfill.”?*° Despite this

29 Executive Summary: EcoHealth Alliance responses to recent allegations from the SSCP, ECOHEALTH ALLIANCE,
INC., available at https://www.ecohealthalliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/09/EcoHealth-Alliance-Responses-to-
Questions-from-SSCP.pdf.
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claim, Dr. Daszak and Dr. Shi maintained a friendly relationship, even discussing the Select
Subcommittee’s hearings via email.>*

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

300 E-Mail from Peter Daszak, Ph.D., EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., to Shi Zhengli, Ph.D., Wuhan Institute of Virology
(Apr. 29, 2024, 7:44 AM); E-Mail from Shi Zhengli, Ph.D., Wuhan Institute of Virology, to Peter Daszak, Ph.D.,
EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. (Apr 28, 2024, 11:50 PM); E-Mail from Peter Daszak, Ph.D., EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., to
Shi Zhengli, Ph.D., Wuhan Institute of Virology (Apr. 15, 2024, 5:48 AM); E-Mail from Shi Zhengli, Ph.D., Wuhan
Institute of Virology, to Peter Daszak, Ph.D., EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. (Apr 11, 2024, 10:39 PM);
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From: BIEM

Sent: 4/29/2024 8:37:37 PM

To: Peter Daszak

cC: Hongying Li

Subject: Re: RE: RE: RE: SADS-CoV analysis

Importance: High

Received, thanks.

=R AR R
R "Peter Deszak”
FrEERTE]:2024-04-30 01:14:25 (B =)

s A: wEq
#3&: "Hongying Li" NG

Zi: RE: RE: RE: SADS-CoV analysis

Here's the paper as promised!

Cc’ing Hongying so she can make sure you get the attachment if this one doesn’t work.

Cheers,

Peter

Peter Daszak

President

EcoHealth Alliance

520 Eighth Avenue, Suite 1200
New York, NY 10018-6507
USA

Tel.: +1-212-380-4474

Website: www.ecohealthalliance.org

EHA_0003630
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Twitter: @PeterDaszak

EcoHealth Alliance develops science-based solutions to prevent pandemics and promote conservation

From: HIEf
Sent: Sunday, April 28, 2024 11:50 PM
To: Peter Daszak
Subject: Re: RE: RE: SADS-CoV analysis

Dear Peter, 1 fully support you! I'll try to connect the hearing and I believe you will beat them down. Shame
those stupid politicians!

T -

RERIE:2024-04-29 07:44:49 (2H—)

wer x5 SR

ik
F 3 RE: RE: SADS-CoV analysis

Thanks for your positive message that | just noticed Zhengli. Yes, it’s pretty horrible that it’s now 4 years and 4 days
since President Trump canceled out grant, and we’re still being attacked. In these past 4 years, we’ve had over 100
Freedom-of-Information-Act requests, where people go through your emails and make them public in nasty news
articles. We've had 8 lawsuits trying to claim we caused COVID and people’s deaths. We’ve had multiple Government
committees doing ‘investigations’, as well as the OIG for the HHS (NIH) and USAID. We estimate we've produced
around 15 million pages of emails/documents/financial data for these investigations.

Worse still, we're still being harassed by Michael Lauer, the person at NIH who attacked Chinese Americans, many of
whom had innocent connections to China but had to lose their jobs https://www.science.org/content/article/pall-
suspicion-nihs-secretive-china-initiative-destroyed-scores-academic-careers. He’s effectively preventing EcoHealth
from working internationally and on animal research. We've had over 50 official letters from NIH and all of them ask us
to do more work and produce more detailed documents, but still they’re holding us back. | hope it will end soon.

Here is a link to the public hearing on May 1% 10am Washington DC time (10pm your time | think). It's worth listening
to my opening statement that will be in the first hour, where I'll give a summary of how important our work is, and
how wrong these ‘rumors’ are...

WHAT: Hearing titled “A Hearing with the President of EcoHealth Alliance, Dr. Peter Daszak”
DATE: Wednesday, May 1, 2024

TIME: 10:00AM ET

LOCATION: 2154 Rayburn House Office Building

WITNESS:

EHA_0003631
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Dr. Peter Daszak
President

EcoHealth Alliance, Inc.

WATCH: The hearing will be open to the public and press and will be livestreamed online
at https:/foversight.house.gov/hearing/a-hearing-with-the-president-of-ecohealth-alliance-dr-peter-daszak/.

By the way — I'll be sending you the SADS-CoV paper back with comments befor the end of your Monday — apologies

for the delay!

Cheers,

Peter

Peter Daszak
President

EcoHealth Alliance

520 Eighth Avenue, Suite 1200
New York, NY 10018-6507
USA

Tel.: +1-212-380-4474
Website: www.ecohealthalliance.org
Twitter: @PeterDaszak

EcoHealth Alliance develops science-based solutions to prevent pandemics and promote conservation

rom: =T [
Sent: Sunday, April 14, 2024 8:57 PM
To: Peter Daszak

Subject: Re: RE: SADS-CoV analysis
Importance: High

Dear Peter,

EHA_0003632
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It's a shame those peoples called them as "experts" of CIVID-19 origin investigation. I've read the letter to you from the
Congressional Committee. It's incredible this happed in USA, a so called "most developed and democratic" country. I believe your a
public hearing with the Congressional Committee will be good opportunity to show our invaluable contribution to EID research
field. I'm staying together with you!

Best regards,

Zhengli,

&% A:"Peter Daszak"
AIEMIE]:2024-04-15 05:48:30 (EH#—)

WA "BIER"
Ppi%&: "Hongying Li"

E/: RE: SADS-CoV analysis

Hi Zhengli — great to see the manuscript and I would be honored to be involved as a co-author.

Give me a couple of weeks to make some comments. | hope it doesn’t clash at all with the other paper which is in
review at PNAS right now (I've attached that manuscript to remind you). | think it should be fine — there are many
differences between the two papers, and | will read through and edit before the 28" of April.

You're right that | have to be in a public hearing with the Congressional Committee that is attacking us about COVID
origins. It is on May 1%, and it will be very unpleasant, but | have no choice. My main goal will be to try to let people
know the simple truth about our work and try to reduce the damage from these attacks.

Cheers,

Peter

Peter Daszak

President

EHA_0003633
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EcoHealth Alliance

520 Eighth Avenue, Suite 1200
New York, NY 10018-6507
USA

Tel.: +1-212-380-4474
Website: www.ecohealthalliance.org

Twitter: @PeterDaszak

EcoHealth Alliance develops science-based solutions to prevent pandemics and promote conservation

From: B IERA

Sent: Thursday, April 11, 2024 10:39 PM

To: Peter Daszak _
Subject: SADS-CoV analysis

Dear Peter,

We have completed the sequences of SADS-related CoV (or HKU2-CoV) and wrote the preliminary manuscript. [ would like to
invite you as a coauthor for this paper. I've not yet edited the paper and I'm sending it to you for your review at your available time.
1 would also like to suggest to combine the recently submitted one: "Diversity and spillover risk of Swine Acute Diarrhea
Syndrome and related coronaviruses in China and Southeast Asia". Please let me know what do you think.

For the SARS-related CoV paper, have you had the time for the final check?

I heard that you will be in the congressional hearing in May, Is that true?

Best regards,

Zhengli,

EHA_0003634
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FINDING: To Get a Grant Reinstated, EcoHealth Alliance, Inc Misled the U.S. National
Institutes of Health Regarding the Physical Location of U.S. Funded Samples.

It is NIH policy to make every possible attempt to return grantees to compliant status.
However, in the case of EcoHealth, NIH turned a blind eye to potential issues with the
reinstatement of this grant. Evidence gathered by the Select Subcommittee suggests that Dr.
Daszak omitted a material fact during the grant reinstatement process—a fact that may have
changed whether EcoHealth’s grant was reinstated or not.

On April 26, 2023, NIAID reinstated EcoHealth’s grant.*°! On May 8, 2023, EcoHealth
publicly announced this reinstatement.??> In NIH’s notification to Congress, it stated that
EcoHealth had been organizing and implementing a corrective action plan to satisfy NIH’s
compliance efforts.>*> NIH’s goal during compliance investigations is to bring the grantee back
into compliance and to design a corrective action plan to support that outcome.

Dr. Michael Lauer (Nov. 2. 2023)

So, again, our philosophy -- and it's not just a philosophy; it's what's
grounded in the uniform guidance regulations -- is that, when a recipient is
out of compliance, the goal is to bring them back into compliance. And we
can do that, as I said, through a variety of means -- through revising terms
and conditions of award, through specific award conditions, through a
corrective action plan. Because, ultimately, what we want is we want the
recipient to be successful and we want them to be compliant with terms and
conditions.3%

However, in the case of EcoHealth, one of the required conditions could not be remedied.
NIH requested EcoHealth provide laboratory notebooks to establish what gain-of-function
experiments involving coronaviruses were conducted with U.S. taxpayer dollars at the WIV.
EcoHealth failed to provide these notebooks. "’

e However, NIH also identified one non-compliance requirement under the grant
RO1AT110964 (R0O1) that could not be remedied with SACs. NIH had requested EHA
provide NIH the laboratory notebooks and original electronie files from the research
conducted at WIV. Since EHA failed to provide these records and WIV was unable to
fulfill its duties for the subaward. NIH notified EHA on August 19, 2022, that it would be
terminating the WIV subaward for failure to meet aiward terms and conditions.

301 See, Grant Summary, RO1AI110964, USASpending (last accessed Apr. 24, 2024).

302 EcoHealth Alliance Receives NIH Renewal Grant for Collaborative Research to Understand the Risk of Bat
Coronavirus Spillover Emergence, ECOHEALTH ALLIANCE, INC. (May 8, 2023).

303 Letter from Michael Lauer, M.D., Dep. Dir. Of Extramural Research, Nat’l Insts. of Health, to Hon. Brad
Wenstrup, Chairman, Select Subcomm. on the Coronavirus Pandemic, H. Comm. on Oversight & Accountability
(Apr. 26, 2023).

304 Lauer TI, supra note 260, at 80.

305 Lauer Letter, supra note 303.
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In a notification to EcoHealth sent on the same day, NIH wrote, “[t]he award
ROTAI110964 beginning on April 19, 2020, remains suspended pending the renegotiation of
specific aims for the award without the involvement of the Wuhan Institute of Virology.”** The
Select Subcommittee proceeded to gather evidence regarding the rationale for the renewal. One
of the primary reasons for reinstating the grant to EcoHealth was its alleged access to sequences
and samples previously paid for by the federal government and not yet analyzed.

Dr. Emily Erbelding (Nov. 28, 2023)

Q. And then I want to somewhat briefly parse out a little bit more on
the samples. So you referenced earlier you and Dr. Lauer provided
a briefing to a number of committees over the summer on the
EcoHealth Alliance reinstatement. And one of the reasons given for
reinstating the grant were that there were these bat samples collected
from China and Southeast Asia with funding that still needed to be
tested or sequenced, or I forget the exact language that was used.

Is that correct?

A. Is it correct that I said that to the committee —

Q. Yes.

A. -- or --

Q. Is that your understanding of the grant, the reason for the grant
reinstatement?

A. That was part of the reason, yes, that we wanted to get the most out

of existing sequences from prior work. We wanted to get the most
out of prior work.

What were the other rationales?

A. Well, that they could address a scientific priority of NIAID in
understanding how pandemics occur. I think that it would be -- that
they had been scientifically productive in the past. That was another
part of the rationale for reinstatement.

Q. If you know, at the time of reinstatement, how many samples did
EcoHealth have access to that remained untested?

A. I don't know the number.

306 Letter from Michelle Bulls, Dir., Office of Policy for Extramural Research Administration, Office of Extramural
Research, Nat’l Insts. of Health, to EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. (Apr. 26, 2023).
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Q. Did EcoHealth -- was it EcoHealth that told you that they had
samples?

A. They did -- they did give an approximate number. I don't recall what

it was.
Q. Did they tell you that the samples were in their possession?
A. I believe I asked, You have access to these samples? Do you have

access to these samples? I think that, to my -- to the best of my
recollection, that's how I phrased the question. And I got an
affirmative answer. That was, I think, the conversation.

Q. You asked, do you have access, and they responded yes?

A. This was Peter Daszak. Yes.

Q. There wasn't an elaboration on the yes?

A. I did not ask further questions. I took his representation as
truthful.>"’

Dr. Erbelding testified that, at the time of the reinstatement, NIAID believed that
EcoHealth had access to sequences and samples the federal government had previously paid to
have collected but that had yet to be analyzed. For reasons that are not clear to the Select
Subcommittee, NIAID apparently never asked EcoHealth where the samples were located.
Instead, NIAID relied solely on the representations of Dr. Daszak that the samples existed and
that he had access to them. In reality, EcoHealth was relying on the WIV, an institute debarred
for failing to produce laboratory notebooks, to provide them with the virus samples and
sequences that were the justification for reinstatement.

Dr. Peter Daszak (Nov. 14, 2023)

Q. I have got a few quick questions on the reinstatement. And then one
circle back on the intelligence community issue. So the reason you
should know this, but Drs. Lauer and Erbelding gave us a
congressional briefing a few months ago on the reinstatement and
some of the decisions and, you know, additional terms put in place.
One of the reasons -- one of scientific rationales for reinstating the
grant is that there remains thousands of bat samples collected from
China with funding basically paid for by the grant before it was
suspended, but still need to be tested for the presence of the virus. Is
that still the case?

307 Erbelding TI, supra note 281, at 55-56.
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Well, we have new data from China on some of those -- on the
results from some of those samples. We are currently analyzing it.
Very important critical data. And yeah, I think it's -- we're getting
there. It's good to have new information, but there are still many
samples that we don't have direct control over.

Sure. Who is the custodian for those samples presently?

Right now, they are in the Wuhan Institute of Virology. And
theoretically, a sample collected in a foreign government belongs to
the foreign government so yeah.

But the WIV has been debarred. They can't participate in this grant?
Yeah. And they are not participating in this grant.

But they have custody of all the samples?

But we have got information, data from the samples that has not yet
been analyzed. We have that information here in the U.S.

But the Latinne paper, you said that was all your information?

Since the Latinne paper, since the pandemic began, Wuhan Institute
of Virology's staff has continued to sequence out some of those
initial small fragments to get whole genome sequences, critical
information. 1 agree with what Dr. Erbelding and Stemmy or
whoever it was has said that that was paid for by U.S. taxpayers. It
is our right to get that information. We've got it and we're now
working on it to publish that information.

Is there information derived from the samples that you don't have?
From what I hear, no. Not -- until they do more work on them. And
then we have an understanding that we'll be able to get some access

to those data too.

I'm trying to understand how this works. With the WIV debarred,
and not talking to you anymore, which —

Well, they do talk to us. I can talk to them. It's not illegal to talk to
them.

No, no, no. But you said, like, we've asked them for the progress
reports, they never answered an email.
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I asked them for the lab notes.
For the lab notes.
Yeah, yeah.

But your -- I'm trying to understand how we have debarred them,
but we're still paying them to process samples.

No, no. There's no money going to Wuhan Institute of Virology at
all. No money going to China.

So there's a bolus of data that left the WIV before they were suspend
-- between -- before they were suspended that has yet to be analyzed,
that has to be analyzed or that need - -

My understanding is that the debarment is they are not able to take
Federal funds, now for 10 years. I think at least that is, what I
understand, from what the phrase means. They have other samples.
If they are going to do further work on those samples and they are
willing to give us that information, that's a positive win for the U.S.
taxpayer.

Sure.

I'm going to take the opportunity and publish it, and I think that's a
good thing.

So why do you think the difference? Why do you think the
difference in the WIV is willing to give you access to the samples,
the results of tests on these samples but not the laboratory
notebooks?

Well, you would have to ask WIV about that. I'm very delighted that
we've been able to get that. Information out of WIV and out of
China. It's a good thing.

And they are, functionally, doing it for free? We may have some
prior claim on it because the initial sampling was done with our
money.

Yeah, unfortunately, the legalities of ownership are not good and not

clear in this sort of issue. However, if we can get the data, we're
going to get it and we're going to work it and we are going to make
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it public and we are going to try and get at much good information
as we can out of it.3%

According to Dr. Erbelding, Dr. Daszak failed to inform NIH that a substantial number of
samples or sequences—the same samples or sequences that were a primary purpose for
reinstating EcoHealth’s previously suspended grant—were in the custody and control of the
WIV, a now debarred organization. It remains unclear how many samples or sequences that the

federal government paid for still reside at the WIV.

Since access to sequences and samples was a substantial reason for reinstating
EcoHealth’s grant, it raises the question of whether NIH would have still reinstated the grant if it
had knowledge of this issue. According to Dr. Erbelding, if she had that knowledge, it would

have at least caused her to ask more questions regarding the reinstatement.

Dr. Emily Erbelding

Q.

A.

I have one quick follow-up question, and then I'm going to ask some
more about EcoHealth and their various efforts. If Dr. Daszak had
told you that samples were still in the custody and control of the
Wuhan Institute of Virology, would that have changed your calculus
in reinstating the grant?

I think it depends on -- we would have said those samples, we can't
assume that they're going to be used. It would have depended upon
what other samples he did have access to or he did have in other
locations that were accessible.

So it would have at least prompted some follow-up questions or
more information?

Yes.
All right. Thank you.

I think so0.3%

Dr. Daszak later testified that Dr. Erbelding mistook samples for sequences and that he
clearly stated EcoHealth had access to sequences and then samples from elsewhere in S.E. Asia.

Dr. Peter Daszak (May 1, 2024)

398 Daszak TI, supra note 253, at 263-265.
399 Erbelding TI, supra note 281, at 90.
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Q. You testified a couple of minutes ago that you were very forthright
with NIH and NIAID that you actually didn’t have access to the
samples.

A. Correct.
Q. Is Dr. Erbelding lying?

A. ...Clearly, Dr. Erbelding either wasn’t in the conversation where I
clearly stipulated we do not have access to those samples; we do
have access to the sequences, or perhaps she has mistaken sequences
for samples...what matters is the record, which is the emails sent to
NIH proposing the work to be done and the revised specific [aims],
which clearly state no further samples will be brought out of China
and that sequences are already in EcoHealth’s possession.>!”

Dr. Tabak was asked about Dr. Erbelding’ s testimony.

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (May 16, 2024)

Q. ...Dr. Tabak, do you think it is likely that the director of NIAID’s
Division of Microbiology and Infectious Diseases does not
understand the difference between sequences and samples?

A. I am sure she does.>!!

Dr. Daszak omitted the material fact that the sequences and samples the federal
government were paying for were, at least in part, under the custody and control of the WIV.
Further, testimony suggests that if NIH had known this, it would have resulted in more questions
regarding whether to reinstate the grant or not.

FINDING: The Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency Rejected EcoHealth Alliance,
Inc.’s DEFUSE Proposal Because of a Lack of Gain-of-Function or Dual Use
Research of Concern Plan.

In 2018, DARPA began accepting applications for federal funded research pursuant to a
new program entitled PREventing Emerging Pathogenic Threats [hereinafter “PREEMPT”]. This
program was designed to “target viral biothreats within animal reservoir to preempt their entry
into human populations before an outbreak occurs.”*!? Dr. Gimlett was the Program Officer at
DARPA in charge of the PREEMPT program. Dr. Gimlett described his responsibilities as:

Dr. James Gimlett (May 9, 2024)

310 Daszak Hearing, supra note 259, at 52.
311 Tabak Hearing, supra note 246, at 23.
312 PREEMPT Proposers Day, DARPA, available at https://events.sa-meetings.com/ehome/299628/648416/.
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Q. Those were your responsibilities generally. What were your
responsibilities specific to PREEMPT?

A. So basically formulate the concept, which was my concept; canvas
the community to sort of understand where the state of the art was,
potential performers, trying to get the word out that we were
interested in this, solicit feedback; and eventually create a definition
for what the program looks like, get buy-in from the level of
management at DARPA, which meant office directorship and then
DARPA directorship. And basically that means going through a few
hurdles, like acceptance from your colleagues, who are also aiming
to shoot you down if you don't have it thought through. So it's
basically kind of get the details right on how the program gets then
communicate it to the community in a broad area announcement.
Subsequent to that, go through the source selection process, which
means reviewing the proposals. My job as a reviewer would be on
the technical side of the proposal review, and then there's additional
review after that that would come from the office leadership or from
legal or other -- contracts office, for example -- and then manage the

program.’!?

PREEMPT would be divided into two technical areas. According to Dr. Gimlett,
Technical Area 1 was:

Dr. James Gimlett (May 9, 2024)

Q. And what were kind of the goals or strategy of the PREEMPT
program?

A. So it started from sort of a hypothesis that we've had a lot of close
calls in zoonotic spillover and had gotten fairly lucky that most of
them were semi-contained. But I wasn't happy with the overall
approach, which is, okay, let's hope we don't -- let's hope we get
lucky again, wait until another spillover happens and then try to rush
and contain it through all kinds of draconian measures sometimes.
So the idea was can we do a better job of sort of sampling the hotspot
areas of the globe where this is happening frequently, especially both
in the wild animal reservoir, as well as in livestock reservoirs and
humans associating with those two; get a better gauge of sort of a
probabilistic likelihood and try to come up with some models for
how easy -- how likely a spillover could happen; try to get a little bit
in front of the curve and even possibly think about ways of sort of

313 Transcribed Interview of James Gimlett, M.D., Dir., Program Office, Defense Advanced Research Projects
Agency, at 9 (May 9, 2024) [hereinafter “Gimlett TT”].
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stopping it in its tracks before it hits the human population. So that
was the overall goal.*!*

Dr. Gimlett described Technical Area 2:

Dr. James Gimlett (May 9, 2024)

Q. No, no, no. I appreciate it. Would it be more of a surveillance
program? You said, like, kind of the end goal is stopping it before
the human -- before human spillover. And we'll get into DEFUSE
with, like, kind of the aerosolized bat vaccine that they proposed.
But was it more heavily focused on surveillance or more heavily
focused on kind of stopping the spillover?

A. It was more -- in my mind, it was more heavily focused on the
surveillance and analytics at the front end and trying to do a better
job of assessing likelihood of spillover. So the program was divided
into two technical areas. That was technical area one. Technical area
two was sort of -- it was basically pinging the community to see if
there were any ideas on how to preempt, literally, a spillover either
at the vector if it was mosquito borne, at the sort of livestock if it
was passing through livestock before entering the human
population, or directly in the wild animal reservoirs. And it was
more assess what's possible, sort of the art of the possible, and if you
had some solution to validate it in some kind of closed, confined,
safely controlled area. So that was the idea. It wasn't actually go out
and do it. It was to see what is possible to be done in a controlled
experimental environment.?!3

ook ok

Q. And the goal kind of on part two, like you said, would have been to
do it in a controlled research environment, not necessarily go to the
source and release?

A. Correct. That would have been beyond that program's scope.>!¢

After DARPA received proposals, DARPA conducted a three-person peer review.>!”
These reviewers judged each proposal on (1) the “technical approach, competence, plausibility,
innovation, whether [DARPA] thought it was outlined in a way that you could kind of get to the
ultimate goal of the program in a reasonable timeframe”; (2) “[t]he sort of relevance to the

314 Gimlett TI, supra note 313, at 10.
315 Gimlett TI, supra note 313, at 11.
316 17

317 Gimlett T1, supra note 313, at 13.
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DOD”; and (3) “cost realism, so was it actually budgeted to do the job.”*!8After the peer review
concluded, each proposal was graded as (1) selectable, (2) selectable, but not recommended for
funding, or (3) not selectable.’!

In the end, it was Dr. Gimlett who would make the recommendation to DARPA
leadership and then the DARPA Director or Deputy Director would make the final funding
decision.3%°

On March 24, 2018, a consortium of researchers led by Dr. Daszak and EcoHealth
submitted a proposal to DARPA named “Project DEFUSE: Defusing the threat of Bat-borne
Coronaviruses” [hereinafter “DEFUSE”].3! In Technical Area 1, the stated goal of DEFUSE
was:

In TA1 we will intensively sample bats at our field sites where we have
identified high spillover risk SARSr-CoVs. We will sequence their spike
proteins, reverse engineer them to conduct binding assays, and insert them
into bat SARSr-CoV (WIV1, SHCO014) backbones (these use bat-SARSr-
CoV backbones, not SARS-CoV, and are exempt from dual-use and gain of
function concerns) to infect humanized mice and assess capacity to cause
SARS-like disease.?*

In Technical Area 2, the stated goal of DEFUSE was:

In TA2, we will evaluate two approaches to reduce SARSr-CoV shedding
in bat caves: (1) Broadscale immune boosting, in which we will inoculate
bats with immune modulators to upregulate their innate immune response
and downregulate viral replication; (2) Targeted immune boosting, in which
we will inoculate bats with novel chimeric polyvalent recombinant spike
proteins plus the immune modulator to enhance innate immunity against
specific, high-risk viruses...The most effective biologicals will be trialed
in our test cave sites in Yunnan Province, with reduction in viral shedding
as proof-of-concept.>?’

On its face, this type of research is dangerous and, specifically regarding Technical Area
2, EcoHealth’s proposed experiments—conducting trials in uncontrolled cave environments—
violated the scope of PREEMPT. Furthermore, some scientists have even pointed to DEFUSE as
a type of research that can create a virus like COVID-19.3%

318 Gimlett TI, supra note 313, at 15.

319 Gimlett TI, supra note 313, at 16.

320 See generally, Gimlett T1.

321 EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., Proposal - Project DEFUSE: Defusing the threat of Bat-borne Coronaviruses,
HRO001118S0017-PREEMPT-PA-001 (Mar. 27, 2018).

2

234

324 Chan, supra note 18.
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Prior to submission of EcoHealth’s full proposal, EcoHealth had the opportunity to attend
a “Proposers Day” and, subsequent to that, submit an abstract for preliminary review by DARPA.
According to Dr. Gimlett, Dr. Daszak was present for “Proposers Day” and submitted an abstract
for preliminary review.*?> After DARPA and Dr. Gimlett reviewed EcoHealth’s abstract, Dr.
Gimlett and Dr. Daszak discussed it.

Dr. James Gimlett (May 9, 2024)

Q. And then the conversation that you had with Dr. Daszak afterwards,
were there tweaks you wanted him to make? How was that, the
encouragement of a proposal, communicated?

A. So it's generally: Here's some really strong pieces that we think have
merit. In their case, it was they have their feet on the ground in a
very hotspot for zoonotic spillover, with access to bats and bat caves
and even a whole repertoire of prior samples that they've collected
and only partially analyzed. So that was attractive. I don't recall the
exact feedback he would have given me on that, other than be sure
to read the BAA. We're particularly interested in quantitative
models, so connect your sampling with some kind of approach to
get a risk map and a likelihood model of spillover. There's a bunch
of safety concerns as well, and please read the BAA about things
that might be of ELSI, which is ethical, legal, societal impact, as
well as safety concerns. So that would have been the feedback to
everybody.?°

It was also at this stage that Dr. Daszak asked DARPA about the inclusion of a Chinese
partner, specifically the WIV.??” According to Dr. Gimlett, DARPA approved the use of a
Chinese collaborator.

Dr. James Gimlett (May 9., 2024)

Q. And it sounds like they had -- at this point had they informed
DARPA that they were planning on using the Wuhan Institute?

A. Yes. So he would have talked about that and probably would have
asked us: Is it okay to have a Chinese partner? And I wouldn't have
been able to give him the answer. So this PREEMPT is a 6.1 research
proposal. There's no official restriction on who can perform. And
often DARPA does rely on researchers outside of the country.
They're often teamed with U.S. researchers as well. But DARPA
goes where the expertise is, or in this case where the samples exist.
So there wouldn't have been any official restriction. I basically asked

325 Gimlett TI, supra note 313, at 20.
326 17
327 Gimlett TI, supra note 313, at 21.
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up the chain: Is it okay? Because I don't have any awareness of
China being a performer on a DARPA program, certainly didn't have
any on mine. So it would have been a little bit unusual, but probably
not strictly prohibited. So I went up the chain, and the answer came
back: No, we're not going to restrict. Yeah. So that was
communicated back, that, yes, it's okay to have a Chinese partner.

We've heard from NIH and EcoHealth on a different grant that
foreign labs, foreign collaborators are vetted through the State
Department. How does DARPA vet foreign labs or collaborators?

That I don't know.
Would there be vetting beyond just the review process? If you know.

There would probably be vetting at the contractual process, which
generally does not involve the program manager, more on the
technical side, but probably there'd be vetting at that level.

Again, to the extent you know, when particularly work with China,
beyond going up the chain in DARPA, do you know if there was any
question to the intelligence community at large on the use of a
Chinese lab?

No, I don't know. I mean, there certainly would have been concerns
about whether the information flow would allow access to the data,
and that would have been part of that vetting process as well, I'm
guessing, because China had just come out with some new policies
on data export controls. So that would have been something to be
discussed, but not at my level.**

In addition to EcoHealth’s summaries of Technical Areas 1 and 2, EcoHealth—via

DEFUSE—also proposed:

After receptor binding, a variety of cell surface or endosomal proteases
cleave the SARS-CoV S glycoprotein causing massive changes in S
structure and activating fusion-mediated entry. We will analyze all SARSr-
CoV gene sequences for appropriately conserved proteolytic cleavage sites
in S2 and for the presence of potential furin cleavage sites. SARSr-CoV S
with mismatches in proteolytic cleavage sites can be activated by exogenous
trypsin or cathepsin L. Where clear mismatches occur, we will introduce
appropriate human-specific cleavage sites and evaluate growth potential in
Vero cells and HAE cultures.?*

328 Gimlett TI, supra note 313 at 21-22.

329 EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., Proposal - Project DEFUSE: Defusing the threat of Bat-borne Coronaviruses,

HRO001118S0017-PREEMPT-PA-001 (Mar. 27, 2018).
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Scientists believe COVID-19’s furin cleavage site located at the S1/S2 juncture of the
spike protein of the virus to be a primary driver in infectability in humans.**° Furthermore, no
sarbecoviruses—the subgenus of coronaviruses COVID-19 belongs to—are known to have a

furin cleavage site. EcoHealth’s proposed research could have resulted in a unique virus such as
COVID-19.

However, Dr. Daszak did not discuss this specific research during the abstract phase of
the DEFUSE proposal.**! Dr. Gimlett was surprised by this lack of discussion and this specific
research’s inclusion in EcoHealth’s final DEFUSE proposal.>*?

Dr. James Gimlett (May 9, 2024)

Q. So that opens up new questions. So the kind of -- and I'm going to
butcher the science a little bit -- but the proposal of taking 20
percentage divergent SARS-related coronaviruses, dropping in a
furin 1 cleavage site at S1/S2, and testing pathogenicity was not in
the original Proposers Day or abstract?

A. It wasn't at the abstract or Proposers Day that I would remember,
no. That's why I kind of hedged a little bit, surprising.

That part of the proposal was surprising?

A. Yes. 333

In addition to being surprised at this new proposal, Dr. Gimlett also expressed concerns
regarding the safety of EcoHealth conducting this kind of research.

Dr. James Gimlett (May 9, 2024)

Q. Why? I mean, beyond that he hadn't mentioned it before, did it pose
particular risks?

A. Well, so to answer that, we kind of have to back up, if it's okay with
you, just to --
Yes.

A. So before the BAA even went out, we did a lot of research on all the
government regulations involving gain-of-function research, dual-
use research of concern. There was some language about basically

330 Chan, supra note 18.

331 EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., Proposal - Project DEFUSE: Defusing the threat of Bat-borne Coronaviruses,
HRO001118S0017-PREEMPT-PA-001 (Mar. 27, 2018).

332 Gimlett TI, supra note 313, at 23-24.

333 Gimlett TI, supra note 313, at 23-24.
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this P3CO, so potential pandemic pathogen documentation that had
come out. All of which were very -- they all had their own viruses
of interest. Like gain-of-function, the original moratorium was
specifically about avian influenza and SARS and MERS. The P3CO
had a broader set of pathogens, not all viral, and it specifically talked
about gain of transmissibility or virulence, but it said it was not --
that did not apply to wild type viruses not in humans. So when we
put together the BAA, I was concerned that regardless of what the
official language is, since this is going out to the academic
community and others who will basically not -- they will not want
to be constrained in terms of how they publish information, being in
a 6.1 research, and DARPA had no formal mechanism to restrict that.
But I'm still concerned that if this ever gets into the area where there
could be dual-use research of concern, you've somehow created
something that you didn't intend and it's more virulent and
transmissive. And I don't want to see that sequence published the
next day in some journal. So we insisted on sort of a safety and
communication plan in the BAA: Tell us what is your mechanisms
to put a halt or a slowdown on anything in case you encounter this
situation. So this is sort of preamble to why this sort of struck us in
an odd way, because the intent of PREEMPT really was to look at
natural spillover processes. So we weren't even expecting that it
would encounter dual-use issues but wanted that protection
mechanism anyway just in case. And I did not want to see sort of,
well, a narrow interpretation, since it's not these specific viruses, it
doesn't apply. And reading the proposal is the first time that they did
talk about engineering chimeric viruses, albeit still just taking
components of wild virus found in bat caves, but mixing and
matching to potentially gain -- probably to gain ability to even
culture in, like, human cell cultures. So I understood the rationale,
but it didn't quite map to what I was looking for, and I wasn't sure
how that would help necessarily in producing probabilistic risk map,
and they didn't go through clearly that motivation and how they were
going to use that data. So all of these were concerns, particularly
the claim that since this is a wild bat virus, gain-of-function, dual
use, none of it is relevant, and we don't have to go any further. That
was not what the BAA specified. So now I don't remember the
original question, whether I got to it in some way, 1 but this is a
complicated story. I just want to get it clear.

No. Absolutely. I think you did a little bit. I think the original
question in this case was does that proposed work strike particular

risks that were not envisioned.

So, I mean, any time you put a virus in some other animal, in a petri
dish, in a cell culture, there are some risks. And any time anyone
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gets infected by a virus, the virus will be looking to gain function in
some respect. So there's always risks. And I wanted to be sure that
this program had clear safety guidelines, where it would be done, in
the BSL-3, if it was a coronavirus with pandemic potential. And
even if it's a bat virus, it could still have risks. I mean, there are
always -- it is spilling over, and there's probably some component in
that viral quasi species that's capable of entering other mammalian
cell types. So this does encounter -- and it's hitting a gray area that
was a concern, and we just wanted to make sure that we never got -
- crossed that line. 33

After review, DARPA marked the DEFUSE proposal as “selectable, but not
recommended.”** A letter was leaked that purported to be the denial letter from Dr. Gimlett to
Dr. Daszak.*® Dr. Gimlett confirmed the accuracy of this letter.

Dr. James Gimlett (May 9, 2024)

Q. Okay. I'll introduce majority exhibit 3 and have some preliminary
questions about this before getting into the specifics. At least on its
face, it appears to be the denial letter to EcoHealth under PREEMPT.
It has your signature block that is not signed. So, just an initial
question of, is this a letter that you would have typed out?

A. Yep. That -- that looks like the letter I wrote.

Q. Was it formally sent to EcoHealth, or was it more communicated
verbally?
A.  No, it would have been formally sent.>*’

DEFUSE was not selected for funding by DARPA for numerous reasons. According to
DARPA’s rejection letter, DARPA was concerned that EcoHealth’s research proposed in
DEFUSE would meet the definition of gain-of-function research or dual use research of concern
[hereinafter “DURC”].>*

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

334 Gimlett TI, supra note 313, at 24-26.

335 Letter from James Gimlett, M.D., Program Manager, DARPA, to Peter Daszak, Ph.D., Pres., EcoHealth Alliance,
Inc. (On File with Select Subcomm. Staff).

336 [d

337 Gimlett T1, supra note 313, at 41-42.

338 Gimlett Letter, supra note 335.
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The team discusses risk mitigation strategies to address potential risks of the research to public
health and animal safety but does not mention or assess potential risks of Gain of Function (GoF)

research and DURC. Given the {eam’s approach does potentially involve GoF/DURC research

(they aim to synthesize spike glycoproteins that may bind to human cell receptors and insert

them into SARSr-CoV backbones to assess capacity to cause SARS-like disease), if selected for:

funding an appropriate DURC risk mitigation plan should be incorporated into contracting.
language that includes a responsible communications plan.

James Gimlett, Ph.D.
~ Program Manager
Biological Technologies Office

In a transcribed interview, Dr. Daszak refuted this, and testified that DEFUSE was not

funded because DARPA did not have sufficient funds.

Dr. Peter Daszak (November 14, 2024)

Q.

And as you said, DARPA denied it. Did you ever submit this
proposal to any other funding agencies?

Well, there was a little bit said about DARPA declining to fund this,
including people who have said that they declined it because of
biosecurity concerns. Absolutely not true. We had an interview with
DARPA specifically so they could inform us why it was rejected. I
have got the contemporaneous notes right here, never once did
biosafety come up. It was too much money. They didn't have enough
money. It was too 1 ambitious, which is standard grant -- agency
language for too ambitious. So just a little miff around that. I forgot
the question, though.*’

However, Dr. Gimlett testified that biosecurity concerns were one of the three reasons

that EcoHealth’s DEFUSE proposal was denied.

Dr. James Gimlett (May 9, 2024)

Q.

Dr. Daszak testified that the reason that this was not funded was
strictly because there was not enough money. This seems to go
further than just it's an expensive proposal. I guess -- and the letter
is in your own words, but sitting here today, what do you recall as
the primary drivers to deny funding?

339 Daszak TI, supra note 253, at 260-261 (As of publication of this Report, although Dr. Daszak testified he had
contemporaneous notes between himself and DARPA, Dr. Daszak never produced those notes to the Select

Subcommittee despite being requested.).
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A. I would say three major things, which we've kind of talked about all
of them. One, no regulatory or ELSI discussion. Two, no, sort of,
justification for collect -- of basically, acquiring a whole set of data
based on, sort of, genetic manipulation of the virus, how that data
would then inform a model, for example. So the model development
which we've talked about in the letter. And then, three, didn't address
-- or basically just denied that they had to address gain-of-function
because it didn't fall under any of the regulatory requirements. So
those three were key reasons in my mind.>*

sksksk

Q. Yeah. So was kind of the lack of safety proposal both in
communications of the results and in the actual research a reason for
denial?

A. It was. I mean, so safety kind of hits on two different levels. One is
safety in terms of how the samples are acquired or how and where
the research is done, and that seemed to be addressed in the proposal.
But it also requires what happens if, during these kinds of assaying
and manipulation tests, you all of a sudden stumble on something
that's highly infectious, how are we going to, sort of, reanalyze
whether we proceed with this research or not. And that was the
safety piece that was missing.

Q. So the actual, like, "Oh, no, we found something that was more
transmissible or more lethal, what do we do next," was the safety --
was the biosafety —

A. Yeah. So, in my mind, regardless of whether that falls strictly under
gain-of-function, the virus has potentially gained some function that
could be hazardous, and we needed -- we need to reassess whether
to proceed with research or put it in a 1 different safety level or
something. 4!

Dr. Gimlett directly contradicted Dr. Daszak’s testimony regarding the rejection of
DEFUSE. Dr. Gimlett testified unequivocally that EcoHealth’s lack of a gain-of-function or
DURC plan was part of the rationale to reject the DEFUSE proposal.

Dr. James Gimlett (May 9, 2024)

340 Gimlett TI, supra note 313, at 43-44.
341 Gimlett TI, supra note 313, at 44-45.
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Q. And we've kind of touched on this, but I'm going to ask it a little bit
more bluntly. Did the lack of a gain-of-function or DURC plan affect
the decision to reject the proposal?

A. Yes, it did.>*

EcoHealth and Dr. Daszak proposed research in DEFUSE that was inherently dangerous
and could have created and released a virus like COVID-19. Dr. Daszak initially hid the most
dangerous aspect of this research from DARPA. Dr. Daszak declined to provide a required gain-
of-function or DURC plan, even though his research may have resulted in a virus gaining
function. Finally, DARPA denied to fund DEFUSE in part because of this lack of gain-of-
function or DURC plan—contrary to Dr. Daszak’s testimony.

FINDING: The Department of Justice Empaneled a Criminal Grandy Jury to Investigate the
Origins of COVID-19.

EcoHealth was subject to numerous federal investigations regarding both its potential
role in the COVID-19 pandemic, but also multiple accusations surrounding violated federal grant
policies. The outcomes of most of these investigations are public.

However, the Select Subcommittee discovered that DOJ was also investigating the
origins of COVID-19. The specific details of the investigation are unknown but, based on
documents, it appears the DOJ’s investigation involves EcoHealth’s role in the COVID-19
pandemic.** As of December 4, 2024, the outcome(s) of DOJ’s investigation are not public.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

342 Gimlett TI, supra note 313, at 46.

343 E-Mail from Counsel for EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., to Peter Daszak, Ph.D., EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. (Feb. 6,
2023, 12:01 PM). (The Select Subcommittee obtained communications between EcoHealth and its counsel that
EcoHealth was with withholding pursuant to attorney-client privilege because Dr. Daszak and his counsel included
non-clients on the e-mails, thus piercing the privilege.)
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Public Affairs

3. Legal (TKD — led by Nels Lippert)

o 1tlawsuit offer to withdraw; 2" lawsuit motion to dismiss;
3" in progress
Dol subpoena for genetic sequences, docs — almost complete
Negotiating with Congressional committees re. scope/timing
of requests

o Costs manageable - mixture of pro bono, reduced rate, and
capacity to request insurance payment of some costs

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]
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Message

From:

Sent: 2/13/2023 10:56:59 PM

To: Peter Dasza

Subject: FW: Draft Letter to Energy & Commerce Staff [IMAN-DOCUMENTS.FID794944]

Hi Peter. In response to your Oversight/Coronavirus Subcommittee draft letter, received just
now, I'm forwarding as my only comment the highlighted thoughts below from the Energy
draft from last week. (It pertains to the second paragraph of the current draft letter.) Other
than that, | would just cc me in the text or the transmittal e-mail. Let us know if you have g’s
or want to talk. Thanks again, MG

Tarter Krinsky & Drogin LLP
1350 Broadway |New York|NY|10018

AW tarierkrineky.carm jLinkedl

From:
Sent: Monday, February 6, 2023 12:01 PM

W Aleksei Chmura _ Jeff Sturchio
ubject: Draft Letter to Energy & Commerce Staff [IMAN-DOCUMENTS.FID794944]

Hi Peter. I've reviewed the draft and discussed it briefly with Nels. Looks good subject to the one typo and suggestion in
the attached markup.

The only thought is whether to skip for the time being reference to our other government inquiries. | suppose we can
always recite those if we get any pushback on a reasonable extension, but | don’t expect that, given the non-compulsory
nature of the current request. Especially on the Executive Branch frant, where the DOJ grand jury investigation seems so
far to remain nonpubilic, | think it would be better just to say we're acting as promptly as possible under the
circumstances without inviting inquiry into other demands for info.

Just a thought, but subject to thatit’s good to go from our perspective. Thanks.

p.s. Just a reminder, there’s a communication from Ravi Batra we wanted to discuss with you. Don’t really need me for
that, but | know Nels and Matt would like to catch up when you can.

On November 1, 2024, the Select Subcommittee requested EcoHealth confirm the
existence of a DOJ Grand Jury investigation.*** EcoHealth’s counsel responded:

Regarding your inquiry about the DOJ, we decline generally to provide any
information about the existence or nonexistence of any investigation other
than the SSCP’s own. For the avoidance of doubt this response should not
be read to confirm or deny the existence of any investigation.>*’

344 E-Mail from Select Subcommittee Staff to Counsel for EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. (Nov. 1, 2024, 9:54 AM).
345 E-Mail from Counsel to EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. to Select Subcommittee Staff (Nov. 1, 2024, 6:25 PM).
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On November 15, 2024, the Select Subcommittee again requested information regarding
the existence of a DOJ Grand Jury investigation. During this call, EcoHealth’s counsel assured
the Select Subcommittee the investigation was not into EcoHealth nor Dr. Daszak.

According to documents, DOJ subpoenaed EcoHealth’s communications with, at least,
Dr. Shi. This subpoena included both Dr. Shi’s official WIV e-mail address and her personal
hotmail address.34¢

On Fri, Dec 23, 2022 at 1:25 PM _wrote:

Aleksei,

Can you confirm what methods you used to pull Dr. Shi's emails? Some of the emails collected do not appear to have
made contact with either of the Shi inboxes the DOJ is concerned with.

For example, the attached email is from you to Matt and does not seem to have been directed at Dr. Shi in any form.
The proposal attached to the email does contain Shi’s email and name throughout, so perhaps the email came up
responsive ta a search for “ wh.iov.cn”.

Please let me know when you have the chance. Thanks.

OIA Confidential Treatment Requested JLS_00033797

346 E_Mail from Counsel to EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. to Aleksei Chmura, Ph.D., Chief of Staff, EcoHealth Alliance,
Inc. (Dec. 23, 2022, 1:25 PM).
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III.  The Failures of the National Institutes of Health and National Institute of Allergy
and Infectious Diseases

FINDING: The U.S. National Institutes of Health and National Institute of Allergy and
Infectious Diseases Failed to Oversee EcoHealth Alliance, Inc.

In response to allegations regarding EcoHealth’s actions—including concerns that the
research conducted at the WIV funded by NIAID and may have started the COVID-19
pandemic—the NIH began compliance actions regarding the grant. These actions centered
around EcoHealth’s administrative and scientific failures.

There is very little accountability regarding the approval of grants. Technically, the
Director of NIAID approves grants for funding. In reality, the peer review process limits
exposure and restricts Congress’ ability to oversee federal funding. Dr. Fauci testified, that as
Director of NIAID, he simply signs off on grants without reviewing them.

Dr. Anthony Fauci (January 8, 2024)

Q. Who gives the final approval?

A. You know, technically, I sign off on each council, but I don’t see the
grants and what they are. I never look at what grants are there. It’s
just somebody at the end of the council where they’re all finished
and they go, “Here,” and you sign it.>*’

The Trump Administration Identified EcoHealth’s Actions and Instructed NIH To Remedy
It

On April 17, 2020, during a press conference, President Trump identified EcoHealth’s
grant, and any other grants going to China, as potentially problematic.

Coronavirus Task Force Briefing (Apr. 17, 2020)

Q. Thank you, Mr. President. U.S. intelligence is saying
this week that the coronavirus likely came from a
level 4 1ab in Wuhan. There’s also another report that
the NIH, under the Obama administration, in 2015
gave that lab $3.7 million in a grant. Why would the
U.S. give a grant like that to China?

THE PRESIDENT: The Obama administration gave them a grant of $3.7
million? I’ve been hearing about that. And we’ve
instructed that if any grants are going to that area —
we’re looking at it, literally, about an hour ago, and

347 Fauci TI 1, supra note 225, at 83.
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also early in the morning. We will end that grant very
quickly. 34

On April 18, 2020, Dr. Tabak directed Dr. Lauer to send a letter to EcoHealth and instruct
them to terminate all funding to the WIV.**” On April 19, 2020, Dr. Lauer sent this letter.>>° On
April 24, 2020, Dr. Tabak directed Dr. Lauer to send a letter to EcoHealth terminating its entire
grant.*>! Dr. Lauer was not involved in the discussions or drafting of ether letter and did not have
knowledge of how the decision originated. Importantly, however, Dr. Lauer agreed with the
letters’ contents and justifications.

Dr. Michael Lauer (Nov. 2, 2023)

Q. Did you review the letter before it was sent?

A. Yes.

Q. And did you agree with its contents and the justifications provided
in it?

A. Yes.?3

Through the Select Subcommittee’s investigation, evidence discovered suggests that the
decision to terminate the EcoHealth grant originated from Mr. Mark Meadows, Chief of Staff to
President Trump.

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (Jan. 5, 2024)

Q. So like I said, this is Majority Exhibit 7. It's an April 19th, 2020
letter from Dr. Lauer to EcoHealth and Columbia -- I believe
Columbia was on there by mistake -- but primarily to EcoHealth,
notifying EcoHealth that they're not to provide funds to the Wuhan
Institute of Virology anymore pursuant to a couple regulations and
OMB provisions. Were you aware of this letter at the time it was

sent?
A. I was.
Q. Did you have any discussions with anyone about this letter prior to

it being sent?

348 Remarks by President Trump April 17, 2020, supra note 220.

3% Lauer TI, supra note 262, at 40.

330 Letter from Michael Lauer, M.D., Dep. Dir. Of Extramural Research, Nat’l Insts. of Health, to Peter Daszak,
Ph.D., et. al., Pres., EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. (Apr. 19, 2020).

351 Lauer TL, supra note 260, at 48.

352 Lauer TI, supra note 260, at 49.
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Yes.
Who?

I discussed this letter with Dr. Lauer and I discussed this letter with
Dr. Collins. I don't know if I discussed it with anyone else.

Do you remember how this -- the drafting process of this letter, how
it came to be?

Okay. So this was done with the help of a senior administrative
official. That's really all I could say.

Can you give me a little bit more generality about that? A grants
officer? A program officer? Who was the —

A senior administrative official.
Who is that?
That's —

The who isn't deliberative.

Mr. Charrow.

The Office of General Counsel at HHS?

Correct.

All right. Is this the first time or the days preceding this that you
became aware of efforts to suspend or terminate or otherwise alter
the EcoHealth grant?

I don't remember the dates. I remember the -- but I remember the
event that was time-sensitive. Former President Trump was to give
a news conference of some sort, and apparently he wanted to
articulate that this had been suspended, and so that was the time

sensitivity.

And who communicated that sensitivity to you?
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A. Mr. Charrow.

Q. Okay. And do you know who had communicated with Mr. Charrow?

skeksk

A. I was told who it was, but I don't have any evidence of who it was.
Q. Who were you told who it was?

skeksk

A. Okay. My secondhand knowledge is that it was the White House
chief of staff.

Mark Meadows?
A. Correct.

Q. Thank you. I want to then -- well, I'm going to summarize the
timeline then leading up to April 19th without getting into any of the
discussions of how April 19th happened. Your understanding -- and,
granted, some of this is secondhand -- is a conversation took place
between Chief of Staff Meadows and Mr. Charrow, who then had a
conversation with you, and then you had a conversation with Dr.
Lauer that resulted in this letter?

ok

A. That is correct.>>?

This sequence of events was confirmed by Dr. Fauci.

Dr. Anthony Fauci (Jan. 8, 2024)

Q. This is a letter sent from Dr. Lauer to Drs. Chmura and Daszak from
April 24th, 2020 -- so 5 days after this one was sent -- that terminates
the entire grant "Understanding the Risk of Bat Coronavirus
Emergence." Were you previously aware of this letter?

A. Let me read it. Hold on. I was aware that the grant was terminated.
I'm not -- I don't recall this particular letter that I saw at the time. I

353 Tabak TI, supra note 83, at 53-58.
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think I was shown -- I don't think I was shown this, but I don't recall
seeing this letter at the time it was sent.

Q. You testified in June of 2020 before the House Committee on Energy
and Commerce. You were asked about this grant and the cancellation
and said, "Why was it canceled? It was canceled because the NIH
was told to cancel it. I don't know the reason, but we were told to
cancel it." Do you have any recollection of who told you to cancel
it?

skskk

Q. All right. I'll relay to you what Dr. Tabak told us was the chain of
events, and you can just tell me if that's accurate to the best of your
recollection. Dr. Tabak testified that Chief of Staff Mark Meadows
called the Office of General Counsel at HHS, who then called Dr.
Tabak, who then called Dr. Lauer, who was instructed to cancel the
grant. [s that consistent with your memory?

A. Yes.3*

By April 17, 2020, the White House was reviewing both the EcoHealth grant and other
grants that involved China to ensure they were in compliance with all applicable grant terms and
conditions. After this review, Mr. Meadows identified EcoHealth and its subgrant to the WIV as

being problematic and instructed HHS to first terminate the subaward and then the entirety of the

grant. Dr. Lauer, the NIH official in charge of grant compliance, testified that he was unaware of
EcoHealth or that it was out of compliance prior to April 19, 2020.%> If not for the actions of the
Trump Administration, this grantee and grant may have been allowed to continue without proper
oversight.

Between April 19, 2020 and April 26, 2023, NIH conducted an investigation into
EcoHealth’s compliance with its grant terms. This investigation primarily focused on (1)
EcoHealth’s late Year 5 Report, (2) an experiment that showed excessive viral growth, and (3)
EcoHealth’s relationship with the WIV.

1) April 19, 2020: Letter from Dr. Lauer to EcoHealth?°

2) April 24, 2020: Letter from Dr. Lauer to EcoHealth?’

354 Fauci TI 1, supra note 225, at 211-212.

355 Lauer TI, supra note 260, at 22.

336 Letter from Michael Lauer, M.D., Dep. Dir. Of Extramural Research, Nat’l Insts. of Health, to Peter Daszak,
Ph.D., EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., et al (Apr. 19, 2020).

357 Letter from Michael Lauer, M.D., Dep. Dir. Of Extramural Research, Nat’l Insts. of Health, to Peter Daszak,
Ph.D., EcoHealth Alliance, Inc., ef al (Apr. 24, 2020).
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3) July 8, 2020: Letter from Dr. Lauer to EcoHealth®>®

In this letter, Dr. Lauer, because of legal issues surrounding NIH’s decision to terminate
the full grant on April 24, reinstated and then immediately suspended EcoHealth’s grant. The
suspension was pending EcoHealth’s answers to a number of questions regarding activities in
and around Wuhan at the time of the outbreak. NIH witnesses testified they agreed with sending
this letter.

Dr. Michael Lauer (Nov. 2, 2023)

Q. And did you believe at the time that NIH had the authority to ask
these questions -- make these -- let me rephrase. Did you believe at
the time that NIH had the authority to make these requests of a
grantee?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And is that still your opinion, NIH had the authority to make
these requests of a grantee?

A. I'm comfortable that, you know, with what was happening at the
time, the information I had available at the time, that we followed
appropriate processes.>>’

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (Jan. 5, 2024)

Q. Did you agree with sending this letter?

A. I did agree with sending it.>¢

4) July 23,2021: Letter from Dr. Lauer to Dr. Daszak>®!

In this letter, Dr. Lauer first identified that EcoHealth’s Year 5 Report was later. Dr. Lauer
writes, “[w]e are also writing to notify you that a review of our records for RO1AI110964
indicates that EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. is out of compliance with requirements...”*%> Witness
testimony indicates that neither NIH nor NIAID identified this late report until this letter was
sent.

| Dr. Erik Stemmy (Nov. 13, 2023)

358 Letter from Michael Lauer, M.D., Dep. Dir. Of Extramural Research, Nat’1 Insts. of Health, to Peter Daszak,
Ph.D, et. al., Pres., EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. (July 8, 2020).

3% Lauer TI, supra note 260, at 53-54.

360 Tabak TI, supra note 83, at 62.

361 Letter from Dr. Michael Lauer, M.D., Dep. Dir. Extramural Research, Nat’l Insts. Of Health, to Peter Daszak,
Ph.D,, et. al., President, EcoHealth Alliance, Inc. (July 23, 2021).

362 g
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So this is a July 23rd, 2021, letter from Dr. Lauer to EcoHealth. I
don't know if you're -- you are cc'd. Do you recall this letter going -
- being sent?

Just give me 1 minute to flip through. Yes, I think so.
Were you involved in drafting this letter at all?
I don't recall being involved in drafting this letter, no.

Primarily in this letter, in addition to a couple other requests, but Dr.
Lauer informs EcoHealth that at this point they were 22 months late
on their year 5 progress report. When did you first learn that the year
5 report was late?

I don't remember the exact date when I learned this. It may have
been with this letter. But because the award was terminated, I wasn't
doing the normal sort of oversight work that a program officer would

have done, right. Or notifications weren't coming out as well, so --
363

Dr. Emily Erbelding (Nov. 28, 2023)

Q.

ook ok

While you're flipping through it, this is a letter from Dr. Lauer to
EcoHealth from July 23rd, 2021. And in it there's a lot, and it
continues to request in order to review the WIV's records validating
certain expenditures and monitoring safety and financial specifics.
But then also on the second page indicates that EcoHealth has not
submitted their year 5 annual report yet.

"We are also writing to notify you that a review of our records for
RO1 indicates that EcoHealth Alliance is out of compliance with
requirements to submit the following reports," a financial report and
then the Interim Research Performance Progress report.

Okay. I see the paragraph you're referring to.

Were you involved at all in the drafting of this letter?

No.

363 Stemmy TI, supra note 255, at 127-128.
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Q. When did you first learn that the year 5 report was late?

A. I believe I learned of it when it came in, which was about a month
after the date on this letter.>*

Dr. Michael Lauer (Nov. 2, 2023)

Q. In this letter, it's also the first time you notify EcoHealth that they're
now 22 months late on their year-five progress report. Is that
correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Would that have been consistent with the timing that you testified to
earlier, that the interim progress report would've come up with the
year-seven funding?

A. So —

Or was it later than what you would normally see?

A. It's later than what we would normally see, but -- okay. Well, I'll
answer your question. It's later than what we would normally see.

Q. Okay. When did you learn that the year-five report was late?

A. Shortly before we sent this letter.>%

On numerous occasions Dr. Daszak held President Trump responsible for the cancellation
of the grant.

Dr. Peter Daszak (Nov. 14, 2023)

Q. Did you ever learn any information, either from government
officials or nongovernment officials, that connected the statement of
intent by then-President Trump to terminate the grant to the decision
that was ostensibly made by NIH to terminate the grant?

A. What I heard was that -- look, when President Trump says
something, he usually does it. Let's face it. I mean, that's one
attribute of President Trump, that when he makes a statement like
that he normally follows through.

364 Erbelding TI, supra note 281, at 96-97.
365 Lauer TI, supra note 260, at 66.
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Q. And from what you heard and what you understand, do you believe
that it was the HHS Secretary making the decision himself at that
point, or through instructions from the President?

A. Well, I think President Trump very clearly stated in that press
conference, "We will end it very quickly." And within a week it was
ended.

Q. And is this, is your understanding of that formed through public
reporting and your sort of connecting the dots, or have people
directly told you that?

A. So all of the above.?%

Notwithstanding Dr. Daszak’s testimony, additional testimony regarding the grant
cancellation is clear—NIH career public health officials supported and did not doubt the actions
undertaken by NIH and Dr. Lauer.

Dr. Michael Lauer (Nov. 2, 2023)

Q. All right. Thank you. I'm going to go back and ask some
questions -- a blanket one I think you touched on, but maybe not
directly: Would you sign and send a letter if you did not agree with
the contents of the letter?

A. No.>*

Dr. Hugh Auchincloss (Dec. 20, 2023)

Q. I want to first start by, as you know, NIH Office of Extramural
Affairs started compliance efforts with regard to EcoHealth in April
of 2020. Every letter sent by them was sent by Mike Lauer, who
heads that office. When he testified in front of us, he said that he
would not sign and send a letter that he disagreed with. Do you have
any reason to doubt that assertion?

A. None.3%®

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (Jan. 5, 2024)

366 Daszak TI, supra note 253, at 203-204.
367 Lauer TI, supra note 260, at 55.
368 Auchincloss TI, supra note 233, at 147-148.
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A.

So understanding there wasn't, if any, involvement prior to 2020, I'm
going to shift ahead to the 2020 to present timeframe as it pertains
to EcoHealth and start with one question. We had a similar interview
with Dr. Lauer, and he testified at that interview that he would not
sign or send a letter that he disagreed with. Do you have any reason
to doubt that assertion?

I have no doubt at all about that.>®

Dr. Francis Collins (Jan. 12, 2024)

Q.

A.

Moving into 2020. Before we start with individual letters, we asked
Dr. Lauer and he testified that he would not sign or send a letter that
he disagreed with. Do you have any reason to doubt that assertion?

No.

Do you agree with every enforcement action the NIH took against
EcoHealth?

Yes 370

Dr. Fauci was the only official at the Director or Deputy Director level the Select

Subcommittee interviewed who was evasive regarding Dr. Lauer’s integrity.

Dr. Anthony Fauci (Jan. 8, 2024)

Q.

Q.

A.

Okay. I want to shift to a time period a little closer -- it's still 2020,
but it's at least closer than 2016 -- and ask a blanket question first.
Dr. Lauer testified that he would not sign or send a letter that he
disagreed with. Do you have any reason to doubt that assertion?
He would not sign —

Or send a letter that he disagreed with.

I can't speak for him.3”!

As discussed above, Mr. Meadows instructed HHS and NIH to terminate or suspend the
grant to EcoHealth because of concerns that arose regarding the WIV and compliance. This
instruction resulted in a multi-year effort to investigate and oversee EcoHealth’s actions,
including an investigation led by Dr. Lauer with the support of NIH leadership—notably Dr.

369 Tabak TI, supra note 83, at 51.
370 Collins TI, supra note 219, at 145.
371 Fauci TI 1, supra note 225, at 210.
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Collins and Dr. Tabak. Contrary to Dr. Daszak’s testimony and public reporting, the actions
levied against EcoHealth were not political, but instead supported by facts and evidence and
executed by career public health officials.

FINDING: Dr. Anthony Fauci Played Semantics with the Definition of Gain-of-Function
Research.

Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, many scientists and government officials
categorically denied that taxpayer funds were used for gain-of-function research in Wuhan at the
WIV. These assertions rested on semantics and the misapplication of understood definitions.

On May 11, 2021, Dr. Fauci testified before the U.S. Senate Committee on Health,
Education, Labor, and Pensions [hereinafter “HELP”].>7? At this hearing, Senator Rand Paul (R—
Ky.) asked Dr. Fauci if gain-of-function research was occurring with NIH funding at the WIV.
Dr. Fauci categorically denied it three times.

May 11, 2021 Hearing Before Senate HELP

Senator Paul. Dr. Fauci, do you still support funding of the — NIH funding
of the lab in Wuhan?

Dr. Fauci. Senator Paul, with all due respect, you are entirely and
completely incorrect that the NIH has not ever and does not
now fund gain-of-function research in the Wuhan Institute of
Virology.

skoksk

Senator Paul. Will you, in front of this group, categorically say that the
COVID-19 could not have occurred through serial passage
in the laboratory?

Dr. Fauci. I do not have an accounting of what the Chinese may have
done, and I am fully in favor of any further investigation of
what went on in China. However, I will repeat again, the
NIH and NIAID categorically has not funded gain-of-
function research to be conducted in the Wuhan Institute of
Virology.

sksksk

The Chair. I will allow you to respond to that, and then we will move
on.

372 An Update From Federal Officials on Efforts to Combat COVID-19: Hearing Before Sen. Comm. on Health,
Education, Labor, and Pensions, 117" Cong. (May 11, 2021).
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Dr. Fauci. Yes. I mean, I just wanted to say, we — I do not know how
many times I can say it, Madam Chair. We did not fund
gain-of function research to be conducted in the Wuhan
Institute of Virology.3”?

Dr. Fauci’s testimony was, at a minimum, misleading. As established above, at the time
of Dr. Fauci’s testimony senior NIH officials and the NIH website defined gain-of-function
research as “a type of research that modifies a biological agent so that it confers a new or
enhanced activity to that agent.” Further, witness testimony and a plain reading of EcoHealth’s
research conducted at the WIV using U.S. taxpayer dollars confirm it facilitated an experiment
that conveyed new or enhanced activity to a pathogen—thus, satisfying the definition of gain-of-
function research.

Dr. Fauci, during his transcribed interview before the Select Subcommittee, stood by his
Senate HELP testimony.

Dr. Anthony Fauci (Jan. 8, 2024)

Q. When you talk about this issue, this broader issue of gain-of-
function and Wuhan Institute of Virology, publicly -- for example,
the high-profile exchange with Senator Rand Paul --

A. Right.

Q. -- and if you say that NIH, quote, "has not ever and does not now
fund gain-of-function research in the Wuhan Institute of Virology,"
is this layman's definition the definition that you are talking about
in those occasions?

A. No.
Great. What would you be talking about in those situations?

A. What I was referring to when Senator Paul asked me and I repeated
multiple times that we were not doing gain-of-function research, no
-- I said that the NIH sub-award to the Wuhan Institute was not to
do gain-of-function research. I was referring specifically to the
operative definition of "gain-of-function" at the time, which is the
P3CO framework. And the P3CO framework is a policy and a
framework that came out of a policy guidance from 3 years of
discussions led by OSTP, the National Academies of Sciences, and
multiple scientific working groups that came out with a very precise
definition. And the precise definition was: any experiment that is

373 Id.
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reasonably anticipated to result in the enhancement of a -- and by
"enhancement," it is meant an increase in the transmissibility and/or
the pathogenesis of a PPP. And what a PPP is is a potential pandemic
pathogen. So if you enhance it, it's referred to as "ePPP." So then
you ask the question, what is a PPP? And by the regulatory
definition, it is the following: It is a pathogen that is likely to be
highly transmissible and spread widely in a population and a
pathogen that likely will cause a high degree of morbidity and
mortality in humans. So, when I was asked the question, did the
grant that was a sub-award to Wuhan fund experiments that were
enhanced PPP, that is what [ was referring to when I said we do not
fund gain-of-function -- gain-of-function according to the strict
definition, which I refer to as the operative definition of "gain-of-
function." So, when someone asks me, as a scientist, are you doing
gain-of-function, is that gain-of-function, I always apply it to the
operative definition of "gain-of-function."

That is very helpful. Thank you for drawing that distinction. And at
the time of that exchange, it was the P3CO framework. There was
also a time, I think from 2014 to 2017, when the gain-of-function
moratorium was the operative policy.

Right.

So a similar analysis, I assume, would've been the case for that —
Right.

-- period of time.

Yes 374

Dr. Anthony Fauci (Jan. 8, 2024)

Q.

ook ok

I want to introduce the year 5 progress report as majority exhibit 18.
And in the nature of time, it's a long report, so I'd ask you not to read
the whole report, but I'm going to draw your attention to a discrete
paragraph. It's on page 15 under aim 3.1.

And I believe, and Dr. Tabak has confirmed that in his letter he is
referring to the experiment outlined in this paragraph. And I'm going
to -- you have it in front of you, but I'm going to read it in kind of

374 Fauci TI 1, supra note 225, at 47-48.
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layman's terms so it's comprehendible. But, in essence, it says that
mice were infected with four strains of SARS-related coronaviruses
with different spike proteins, including full-length recombinant
virus of 4 SARS-related WIV 1 and 3 chimeric viruses, with the
backbone of WIV 1 and the spike proteins from three other bat
coronaviruses. So that's what we were just discussing. All four of
the viruses caused lethal infection in human ACE2 transgenic mice,
but the mortality rate varied among the four groups. Fourteen days
post-infection, five out of the seven mice infected with just the WIV
1 backbone remained alive, while only two out of eight mice
infected with the SHC014 chimera survived. And the paragraph ends
with, "These results suggest that the pathogenicity of SHC014 is
higher than other tested bat SARS-related coronaviruses in
transgenic mice that express human ACE2." I'll give you a minute
to read the full version in the progress report. I know I kind of
summarized it.

[Reviewing.] Yeah.

So to me, it sounds like seven mice infected with the full-length
WIV 1; five survived. Eight mice infected with a chimera of WIV 1
and SHCO14 and two survived. Is that your understanding as well?
That's what it says, yeah.

This to me sounds like the experiment that EcoHealth conducted by
creating a chimera increased the pathogenicity of the underlying
virus. Is that fair?

The underlying virus is WIV.

Correct.

And the spike that they put on indicated that the virus was more
pathogenic than the WIV.

Correct. Is that right? So by replacing the WIV 1 spike with the SHC
spike —

Yes, yes. But, again, you got to put it into context because, again,
these viruses, when you -- if you -- are you hearkening back to the

definition of whether —

I'm getting there.
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Yeah, but then let's go there, okay? The fact is that what was built
into the scope of the conditions was that if you do get an increase in
viral load or pathogenesis, you've got to report it or reevaluate it, but
it still doesn't change the underlying premise that this is not a PPP.
That's the point. That's the conclusion -- that's the confusion people
get. By the operative definition of gain-of-function of concern, even
with this, this is merely an added going the extra mile that if
something like this happens you stop and you look at it and discuss
whether or not to go forward, et cetera. And, to my understanding,
that even if you do that, this still doesn't change that you're not
dealing with a virus that's very likely to lead to widespread
transmission, et cetera, et cetera. So it doesn't change the definition
or the operative guideline for this experiment, but it tells you, you
should report this, because that was part of the fail-safe.

And I don't disagree with you that it's not an ePPP —
Yeah, right.

-- and it doesn't fall under the P3CO framework. What I think we're
trying to understand is this was submitted, I mean, well, late, but the
work was conducted during 2018 for the fiscal year 2018 to 2019
and the year 5 progress report. At that time, this definition of gain-
of-function was still live on the website of enhancing a biological
agent. And I guess what I'm trying to understand, and the minority
talked about it too, is you said what your intent was with Senator
Paul, that when you said NIH does not now and has not ever funded
gain-of-function research in Wuhan was that you meant to say or
you intended ePPP research.

I said that before and I'll repeat it again. When I talk about gain-of-
function, I talk about -- a gain-of-function of concern -- I am talking
about the operative definition of gain-of-function of concern, which
for me is the P3CO that we've discussed multiple times.

And I agree, again, agree that this experiment did not meet the P3
definition. Would you agree that it meets that broad definition of
gain-of-function that was on NIH's website when this research was
conducted?

Again, I don't use the terminology "gain-of-function" because it can
be very confusing, which was the reason why we went through 3
years of discussion to avoid the kind of confusion that we're going
to get into now if we start going back and forth about this. That was
the whole reason for 3 years of deliberation to establish a regulatory
guideline based on a guiding policy that led to a framework. So,
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ok

regardless of how you slice it, when I spoke to -- when I responded
to Doctor -- to Senator Paul, I was referring to the gain-of-function
research of concern as defined by the P3CO framework.

My last question. That hearing was May 11th, 2021. When you
testified, like -- again, I apologize, but if I was a general C-SPAN
watcher or watching the news afterwards it obviously became a big
deal, and I went and I googled NIH gain-of-function research, this
is what would come up. Do you think you could have -- like, you
knew that you meant ePPP.

Yes.
Do you think you could have been more specific in your answer?

Well -

I think -- I think in terms of 3PCO, and that's embedded in my mind,
he didn't appreciate what gain-of-function according to the
regulatory guidelines are. I was speaking in that term. So he was
thinking of a different thing. When I spoke to him, I'll stand by my
statement that when I said we do not do gain-of-function I was
referring to gain-of-function of concern according to the 3PCO
guideline, done, full stop.

The last thing I'll say is we interviewed Dr. Tabak on Friday -- it's
been a long weekend -- and we asked him a similar question.
"What's described in the EcoHealth year 5 progress report would fit
the definition -- the broad definition of gain-of-function research?"
And he answered, "The generic, broad description of what gain-of-
function is, yes." Would you agree with Dr. Tabak?

You know, again, we're going in circles, because it's going to get the
same confusion that the chairman was just talking about.

I'm—
Because then, if I say yes, then, "Ah, yes, he says it was gain-of-

function." It is not gain-of-function of concern that is associated
with the regulatory operative definition of gain-of-function.
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A.

Q.

No. And I'm entirely willing to stipulate that and stipulate that it
didn't need to go through the P3CO and it didn't meet the definition
of ePPP. And I'll end on this, and if it's the same answer it's the same
answer. But we've asked Dr. Auchincloss this question. We've asked
Dr. Tabak this question. Both have said that it meets the definition,
the broad definition of gain-of-function research. I'm not trying to
catch you in a trap. I'm not trying to catch you —

But the thing is I have been living a life over the last few years of

getting total distortion of things that I've said and done, and you
know that. So if you want me to —

You don't need to answer again. I'll take that what you meant is what

Right.

And I agree that that is what you meant. I'm not trying to go against
that. I'm just -- when people read things in black and white and
words are said, it's hard to distinguish sometimes.

Yes.

Our hour is up, and we can go off the record. Our day is up too.*”®

[Whereupon, at 6:57 p.m., the interview was recessed, to reconvene at 10:00
a.m., Tuesday, January 9, 2024.]

Dr. Fauci testified that when he testified before the Senate, he was using the “operative”
definition of gain of function. However, that was not the definition of that term used by the NIH
at that time. Unfortunately, the website containing that definition was unceremoniously removed
and that definition deleted the same day the EcoHealth experiment was reported to Congress. Dr.
Fauci’s testimony to Senator Paul misled the public regarding NIH funding of gain-of-function

research at the WIV.

FINDING:

The U.S. National Institutes of Health and National Institute of Allergy and
Infectious Diseases Granted U.S. Taxpayer Funds to the Chinese People’s

Liberation Army.

375 Fauci TI 1, supra note 225, at 219-226.
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On April 13 2020, Mr. Handley prepared a background document outlining NIAID’s
interaction with China and its current relationship with various grantees.>’® This document was
presented to Dr. Fauci.?”” As an illustrative example of the lack of vetting of both foreign
laboratories and collaborators, this document lists at least three grants that include Dr. Yusen
Zhou—a known CCP member and PLA officer—as a collaborator.>”®

RATIONAL DESIGN AND EVALUATION OF NOVEL MRNA VACCINES AGAINST MERS-COV
(AI137472) , NEW YORK BLOOD CENTER,

Collaborators : Zhou, Yusen, Beijing Institute of Microbiology and Epidemiology, CHINA;
A NOVEL AND EFFECTIVE NANOBODY TO PREVENT AND TREAT ZIKA VIRUS INFECTION
{AI137790) , NEW YORK BLOOD CENTER,

Collaborators : Zhou, Yusen, Beijing Institute of Microbiology and Epidemiology, CHINA;

FOR NIAID USE ONLY

STRUCTURE-BASED DESIGN OF CORONAVIRUS SUBUNIT VACCINES (AI139092), NEW
YORK BLOOD CENTER,
Collaborators: Zhou, Yusen, Beijing Institute of Microbiology and Epidemiology, CHINA;

FINDING: Senior National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases Leadership Fostered
an Environment That Promoted Evading the Freedom of Information Act.

FOIA establishes a statutory right of public access to Executive Branch information in the
federal government.3”” FOIA provides that any person has a right, enforceable in court, to obtain
access to federal agency records subject to the Act, except to the extent that any portions of such
records are protected from public disclosure by one of nine exemptions.>°

In the process of seeking official COVID-19 related documents, the Select Subcommittee
discovered documents suggesting senior officials in Dr. Fauci’s office flagrantly used deceptive
tactics to prevent their e-mails and correspondences from being discovered as responsive to
FOIA requests.

On June 4, 2021, Mr. Folkers intentionally misspelled “EcoHealth” as “Ec~Health.”*8!

376 Memorandum by F. Gray Handley, Associate Dir. For International Affairs, Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious
Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health (Apr. 13, 2020).

377 [d

378 [d

379 5 U.S.C. § 552 (2018); see also, John Doe Agency v. John Doe Corp., 493 U.S. 146, 150 (1989) ("This Court
repeatedly has stressed the fundamental principle of public access to Government documents that animates the
FOIA.").

380 See 5 U.S.C. § 552 (a)(3), (a)(4)(B), (b), (c).

381 E-Mail from Gregory Folkers, Chief of Staff, Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, to Courtney Billet,
Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health, ef al. (June 4, 2021, 9:36 PM).
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From: Folkers, Greg (NIH/NIAID) [E| _

Sent: Friday, June 4, 2021 9:36 PM
Billet, Courtney (NIH/NIAID) [ Routh,
stover, Kathy (NIH/NIAID) [E]

To: NIAID OD AM
In the recent Bulletin of the Atomic Scieniists article, we have this quote

Jennifer (NTH/NIAID) [E]
Subject: ASF and all this may come up 10 inierviews

“It is clear that some or all of this work was being performed using a biosafety

standard— biosafety level 2, the biosafety level of a standard US dentist’s office—that would
pose an unacceptably high risk of infection of laboratory staff upon contact with a virus having
the transmission properties of SARS-Cov-2...."

My understanding is that human coronaviruses including sarbecoviruses are routinely worked at
in BSL-2 around the world as are many other viruses that can cause problems [or people. The
BSL level designation is decided by each country and is not related to perceived pandemic
potential hut largely to risk to the BSL workers.

For example, BSL-4 designation generally means deadly virus, infectious by aerosol, no vaccine against
it, and no treatment for it. So, although rabies is 100% fatal in humans, it can be prevented by a vaccine
and prevented by a post exposure serum, and (probably if not totally) not infectious by aerosol, thus it is
BSL-2 even though among the deadliest of human viruses. Working with non-human coronaviruses at
BSL-2 is widespread since these viruses are no: known to infect humans.

David, Alan and others may have additional thoughts.

Attached is a fact sheet that I think comes from Ec~Health

Again, in an original email from June 7, 2021, Mr. Folkers intentionally misspelled

“Andersen” as “anders$n”—an email Dr. Morens eventually forwarded to his Gmail.3*?

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

382 E-Mail from Gregory Folkers, Chief of Staff, Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, to David Morens,
M.D., Senior Advisor, Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health (June 16, 2021, 1:03 PM).
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Date: Wed, 16 Jun 2021 1:10:19 PM -0400
Sent: Wed, 16 Jun 2021 1:03:57 PM -0400
Subject: FW: anders3n

from: "Morens, David (vinavia) (=1 [

Attachments: image001.gif; image002.jpg

_':’3/: > 'n.’{

David M. Morens, M.1,
CAPT, United States Fublic Health Service

Senior Advisor 0 the Director

Office of the Director

Nativial Instituee ol Allergy and Infectious Disedses
National Institutes of Health

Building 31, Room 7A-03

31 Center Drive, MSC 2520

Bethesda, MD 20892-2520

Disclaimer: This message is mtended for the exclusive use of the recipient{s) samed above It may wntain mformation that is PROTECTED, PRIVILEGED, andior CONFIDENTIAL, and

it shoukd wot be disseminated, disiribated, or opied to persons notanthoerieed to receive soch information, AR sensitive decoments moist be praperly Tabeled before dissemination via emaif,

nit the intended recipient, any dissemination, distribution, er copying is strictly prelibited. If you have received this commumication inemren, please evase all copies of the message

it tac hmments and notify us maoediale by,

Again, on June 25, 2021, Mr. Folkers intentionally misspelled “gain-of-function” to be
“g#in-of-function.”3%3

383 E-Mail from Greg Folkers, Chief of Staff, Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health, to
David Morens, M.D., Senior Advisor, Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health (June 25,
2021, 11:25 AM).
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On Jun 25, 2021, at 11:25, Folkers, Greg (NIH/NIAID) [E] wrote:

David,

The WSJ editorial below argues that the presence of CGG-CGG is
evidence that SARS-CoV-2 is the result of g#in-of-function research.
What do you and the virologists in your orbit make of this? What is the
best argument that this is probably not the case? o

The intentional misspelling of these key words makes the e-mail more difficult to identify
via a keyword search to fulfill a FOIA request. The terms “Andersen,” “EcoHealth,” and “gain-
of-function” were frequently key words searched in many FOIA requests from the media and
others during the pandemic response.

Further, the apparent intentional misspellings of “Anders$n,” “Ec~Health,” and “g#in-of-
function” cannot be reasonably explained as typographical errors. The added symbols could not
be a slip or minor keyboard mistake. None of the “$,” “~”, and “#” are directly adjacent to either
letter they are intended to replace, and to place the symbols in a document, the additional ““shift”
key must be pressed. These actions are indicative of a culture of avoiding accountability and
transparency by the unelected public health bureaucracy.

FINDING: A National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases Freedom of Information
Act Official Apparently Aided Others in Efforts to Evade the Freedom of
Information Act.

According to documents, Ms. Moore assisted other employees regarding how to avoid
producing responsive documents or ensuring documents are not recoverable.

On February 25, 2021, Dr. Morens stated that he learned tricks to evade the FOIA from
Ms. Moore “who heads our FOIA office,” and she “also hates FOIAs.”3%

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

384 E-Mail from David Morens, M.D., Senior Advisor, Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of
Health, to Gregory Keusch, M.D. (Feb. 25, 2021, 11:25 AM).
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----- Original Message-----
From: Morens, David (NIH/NIAID) [E] _
sent: Thursday, Febru :06 PM

To: Keusch, Geral
Cc: Peter Daszak

Subject: Re: Briefing Tony

It's more in the Tline of govt secret, but too comp;licated to explain in an
email. But I learned the tricks last year from an old friend, Marg moore,
who heads our FOIA office and also hates FOIAs.

Incidentally, Tony and I and a few other people here all got a huge FOIA
yesterday seeking any and all documents, emails, etc., that mention the
words "wuhan Institute" or "wIV". It appears that this comes from folks
tied to politics, who want specifically to know about anything NIH has had
to do with wiv, or any scientists working with wiv. The original request
was I think far broader, but we negotiated it down to just those two terms.
You names will not show up in this FOIA, at least not from my info. d

david....... PS, I will be on Public Health Service deployment from 10
December 2020 until 23 January 2021. puring this time I will have Timited
access to email and phone contact. Ty, dmm

On February 24, 2021, Dr. Morens again discussed how he learned specific tactics from
“our foia lady” on how to work around FOIA regulations, avoid transparency and accountability,
and “make emails disappear after i am foia’d but before the search starts.”3*> Dr. Morens
concluded “I think we are all safe.”33¢

On Feb 24, 2021, at 9:21 AM, David Morens <dmmorensic gmail .com= wrote:

EHA_DO0S318

You are right, i need to be more careful. However, as 1 mentioned once before, i learned from our foia lady here
how to make emails disappear after i am foia’d but before the search starts, so i think we are all safe. Plus i
deleted most of those earlier emails afier sending them to gmail. D

Sent from my iPhone
David M Morens
0D, NIAID, NIH

385 E-Mail from David Morens, M.D., Senior Advisor, Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of
Health, to Gerald Keusch. M.D, et al. (Feb. 24, 2021, 9:21 AM).
386 14
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During a public hearing, Dr. Morens testified that these conversations were a “joke” and
stated that Ms. Moore “didn’t give me advice about how to avoid FOIA.”*%7

Considering the conflict between Dr. Morens’ emails and his testimony, the Select
Subcommittee sought to question Ms. Moore regarding knowledge of these issues.

On May 31, 2024, the Select Subcommittee attempted to arrange a voluntary transcribed
interview to obtain Ms. Moore’s testimony. The Select Subcommittee only began the process of
scheduling a transcribed interview after she did not reply to several attempts by Select
Subcommittee staff to schedule an informal briefing by phone.**® Ms. Moore eventually retained
personal counsel.*%

Select Subcommittee staff and Ms. Moore’s personal counsel engaged in negotiations to
facilitate a voluntary interview.**® The Select Subcommittee offered numerous accommodations,
including limiting the scope of the interview.**! On August 5, 2024, Ms. Moore, via her counsel,
formally refused to testify.>?

Subsequently, the Select Subcommittee issued a subpoena for Ms. Moore for a deposition
in Washington, D.C. on October 4, 2024.3** The Select Subcommittee asked Ms. Moore if she
had “any conversations with Dr. David Morens regarding his obligations pursuant to the
Freedom of Information Act or document retention laws and policies?”*** In response, Ms.
Moore invoked her right against self-incrimination pursuant to the Fifth Amendment of the
Constitution.?

387 A Hearing with the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases Senior Scientific Advisor, Dr. David
Morens: Hearing Before the Select Subcomm. on the Coronavirus Pandemic, 118" Cong, 2, (May 22, 2024)
[hereinafter “Morens Hearing™].

388 Letter from Hon. Brad Wenstrup, Chairman, Select Subcomm. on the Coronavirus Pandemic, to Margaret Moore
(Sept. 30, 2024).

389 [d

390 [d

391 Id.

392 g

393 Wenstrup Letter, supra note 388.

3% See, Deposition of Maragret Moore (Oct. 4, 2024).

395 Id.
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The Efficacy, Effectiveness, and Transparency of the Use of Taxpayer Funds
and Relief Programs to Address the Coronavirus Pandemic, Including Any
Reports of Waste, Fraud, or Abuse

The COVID-19 pandemic left a detrimental impact on small businesses across the U.S.,
resulting in business closures, product shortages, and widespread job losses. Americans faced
instability in their daily lives prompting action by Congress to stabilize the economy and
providing critical resources to affected individuals, businesses and communities.

Congress passed the CARES Act, a $2.2 trillion dollar relief package designed to address
the economic impacts on small business and individuals. This legislation created and extended
programs such as PPP, EIDL, and enhanced UI benefits. The CARES Act also established the
PRAC to provide independent oversight of pandemic relief spending by coordinating IGs whose
agencies administer pandemic relief programs.

The unprecedented scale and lack of transparency in COVID-19 pandemic relief
programs exposed vulnerabilities for waste, fraud, and abuse. Reports of improper payments,
fraudulent claims, and misuse of funds have raised alarming concerns about where these funds
are going and who they are going to.

Federal agencies must do better to prepare for future public health crises to ensure
accountability and transparency in agencies to prevent waste fraud and abuse in emergency relief

programs.

1. The Payvcheck Protection Program

On March 27, 2020, President Trump signed the CARES Act, which created PPP under
section 1102 7(a) of the Small Business Act.3*® PPP provided essential relief for small
businesses, individuals, and nonprofit organizations by offering loans that could be forgiven if
the funds were used in accordance with criteria enumerated in the legislation.

Rollout of the Payment Protection Program

From the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic, there was unprecedented public demand
for relief loans, especially for small businesses. A month after PPP was established, individual
and business applicants were granted $349 billion in taxpayer funded loans.**” On April 24,
2020, Congress allocated another $310 billion to PPP—in addition to the original $659 billion—
through the Health Care Enhancement Act.3*

39 Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Securities (CARES) Act, Pub. L. No. 116-136, 134 Stat. 281 (2020)
[hereinafter “CARES Act”].

397 Stolen Taxpayer Funds: Reviewing the SBA and OIG Reports of Fraud in Pandemic Lending Programs: Hearing
Before H. Comm. On Small Businesses, 118" Cong. 1, (July 13, 2023) (Testimony of Hannibal “Mike” Ware,
Inspector General).

3% Paycheck Protection Program and Health Care Enhancement Act, Pub. L. No. 116-136, 134 Stat. 620 (2020).
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On June 5, 2020, the PPP Flexibility Act modified the program by extending time under
which recipients had to spend funds from eight weeks to twenty-four weeks.**® While this
granted new flexibilities to loan recipients, it also resulted in greater potential for error and
increased opportunities for fraud and improper payments.

On December 27, 2020, Congress extended PPP through the Economic Aid to Hard-Hit
Small Business, Nonprofits and Venues Act in the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021.4%
Small businesses financially affected by the COVID-19 pandemic received continued assistance
through March 31, 2021, equaling an additional $147.5 billion in program funding, increasing
total funding to $806.5 billion.*’!

ARPA provided an additional $7.2 billion in PPP funding, increased the total funding to
$813.7 billion.**? President Biden signed the legislation, which extended the deadline to apply
for PPP loans to May 31, 2021.4%

The rapid rollout of pandemic relief funds and lack of adequate systems to determine
eligibility and distribute assistance paved the way for large amounts of improper payments and
fraud. The SBA IG estimated the U.S. taxpayers lost $64 billion in fraud attributable to PPP
alone. ™

Structure of the Payment Protection Program

PPP loans were rapidly disbursed by SBA following the program’s establishment. To
qualify for a PPP loan, of which applicants had to self-certify their eligibility, applicants needed
to have less than 500 employees, been operational as of February 15, 2020, and certify the funds
would be used for specific purposes, such as payroll expenses, interest payments, rent, or
utilities.** Under the CARES Act, 60 percent of funds received had to be allocated for payroll
costs and other eligible employee expenses to qualify for loan forgiveness.*%

Initial Oversight of PPP Loans

In June 2020, GAO released its first bimonthly report which revealed that—because the
loan application process was essentially based on merit and self-reporting—the program was

39 Robert J. Dingler & Sean Lowry, CONG. RESEARCH SERV., R46397, SBA Paycheck Protection Program (PPP)
Loan Forgiveness: In Brief (last updated Sept. 3, 2020).

400 1d.

401 Id. (last updated Apr. 23, 2021).

402 American Rescue Plan Expands PPP Eligibility, PYA (Mar. 31, 2021).

403 Grace Segers, Biden signs PPP extension into law, moving application deadline to May 31, CBS NEWS (Mar. 30,
2021).

404 Dan Nanz, How the FBI is Combating COVID-19 Related Fraud, FBI SPRINGFIELD PRESS OFFICE (Jan. 12,
2024).

405 ppp Borrower Information Fact Sheet, U.S. TREASURY DEP’T.

406 press Release, U.S. Small Business Admin., Joint Statement by SBA Administrator Jovita Carranza and U.S.
Treasury Secretary Steven T. Mnuchin Regarding Enactment of the Paycheck Protection Program Flexibility Act
(June 8, 2020).
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susceptible to fraudulent claims.*’” Eligibility for receiving a PPP loan was based on the claimant
self-asserting their PII without verification by the SBA. This lenient approach to distributing
federal relief funds opened the door for exploitation, with some applicants fraudulently inflating
payroll costs to secure larger loans, misrepresenting their number of employees to falsely appear
eligible, and certifying that the funds would be used for allowable expenses while diverting them
for personal use.*%

FINDING: The Paycheck Protection Program Was Rife with Fraudulent Claims Resulting in
at Least $64 Billion of Taxpayers’ Dollars Lost to Fraudsters and Criminals.

PPP was susceptible to many forms of waste, fraud, and abuse due to its rapid
implementation and reliance on self-verification by applicants. The most common ways this
program was exploited was through inflated payroll costs, misrepresenting employee numbers,
misuse of loan proceeds, submitting multiple applications, creating false certifications,
committing identify theft, loan stacking, and fake documentation.*®

Fraudulent Loan Applications

PPP fraud became one of the most accessible avenues for exploiting pandemic relief
funds. One of the largest PPP fraud cases prosecuted by DOJ involved six individuals who
conspired and submitted 75 fraudulent loan applications.*'® Using fake bank records and
fabricated federal tax forms, these defendants managed to secure $20 million in federal PPP
funds by inflating employee numbers and falsifying payroll amounts of their loan applications.*!!
Like many other cases, these individuals engaged in additional illegal activities, including
cashing more than 1,100 fake PPP paychecks amounting to more than $3 million that was
supposed to go towards employee payroll.*!

In another case prosecuted by DOJ, a California man was convicted for submitting
fraudulent applications to obtain PPP loans.*'3 By simply providing false information, he secured
$27 million in forgivable loans.*!* He claimed his company had more than 100 employees with
an average monthly payroll of $400,00.4'> After receiving $3 million in taxpayer money, he used
the funds for personal expenses, including cash withdrawals, payments on personal credit cards,
and transfers to other personal and business accounts under his control.*!¢ The individual now

47 GAO, GAO-20-625, COVID-19 OPPORTUNITIES TO IMPROVE FEDERAL RESPONSE AND RECOVERY EFFORTS (June
2020).

408 Ken Dilanian & Laura Strickler, 'Biggest fraud in a generation’: The looting of the Covid relief plan known as
PPP. NBC NEWS (Mar. 28, 2022).

409 GAO, GAO-23-105331, COVID RELIEF FRAUD SCHEMES AND INDICATORS IN SBA PANDEMIC PROGRAMS (May
2023).

410 press Release, DOJ, Leader of $20M COVID-19 Relief Fraud Ring Sentenced to 15 Years (Oct. 3, 2023).

411 [d

412 [d

413 Press Release, DOJ, Man Convicted for $27 Million PPP Fraud Scheme (Mar. 29, 2022).

414 [d

415 Id.

416 14
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faces up to 30 years in prison for charges of bank fraud, making false statements, and money
laundering.*!”

Fraudsters Using Unverified Social Security Numbers

Since opening investigations, PRAC identified 69,323 questionable SSNs used to obtain
$5.4 billion from PPP and EIDL programs.*'® Fraudsters used SSNs that were either stolen from
real or dead individuals or completely fabricated to create fake identities, impersonate legitimate
businesses, and submit multiple loan applications under multiple identities.*'® Using fake SSNs
allowed individuals to bypass background checks, receive funds illicitly, and launder money
through transfers, cash withdrawals, or high-value purchases.*?°

One specific investigation from DHS resulted in the conviction and five-year prison
sentence of a Florida man for fraudulently obtaining two Florida identification cards to apply for
three PPP loans using the identities of two separate victims.**! He received approximately
$150,000 in PPP loans.*?? Further investigation by the IRS indicated that the same Florida man
also submitted eight fraudulent tax returns using the stolen identities of six victims unrelated to
COVID-19 relief funds.**

U.S. Agencies IGs continue to investigate PPP fraud and other pandemic relief funds.
Many investigations have led officials to more serious organized criminals. As of August 2023,
the federal government charged 3,195 defendants for offenses related to PPP fraud and seized
more than $1.4 billion in relief funds, many of them from PPP fraud.*** U.S. Attorney Offices
and dozens of federal, state, and local law enforcements agencies have also opened their own
investigations.*?

FINDING: The U.S. Small Business Administration Did Not Properly Define Critical Internal
Roles and Responsibilities and Failed to Provide Actionable Guidance to External
Stakeholders to Manage Fraud Risk and Combat Paycheck Protection Program
Abuse.

417 [d

418 Federal Pandemic Spending: A Prescription for Waste, Fraud, and Abuse: Hearing Before H. Comm. On
Oversight and Accountability, 118" Cong. 1, (Feb. 1, 2023) (Statement of Michael E. Horowitz, Chair, Pandemic
Response Accountability Comm. Inspector General, DOJ).

419 PANDEMIC RESPONSE ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE, PRAC-2023-02, FRAUD ALERT: PRAC IDENTIFIES $5.4
BILLION IN POTENTIALLY FRAUDULENT PANDEMIC LOANS OBTAINED USING OVER 69,000 QUESTIONABLE SOCIAL
SECURITY NUMBERS (Jan. 30, 2023).

420 Id.

41 New Release, Homeland Security Investigations, Florida Man Sentenced for ‘PPP’ Fraud, Identity Theft (Mar.
19, 2024).

422 [d

423 [d

424 Madeleine Ngo, Over 3,100 Charged With Pandemic Relief Fraud, Justice Dept. Says, THE N.Y. TIMES (Aug. 23,
2023).

425 Examining Federal Efforts to Prevent, Detect, and Prosecute Pandemic Relief Fraud to Safeguard Funds for All
Eligible Americans: Hearing Before Select Subcomm. on the Coronavirus Crisis, 117" Cong., (June 14, 2022)
(Statement of Michael E. Horowitz, Chair, Pandemic Response Accountability Committee, Inspector General, DOJ).
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SBA lacked a well-structured organizational framework with clearly defined roles,
responsibilities, and processes to manage and handle potentially fraudulent PPP loans across the
program.*?® SBA did not establish a sufficient fraud risk framework, and therefore lenders had
little to no information on how to handle PPP fraud or recover funds that were already disbursed
that were suspected fraud.*?” Even though lenders continually stressed the necessity of specific
guidance from SBA to ensure they were meeting the agency’s requirements, none was
provided.*?® SBA was one of many federal agencies that did not implement internal controls,
fraud prevention measures, or adequate financial and risk management capabilities even though
they were required by law.**

SBA Did Not Properly Define and Assign Roles and Responsibilities in Combating PPP
Fraud

The SBA did not clearly designate points of contact for handling various aspects of fraud
in the program and never defined their roles and responsibilities.*** During a SBA 1G
investigation, the IG found the SBA’s Office of Capitol Access and Office of General Counsel
were in supportive roles and involved in only a portion of fraud risk effort instead of being fully
integrated into that effort.**! They also found that SBA pointed to their publicly available
“Frequently Asked Questions” site and interim final rules for many questions that were asked.
These documents only contained general statements on SBA preventing fraud waste and abuse
within the PPP.*3

During SBA IG’s investigation, they interviewed employees of offices within SBA
including the Office of Financial Assistance. An official from that office said they did not have a
formal internal process for handling potentially fraudulent PPP loans and referred them to the
Office of Financial Program Operations, an office not associated with the SBA.** When IG
officials met with the Office of Financial Program Operations, an official told them the PPP
guidance did not address fraud and referred them back to the Office of Financial Assistance for
formal processes.***

SBA Lacked Specific Guidance to Lenders Regarding PPP Fraud Schemes
Lenders that distributed PPP loans to “qualifying” applicants lacked clear guidance from

the SBA on how to handle PPP fraud or recover funds obtained fraudulently from scammers.**
Instead, the SBA assumed lenders already established and implemented industry regulations

426 See generally, U.S. SMALL BUSINESS ADMIN., REPORT 22-13, SBA’S HANDLING OF POTENTIALLY FRAUDULENT
PAYCHECK PROTECTION PROGRAM LOANS (May 26, 2022).

427

sy

429 g

430 g

81y

92y

43 7y

84y

435 Id. (Lenders that distributed PPP loans to “qualifying” applicants lacked a clear guidance from the SBA on how
to handle PPP fraud or recover funds obtained fraudulently from criminals).
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regarding fraud. As a result, the SBA blamed financial institutions and lenders rather than taking

responsibility for not developing and communicating actionable guidance to manage PPP fraud
risk.*3

Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, lenders had little to no communication with OIG
investigative agencies.*” However, SBA OIG received a significant volume of requests from
lenders and financial institutions on how to handle potentially fraudulent PPP loans, with PPP
fraud hotline complaints exceeding 54,000.*% Providing lenders with sufficient information and
guidance on how to address PPP fraud would have established a foundation for addressing fraud
and would have prevented billions of taxpayer’s dollars from going to criminals.

436 Id.
437 Id.
438 Id
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II. Enhanced Unemplovment Insurance

In the early days of the COVID-19 pandemic, Congress and the Executive Branch fast-
tracked emergency relief packages aimed at stabilizing the economy and providing crucial
support to individuals and businesses. States quickly issued stay-at-home orders because of
overcrowded hospitals and a rising mortality rate, leading to widespread economic shutdowns
and a surge in unemployment claims.** In April 2020, the unemployment rate reached 15
percent—the highest unemployment rate since data collection began in 1948.*° Within just a
few months, unemployment benefit claims soared to more than 58 million as businesses closed
and workers lost their jobs, with more than 7 million UI applications filed in a 23-week span.*4!

The DOL establishes federal guidelines that require each state to manage and fund its
own unemployment benefits program with the federal government allowing extensions and
expansions of benefits during emergencies, including public heath crises.**? In response to
massive unemployment, Congress enacted several pandemic relief packages to provide financial
support to employers, employees, and the newly unemployed:

e FFCRA: The first relief program that required certain employers to provide emergency
paid sick leave and expanded family and medical leave for individuals with reasons
related to COVID-19.443

e CARES Act: The largest relief package that created three new temporary federal
unemployment benefit programs. These fully federally funded programs expanded
existing Ul benefits, created additional weeks of temporary benefits, and increased Ul
benefits to groups that were traditionally not eligible to apply:**

o FPUC: Established weekly $600 payments in addition to regular Ul and extended
benefits.*

o PEUC: Extended the length of time individuals could receive Ul benefits,
allowing the claimant to claim benefits for up to 79 weeks.*4

43931 CFR Part 35.

440 Fraud in Federal Unemployment Insurance Programs: Hearing Before Committee on Ways & Means, 118™ Cong.
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o PUA: Expanded eligibility of UI to self-employed workers, freelancers,
independent contractors, and part-time workers impacted by COVID-19,
providing up to 79 weeks of unemployment benefits.*’

In total, an estimated $872 billion was allocated to COVID-19 UI benefit programs.**3
These programs were implemented rapidly as Congress, governors, and state legislatures pushed
for state workforce agencies to distribute funds efficiently. However, the unprecedented volume
of claims placed enormous strain on states’ unemployment systems contributing to delays,
confusion, improper payments, and fraud.*** The DOL ETA was tasked with overseeing
traditional Ul benefit claims, ensuring states distributed effectively while maintaining
accountability.*° ETA officials reported that the COVID-19 pandemic led to a tenfold increase in
pandemic-related Ul claims for federal and state programs, overwhelming the capacity of state
systems.*!

The Consolidated Appropriations Act of 202 1implemented refined integrity measures which
required documentation for claimants filing benefits after January 31, 2021. States had to verify
PUA applicants and include a statutory requirement for weekly self-certification. States were
required to have a process which addressed work refusals including a method for employers to
properly report these refusals. 432

ARPA extended pandemic Ul benefits for an additional six months, including continued
weekly FPUC payments and a 29-week extension of PEUC benefits.*>* By March 2021, nearly
all businesses had reopened, and a mass vaccination program was well under way with one-third
of Americans having already reported to at least one dose of the vaccine.*** Extending these
programs, with insufficient oversight, allowed fraudsters, international criminals, and foreign
adversaries to steal billions in taxpayer dollars through Ul fraud.*>

FINDING: Fraudulent Unemployment Insurance Payments Total More Than $191 Billion.

At the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, unemployment claims skyrocketed to
unprecedented levels. GAO estimated that 11 to 15 percent of Ul claims were fraudulent,
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resulting in between $100 billion and $135 billion of improper payments potentially linked to
fraud.*® After further investigation by DOL IG, it found that at least $191 billion was wrongfully
paid out to bad actors who exploited individuals’ PIL.*’

In December 2021, ETA reported an improper payment rate of 18.71 percent for two of
the three pandemic Ul programs—PEUC and EPUC—excluding monetary losses from the PUA
program.*>® A year later, ETA reported the percentage of improper payments rose almost three
precent for the same two programs.** As of September 13, 2023, DOJ announced more than 700
enforcement actions, including criminal charges, against 371 defendants for more than $836
million in alleged UI fraud.*¢° Most of these losses could have been prevented if Congress and
Federal agencies provided up-to-date technologies along with proper verification methods for
oversight, something GAO has been specifically recommending for more than ten years. ¢!

Agencies are actively working to recover funds lost to fraudsters but are having
difficulties tracking down some of the money, as some was converted into tangible assets.
Fraudsters bought cars, property, and even hired hitmen with the money stolen from taxpayers.*®*
The figure below shows the total estimated fraudulent and nonfraudulent overpayments that
occurred between March 2020 and March 2023 versus how many fraudulent or erroneous
payments have been recovered during this time period.*¢*
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Total State-Reported Overpayment and Recovery Amounts for all Unemployment Insurance (Ul) Programs,
March 2020 — March 2023 (as of May 1, 2023)

Total nonfraudulent and fraudulent overpayments

across all Ul programs $55.8 billion
Total nonfraudulent and fraudulent overpayments %6.8 billion
recovered across all Ul programs )

'] 10 20 ao 40 50 (-1}

Dollars
Sowrce: GAD analysis of Department of Lebor data. | GAO-23- 108606

States have continuously reported fraudulent UI overpayments in both traditional and
pandemic Ul programs. The data from March 2020 and March 2023 compares the stark
differences in how much money was lost during the pandemic compared to traditional Ul
programs.*% States have only identified $1.2 billion in payment recoveries out of $5.3 billion
lost across FPUC, PEUC, and UI programs.*®® The figure below shows the amount of money lost
to fraudulent overpayments and subsequent recoveries by states for both the traditional and
pandemic UI programs.*®” The prior lapses in the traditional Ul benefit claim system opened the
door for fraud, waste, and abuse of pandemic-era Ul benefits.

Figure 5: Total State-Reported Established Fraudulent Overpayment Amounts for Unemployment Insurance (Ul) Programs,
March 2020 = March 2023 (as of May 1, 2023)

Regular Ul programs Pandemic Ul programs

Fraudulent

overpayments 31.4 billion

$3.9 billien

Fraudulent
overpayments
recovered

$1.0 billien £0.2 billion

1] 1 2 3 4 1] 1 2 3 4
Dollars Dollars

Source: GAD analysis of Depariment of Labor data. | GAD-23-106686

Organized Crime Networks, Domestic Fraudsters, Identity Thieves, and Prison Imamates
Exploited Stolen Identities to Fraudulently File for Pandemic UI Benefits

Fraudsters exploited the federal government’s pandemic relief programs by using the
SSNs of deceased people and federal prisoners to receive unemployment benefits during the
pandemic.*®® The U.S. Attorney Office for the Western Division of Virginia charged a woman
with leading a conspiracy to commit pandemic-related Ul fraud in connection with a scheme
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involving the filing of fraudulent claims.*%® This defendant conspired with more than 35
individuals to file fraudulent claims of UI benefits. The co-conspirators included 15 prison
inmates, totaling fraudulent claims for at least 37 individuals resulting in $499,000 lost.*”

In another case, Homeland Security Investigations Baltimore, alongside other federal
agencies, investigated a Maryland man who plead guilty to fraudulently obtaining at least $1.3
million in COVID-19 UI benefits.*’! The defendant conspired with others to impersonate victims
by submitting fraudulent claims for Ul benefits in Maryland, Georgia, Illinois, Tennessee,
Virginia, and Washington, D.C. The criminal group obtained PII, without the victims’ knowledge
or consent, and shared them between themselves and others to facilitate the fraud. They applied
for at least $1.3 million in UI benefits using the names and information of more than 183
victims.*”?

The Structure of the PUA Program Enabled Widespread Fraud at an Unprecedented Level

In August 2023, DOL reported an improper payment rate of 35.9 percent for the PUA
program.*’® During the first nine months of the program, claimants were not required to provide
any documentation or evidence of earnings, despite states certifying individuals’ eligibility for
benefits.*’* State workforce agencies, responsible for distributing funds to claimants, lacked the
necessary information to verify the credibility of the claims.*’® These agencies were unable to
confirm prior employment or self-employment, nor verify wage amounts beyond what was self-
reported by claimants.*’® Additionally, states failed to cross-check claims against critical
databases to ensure applicants were not filing in multiple states, incarcerated, or flagged as high-
risk for fraud. Since the PUA provided UI benefits to a new population of workers, states
struggled with identity verification because claimants were outside of the federal-state taxation
system.*”” This absence of robust verification measures allowed criminals to exploit the system
by receiving multiple payment cards, with some sent to the same address, and by fraudulently
obtaining benefits in the names of incarcerated individuals.

Many of these vulnerabilities stemmed from delays in implementing proper cross-
matching of applicant data with available databases during the early stages of the program. As a
result, some legitimate claimants later discovered they had been victimized by fraud when they
received IRS1099-G forms for unemployment benefits that were paid out in their name.*’®
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FINDING: States Failed to Improve Their Preparedness and Implement Data-Driven
Oversight, Leading to Increased Fraud Across All Pandemic-Related
Unemployment Insurance Programs.

The DOL IG identified significant weaknesses in states’ abilities to measure, report, and
reduce improper payments in the traditional UI program.*’® For more than 20 years, DOL IG
consistently reported that the UI program has some of the highest improper payments in the
federal government.**® In 15 of the past 19 years, improper payments in the regular Ul program
exceeded ten percent.*®! States are required to issue weekly benefit payments while ensuring
claimants eligibility, but improper payments persisted. Common causes include claimants failing
to meet job search requirements, continuing to claim benefits after returning to work, or
misreporting earnings.*®? Additionally, employers often fail to provide timely information about
employee separations, which further contributes to improper payments.*%?

Fraud significantly contributed to improper payments within pandemic Ul programs.
Despite prior recommendations for systematic improvements, the improper payment rate in
pandemic Ul programs surged to 21.52 percent in 2022, resulting in an estimated $191 billion in
improperly distributed UI benefits.*** These outcomes underscore several deficiencies in states’
preparedness and highlight long-standing systematic issues withing state Ul systems.

Several states encountered considerable challenges in mitigating unemployment
insurance fraud, demonstrating a lack of coordination and missed opportunities for
accountability.*®> Although the federal government moved quickly to provide emergency funds
for those in need, the system’s vulnerabilities allowed ineligible individuals and fraudsters to
take advantage of the program.*%

The DOL established deadlines for states to report on their UI program performance, but
certain states failed to comply. This non-compliance coupled with inaccurate reporting,
hampered the federal government’s ability to ensure proper oversight and accountability.
Frequently, flagged transactions that had “suspicious email accounts” were not all fraudulent
transactions and not all fraudulent transactions may be flagged.*®” This systematic failure
requires a more thorough investigation with more staff.*%

States such as California, New York, and Pennsylvania demonstrated a lack of urgency in
distributing benefits and repeatedly missed reporting deadlines related to performance of their UL
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programs. California’s Employment Development Department [hereinafter “EDD”] struggled
with an overwhelming backlog of claims. The EDD consistently missed critical deadlines and
submitted incomplete reports.**? In one instance, California submitted its required reports for the
FPUC and PEUC programs just before the deadline but filed them with zeros—falsely indicating
no activity.*”® This reporting was clearly inaccurate given the state’s immense population, and
such failures impeded oversight efforts and exposed taxpayer funds to greater risk of fraud.*!

Pennsylvania also faced significant challenges, as it was unprepared for the surge in
fraudulent claims, many of which originated from outside the U.S.%* The state failed to
implement modern digital identification services to manage the spike in claims during the
pandemic.*® New York similarly neglected to use databases or systems to cross-reference claims
for potential fraud. As a result, checks were sent to the same address multiple times, issued to
individuals incarcerated, in prison, and sent to the claimants using fraudulently obtained social
security numbers and government identification. ***
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I11. Economic Injury Disaster Loan Program

The SBA Disaster Assistance Program is the federal government’s primary program for
providing disaster relief to businesses.*’” In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, CVPR
deemed COVID-19 a disaster which authorized SBA to provide EIDLs to businesses and
nonprofits affected by the COVID-19 pandemic.*® EIDLs are low-interest, fixed-rate, long-term
COVID- loans to provide covered businesses with working capital to meet ordinary and
necessary operating expenses.*’’

In addition to CVPR, the CARES Act expanded EIDL by providing $10 billion more to
provide emergency loans.*”® The money allocated to SBA for the COVID-19 pandemic was a
significant increase compared to other natural disasters including Hurricanes Sandy, Irma and
Maria.**® EIDL loans are long-term loans with a 30-year term and a 3.75 percent fixed interest
rate for business and 2.75 percent fixed interest rate for non-profit organizations.>*° Through
third-party lending firms, SBA disbursed over $400 billion in COVID-19 EIDL funds. !

The SBA IG and other oversight bodies found the COVID-19 EIDL program had
repayment failures and an abundance of fraudulent payments.*®> The SBA IG stated this was
nothing short of surprising based on SBA’s disaster loan program suffering increased
vulnerability to fraud and unnecessary losses when loan transactions are expedited to provide
quick relief.>%

FINDING: The U.S. Small Business Administration Disaster Programs, Including COVID-19
Economic Injury Disaster Loans, Suffered Increased Vulnerability to Fraud and
Unnecessary Losses of at Least $200 Billion.

At least 17 percent of all COVID-19 EIDL and PPP funds were disbursed to potentially
fraudulent actors. This amounted to approximately $200 billion in fraudulent payments out of the
$1.2 trillion SBA disbursed through EIDL and PPP programs. Like other COVID-19 relief
programs, fraudsters falsified documents, used personally identifiable information, inflated
business revenues, submitted multiple applications, and misused loan funds.>** Oftentimes,
individuals who defrauded the EIDL program also defrauded PPP using the same methods for
each of the programs.
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Fraudsters Used False Employee Identification Numbers to Apply for EIDL Loans That
Were Not Vetted by the SBA

Sole proprietors and independent contractors applying for the EIDL program were not
required to provide EINs. At that time, SBA limited applicants to receive $1,000 per employee,
with a legislated cap on EIDL advance amount of $10,000 per employee.’® These EIDL
advances were structured as grants, which did not require repayment.>’® Applicants self-certified
the number of employees they had, and SBA did not verify this information.>"’

This lack of verification created an opportunity for fraudulent activity. Some individuals
fraudulently applied for and obtained grants exceeding $1,000 by falsely claiming to have
multiple employees despite not possessing an EIN.>% The SBA IG conducted analysis of all
COVID-19 EIDL advances to identify applications from sole proprietors or independent
contractors who claimed more than one employee with the required EIN.>%

One example of EIDL fraud was two brothers who used fictitious aliases, stolen
identities, defunct corporate entities, and new business entities with no actual business
operations.>!® They claimed to be sole proprietors or independent contractors who claimed more
than one employee while not possessing the required EIN and tried to obtain more than $1
million dollars in COVID-19 relief loans including EIDL.>!!

EIDL Advances Aided Millions of Illegitimate Entrepreneurs During the Early Stages of
the Pandemic

In another SBA IG investigation, SBA provided the IG with a list of EIDL advances and
grants suspected or confirmed to be linked to fraudulent activity.>'? Two individuals were
convicted for orchestrating an elaborate telemarketing scheme in which they submitted more
than 400 fraudulent COVID-19 EIDL applications, securing more than $1.5 million in EIDL
advances for ineligible applicants.’' In exchange for a fee, the defendants obtained PII from
victims to submit fraudulent COVID-19 EIDL applications to SBA.>'* This case was initiated
based on information provided by a financial institution in response to a joint fraud alert issued
by the SBA IG and USSS.>!°

The scope of fraud related to EIDL loans resulted in significant financial losses. In March
2021, GAO conducted an analysis of DOJ fraud cases. The analysis highlighted a substantial
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increase in EIDL-related fraud, particularly wire fraud, which was the most prevalent type of
fraud in 2021 and continued to rise through 2021.3'

Charge type
Wire fraud 43

False statement | 16

Bank fraud | 15

Conspiracy-related | 12

Identity theft | 12

Money laundering I 10
Other I 5

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45
Number of charges

Source: GAO analysis of public federal court documents. | GAO-21-589

FINDING: U.S. Small Business Administration Did Not Implement Proper Oversight
Controls to Prevent Fraudulent Economic Injury Disaster Loans.

The GAO, SBA IG, and SBA’s financial auditors identified significant weaknesses in
SBA’s internal controls, which allowed potentially ineligible or fraudulent entities to receive
EIDL relief payments.®!” Despite these findings, SBA has not fully implemented many of the
recommendations provided by GAO and OIG.*'® For instance, in January 2021, GAO advised
SBA implement data analytics to detect fraudulent applications. However, SBA did not
immediately act to refine its fraud detection measures nor adopted the recommended data
analytics program.°"’

In March 2021, GAO further reported that SBA lacked a comprehensive plan to assess
and mitigate fraud risks within the EIDL program.>2° While SBA agreed to address these
concerns, it did not immediately take the necessary steps to fully implement the GAQO’s
recommended fraud risk assessment and oversight strategy.>?!

In an October 2020 report, SBA IG highlighted deficiencies such as inadequate responses
to fraud alerts and the issuance of duplicate loans.>?? The IG issued ten recommendations,
including the review of suspicious loans and the strengthening of verification controls. >* While
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SBA partially agreed with these recommendations and took some corrective actions, many of the
concerns raised by both OIG and GAO were not immediately resolved.’**

In December 2020, SBA’s independent financial auditor identified two material
weaknesses in SBA’s internal controls: (1) approval of EIDL loans and advances and (2)
oversight of the contractor managing the EIDL application system.*?* These weaknesses were
linked to issues like duplicate payments and loans provided to ineligible borrowers. The audit
revealed that SBA failed to implement proper controls to monitor the contractor’s processes,
such as checks for duplicate applications, bank account verification, and identity validation.*?°

The auditors largely attributed these deficiencies to SBA’s prioritization of the rapid
implementation of CARES Act provisions over the establishment of effective internal
controls.**’ Seven recommendations were made to address these shortcomings, including a
review of the EIDL portfolio for ineligible transactions, improving loan approval controls, staff
training, and enhanced contractor oversight.>28

Additionally, the audit identified a material weakness in SBA’s entity-level controls,
indicating that SBA management did not design or implement adequate controls to support the
expanded programs under the CARES Act.>* The audit issued five recommendations to improve
these controls, including holding individuals accountable for internal control oversight and
ensuring proper documentation of processes.>>°

While SBA disagreed with some of the material weaknesses and did not take a clear
stance on the recommendations, by May 2021, SBA began working with a contractor to address
oversight issues and assess the adequacy of controls in processing EIDL loans and advances, but
millions of dollars were already lost to ineligible claimants. "
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IVv. Transnational Fraud

The unprecedented amount of emergency relief distributed throughout the COVID-19
pandemic created a target for transnational criminal organizations. Despite prior congressional
initiatives aimed at addressing waste, fraud, and abuse, federal agencies have not sufficiently
implemented fraud prevention measures to deter, detect, and defeat international organized crime
syndicates.>*

Transitional criminal networks engaged in large-scale operations that submitted
fraudulent claims, laundered illicit funds through financial systems, and transferred proceeds
across borders.>* It is estimated that at least half of the federal funds lost through the PPP and UI
relief programs were stolen by international fraudsters.>** This exploitation of pandemic relief
programs has not only undermined domestic recovery efforts but has also fortified organized
crime syndicates, underscoring the urgent need for enhanced global cooperation and enforcement
to safeguard public funds.

Oversight of Transnational Crime

Many federal government agencies played a central role in the oversight of relief fund
fraud committed by transnational organizations. The DOJ, FBI, DHS, SBA, IRS, and USSS all
had separate investigations into foreign criminal activity related to relief funds.*®

Methods of Exploitation

International criminal organizations mirrored the tactics of domestic fraudsters, utilizing
similar methods to obtain sensitive information from vulnerable Americans.>*® Many fraudulent
relief claims were filed using illegally acquired personal data—including PII, much of which
stemmed from pre-existing data breaches.**” Cybercriminals also employed phishing attacks to
further exploit individuals’ information, targeting the most vulnerable populations.>*

Among the various COVID-19 relief programs, Ul fraud emerged as one of the most
prevalent areas of exploitation.**® The rapid need for an expedited distribution of funds led to the
removal of several verification requirements, creating a prime target for transnational criminals.
These fraudsters successfully impersonated jobless Americans by leveraging stolen identity
information available for purchase in the dark web.>*® This comprised data often included critical
personal details such as birthdates, SSNs, and addresses.
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FINDING: Lackluster Oversight Resulted in Transnational Criminal Organizations and
Fraudsters Stealing U.S. Taxpayer Money from Pandemic Relief Funds.

International criminal organizations and foreign government-affiliated actors exploited
the urgency of relief programs and orchestrated sophisticated fraud schemes that span multiple
countries.>*!

Some notable cases are:

1. Chinese government-linked hackers stole at least $20 million in U.S. Government
COVID-19 relief funds.’*?

An USSS investigation revealed that hackers affiliated with the Chinese government,
specifically identified as APT41, were implicated in theft of $20 million of U.S. Government
COVID-19 relief funds.>* APT 41 has been linked to fraudulent activity in the past, specifically
traditional unemployment insurance fraud against SBA across dozens of states.>** APT41 also
has a history of espionage activities on behalf of the Chinese government, including attacks on
pro-democracy politicians in Hong Kong and data breaches affecting more than 100
organizations.>* Investigations of foreign pandemic-related fraud also seem to point back to
foreign state-affiliated hackers, such as this one.

2. A Nigerian fraud ring stole $10 million in pandemic relief funds.>*°

Mr. Abemdemi Rufai, a Nigerian government official, organized a large-scale cyberfraud
scheme—named Scattered Canary—targeting COVID-19 relief funds. Scattered Canary, a
business email compromise operation, filed at least 174 fraudulent unemployment claims in
Washington state and 17 in Massachusetts that were all accepted, all with an expected payout of
$5.4 million.>*’

3. An Indian national stole $8 million in a COVID-19 relief fraud scheme.’*®

A federal grand jury in Newark, New Jersey indicted an Indian national for submitting
fraudulent PPP loan applications totaling more than $8.2 million.>* The defendant submitted at
least 17 applications on behalf non-existent companies, using false information about employees
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and payroll.>>® He also fabricated tax filings on behalf of a non-existent business to receive more
relief payments. He reportedly received $3.3 million in loan proceeds which he then laundered.
The defendant faces multiple charges including wire fraud, money laundering, and aggravated
identity theft.>!

FINDING: Domestic and International Fraudsters that Stole from Pandemic Relief Programs
were also Connected to Other Organized Crimes.

Fraudsters involved with stealing millions of dollars were also involved in other federal
crimes including wire fraud and drug smuggling. In a DOL IG investigation, a defendant was
sentenced to 92 months of federal incarceration for his role in a scheme involving the possession
of 15 or more access devices and a possession of a firearm by a convicted felon.>? DOL IG has
continued to connect abuse of Ul relief funds to organized criminal groups. The National Ul
Fraud Task Force was created to combat fraud of UI perpetrated by domestic and international
criminal organizations.>? Many of these include street-level criminal organizations with ties to
illegal guns and drugs.>>*

The U.S. Attorney’s Office charged six individuals, including two Maryland State
Department of Labor subcontractors with participating in a conspiracy to fraudulently obtain
$3.5 million in UI benefits.>> The lead defendant now faces separate narcotics and firearms
charges, including allegations that he unlawfully possessed a machine gun in furtherance of a
drug trafficking crime.>>® Another convicted felon charged with CARES Act fraud also
committed firearm offenses and possession with the intent to distribute fentanyl.>>’

The U.S. Attorney’s Office for the District of Maryland targeted cases with connections
between COVID-19 fraud and individuals involved with violent crime, organized criminal
networks, business email compromise schemes, and narcotics distribution.>® Using probable
cause from the commission of COVD-19 fraud, agents conducted searches and seized illegal
firearms, narcotics, and stolen PII. Many cases of COVID-19 fraud have led agents to defendants
with ghost guns, machines guns, and illicit drugs.
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V. Flaws in Pandemic Program Oversight

The COVID-19 pandemic highlighted critical weaknesses in oversight measures to
prevent waste, fraud, and abuse in federally funded emergency relief programs. While these
relief programs were aimed at providing critical assistance, the urgency of combating a public
health crisis exposes significant weaknesses in oversight. The PRAC was included in the CARES
Act to support and coordinate independent oversight of pandemic relief spending.’>® The PRAC
facilitated coordination across IGs to ensure wrongdoers are held accountable for misusing
taxpayer dollars.*® Since April 2020, PRAC has worked with state and federal oversight
agencies to oversee more than $5 trillion in federal pandemic relief emergency spending.’®!

Federal agencies, such as the SBA, USSS, Treasury, DOL, GAO, and HHS, are some of
the 20 agencies that led pandemic relief oversight efforts to bring money back to the taxpayer.’®2
These agencies with their respective IGs were responsible for detecting and preventing fraud,
waste, and abuse in pandemic relief efforts, though many of them faced challenged in carrying
out this oversight effectively.>®

During the 118" Congress, the House Committee on Oversight and Accountability held
hearings to expose the massive fraud in pandemic relief programs and how federal agencies were
simply unprepared for the influx of domestic and international fraud.>** Federal agencies failed
to utilize tools to prevent fraud from occurring in the first place, resulting in billions of dollars
lost due to improper payments. Simple measures and up-to-date technology could have
prevented millions of dollars being lost within days of rollout. According to testimony, the
Treasury do-not-pay list was not included within the internal control environment, allowing
billions of dollars in likely improper payments.>®>

Federal and state agencies had significant lapses in coordination, insufficient resources
for oversight, weak data sharing and reporting mechanisms, and delays in enforcement and
accountability for pandemic relief programs.>®® Federal and state agencies must be held
accountable for the billions of dollars lost due to their flaws in oversight.

FINDING: Federal Agencies Overseeing Pandemic Relief Funds were Needlessly “Siloed
Oft” from Each Other, Which Prevented Wholistic Tracking and Disbursing of
Funds to Prevent Fraud.

5% Fact Sheet — Two-Year Mark of the CARES Act and the Creation of the Pandemic Response Accountability
Committee, PANDEMIC OVERSIGHT, available at https://www.pandemicoversight.gov/media/file/prac-two-year-fact-
sheet.
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Many domestic and foreign fraudsters used the SSNs of deceased individuals and federal
prisoners to get unemployment checks.’®” These fraudsters were able to collect these checks in
multiple states because federal loan applications were not cross-checked against a Treasury
database that would have raised red flags about sketchy borrowers.

Pursuant to the Payment Integrity Information Act, federal agencies are required to
develop and implement internal controls that prevent and detect fraud and other improper
payments.°® One requirement is agencies must verify the identities and eligibility of individuals
and organizations seeking pandemic funding prior to issuing payments, specifically by accessing
the DNP list.>’® Although, at the beginning of the pandemic, agencies did not have access to the
full DNP list because SSA was not legally able to share the full DNP list.

The DNP Was Not 100 Percent Accurate and Lacked Sufficient Information to Cross-
Check

The DNP list includes individuals who are deceased and excluded from doing business
with the government.>’! According to Treasury’s website, the DNP list exists to prevent improper
payments from federal programs but does not have access the SSA’s full DMF.*”? Instead, it
currently receives a limited version of the DMF, provided by the National Technical Information
Service, along with state provided death related data.’” The full DMF contains death
information SSA collects, including state-owned data, which is cross-referenced with SSA’s
records on individuals with SSNs.37*

This lack of access prevented PRAC from conducting a full investigation into fraudulent
loan applications, leaving 5,097 fraudulent loan applications unable to be accounted for because
of the lack of information sharing between the SSA and Treasury.>”®> The SBA IG office
identified the DNP system as a critical control that could have been implemented at the onset of
these relief programs to prevent billions of dollars from being improperly disbursed.

The Social Security Act currently does not allow full death data sharing between the SSA
and Treasury.®’® The Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2021 allowed the SSA to share, to the
extent feasible, its full death data with DNP list only for a 3-year period.>”” When combating
domestic and transnational fraud, this does not allow enough time for agencies to conduct full
oversight and recover improperly paid funds.
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FINDING: Federal Agencies Did Not Require and Failed to Validate Information Provided by
Applicants to Properly Verify Eligibility.

The Payment Integrity Information Act mandated agencies use effective pre-payment
controls like the DNP list to prevent improper payments.®’® However, during the pandemic,
many agencies allowed applicants to self-certify their eligibility for programs, which led to
significant fraud and improper payments.>”

For instance, under the Emergency Rental Assistance program, Treasury awarded funds
without verifying applicants’ rental agreements or financial need. Similarity SBA allowed self-
certification for both PPP and EIDL loans. This lack of verification contributed to an estimated
$200 billion in fraud between both programs.3*° The SBA failed to implement front-end controls
when verifying applicants. SBA OIG identified that the Treasury Offset Program Debt Database,
which contains information regarding individuals who are delinquent on child support
obligations, was not implemented to cross-check any claimants applying for PPP or EIDL
loans.>®! The SBA also did not manually check the DNP list prior to approving a loan or grant.
The SBA IG identified more than $120 million in loans and $24 million in grants to borrowers
listed on the DNP list.

Total Loans and
Mumber Total Loans Numbser of Total Grants Grants
DMP Database of Loans (%) Grants (%) (5}

Treasury Offset Program Debt 1,452 5100,658,291 1,851 522,268,000 4122,936,291
Check |{delinguent child support
only)
System for Award Management 28 10,182,400 a4 584,000 11,166,400
Exclusion Records
Dreath Master File = Public 5 | 904,800 10 85,000 | S89, 800
American Infosource-Obituary =21 | 8,650,700 63 505,000 | 9,155,700
american Infosaurce-Probate 3| 841,600 g 66,000 | 1,007, 600
Department of State - Public o | o 2 20,000 | 20,000

Total 1,614 | 5121,337,791 2,029 523,928,000 | 4145, 265,791
Source: SEA DIG analysis

The Department of Labor Allowed for Self-Certification of the Unemployment Insurance
PUA programs, Straining the States

The expanded coverage in the CARES Act for the PUA program posed significant
challenges to states as they implemented processes to determine initial and continued program
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eligibility for participants.’®? During the PUA’s first nine months of extended eligibility,
claimants were able to self-certify their prior employment or self-employment without any
documentation to receive funds.3** Department of Labor Inspector General Larry D. Turner,
testified that states were not prepared for the volume of UI claims and struggled to implement the
new programs.>®* Specifically, the PUA program had control weaknesses that may have
facilitated more improper payments.>®

The ETA, tasked with providing guidance to states regarding improper payments, notified
multiple states regarding control issues with the PUA form. One state did not include the
required questions confirming that claimants are able and available to work while another state
did not have a procedure in place for re-determining the claimant’s weekly benefits if the
claimants did not provide proof of earnings or insufficient proof.>® These states responded to the
issue raised by the ETA, but more than $25 billion in PUA benefits were already paid out to
claimants that provided insufficient information on their application.>®’

FINDING: Federal and State Agencies Lacked Up-to-Date Financial Management Systems,
Failing to Meet Federally Mandated Modernization Requirements, Leading to
Billions of Dollars of American Taxpayer Money Improperly Paid or Stolen.

The Council of the Inspectors General on Integrity and Efficiency CIGIE identified major
problems in agencies IT security including that it lacked the ability to prevent cyberthreats and
phishing attempts.>®® Integrated, functional, and secure data systems are essential for effective
fraud and risk management.>® Agencies’ IT systems were unable to facilitate fraud detection and

recovery.>

According to the Fraud Risk Framework, a leading practice in fraud data analytics is to
conduct data mining and matching, including cross-checking of data using external data sources
to validate information.>”! This includes the DNP list, which had its own flaws and lacked
sufficient information to conduct oversight.

Most federal agencies at the time of the pandemic still had legacy IT systems in place to
catch and control improper payments.**? In May 2021, DOL IG identified various legacy IT
systems still in place which was one of the main causes of the DOL’s inability to detect waste,

82U.S. Dep’t of Labor, supra note 455.
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fraud, and abuse int UI programs, including PUA.>*® These legacy systems did not have the
ability to perform cross-matches for such a large volume of claims, posing a risk to claimants as
their PII could become more easily accessible to criminals targeting UI.

Legacy IT systems also made it difficult for many states to prevent cybersecurity attacks
or the use of fraudulently obtained information. DOL IG officials stated that some state IT
systems were not equipped to handle the volume of claims, and some may not have been
compatible with the National Association of State Workforce Agencies Ul Integrity Center’s
Integrity Data Hub resources.>** Even though a participation agreement between states was
established, there was no way to verify that that participants were using the resources.

Stolen PII also played a role in large-scale identity fraud during the pandemic, providing
a source for fraudsters. A Nigerian fraud ring took advantage of this lapse to commit large-scale
fraud in Washington, North Carolina, Massachusetts, Rhode Island, Oklahoma, Wyoming, and
Florida.’® These states were subject to vulnerabilities based off their outdated IT systems
allowing for transnational crimes against traditional and pandemic-related UI programs.>%¢
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The Implementation or Effectiveness of Any Federal Law or Regulation
Applied, Enacted, or Under Consideration to Address the Coronavirus
Pandemic and Prepare for Future Pandemics

I. Overreliance on the World Health Organization

The WHO is the most recognized global public health institution. As a specialized agency
within the UN, the WHO’s mandate is to “act as the directing and coordinating authority on
international health work” within the UN system.*>’ The overarching mission of the WHO is
“attainment by all peoples of the highest possible level of health,”>*® and is achieved via (1)
providing technical assistance to member states, (2) setting international health standards and
providing guidance, and (3) coordinating and supporting international responses to health
emergencies.>”’

Yet, while the WHO is supposed to support the entire world, during the COVID-19
pandemic, it appeared to protect its relationship with the CCP. The WHO was misinformed,
denied access to China, and was used as cover for CCP’s reckless actions. At a time when the
globe was turning to the WHO for leadership and advice, the WHO’s actions showed that it did
not support all its members equally. What was seen was an organization that, rather than serving
all of humankind, became beholden to and entrapped in politics.

The Director-General of the WHO can make a formal declaration of a “public health
emergency of international concern,” [hereinafter “PHEIC”] which can immediately implement
action to attempt to stop or slow the spread of the PHEIC.® A PHEIC is defined as “an
extraordinary event which is determined to constitute a public health risk to other States through
the international spread of disease and to potentially require a coordinated international
response.”%%! These are situations that are serious, sudden, unusual or unexpected; carry
implications for public health beyond the affected State’s border; and may require immediate
international action.®%?

When a PHEIC is declared, the WHO issues guidance as to how Member-States should
respond to the emergency, which can include restrictions on travel and trade.®®® Declaring a

397 Constitution of the World Health Organization (Nov. 1, 1946) (The WHO has 194 Member-States, all Members
of the UN, except for Liechtenstein).

398 United Nations Academic Impact, WORLD HEALTH ORG.

39 Lawrence O. Gostin, COVID-19 Reveals Urgent Need to Strengthen the World Health Organization, JAMA
HEALTH FORUM (Apr. 30, 2020).
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progress in polio; 2014 Ebola outbreak; 2016 Zika virus; 2019 Ebola; and 2020 COVID-19.)
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PHEIC is intended to speed up the rate of international action and even encourages research on
the disease in question.®® It is a formal declaration of a “red alert” to the world.®%

The WHO has two primary sources of revenue, assessed contributions (set amounts
expected to be paid by Member-State governments) and voluntary contributions (other funds
provided by Member-States and private organizations).°*® Most assessed contributions are
considered core funding, which are flexible funds used to cover general expenses and program
activities.®”” Voluntary contributions are specialized funds which can be earmarked by donors for
certain activities. %%

The U.S. is historically the single largest contributor to the WHO.*” The assessed
contributions of the U.S. remained fairly stable between fiscal year (FY) 2014-2023, fluctuating
between $110 million and $123 million.®!° U.S. voluntary contributions for specific projects or
activities varied to reflect changing policies and/or support during international crisis. Voluntary
contributions ranged from a low of $102 million in FY 2014 to a high of $402 million in FY
2017.611

Figure 2

U.S. Contributions to the World Health Organization (WHO), by Type
of Contribution, FY 2014-FY 2023 (in millions)
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Apart from the assessed contributions from Member-States, the WHO is funded through
private organizations through voluntary contributions.®'? These voluntary contributions are
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specialized funds that can be earmarked by the individual donors for specific activities. In the
current 2022-2023 budget, the total assessed contributions were 12.1 percent of the total
revenue®!® (or approximately $956.9 million) and the total voluntary contributions were 87.5
percent (or approximately $6.92 billion).*'* For the 2020-2021 budget, the top five specified
voluntary contributions were: Germany — $952 million; Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation - $592
million; U.S. — $447 million; GAVI Alliance — $413 million; and the United Kingdom of Great
Britain and Northern Ireland — $367 million.5'

The WHO exists for the protection of all. Yet in the time of the greatest global crisis, it
did not deliver on its promises.

FINDING: The World Health Organization Failed to Uphold Its Mission and Caved to
Chinese Communist Party Pressure.

The WHO claims to “work worldwide to promote health, keep the world safe, and serve
the vulnerable.”®'® More specifically, regarding health emergencies, the WHO claims to:

e “Prepare for emergencies by identifying, mitigating and managing risks.
e Prevent emergencies and support development of tools necessary during outbreaks.

e Detect and respond to acute health emergencies.

e Support delivery of essential health services in fragile settings.”®!”

The WHO’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic was an abject failure. The Organization failed
to satisfy all of the above stated goals.

Throughout the pandemic, the WHO shied away from placing any blame on the CCP. Dr.
Tedros even went so far as to praise the CCP’s “transparency’ during the crisis, when, in fact, the
regime consistently lied to the world by underreporting China’s actual infection and death
statistics.®'® During the pandemic, the WHO repeatedly relied on false information from the

CCP.
The WHO Ignored Taiwan Despite It Warning of COVID-19 in December 2019

The WHO disregarded warnings from Taiwan of a burgeoning virus because of pressure
from China. From 2009 to 2016, Taiwan was an observer in the WHO under the name “Chinese
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Taipei.”®!"” Yet, the CCP has consistently blocked any form of engagement, ensuring the WHO
does not formally recognize Taiwan as a Member-State. This lack of recognition led to these
warnings from Taiwan being substantially ignored.

Taiwan notified the WHO as early as December 31, 2019, asking for more information
about atypical pneumonia cases reported in Wuhan.%2° The WHO never followed up with
information.

M Gmai T |

Fwd: Clarification for pneumonia of unknown etiology in China
i

o
BHA: 2019 F12H31H GMT+8 FF2:21:58

WAz @cde.goviw” @cdc.gov tw>
EUZE:h@wﬂa.m:;L@who int" <l @who.int=

{Z1i: Re: Clarification for pneumonia of unknown etiology in China

Dear Dr Liu, | have forwarded to my expert colleagues for advice. Kind regards,

! ! !ecrelarlal

Sent from my iPhone

On 31 Dec 2014, at 05:31, '-@cdc.gou.tw" -@cd: gov.bw=> wrote

News resources today indicate that at least seven atypical pneumonia cases were
reported in Wuhan, CHIMA. Their health authorities replied to the media that the
cases were believed not SARS; however the samples are still under examination,
and cases have been isolated for treatment.

| would greatly appreciate it If you have relevant infermation to share with us.

Thank you very much in advance for your attention to this matter.

Best Regards,

Then Taiwanese Vice President Chen Chien-Jen, a renowned scientist with a doctorate in
epidemiology from Johns Hopkins University who oversaw the SARS outbreak in Taiwan in

619 Jonahtan Herington & Kelley Lee, The limits of global health diplomacy: Taiwan's observer status at the world
health assembly, GLOBALIZATION AND HEALTH (Oct. 1, 2014).
620 E-Mail from IHR Secretariat, to Dr. Liu (Dec. 31, 2019, 02:21).
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2003, stated in an interview that had Taiwan been a member of the WHO, it would have been
even better prepared for countermeasures against COVID-19.62!

The initial mismanagement of the COVID-19 pandemic not only potentially caused the
further spread of the virus, but it created a situation where people lost trust in the global public
health organization. The IHR requires mutual communication, yet when it was time to test the
strength of this trust, the WHO did not care to use their own policy, rather playing politics and
ensuring their relationship with the CCP remained intact.

The WHO Denied Human-to-Human Spread of COVID-19 Based Solely on CCP
Propaganda

On January 14, 2020, the WHO tweeted that “[p]reliminary investigations conducted by
Chinese authorities have found no clear evidence of human-to-human transmission of the novel
coronavirus.” %2

World Health Organization (WHO) & v

@WHO
Preliminary investigations conducted by the Chinese
authorities have found no clear evidence of human-to-

human transmission of the novel #coronavirus (2019-
nCoV) identified in #Wuhan, #China@Ell.

These “preliminary investigations™ in actuality included the CCP jailing any doctor that
disseminated any information about COVID-19 that was not first cleared through state-run
media.®?® U.S. intelligence sources have since discovered that the CCP covered-up and lied about
the extent of the outbreak.®?* On January 23, 2020, the WHO finally recognized that human-to-
human spread was occurring, a month later than the first warnings.*°

The WHO Prolonged Naming COVID-19 a PHEIC and Pandemic Because the CCP
Insisted the Spread was Under Control

By the time the WHO declared COVID-19 a PHEIC on January 30, 2020, the disease had
infected almost 10,000 and killed almost 1,000 people in 19 different countries.%?® It was

62! Javier C. Hernandez & Chris Horton, Taiwans Weapon Against Coronavirus: An Epidemiologist as Vice
President, THE N.Y. TIMES (May 9, 2020).
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transmission-coronavirus.
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reported that the delay in PHEIC declaration was a result of intense pressure from the CCP.%?’

According to both the U.S. Central Intelligence Agency and the German
Bundesnachrichtendienst [hereinafter “BND’], on January 21, 2020 the CCP threatened to cease
participation in all international COVID-19 efforts if the WHO declared a PHEIC.%?® While
making the PHEIC declaration, Dr. Tedros stated, “China is to be congratulated for the
extraordinary measures it has taken to contain the outbreak.”®*® The BND concluded that the
WHO’s delay in declaring the PHEIC wasted approximately four to six weeks of the potential
global response to the COVID-19 pandemic.®*°

The WHO Delayed and Denigrated Serious Countermeasures, Like Travel Restrictions,
Because of CCP Pressure

Despite declaring COVID-19 a PHEIC and extensive evidence of transmission through
travel, the WHO insisted other countries not restrict travel or trade to or from China.®*' On
January 31, 2020, President Trump came under intense criticism when he barred travel from
China; an order called “xenophobi[c]” by then Presidential candidate Biden.®*? As Dr. Fauci
testified on July 31, 2020, in comparison to the WHO’s inaction, President Trump’s decision to
restrict travel from China saved lives.

Dr. Anthony Fauci (July 31, 2020)

Q. Dr. Fauci, let me ask you about some of the decisions that you
worked with President Trump on and the whole team did. I know
when you go back to the beginning of this, the China ban was very
heavily discussed. Were you involved in working with President
Trump on deciding to ban flights from China?

Yes, sir, I was.
Do you agree with that decision?

I do.

e o P

Do you think that decision saved lives, Dr. Fauci?
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A. Yes, I do.®® ‘

Dr Fauci, however, could have quelled the unwarranted criticism that the travel
restrictions were xenophobic if he had forcefully and publicly supported President Trump’s
decision.

Between December 31—when cases were first reported—and January 31, more than
430,000 people were on direct flights from China to the U.S.%3* If the CCP had been more
transparent and the WHO acted with integrity, fewer COVID-19 cases would have entered the
U.S.

The WHO Continued to Praise CCP Failed Efforts to Combat the Pandemic, Despite a
Globally Recognized the Cover-Up

The WHO routinely praised the CCP’s efforts to combat the spread of COVID-19 despite
multiple reports that the CCP engaged in a massive disinformation campaign.®* According to a
U.S. intelligence community report, the CCP severely underreported both its total number of
cases and deaths caused by COVID-19.%¢ The CCP continually altered their reporting
methodology which, at different points, left out individuals who tested positive but were
asymptomatic—despite their ability to remain contagious.%” The CCP also gagged doctors and
journalists that attempted to speak the truth about the severity of COVID-19.%%8 Dr. Tedros said
the CCP should be “praised” for these manipulative tactics; tactics frowned upon worldwide.®*

The WHO Failed to Condemn the CCP’s Aggressive Tactics Against Whistleblowers,
Journalists, and Americans

The CCP is a known human rights offender, including by silencing or “disappearing”
dissenters, journalists, and researchers that go against the CCP’s narrative.

Dr. Ai Fen was the first Chinese doctor to receive a laboratory test of a possible SARS-
CoV type virus in Wuhan. Dr. Ai then sent the laboratory test results to a group of eight other
Chinese scientists, including Dr. Li Wenliang. These scientists expressed grave concern over the
test results and began warning others of the novel virus—later to be named COVID-19. As a
result, they were all harassed by CCP officials for “spreading rumors” regarding the novel
COVID-19 outbreak. %4
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On January 1, 2020, Dr. Ai ordered her staff to wear masks to combat the spread and was
immediately called in front of her hospital’s disciplinary board.®*! She was then accused of
“spreading rumors” and “damag[ing] the stability of Wuhan.”®*? The disciplinary board went
further and banned Dr. Ai and her staff from publicly discussing the virus.®* Unfortunately,
because of the CCP’s efforts to silence Dr. Ai, multiple members of her medical team became
sick and later died.

On January 3, 2020—four days after Dr. Li warned of a novel virus—he was forced to
sign a letter accusing him of “making false statements” that “severely disturbed the social order”
by the Wuhan Public Security Bureau.®** This punishment and the harassment of the seven other
doctors was publicly broadcast on CCP state media to deter any other whistle-blowers from
coming forward.®® Dr. Li was allowed to return to work but consequently contracted COVID-19
five days later, on February 7, died of complications from COVID-19.%46

On January 3, 2020, the CCP arrested eight people for “publishing or forwarding false
information without verification.”®¥’ The CCP then “issued a warning that anyone caught using
social media to share coronavirus information obtained from anywhere, but state-run media or
organizations would face between three and seven years in jail.”%4

Additionally, the CCP took the unprecedented step of expelling U.S. journalists reporting
on the beginnings of the COVID-19 pandemic from China.®*’ The CCP expelled at least 13
journalists, including correspondents from The New York Times, Wall Street Journal, and
Washington Post.®>°

Further, according to the FBI and the U.S. Cybersecurity and Infrastructure Security
Agency, the CCP instituted a cyber espionage campaign in an attempt to steal sensitive U.S.
research related to COVID-19 vaccines and treatments.®*! These attacks were a direct assault on
U.S. public health.

And finally, according to the CCP aligned Global Times, the CCP was considering
“punitive measures” against multiple state and federal U.S. lawmakers.®>? In an unprecedented
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and abhorrent step, the CCP said it will “strike back”™ at attempts from the U.S. government to
ascertain the origins of COVID-19 and go beyond sanctions to make U.S. lawmakers “feel
painful.”%>* For example, the Chinese Ambassador to the U.S. expressed its “grave concern”
regarding the Select Subcommittee’s investigation.®>* This is just another example of China and
the CCP obfuscating their wrongdoing during the beginnings of this pandemic.

Shockingly, the WHO has not acknowledged or supported the brave actions by these
scientists and reporters who blew the whistle against the oppressive CCP regime and warned the
world about this deadly pandemic. Instead of praising their efforts to save lives, the WHO
routinely promoted the CCP regime’s disinformation.

The WHO Posted False Information Regarding the Origins and Notification of COVID-
19°s Emergence

On April 9, 2020, Committee on Oversight and Reform Republicans wrote to Dr. Tedros
regarding the WHO’s failed response to the COVID-19 pandemic.®>> On June 15, 2020, more
than two months after receipt of the letter, Dr. Tedros provided a formal response.>® This
response was wholly incomplete and contained at least one false statement.®’

From as early as April 27, 2020, the WHO included a COVID-19 response timeline on its
public website.®>® This timeline originally stated that on December 31, 2019 the “Wuhan
Municipal Health Commission, China, reported a cluster of cases of pneumonia in Wuhan, Hubei
Province” to the WHO.% This is also what Dr. Tedros told the Committee in his June 15, 2020
letter and maintained on the WHO’s website until June 29, 2020.%%° On April 20, 2020, during a
virtual press conference, Dr. Tedros even said: “[t]he first report came from Wuhan, from China
itself.”601

However, the WHO chose to quietly contradict these claims by posting an “updated”
timeline to its official website.®®> Then, on June 30, 2020, the above reference was quietly
scrubbed from the website timeline. The timeline now states that the “WHO’s Country Office in
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the People’s Republic of China (PRC) picked up a media report...on cases of ‘viral pneumonia’
in Wuhan, PRC.”%® In actuality, the “media report” was information posted to a U.S. website
from doctors working at the epicenter of the pandemic.°** This revelation confirms that the CCP
failed to notify the WHO of the outbreak. This failure is a violation of the IHR for which the
CCP must be held accountable.®® By refusing to disclose the truth, the WHO made an
affirmative decision to shield the CCP from accountability.

FINDING: The Chinese Communist Party Violated Articles Six and Seven of the
International Health Regulations with No Repercussions.

The CCP violated IHR Articles Six and Seven and needs to be held accountable.

Article 6 of the IHR says that “[e]ach State Party shall notify WHO...within 24
hours...of all events which may constitute a public health emergency of international
concern.”% In order for an outbreak to require notification it must: (1) have serious public
health consequences, (2) be unusual or unexpected, (3) have risk of international spread, and (4)
pose significant risk to international trade.®” COVID-19 met all these criteria well before the
WHO was formally notified of the outbreak by China. Further, Article 7 of the IHR states that if
a “State Party has evidence of an unexpected or unusual public health event...it shall provide to
WHO all relevant public health information.”%®® The CCP failed to notify the WHO in a timely
manner and subsequently concealed valuable information—harming the global response and
leading to unnecessary illness and death.

According to reports from Hong Kong, the CCP identified cases of COVID-19 going all
the way back to November 17, 2019—more than a month before the WHO was publicly
notified.®®® On December 27, 2019, Dr. Zhang Jixian, a doctor with the Hubei Provincial
Hospital Integrated Chinese and Western Medicine, told CCP health authorities that the disease
was caused by a novel coronavirus—three days before the WHO was publicly notified.”
Doctors were ordered not to disclose any information about the unidentified virus to the
public.®’! This delay in public notification is in violation of Article 6 of the IHR and led to a
delay in global response.
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Additionally, Dr. John MacKenzie, WHO’s emergency committee adviser, admitted that
the WHO was “misled” about the outbreak.®”?> He stated by the time the CCP notified the WHO
on December 31, the CCP had already sequenced the virus genome—the first step to creating an
accurate test and developing medical countermeasures—but did not share the sequencing with
the WHO until January 12, in violation of Article 7 of the IHR.%7

This was confirmed by Dr. Farrar, in his book Spike: The Virus vs The People The Inside
Story, and Dr. Daszak in a transcribed interview before the Select Subcommittee.

Dr. Peter Daszak (November 14, 2023)

Q. Do you recall when China first officially reported what would
become COVID-19?

A. It was in early January, from my recollection. I mean, we heard
about it 18 earlier than that through unofticial channels.

Q. When did you first hear about it?

A. I think December the 30th or the 31st. It's a matter of record. I put
out a tweet, I think very late on the 31st, New Year's Eve. But I think
I heard about it the day before. And, you know, you hear about these
rumors all the time. "Oh, there's an outbreak here, there's an
outbreak there." Your first response is, well, verify, to quote Ronald
Reagan. So we managed to get hold of folks in China and ask what
they knew, what are these rumors. And we were told on the day
before New Year's Eve, to my recollection, that there was a new
coronavirus percent different to SARS, which was strangely
accurate information.

Okay. Do you recall when the genome was publicly released?

A. I think it was the 9th or the 12th of January.®’*

For potentially more than two weeks, the CCP held the key to the global response but
refused to share it.

The CCP intentionally delayed notification of COVID-19 and concealed important health
information in violation of Articles 6 and 7 of the IHR. These actions demonstrate the CCP’s
complete lack of respect for the global public health community.
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FINDING: The World Health Organization’s Report Regarding the Origins of COVID-19
Was Incomplete, Misleading, and Parroted Chinese Communist Party Propaganda.

Apart from the initial mismanagement of the virus, the WHO produced a report on the
origins of COVID-19 that did nothing but continue the CCP’s propaganda.®’> The WHO
attempted to organize an investigation into the origins of the virus, yet from the very beginning it
was evident the CCP was completely in control.

The “Terms of Reference for the China Part” [hereinafter “Terms of Reference] was a
document that laid the ground rules for the WHO’s investigation. These terms were inherently
flawed, provided significant discretion to the CCP, and continued to parrot CCP propaganda.5”®
Some examples included:

e Supporting CCP propaganda by stating the investigation would also evaluate the
“possibility the virus may have silently” started outside of Wuhan.

e Dodging responsibility by “build[ing] on existing information and augment, rather than
duplicate, ongoing [CCP]...efforts.”

e Phony scientific independence by giving the CCP final right of refusal on the
“composition of the international team.”%”’

With these restrictions baked into the Terms of Reference, it was near impossible for any review
of the origins of COVID-19 conducted by the WHO to bear fruit.

In January 2021, an international team traveled to Wuhan, China to review evidence of
when and how the virus might have emerged.®’® In March 2021, the WHO team released a
report, entitled “WHO-Convened Global Study of Origins of SARS-CoV-2: China Part,”
[hereinafter “WHO Report™] outlining four possible origin scenarios:

1) “direct zoonotic spillover is considered to be a possible-to-likely pathway;

2) introduction through an intermediate host is considered to be a likely to very likely
pathway;

3) introduction through cold/food chain products is considered a possible pathway; [and]
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4) introduction through a laboratory incident was considered to be an extremely unlikely
pathway.”¢”"

Yet, many, including the U.S., U.K., Australia and Canada, sharply criticized the WHO
Report.%® Experts stated the scientists weren’t provided with access to complete, original data
and samples; full access to interviews; and access to any and all laboratories they wished to
tour.®®! Even members of the WHO team stated the report was not adequate. Dr. Ben Embarek, a
WHO expert who led the WHO mission to Wuhan, reiterated there were areas his team had
difficulty getting down to the raw data in China, adding that the data would need to be
reexamined in the next phase of the study.®®? He also stated the report “only scratched the
surface,” of their understandings of the origins of COVID-19.%%3

Prominent U.S. public health officials, such as Dr. Fauci, publicly denounced the report.
In March 2021, on Face The Nation, Dr. Fauci stated, “[t]here was a lot of restrictions on the
ability of the people who went there to really take a look...[I] have some considerable concerns
about that.”® Further senior officials, including President Biden’s Secretary of State Mr. Antony
Blinken, similarly criticized it stating, “[w]e’ve got real concerns about the methodology and the
process that went into that report, including the fact that the government in Beijing apparently
helped to write it.”%>

It is no surprise the WHO Report did not receive a glowing reception from the global
stage. To begin with, one of the conditions the CCP demanded in allowing the investigation to
take place at all, was that they had full veto power over the inclusion of American scientists.®¢
HHS submitted three expert candidates: a virologist who works on viruses that require study in
high-security laboratories; a senior veterinarian; and a medical epidemiologist leading a program
in global health studies.®®” All three were denied.

The only American on the WHO’s team was Dr. Daszak, who prominent scientists
acknowledged has significant conflicts of interest, due in part to his work with the WIV—the
very laboratory the WHO group was supposed to be investigating.

Dr. Ian Lipkin (Apr. 6, 2023)

Q. The team was comprised of 17 international scientists and 17
Chinese scientists. There is only one American. It was Dr. Daszak
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of EcoHealth Alliance. Do you think Dr. Daszak has conflicts of
interest regarding the search for origins of COVID 19?

A. I do.
Why?

A. Because he was — because he had ran an active research program at
WIV. 88

Dr. Anthony Fauci (Jan. 9, 2024)

Q. I'm going to ask your opinion now. He has obviously been
intertwined with the Wuhan Institute for a long time, has made
numerous public statements, has now -- over the past 3 years, we've
seen numerous compliance issues with his grants. Do you think that
he has a conflict of interest in investigating the origins question?

A. I believe that he could've saved himself a lot of trouble if he did.
If he did disclose a conflict of interest?

A. Yeah, yeah, because he's obviously received a lot of flak about that
and had doubts about his credibility on that. I think, retrospectively,

thinking about it, he probably would've said it would have been a
better idea to do.®®

A significant restriction, was the CCP’s complete control over every single aspect of the
investigation team’s itinerary and access to information. Upon arriving in Wuhan, the WHO team
quarantined for two weeks in hotel rooms and were further restricted to certain areas of the hotel
after quarantining.®° The investigators were restricted from dining with their Chinese
counterparts, a seemingly insignificant detail, yet denied the WHO team the opportunity to
engage in informal, human-to-human, conversation that can provide invaluable information.®!

In Wuhan, Chinese scientists stated they had reviewed the medical records of
approximately 76,000 patients from more than 200 medical institutions.®*> When the WHO team
requested raw numbers and data, Chinese scientists only presented analysis.®>* Of the 76,000
medical records examined, 92 patients from October, November, and early December 2019
curiously showed symptoms suggesting COVID-19, yet none tested positive for antibodies
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according to medical records.’** The WHO team was not allowed to review any raw data or
conduct their own analysis.®"

The WHO Report’s conclusion included four hypotheses: that the virus jumped directly
from animal to human; it spread via some (one not identified) intermediate animal; it was
transmitted via the food chain, especially frozen products; or it came from a laboratory.®”® These
were concluded via a show of hands, in a room with Chinese counterparts—many of whom
report directly to the CCP—that had already ruled out a lab accident and suggested the pandemic
started somewhere outside of China.®®” The theory that the virus came from a lab was voted as
“extremely unlikely” and wasn’t recommended for further research.®®

This was very clearly not a thorough, complete, or impartial investigation. The CCP
Ministry of Foreign Affairs even admitted, “China firmly opposes certain countries’ attempts
to...hold China accountable.”®®® Yet, even though the rest of the world understands this report is
a sham, the CCP presents it as the definitive assessment concerning the origins of COVID-19. So
much so, the Chinese Ambassador to the U.S. sent the Select Subcommittee a letter attempting to
obstruct the Select Subcommittee’s investigation into the origins of COVID-19, citing to the
WHO origins report.”®
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Fram: 1 %]
Sant: Friday, Apr

14, 203 2:15 AR

Sulect:

vear

| am Counselor Li Xiang with the Chinese Embassy in the US. |
am reaching cut to express our grave concern regarding

the COVID-19 Origins hearing to be chaired

by Congressman Wenstrupon next Tuesday. According ta the
announcement, the hearing is to examine “China's complicity

in the COVID=-19" crisis and hold China accountable. We firmby

oppose it. and | would like to share with you our perspectives
on this issue.

First of all, the origins-tracing is a complex matter of science.
This study should be and can only be conducted jointly by
scientists. Intelligence community, which is highly political in
nature, cannot possibly produce anything objective or credible
on such professional matter. We oppose “political tracing” or
“intelligence tracing”. We oppose any attempt to lable China
esp. Wuhan as the origin of the vinus before any concrete
evidence is presented and conclusion is drawn collectively by
the scientists all over the world. We oppose any political
manuvewr such as "verdict first, then comes trial™.

Second, China values life and public health cause around the
globe and is always ready to cooperate with other countries
on origin tracing. “A laboratory arigin of the pandemic was
considered to be extremely unlikely” is a stience-based,
authoritative conclusion reached by the experts of the WHO-
China joint mission after field trips to the lab in Wuhan and in-
depth communication with researchers in 2021. It was
accurately recorded in the mission's report and has

received extensive recognition from the international
community and the science community.

Third, the hearing just demonstrates that the U% is

goimg further and further down the wrong path. To simply
blame others or find a scapegoat for its cwn failure and
incompetence is the easiest thing to do, but it is neither
responsible for the past nor helpful for the future.

We call on the U5 side to respect science and facts, refrain

from targeting China in holding the above-mentioned
hearings, and put a stop to the intelligence-led, politics-driven
origins-tracing, and help promote international solidarity
against the pandemic and global cooperation on science-
based origins-tracing.

| book forward to having an in-depth discussion with you on
COWID-19 or any other issue of mutual concern at any time.

Ll Xiang

Counsellor

Emibassy of China in the UISA

Tel:

Address: 3505 International Place MW, Washingbon D 20008

Page 186 of 520




FINDING: The World Health Organization’s Draft “Pandemic Treaty” Does Not Solve the
Organization’s Underlying Problems and May Affirmatively Harm the United
States.

Unlike the World Trade Organization, the WHO has no real authority to sanction or
otherwise pressure its Member-States. As Lancet editor Dr. Richard Horton said, “[tlhe WHO
has been drained of its power and resources. Its coordinating authority and capacity are weak. Its
ability to direct an international response to a life-threatening epidemic is non-existent.”’*! The
only authority WHO leadership must enforce compliance is via public pressure. Illustrative of
this point, when asked to name the countries who had “alarming levels of inaction,” Dr. Mike
Ryan, WHO’s head of COVID-19 response, stated, “[y]Jou know who you are, we don’t criticize
our member states in public.”’%?

The COVID-19 pandemic was the worst global public health emergency since the
inception of the WHO in 1948 and it further exposed the severe limitations of the IHR and the
institutional limits of the WHO. The IHR is designed to achieve a higher level of global health
security, but in the face of COVID-19, the IHR did not properly perform its management or
supervision.’%

Responding to the many calls of Member-States to strengthen the framework for future
pandemics, a rare special session of the WHA convened in November 2021.7%* There, Member-
States agreed “to establish...an intergovernmental negotiating body open to all Member States
and Associate Members to draft and negotiate a WHO convention, agreement or other
international instrument on pandemic prevention, preparedness and response.”’%

As of September 20, 2024, there was not a completed, presentable draft of a Pandemic
Treaty.”% As of the draft dated March 13, 2024, the overall goal of the Pandemic Treaty is to
help “prevent, prepare for and respond to pandemics.”’"” The provisions (still being negotiated)
included definitions and principles, aspirational goals for improving pandemic preparedness and
response capacities, and supply chain and logistics.”®® Some of the more contested and debated
provisions include financing for pandemic preparedness and response, pathogen access and
benefit sharing, intellectual property rights, technology transfer, and research and development
for pandemic-related products.’®
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The Pandemic Treaty does not address the weaknesses of the IHR. The WHO’s refusal to
hold the CCP accountable for violating the IHR is a major issue in protecting global public
health.

Furthermore, there are specific U.S. concerns regarding enactment of any potential
Pandemic Treaty. Throughout the ongoing negotiations, there have been questions about the
transparency of the negotiations. There have been multiple closed-door negotiations resulting in
large edits that are then presented to all Member-States. Further, it is not clear if this treaty will
be ratified through the U.S. Senate or not. If the U.S. determines to enact a Pandemic Treaty, it
must go through the required Senate approval process.

While a new pandemic, prevention, preparedness, and response treaty seems like a good
idea in theory, on paper it falls short. The draft does little to address any of the shortfalls revealed
in COVID-19. The WHO needs to be an organization that represents and protects the entire
world. That requires a system of trust from both the Member-States to report and the WHO to
protect, which proved not to be the case during the pandemic. Accordingly, Ambassador
Nkengasong testified:

The Honorable John Nkengasong (December 13, 2023)

We fully agree with your opening remarks about the trust capital that is
required to [deal] with global disease threats, and that comes with the ability
to be fully transparent, to be accountable, to report in a timely fashion, and
also to cooperate, and all of these elements were lacking in China’s ability
to cooperate with WHO and the world. And when you have a fast-moving
respiratory disease like COVID, all of these elements are very important for
the global health security.

I think the burden is still on China, that for the past 3 years China has not
been forthcoming the way it should be in working with WHO, working with
us directly so that we just understand what the origin is of the virus is so
that it can better prepare us for the future. As we have all said, it is a matter
of time before we are faced with another threat, yes, so I think I fully agree
with you that we need to build a trusting relationship that will enable us to
be able to respond in a very timely fashion.”'

710 Reforming the WHO: Ensuring Global Health Security and Accountability: Hearing Before Select Subcomm. on
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II. The Strategic National Stockpile Was Not Prepared to Address a Nationwide Viral
Pandemic

The SNS is the U.S. stockpile of pharmaceutical drugs, medical products, and ancillary
supplies.”!! Deployed at the discretion of the Secretary of HHS, these supplies supplement
medical countermeasures needed by states, tribal nations, territories, and the largest metropolitan
areas during public health emergencies.”'? Congress mandated the SNS in 1999, and since then it
has provided resources during hurricanes, floods, bioterror events, and infectious disease
outbreaks, including of course the COVID-19 pandemic.”'?

The SNS is a network of strategically placed, not publicly known, storehouses designed
to supplement and resupply resources in a timely response to state and local public health
agencies in the event of an emergency at anywhere and anytime within the U.S.”'* The SNS’
purpose and task is to deliver medical supplies to communities within 12 hours of the decision to
deploy the stockpile.’!?

In its current form, the mission of the SNS is to “provide for the emergency health
security of the United States...in the event of a bioterrorist attack or other public health
emergencies.”’!® Between Fiscal Years (FY) 2015 and 2021, three-quarters of the non-COVID-
19 supplies and budget were allocated to fighting just two threats: smallpox and anthrax.”!’

HHS provides a 24/7, 365 emergency contact for senior government officials to call when
an emergency arises. Within approximately 15 minutes, SNS leadership, subject matter experts,
and other federal agencies either gather for a conference call or direct the requestor to the
appropriate technical experts.”'® The Office of the Assistant Secretary for Preparedness and
Response [hereinafter “ASPR”] evaluates the request to see if it can be completely, partially, or
not fulfilled.”"” SNS may be deployed in incidents of varying scope and size, at the request of
state, local, tribal, and territorial [hereinafter “SLTT”] health jurisdictions, or may be
prepositioned for events of national security significance at the discretion of the HHS Secretary.

However, the SNS was not created nor designed to respond to a national, or truly global
emergency, like the COVID-19 pandemic. It was designed to be a stopgap for local medical

1142 U.S.C. §247d-6b.

"2 Strategic National Stockpile, ADMINI. FOR STRATEGIC PREPAREDNESS & RESPONSE, available at
https://aspr.hhs.gov/SNS/Pages/default.aspx.

713 Id. (The SNS was originally named the National Pharmaceutical Stockpile (NPS) and under the direction of the
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC)).

714 Todd Kuiken & Frant Gottron, CONG. RESEARCH SERV., R47400, The Strategic National Stockpile: Overview and
Issues for Congress (updated Sept. 26, 2023) [hereinafter “The Strategic National Stockpile: Overview and Issues
for Congress™].

"5 Stockpile Response, ADMIN. FOR STRATEGIC PREPAREDNESS & RESPONSE, available at
https://aspr.hhs.gov/SNS/Pages/Stockpile-Responses.aspx.

716 Public Health Security and Bioterrorism Preparedness and Response Act of 2002, P.L. 107-188 (In response to
the September 11, 2011 terrorist and anthrax attacks, Congress enacted the Public Health Security and Bioterrorism
Preparedness Response Act of 2002 which formally changed the name to the SNS and expanded the role to its
current capabilities.).

717 The Strategic National Stockpile: Overview and Issues for Congress, supra note 714.

718 Strategic National Stockpile, supra note 712.

19 The Strategic National Stockpile: Overview and Issues for Congress, supra note 714.
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countermeasures and biohazard events. The SNS generally maintains a broad range of
medications such as antibiotics, antidotes, and antitoxins, as well as equipment and ancillary
supplies such as PPE and surgical equipment.’?® There are also CHEMPACKSs, Federal Medical
Stations, and push packages.”?!

The Secretary of the HHS is required to:

[M]aintain a stockpile or stockpiles of drugs, vaccines and other biological
products, medical devices, and other supplies (including personal protective
equipment, ancillary medical supplies, and other applicable supplies
required for the administration of drugs, vaccines and other biological
products, medical devices, and diagnostic tests in the stockpile) in such
numbers, types, and amounts as are determined ... to be appropriate and
practicable, taking into account other available sources, to provide for and
optimize the emergency health security of the United States, including the
emergency health security of children and other vulnerable populations, in
the event of a bioterrorist attack or other public health emergency and ...
make necessary additions or modifications to the contents of such stockpile
or stockpiles.”??

Determining what supplies are “appropriate and practicable” is tenuous because the SNS
needs to be prepared for any number of emergencies that could arise at any moment across the
entire U.S. The Secretary defines “appropriate and practicable” within the context of the finite
resources SNS is realistically able to provide. It would be impossible for the SNS to predict
which supplies and how many would be needed for an emergency that hasn’t occurred. Yet, as
discussed above, there is generally a large range of items at each site.

Again, the SNS was not created to be the only source of emergency medical
countermeasures in the time of a crisis. However, it is the nation’s foremost supply of emergency
medical countermeasures. The COVID-19 pandemic showed there were areas of weakness,
particularly surrounding the states’ lack of individual stockpiles.

FINDING: Dating Back to the Obama Administration, the Strategic National Stockpile Was
Not Prepared for a National Public Health Emergency.

The COVID-19 pandemic placed the SNS in the eye of the storm and shook it to its core.
While the SNS delivered on some aspects, the pandemic highlighted weaknesses and areas
needed for improvement.

720 [d

2! Id. (CHEMPACKS are containers of nerve agent antidotes that can be used to treat exposure to a chemical
incident, even with an unknown agent. More than 90 percent of the U.S. population is within one hour of a
CHEMPACK location; FMS are quickly deployable caches with medical and pharmaceutical resources that can turn
a pre-identified building into a temporary medical shelter during a national emergency; Push packages are
prepackaged, transport-ready containers that can be delivered to an area anywhere in the U.S. within twelve hours of
the decision to deploy.).

72242 U.S.C. §247d-6b.
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One such area is the content review process for the SNS. The HHS Secretary is required
to annually review the contents of the stockpile to confirm it is relevant to current threats in
public health security.”? To aid in this review, the Secretary works “in consultation with the
Public Health Emergency Medical Countermeasure Enterprise [hereinafter “PHEMCE”].”7?* The
PHEMCE is an interagency group that identifies public health security needs and makes
recommendations to the Secretary regarding “research, advanced research, development,
procurement, stockpiling, deployment, distribution, and utilization” of medical countermeasures,
including the contents and use of the SNS.”7%

The SNS is in the unique and precarious position of maintaining a large national stockpile
for multiple low-probability, but high-consequence, threats while also managing the ability to
rapidly respond to novel threats and other emergencies. The stockpile is equipped with enough
smallpox vaccines for a national emergency, but going into the COVID-19 pandemic, the SNS
was not adequately stocked with some essential assets.”?

In 2009 the SNS responded to the HIN1 influenza outbreak and depleted its resources of
PPE."?” Even knowing a resource such as PPE will always be relevant and valuable to any type

of emergency, the Obama Administration repeatedly prioritized replenishing the stockpile with
other resources. During the COVID-19 crisis, ASPR and DOD awarded contracts in 2020 and

2021 to allow the SNS to significantly increase the amount of PPE and ventilators inventory.’?
. _________________________________________________ ________________________________]
Table 3: Strategic National Stockpile (SNS) Inventory of Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) and Ventilators from December
2019 to February 2022

PPE and Dec. 2019 Oct 2020 Feb. 2021 Feb. 2022 90-day inventory
ventilators inventory on hand inventory on hand inventory on inventory on hand goal® (in millions)
(in millions) (in millions) hand (in millions) (in millions)

Gloves 16.9 20 227.0 4,300.0 4.500.0
M35 respirators 12.6 107.0 307.0 626.0 300.0
Surgical or 30.8 157.0 411.0 412.0 400.0
procedural masks

Gowns or coveralls 4.8 1.0 65.8 79.0 265.0
Eye protection or 5.8 19.0 17.6 19.5 18.0
face shields

Ventilators 0.019 0.150 0.152 0.158 0.168
‘Sowrce: Data from the Office of the Assistanl Seaelary for Preparedness and Response (ASPR) within the Degariment of Health and Human Services | GAOD-25-106210

The SNS is the nation’s largest repository of emergency medical supplies, including PPE,
yet there was a national shortage of masks, PPE, and ventilators in the early days of the COVID-

72342 U.S.C. §247d-6b(a)(2).

724 [d

72542 U.S.C. §300hh-10a.

726 The Strategic National Stockpile: Overview and Issues for Congress, supra note 714.

727 [d

728 GAO, GAO-23-106210, PUBLIC HEALTH PREPAREDNESS: HHS SHOULD ADDRESS STRATEGIC NATIONAL
STOCKPILE REQUIREMENTS AND INVENTORY RISKS (Oct. 2022).
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19 pandemic. "* In April 2020, the stores at the SNS were nearly depleted.”® While it is vital to
note the SNS is not designed to supply the entire country with supplies, starting the pandemic in
the negative hindered the nation’s response.

FINDING: States Must Mainatain Their Own Stockpile of Emergency Medical Supplies.

The SNS was established to ensure SLTTs had the adequate number of supplies in the
face of a fast-moving emergency as a “short-term, stopgap buffer when the immediate supply of
these materials may not be available or sufficient.”’®! It was not established to, or even capable
of, responding to a national crisis. During the COVID-19 pandemic, states overwhelmingly
requested assets from the SNS at a rate the SNS could not provide.

Currently, states are not required to maintain their own stockpile of medical and ancillary
equipment.’? As every state learned during the pandemic, stockpiling ensures resources are
available for a swift and efficient response without relying on the federal government. Strategic
localized stockpiling can be the difference between a well-coordinated response, and a chaotic
one with a potential lack of resources due to national shortages.

State-maintained stockpiles would ensure states could deploy resources at a faster
timeline and have guaranteed access to assets. The SNS was not able to evenly distribute
supplies across all 50 states.”** Having the capability to be a stop-gap for multiple emergencies,
does not mean the SNS was ever prepared to equip, ever jurisdiction, in every single state, at the
same time.”** A statewide stockpile would protect individuals at a much higher rate, because
local leadership would be able to provide individuals with the necessary equipment
immediately.”*

Localized stockpiles would also allow states to further prepare for emergencies by
tailoring the stockpiles to unique needs. The SNS is a “catch-all” program that help prepare for a
broad range of problems.”*® For example, the SNS has measures against smallpox and anthrax,
but not necessarily equipment to help a jurisdiction with a local disaster, such as a hurricane or
earthquake, or forest fire.”*’

72 Strategic National Stockpile, supra note 712.

730 Nick Miroff, Protective gear in national stockpile is nearly depleted, DHS officials say, THE WASH. POST (Apr. 1,
2020).

31 Center for the Strategic National Stockpile, ADMIN. FOR STRATEGIC PREPAREDNESS & RESPONSE, available at
https://aspr.hhs.gov/SNS/Pages/default.aspx.

732 The Strategic National Stockpile: Overview and Issues for Congress, supra note 714.

733 See generally, Amy Goldstein, et al., Desperate for medical equipment, states encounter a beleaguered national
stockpile, THE WASH. POST (Mar. 28, 2020).

734 Id.

735 Id.

736 The Strategic National Stockpile: Overview and Issues for Congress, supra note 714.

737 Id.
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The state stockpile is beneficial and necessary because it would help alleviate the burden
of the SNS to provide for the states, allowing the SNS to fulfill its mission statement and work to
prepare and respond to emergencies to protect the health of Americans.”®

The long-term sustainability of the SNS requires a balance of the scope and purpose of
the stockpile with the provided resources. The SNS must evaluate its needs and goals with future
needs and goals. The burden of this would be lifted if states established and maintained their own
stockpiles to respond to emergencies.

738 Center for the Strategic National Stockpile, supra note 731.
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III.  The United States’ Unsecure Supply Chain Risks a Future Failed Pandemic
Response

The COVID-19 pandemic profoundly impacted the global and national supply chains,
particularly exposing vulnerabilities in the critical areas of medical supplies and pharmaceuticals.
As the virus spread, unprecedented disruptions in the manufacturing, transportation, and
distribution of supplies greatly affected how people were cared for during the pandemic.

The COVID-19 pandemic dramatically increased demand for many common consumer
items and most Americans were stuck at home and turned to e-commerce for all their shopping
needs.” This surge in demand for goods, when supplies were limited due to pandemic-related
shortages and shutdowns, caused a ripple effect throughout the supply chain.’*® Ports across the
world, but particularly in Southern California, grew congested to the point of inoperability.”!

While no country was prepared for the pandemic, or its second-order effects, the
vulnerability of the U.S. medical and pharmaceutical industry was unacceptable due to its
significant reliance on imported finished products or resources needed to manufacture products
here. COVID-19 revealed that the U.S. must make its medical and pharmaceutical supply chains
more resilient, increase domestic production to curtail crippling regulations and other production
roadblocks and avoid being in a position of being “cut off” by a catastrophic event, such as the
COVID-19 pandemic, or geopolitical instability. This is attainable and can be fixed by ensuring
U.S. companies communicate with the FDA more efficiently and establishing a system where
companies are able to quickly adjust their manufacture goods.

However, there were some bright spots that, while not a dramatic change in the supply
chain distribution, exhibited the American “can do” spirit and adaptability of U.S. companies in
times of crisis. General Motors partnered with Ventec Life Systems and retooled its plant in
Kokomo, Indiana to build ventilators for hospitals in short supply.’** The Bacardi plant in Puerto
Rico, one of the largest rum distilleries in the world, tweaked its production line to pump ethanol
needed for hand sanitizer rather than distilled spirits.”* Olein Refinery used Bacardi alcohol to
make more than 1.7 million, 10-ounce bottles of hand sanitizer.”** Burton Snowboards, a
Burlington, Vermont based snowboard maker, shifted production to disposable face shields and
reusable brims for health care workers.”*

That small sample of business that were able to quickly shift gears and assist the overall
U.S. supply chain are examples of what can be done to help bolster a disrupted global supply

739 Alicia Wallace, Covid broke supply chains. Now on the mend, can they withstand another shock?, CNN (Jan. 16,
2023).

740 14

741 Matt Egan, $24 billion in goods is floating outside California’s biggest ports, CNN (Oct. 25, 2021).

742 Vanessa Yurkevich & Peter Valdes-Dapena, GM prepares to ship first round of ventilators, CCN (Apr. 14, 2020).
3 Jim Wyss, Rum to the rescue? How Bacardi is tweaking production to fight the coronavirus, MIAMI HERALD
(Mar. 24, 2020).

44 Bacardi Helps Produce Hand Sanitizers With Change in Production, BACARDI LIMITED (Mar. 19, 2020).

745 Megan Cerullo, How companies pivoted from making dresses, snowboards and whisky to face masks, gloves and
sanitizer, CBS NEWS (Mar. 10, 2021).
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chain. The logistics for these companies went well, especially for how fast the turnaround was.
However, a defined and ready plan of action would allow for a flawless execution of change.

FINDING: The United States Must Reduce Its Reliance on Other Countries, Particularly
China, for Pharmaceuticals and Medical Supplies.

The shortage of pharmaceutical and medical supplies during the pandemic fully exposed
the U.S.” dependences on China.

The medical and pharmaceutical industries are ones of particular concern for the U.S.
supply chain. Many of the medications taken by Americans are manufactured overseas. But
further, the active ingredients in these medications, the chemical compounds used to make them,
are overwhelmingly made in China.”® So much so that the supply has been described as China
having “a global choke hold” on the chemical components of medicines distributed
worldwide.™’

The complex nature of the drug supply chain keeps consumers, hospitals, and even the
FDA completely unaware of the variety of types and volumes of pharmaceutical ingredients that
come from China or other foreign countries. In October 2019, before the Subcommittee on
Health of the House Committee on Energy and Commerce, Dr. Woodcock testified that the FDA:

Dr. Janet Woodcock (October 29, 2019)

[Clannot determine with any precision the volume of [active
pharmaceutical ingredients] that China is actually producing, or the volume
of APIs manufactured in China that is entering the U.S. market, either
directly or indirectly by incorporation into finished dosages manufactured
in China or other parts of the world.”*®

In 2018, China accounted for 95 percent of U.S. imports of ibuprofen, 91 percent imports
of hydrocortisone, approximately 40 percent of penicillin, and 70 percent of acetaminophen.’®

This issue was only exasperated by the COVID-19 pandemic. During the early days of
the virus, there were certain pharmacies in New York City that could not stock any brand of any
simple over-the-counter painkiller, for weeks.”*°

746 Laurie McGinley & Carolyn Y. Johnson, Coronavirus raises fears of U.S. drug supply disruptions, THE WASH.
PosT (Feb. 26, 2020).

747 Rosemary Gibson & Janardan Prasad Singh, China Rx: Exposing the Risks of America's Dependence on China
for Medicine (Prometheus, 2018).

748 Safeguarding Pharmaceutical Supply Chains in a Global Economy: Hearing Before Subcomm on Health, House
Comm. on Energy and Commerce, 116" Cong. (Oct. 29, 2019) (statement by Dr. Janet Woodcock, Dir., Center for
Drug Evaluation and Research).

7 Doug Palmer & Finbarr Bermingham, U.S. policymakers worry about China ‘weaponizing’ drug exports,
PoLitico (Dec. 20, 2019, updated Apr. 10, 2020).

730 Chuin-Wei Yap, Pandemic Lays Bare U.S. Reliance on China for Drugs, THE WALL STREET JOURNAL (Aug. 5,
2020).
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Another issue with the modern supply chain is that many manufacturers have suppliers
and subcontractors that utilize specialized technology that can limit where products are made, or
the alternative that all supplies are made in one place. One example of this is a group of
chemicals known as nucleoside phosphonamidites and the additional associate reagents used to
create DNA and RNA sequences.’! All companies that develop DNA or mRNA based COVID-
19 vaccines and DNA-based drug therapies rely on these reagents.”>?> However, many of the key
precursor materials for the vaccines and drugs are solely produced in South Korea and China.”?

On the medical supply side, the Hubei Province in China is the global hub for producing
protective-medical gear.”* Hubei Province is where the virus first emerged in the city of Wuhan.
Wuhan was almost completely locked down for many months during the early parts of the
pandemic, leaving the U.S. in the tenuous position of relying on current inventories of medical
supplies knowing that the primary manufacturer of those supplies may be out of commission for
some time.

While undoubtedly, the dependence on China and other foreign nations in the supply
chain must be addressed, there are several actions U.S. companies should adopt to help address
market issues.

Dr. Marston articulated how the COVID-19 pandemic underscored how fragile and vital
the supply chain is and discussed steps the FDA can take to improve the ability to provide
supplies and mitigate shortages.”>> One major change that must be addressed is the lack of
reporting requirement from companies to the FDA when they experience a rise in demand that
they are not able to keep up with.”*® An example of this is in 2022 when a surge of influenza and
respiratory viruses in children created an abnormally high demand for mainstay medicines.””’
Many parents had to go to multiple stores to find any form of pain or fever reducer.”®

Another change, that will not only strengthen the U.S. supply chain but protect the safety
and health of Americans, will be requiring drug companies to supply more detailed labels for
their products. Currently, drug labels from U.S. companies are not required to identify the
original manufacturer or specify reliance on different manufactures for APIs for the produced
drugs.” Additionally, drug labels do not include the original manufacturer of limited high-risk

' Willy C. Shih, Global Supply Chains in a Post-Pandemic World, HARVARD BUSINESS REVIEW (Sept.-Oct. 2020).
752 Id.

753 14

754 Melanie Evans & Drew Hinshaw, Masks Run Short as Coronavirus Spreads, THE WALL STREET JOURNAL (Feb.
27, 2020).

735 Preparing for the Next Pandemic, supra note 230 (Statement or Dr. Marston, Chief Medical Dir., U.S. Food and
Drug Admin.).

756 [d

757 Brenda Goodman & Raenu Charles, Meds for kids with pain and fever are in high demand. Here'’s what to do if
you can t find them, CNN (Dec. 9, 2022).

758 Id.

739 Preparing for the Next Pandemic, supra note 230 (Statement or Dr. Marston, Chief Medical Dir., U.S. Food and
Drug Admin.).
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excipients, along with API and finished drug product. Providing this information could help
mitigate supply impacts, enhance national security, and improve public health preparedness.’®

Finally, Dr. Marston, testified that medical-device manufacturers are not required to alert
the FDA about a supply chain disruption outside of a public-health emergency.’®' She used the
painful, real-life example of a tornado taking out a factory.’®? She stated that the FDA might
know about it and see it on the news and call the manufacturers itself, but the manufacturer does
not have to alert the FDA that there may be a disruption in the supply chain because of an event
outside of a public health emergency.’®

The U.S.’s current dependence on China for medicine and medical supplies is a serious
national security risk. This over-reliance could easily be weaponized against us. The supply
chain vulnerability was not a new problem, but one that was laid bare during the COVID-19
pandemic.

760 Mary Van Beusekom, Report details where top 100 brand-name Rx drugs are made, CIDRAP NEWS (Jan. 26,
2022).

761 761 Preparing for the Next Pandemic, supra note 230 (Statement or Dr. Marston, Chief Medical Dir., U.S. Food
and Drug Admin.).

762 Id.

763 Id.
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IV.  The Six-Foot Social Distancing Requirement Was Not Supported by Science

Social distancing was one of the most consequential policies of the COVID-19 pandemic.
Social distancing is the practice of intentionally maintaining a physical space between yourself
and other people. On March 22, 2020, the CDC issued guidance specifically designating six feet,
or two arm’s length, as the distance that would best reduce the spread of the coronavirus.’®*

(&)1 @] Centers for Disease Conitrol and Prevention

Pl COC 247 Saving Lives, Profecting People™

Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19)

Social Distancing

Keep a safe Distance to Slow the Spread.

Updlated |uly & 2020 Print

Limiting close face-to-face contact with others is the best way to reduce the spread of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-
19).

What is social distancing?

Social distancing, also called "physical
distancing,” means keeping a safe space
between yourself and other people who are
not from your household.

To practice social or physical distancing, stay
at least 6 feet (about 2 arms’ length) from
other people who are not from your
househaold in both indoor and outdoor
spaces.

Social distancing should be practiced in
combination with other everyday preventive
actions to reduce the spread of COVID-19,
including wearing cloth face coverings,
avoiding touching your face with unwashed hands, and frequently washing your hands with soap and water for at least
20 seconds.

Governments at every level and private entities implemented social distancing nationwide
in manner that adversely impacted nearly every person in the country. Small businesses limited
the capacity of patrons allowed in the shop at one time, grocery stores placed stickers on the
floor alerting people where to stand, and schools struggled to reopen because the rule limited the
number of desks that could be in a classroom at one time.

FINDING: There Was No Quantitative Scientific Support for Six Feet of Social Distancing.

Six feet of social distancing was a phrase and rule known by every single American
during the pandemic. Amazingly, social distancing guidance was not revised until August
2022.7%5 Even though it was CDC guidance and not a mandate, it was forcefully implemented by

7% Social distancing: keep a safe distance to slow the spread, U.S. CTR. FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION
(July 6, 2020).

765 Dan Diamond, In the pandemic, we were told to keep 6 feet apart. There's no science to support that, THE WASH.
PoOST (June 2, 2024).
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state and local governments and caused lots of strife amongst Americans.’®® Social distancing
requirements were largely responsible for closing businesses, heightening a sense in loss of
community, and were part of the reasoning schools could not reopen for so long.”®’

While six feet of social distancing was a cornerstone policy associated with the COVID-
19 pandemic, like many others that were implemented, public health leadership did not articulate
or explain the science behind the decision.

Dr. Fauci testified regarding what studies he, and the CDC, reviewed before imposing
such a harsh policy on the American people, for such a length of time.

Dr. Anthony Fauci (January 9, 2023)

Q. Do you recall when discussions regarding, kind of, the at least a 6
foot threshold began?

A. The 6 foot in the school?

Q. Six foot overall. I mean, 6 foot was applied at businesses...it was
applied in schools, it was applied here. At least how the messaging
was applied was that 6-foot distancing was the distance that needed
to be --

A. You know, I don't recall. It sort of just appeared. I don't recall, like,
a discussion of whether it should be 5 or 6 or whatever. It was just
that 6 foot is
Did you see any studies that supported 6 feet?

A. I was not aware of studies that, in fact, that would be a very difficult
study to do.

I know. I'm just trying to figure out why 6 versus 3 or 4 or 5.

A. Yeah. Yeah...I think it would fall under the category of empiric.
Just an empiric decision that wasn't based on data or even data that
could be accomplished. But I'm thinking hard as I'm talking to you.
Uh huh.

A. I don't recall, like, a discussion of, "Now it's going to be" it sort of
just appeared, that 6 feet is going to be the distance.”®®

766 Kevin Sikali, The dangers of social distancing: How COVID-19 can reshape our social experience, JOURNAL OF
COMMUNITY PSYCHOLOGY (Aug. 16, 2020).

767 Id.

768 Fauci TI 2, supra note 81, at 183-184.
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Dr. Collins testified:

Dr. Francis Collins (January 11, 2023)

Q. ...We asked Dr. Fauci where the six feet came from and he said it
kind of just appeared, is the quote. Do you recall science or evidence
that supported the six-foot distance?

A. I do not.

Q. Is that I do not recall or I do not see any evidence supporting six
feet?

A. I did not see evidence, but I'm not sure I would have been shown

evidence at that point.

Q. Okay.
A. I was not involved in that conversation.
Q. Since then, it has been an awfully large topic. Have you seen any

evidence since then supporting six feet?

A. No.’®

In June 2024, at a public hearing, Dr. Fauci continued to articulate that the six-foot rule
for social distancing was not supported by quality scientific standards. He additionally attempted
to further distance himself from the issue by stating the decision making of this policy
implementation was the responsibility of the CDC.

Dr. Anthony Fauci (June 3, 2024)

You know, one I’m sure is going to come up later is the issue of the six foot
distance, and I made the statement that it “just appeared.” And that got
taken like, “I don’t know what’s going on. It just appeared.” It actually
came from the CDC. The CDC was responsible for those kinds of guidelines
to schools, not me. So, when I said that it just appeared, it appeared. Was
there any science behind it? What [ meant by ““no science behind it” is that
there wasn’t a controlled trial that said, compare 6-foot with 3 feet with 10
feet. So there wasn’t that scientific evaluation of it.””°

7% Collins TI, supra note 219, at 225-226.
770 Fauci Hearing, supra note 231, at 24.
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At the hearing, Dr. Fauci discussed that he did not want to appear to push back against
another scientific institution. He again placed the blame on the CDC, even though he noted the
CDC was part of the COVID-19 response team.

Dr. Anthony Fauci (June 3, 2024)

Q. Dr. Fauci, one of the controversial regulations of the pandemic was
the six-foot distancing rule. This rule became an important policy
consideration in subsequent regulations. However, you testified
recently, and I’'m quoting, this six-foot rule ““sort of just appeared.”
Do you think that a rule that “sort of just appeared” is substantial
justification for the regulations that we saw based on that six-foot

rule?
A ...When saying it ““just appeared,” it came from the CDC——
Q. ...What was your relationship with the CDC when you saw a

regulation which was not based in the current science?

A. Well, when I say it was not based in science, I meant a prospective
clinical trial to determine whether 6-foot was better than 3, was
better than 10. What

Q. But once we realized that the virus was not spread by droplets and
was aerosolized, did you feel an indication to go back to the CDC
and say, let’s base this on science, let’s get rid of this six-foot rule?
This six-foot rule crippled businesses... It allowed students to stay
at home and not learn. Americans suffered. And that suffering
continues, because the fracture of trust in American scientists
continues to this day. Did you not feel an obligation, for something
that just sort of appeared, not to go back to the CDC and say, let’s
base this on what we know?

It was a CDC decision, and it was clear
Were you in communication with the CDC?

CDC was part of the coronavirus response team, yes.

oo o P

And you didn’t feel an obligation to go to them and say, look,
Americans aren’t going to trust

>

Yes.

Q. [continuing]. Us, we’re providing them with misinformation?
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A. We had discussions at the White House about that. We did. But the
CDC’s decision—and it was their decision to make, and they made
it. at the NIH, to challenge that? I’ve challenged the CDC multiple
times

Publicly you challenged them on this six-foot distancing rule?

A. It is not appropriate to be publicly challenging a sister
organization.””!

Even though Dr. Fauci was arguably one of the most notable, recognizable faces and
names of the COVID-19 response team, and a strong advocate for the six-foot of separation rule,
he continuously stated the policy was blindly accepted, without any further discussion as to
possible consequences or alternative routes.

Dr. Anthony Fauci (June 3, 2024)

Q. Do you recall if it was ever suggested to be 10 feet?

A. You know, I don’t recall if it was ever suggested it was 10 feet. But
when I made my explanation of what it 6 versus 3 versus not even
worrying about it at all.

Q And you said today that there were discussions at the White House
about the six-foot rule. You don’t recall if it was discussions about
whether or not it should be 3 or should be 10 or should be 6?

A. You know, I don’t recall what the exact discussion was. But as I’'ve
said in response to multiple questions, what we had was it came to
CDC was said that on the basis of their evaluation, which was based
on the droplet approach, that six-foot would be the go. And since
there was no clinical trials going one way or the other, that’s why it
was accepted by the group.’”?

The justification for one of the most impactful COVID-19 policies, that arguable affected
the most Americans in their day-to-day lives, was “it sort of just appeared.” There were no
scientific trials or studies conducted before this policy was implemented, there appeared to be no
pushback or internal discussion amongst the highest level of leadership, and more importantly
there appears to be no acceptance of responsibility. That is an unacceptable answer from public
health leadership. Decisions of this magnitude must have scientific backing that can be explained
to the American public.

7! Fauci Hearing, supra note 231, at 36-37.
772 Fauci Hearing, supra note 231, at 58-59.
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V. Masks and Mask Mandates Were Ineffective at Controlling the Spread of COVID-
19.

Much of the conversations around the earliest days of the COVID-19 pandemic
surrounded inconsistent messaging and a lack of understanding around the virus in general. One
area of policy that was riddled with contradictions was the use of face masks. Throughout the
pandemic federal, state, and local governments had conflicting policies and rhetoric regarding
wearing face masks.

In the very early days, public health officials urged the general public not to wear
masks.””® That messaging was then replaced saying individuals should wear a mask, and then the
American people were told they must wear a mask.”’* The first recommendation for the public to
wear face masks by the CDC was April 3, 2020.7”° But before this, the WHO and CDC reported
healthy members of the public at large should not wear masks, reserving them for those who
were sick or most susceptible to the virus.”’® On February 29, 2020, the U.S. Surgeon General
tweeted, urging people not to buy masks and stated proper hygiene and a flu vaccine would be an
adequate solution to the virus.””’

During a 60 Minutes interview on March 8, 2020, Dr. Fauci similarly stated "when you're
in the middle of an outbreak, wearing a mask might make people feel a little bit better and it
might even block a droplet, but it's not providing the perfect protection that people think that it
is."”’8 This was consistent with the CDC and WHO’s guidance, which in late March 2020

recommended using masks if one was sick or caring for a sick individual.””

But these sentiments were reversed just about a month later. On April 3, 2020, the CDC
issued guidance recommending non-medical face coverings be worn in areas with high amounts
of potential community transmission.”® The guidance stated to wear "cloth face coverings
fashioned from household items or made at home from common materials ... as an additional,
voluntary public health measure."”®' The CDC went as far as posting a video teaching the public
how to make masks with a T-shirt and rubber bands.

These initial changes in statements and reversals of policy are understandable, as they
were said in the panicked early days of the novel coronavirus, and public health officials were
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working with the limited information they had on hand. However, public health officials
eventually acquired more information about COVID-19 at a rapid pace.

Ultimately, a systematic review carried out by Cochrane Collaboration—one of the most
highly regarded methodologies in evidence-based healthcare—found that the pooled randomized
control trials they analyzed “did not show a clear reduction in respiratory viral infection with the
use of medical/surgical masks™ and that “[t]here were no clear differences between the use of
medical/surgical masks compared with N95/P2 respirators in healthcare workers when used in
routine care to reduce respiratory viral infection.”’®? These results appear to directly contradict
public health agencies’ and local governments’ support for broadly requiring masking throughout
much of the pandemic.

FINDING: Public Health Officials Flip Flopping on the Efficacy and Use of Face Masks
Without Full Scientific Transparency Caused Mistrust in Public Health
Establishments.

On January 20, 2021, in one of his very first actions as President, President Biden signed
Executive Order (EO) 13991. Part of the order reads:

The heads of executive departments and agencies (agencies) shall
immediately take action, as appropriate and consistent with applicable law,
to require compliance with CDC guidelines with respect to wearing masks,
maintaining physical distance, and other public health measures by: on-duty
or on-site Federal employees; on-site Federal contractors; and all persons in
Federal buildings or on Federal lands.”®*

President Biden signed another EO, the very next day, compelling the Transportation
Security Administration and other federal agencies to also require face masks on all forms of
domestic and international travel.”®* This language in essence made CDC guidances actionable.
Before, these guidances were non-binding recommendations provided by the public health
officials as a best practice; however, President Biden’s EO called for these actions to be
mandatory.

Approximately four months later, the Biden Administration and the CDC amended the
guidelines on mask wearing. On April 27, 2021, it was announced that fully vaccinated
individuals did not need masks during small outdoor gatherings, but that they should still be
worn at large outdoor gatherings as well as indoor events.”®®
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On May 13, 2021, the CDC announced that the mask mandate was effectively lifted and
individuals who were fully vaccinated did not need to wear masks at all (except as otherwise
required, such as the mandate on public transportation which was still in effect).”®

This abrupt announcement and change caused mass confusion amongst state and local
officials, as well as the public at large. People did not know which way to turn or which policy to
follow.”®” Senior government officials did not alleviate the confusion. Merely two days before
the CDC dropped the guidance on required face masks, Dr. Walensky appeared before Senate
HELP and adamantly defended the guidance at the time. At the hearing, Dr. Walensky stated the
measures that are known to prevent the spread of the virus must remain the policy, despite calls
from lawmakers that suggested the CDC was too harsh in requesting masks for outdoors.”®® This
abrupt announcement stunned medical and public health experts. At the Senate hearing, Dr.
Walensky doggedly argued the CDC policy was the most appropriate at the time, yet two days
later it was changed without providing people proper notice to prepare for the lifting of the
restriction.

Due to the change in Biden Administration policy and CDC guidance, many states began
lifting their mask mandates.”® On May 20, 2021, in yet another whiplash moment, Dr. Fauci
stated he believed Americans were “misinterpreting” the guidance.” In an interview, he stated
"[the CDC] said: If you are vaccinated, you can feel safe — that you will not get infected either
outdoors or indoors. It did not explicitly say that unvaccinated people should abandon their
masks."”! This is one of many statements that were provided by public health leadership without
the backing of a scientific study. It was a declaration by Dr. Fauci, verified by Dr. Fauci.

On July 26, 2021, the CDC issued yet another change in guidance, stating even
vaccinated individuals should wear masks when indoors, if in a region with a substantial and
high transmission.”? The guidance also recommended masks be mandated at schools for all
students and faculty, regardless of vaccination status. The Biden Administration and CDC
provided no scientific justification or information for the change, apart from citing the new Delta
variant.”

Citing the availability of vaccines, treatments, and improved testing options, on February
25,2022, the CDC stated residents in areas of substantial and high transmissions (of which 70
percent of the country was no longer considered due to a change in the CDC metrics when
determining COVID-19 risk by county) did not need to wear a mask, regardless of vaccination
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status.”®* By April 2022, mask mandates were lifted in all U.S. states, except Hawaii that still had
a mask mandate in schools.”>

In times of national public health crisis, Americans should be able to turn to the CDC to
guide us through turmoil. Yet, during the COVID-19 pandemic, the worst public health crisis in
our modern era, the CDC constantly redirected their opinions and provided conflicting answers.
These actions undermined the American people’s belief in the CDC, public health leadership,
and science as a whole. At the start of the pandemic, 69 percent of Americans believed what the
CDC said, yet by March 2022 that number was only 44 percent.”®® This must change before a
future pandemic.

FINDING: The Biden Administration Exceeded its Authority by Mandating Masks.

In February 2021, the CDC, under President Biden’s EO, required the use of masks on
public transportation under section 264(a) of the Public Health Service Act of 1944 [hereinafter
“PHSA”].”” On April 13, 2022, the CDC announced it extended the requirement for face masks
on public transportation by an additional 15 days.””® However, a lawsuit filed by 21 state
Attorneys General called to block the federal mandate extension, particularly after the CDC
suggested in a guidance in late February 2022 that almost 70 percent of Americans could stop
wearing masks.”"

On April 18, 2022, a federal judge of the District Court for the Middle District of Florida,
found the mandate unlawful, stating the CDC exceeded its legal authority.’®® The PHSA allows
the CDC to prevent the interstate spread of communicable disease.®! The CDC argued the mask
requirement, which was issued as an emergency action, was “reasonable and necessary measure
to prevent the introduction, transmission, and spread of COVID-19” and that it was acting within
the scope of power granted by Congress under the PHSA..3%?

The court held the CDC'’s interpretation of its powers granted by Congress was overly
broad and struck down the mandate as unlawful.®®* The court noted that while section 264(a) of
the PHSA does allow for regulations to curb the spread of communicable diseases, the power to
do so must be done within the enumerated actions of the regulation, namely “inspection,
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fumigation, disinfection, sanitation, pest extermination, and destruction of contaminated animals
9 9 9 2
and articles, and other measures.”%%*

The CDC argued that “sanitation” measures were intended for the general promotion of
hygiene and prevention of disease, and as such the mask mandate was appropriate under that
definition, even though “sanitation” is not defined by the PHSA.5% The court ruled masking was
distinct from sanitation.3% The court also discussed that since its enaction, the PHSA has rarely
been invoked, and “generally limited to quarantining infected individuals and prohibiting the
import or sale of animals known to transmit disease.”’” The decision further noted the CDC’s
use of section 264(a) (notably, shutting down the cruise ship industry and stopping landlords
from evicting tenants who had not paid their rent) were ruled as acts that also exceeded the
CDC’s statutory authority.5%

The court’s decision also discussed how the CDC did not adequately follow the rules of
the Administrative Procedure Act [hereinafter “APA”] by not providing the public with an
adequate review and comment period and further not properly explaining its reasoning.%
Ultimately, the court ruled the mask mandate exceeded the CDC’s, and by extension the Biden
Administration’s, statutory authority and violated the procedures for agency rulemaking under
the APA.%!° This decision almost immediately ended the mask mandate for public transportation.
The judge presiding over the case wrote in her opinion, “[i]f Congress intended this definition,
the power bestowed on the C.D.C. would be breathtaking...And it certainly would not be limited
to modest measures of ‘sanitation’ like masks.”8!!

FINDING: The U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Relied on Flawed Studies to
Support the Issuance of Mask Mandates.

In issuing guidances that mandated the use of masks across the country, the CDC publicly
relied on several different studies to justify the actions. The CDC provided a list of
approximately 15 studies that demonstrated wearing masks reduced new infections.®!? Yet, all 15
of the provided studies are observational studies that were conducted after COVID-19 began and,
importantly, none of them were RCTs.%!* RCTs are considered the gold standard in medical
research.
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One study the CDC utilized to mandate masks was the “Missouri hairstylists.”3!* There,
an observational cohort study, focused on two hairstylists that were positive for COVID-19 while
providing hair styling services to customers.®!> The stylists worked on 139 customers over
several days, and both stylists were masked the whole time. Many of the customers were as well,
but not all of them were. Out of 139 people, 67 customers chose to test for COVID-19 after
receiving their service, and all of whom tested negative. The other 72 either did not test for
COVID-19 or did not report any symptoms of the virus.

While these numbers appear significant, this study is far from perfect. For example, the
72 clients who reported no COVID-19 symptoms could absolutely have been positive but
asymptomatic, or purposely chose not to report to the Green County Health Department.®!® There
was also no control group for this study. There was no way to know, how many people, if anyone
at all, could have been infected had neither stylist worn a mask during the appointments. Further,
the study does not discuss any alternatives as to why no one became sick. There was no
discussion of the ventilation of the salon, the hand hygiene of the stylists, or the fact that a client
and stylists generally do not come face to face.

The CDC also utilized a study of 1,000 public school children in Arizona that concluded
students without mask mandates were 3.5 times as likely to experience COVID-19 outbreaks as
the ones that did have mask mandates.?!” The study published in September 2021 reviewed
school-associated COVID-19 outbreaks and compared rates across schools with and without
mandates.®!®

However, this study also posed serious flaws. The very first lines of the paper note the
authors studied school mask policies and COVID-19 outbreaks between “July 15-August 31,
2021.”%1° This time frame is important, because the schools that were reviewed for the study
were not all open at the same time. For example, some of these schools were not open during the
month of July at all; some of the other schools did not have a start date until August 10; and
some of the schools only had a few weeks of student activity during the summer.®?° There was
also not a control for the vaccination status of staff and students and the definition of an outbreak
of COVID-19 was two or more cases among staff or students within a 14-day period versus cases
per week per student.®?! Further, the list of Maricopa County schools used for the study included:
at least three schools from Pima County (two hours away), one preschool, at least one virtual
academy, and more than 80 vocational programs.®*> When asked about these discrepancies, the
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journal replied “MMWR is committed to quickly correcting errors when they are identified. We
reviewed the specific items that you describe below and found no errors.””8%3

A similar study out of Georgia was published in May 2021.3%* In this study, authors
reviewed case rates of 90,000 students, comparing schools with and without mandates.®** It
showed 37 percent lower instances of COVID-19 in schools where staff were required to wear a
mask and 21 percent lower for children.32® However, the authors noted the difference was not
statistically significant, and thus the data could not be used to infer causal relationships.®*’

Yet, in an interview with Face the Nation, at a White House briefing, and a public tweet,

the CDC cited the Arizona study and claimed in a blanket statement that lack of school mask
mandates more than tripled the risk of outbreaks.?8
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Additional, peer-reviewed, literature on masking began to emerge as the pandemic
progressed. In May 2020, a study published in Emerging Infectious Diseases found “[i]n pooled
analysis, we found no significant reduction in influenza transmission with the use of face
masks.”?° There, researchers conducted a professional literature review of several RCTs
surrounding different nonpharmaceutical interventions for pandemic influenza studies, including
ten on face masks.®° Also in May 2020, the New England Journal of Medicine published an
article on masking in hospitals.®*! Those researches observed, “[w]e know that wearing a mask
outside health care facilities offers little, if any, protection from infection.”%3? A November 2022
British Medical Journal study found that masking of Spanish school-aged children with cloth
masks did not lower SARS-CoV-2 transmission, “suggesting that this intervention was not
effective.”833

During a deposition related to the lawsuit filed by the Attorneys General of Louisiana and
Missouri, which alleges collusion by the Biden Administration to censor COVID-19 speech on
social media, counsel for the plaintiff asked Dr. Fauci which studies the CDC relied upon to
justify the mask mandates.?** They asked Dr. Fauci how many studies, and if any placebo-based
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randomized, double-blind studies were conducted between February 2020 and April 2020.%*° Dr.
Fauci answered that he could not recall.®*® It is absolutely essential that these decisions—
decisions that had real life consequences—can be verified after the fact.?’

Dr. Fauci admitted that at the population level, masks do not provide effective coverage,
stating, “[f]Jrom a broad public-health standpoint, at the population level, masks work at the
margins — maybe 10 percent.”3® He does go on to say that for an individual, who religiously
wears a mask, the highest standard of a well-fitted KN95 or N95 is effective.®* However, the
reality of that perfect storm of factors coming together for one person, let alone the entire
country, is impossible.

In late January 2023, the most rigorous and comprehensive review of the scientific
literature on masks during the COVID-19 pandemic was published by Cochrane.?*° Cochrane is
considered the worlds most respected organization for evaluating health interventions, is known
for being the single best resource for methodologic research,®! and is recognized as having the
highest standard of evidence-based healthcare.®*?

The January 2023 publication found that wearing any kind of face covering “probably
makes little or no difference” in reducing the spread of respiratory illness.®** The study reviewed
15 trials comparing outcomes of wearing surgical masks versus no mask and also versus N95
masks, in hospital and community settings during the pandemic. The conclusion was that the
value of wearing masks was approximately zero.*** “There is just no evidence that they make
any difference. Full stop.”%

The trajectories of the rate of COVID-19 infections for states with mask mandates and
states without is virtually identical. Eleven states never mandated masks, while the rest had some
form of enforcement.®*® Mandates generally began in early 2020 and stayed until summer of
2021, some into 2022.%47
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It is apparent that the CDC and the Biden Administration cherry-picked observational
data to fit their narrative that masks are fully effective. Yet, that is not the role of the CDC. The
CDC is an agency meant to protect the American people, and part of that responsibility includes
conducting, sponsoring, or at the very least examining clinical trials to actually have the best
available research before formulating its guidance.

FINDING: Forcibly Masking Young Children, Ages Two and Older, Caused More Harm than
Good.

One area where the mask mandate may have caused quantifiable harm is the masking of
children. The April 3, 2020-February 25, 2022 (with a brief lift between May 13,2021-July 27,
2021) CDC guidance masking in schools was unbelievably far reaching. It called for “universal
indoor masking by all students (age two and older), staff, teachers, and visitors to K-12 schools,
regardless of vaccinations status.”%48

Many countries, including the U.K., Sweden, Norway, and Denmark, followed the
guidelines of the WHO. The WHO specifically did not recommend masking children aged five
or younger because they are at low risk of illness, masks are “not in the overall interest of the
child,” and also because most children that age are not capable of wearing a mask properly or
efficiently.?*® The WHO also recommended children aged six through 11 not routinely wear
masks because of potential adverse impact to psychosocial and learning development.®** The
WHO further explicitly advised against children wearing masks during physical activities, such
as outside playground time, so as not to impede their breathing.®"!

But beyond those logical reasons as to not require young children to wear a mask all day,
every day, are additional, still unknown consequences. These can be issues such as delayed
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speech and language disorders in young children. Many children that wore masks were more
hesitant to talk with a mask on, further substantiating insecurities in communication.®>

COVID-19 did not affect children at the same rate as adults. A May 2020 Journal of the
American Medical Association [hereinafter “JAMA”] review of North American pediatric
hospitals article published, “[o]ur data indicates that children are at far greater risk of critical
illness from influenza than from COVID-19.”%% COVID-19 was far less serious for children
than it was for adults.

Yet even with the early knowledge children were not as suspectable to the virus, many
students were subjected to wearing masks for much longer than necessary. Further, in 2022, the
CDC did not list speech or language impairments as an adequate reason for a mask exemption
for schools.?* The consequences of this are already being felt. The American Speech-Language-
Hearing Association published a 2023 survey that concluded two-thirds of participating speech-
language pathologists reported in increase in client referrals since 2020.5%

Ignoring the science and facts of COVID-19 and the harms of masking young children
was profoundly immoral on behalf of the leadership of the country’s public health officials. The
future consequences of these types of draconian policies are not yet known, but public health
leaders in the future should remember that all policy must be decided in a balanced manner.
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VI. Unscientific COVID-19 Lockdowns Caused More Harm Than Good

The COVID-19 pandemic proved to be one of the most consequential events in modern
American history. Yet, the virus itself may not have the same lasting effects to health, culture,
and the economy as the government’s policy response. From the local to the federal level,
policies aimed at fighting COVID-19 had tremendous unintended consequences and side-effects
that we will likely be dealing with for generations to come. One of the most controversial and
consequential of these pandemic-era policies were the stay-at-home orders and other social
distancing policies generally referred to as “lockdowns.” Later in the pandemic a new de facto
lockdown emerged for unvaccinated Americans in many parts of the country with mandatory
vaccination policies often referred to as “vaccine passports.” Most federal lockdown policies
were nonbinding guidelines for states to use to inform their own policy, though they directly led
to stringent lockdowns which were executed with the force of law in many states.

On March 16, 2020, the Trump Administration announced “15 days to slow the spread”
guidelines. Subsequent to these guidelines, states and localities took it a step further and began to
issue strict lockdown orders.®* At this point, there appeared to be general agreement that
potentially unnecessary activities should be put on hold temporarily to “flatten the curve” and
mitigate the risk of the healthcare system being overwhelmed by serious cases of COVID-19.
Yet, behind the scenes public health officials were quietly preparing for a much longer period of
disruption. Dr. Birx later wrote in her book “Silent Invasion” that 15 days was simply a starting
point and that she had already planned for a longer lockdown when pitching the plan.

No sooner had we convinced the Trump administration to implement our
version of a two-week shutdown than I was trying to figure out how to
extend it. Fifteen Days to Slow the Spread was a start, but I knew it would
be just that. I didn’t have the numbers in front of me yet to make the case
for extending it longer, but I had two weeks to get them.%’

Ultimately, the promised 15 days evolved into years, which caused incredibly damaging
consequences for the American people. Rather than prioritizing the protection of the most
vulnerable, federal and state government policies encouraged or forced millions of Americans to
forego critical elements of a healthy, happy, productive, and fulfilling life. This appears to be a
fundamental problem with the public health approach favored by American institutions during
the pandemic. In an apparent mea culpa from Dr. Collins on a panel for Braver Angels, he
admitted that the approach inherently disregarded possible collateral damage and blindly sought
to fight COVID itself.

You attach infinite value to stopping the disease and saving a life. You attach
zero value to whether this actually totally disrupts people’s lives, ruins the
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economy, and has many kids kept out of school in a way that they never
quite recovered.5>8

As more data comes out about the elements to which the public health establishment
attached “zero value,” it appears the American people could have been better served by policies
which focused on protecting the most vulnerable while prioritizing productivity and normalcy for
the less vulnerable.

FINDING: Enduring COVID-19 Lockdowns Unnecessarily Harmed the U.S. Economy.

Potentially the most severe consequence of COVID-19 lockdowns was the damage they
caused to the economy. In the wake of COVID-19 lockdowns, businesses closed, workers were
laid off, and inflation soared. The lockdowns also disproportionately disrupted service industry
jobs, thereby doubly punishing lower wage earners across the country while professional and
business sectors shifted to remote work. Meanwhile, shifting consumer habits and disrupted
supply chains helped to pump up the stock market and drive-up profits for large corporations and
wealthy individuals. As a result of lockdowns, millions of Americans experienced new and
painful economic hardship. This Report contains more more detail about the economic
destruction during the pandemic.

FINDING: Enduring COVID-19 Lockdowns Unnecessarily Damaged American’s Mental
Health.

Enduring COVID-19 lockdowns had drastic consequences on the mental health of many
Americans, including elevated substance abuse, overdoses, and suicide. The full picture of these
consequences is not yet knowable as it will take years to collect and analyze the data, however
currently available data already indicates incredibly troubling trends. For example, a March 2024
Nature study found a 22 percent increase in mental health disorders between 2019 and 2020.%%
The study also found a causal relationship between lockdowns and mental health disorders.

Results show that lockdown has significantly and causally increased the
usage of mental health facilities in regions with lockdowns in comparison
to regions without such lockdowns. Particularly, resource usage increased
by 18% in regions with a lockdown compared to 1% decline in regions
without a lockdown. 56

858 Braver Angels, A Deplorable and an Elitist Walk into a Bar: Francis Collins and Wilk Wilkinson (July 10, 2023);
See also, Scott Atlas, Steve Hanke, Philip Kerpen, & Casey Mulligan, COVID Lessons Learned: A Retrospective
After Four Years, COMM. TO UNLEASH PROSPERITY (Mar. 2024).

859 Ibtihal Ferwana & Lav. R Varshney, The impact of COVID-19 lockdowns on mental health patient populations in
the United States, NATURE (Mar. 7, 2024).

860 74
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Data showing this troubling trend was available early in the pandemic. An August 2020 CDC
study on mental health during the pandemic found that 40 percent of U.S. adults reported
struggling with mental health or substance use. ¢!

Other forms of addiction also rose dramatically during the era of lockdowns. A chapter in
the textbook “Behavioral Addiction: A Comprehensive Perspective” highlighted data illustrating
a troubling rise in gambling, internet gaming, pornography, social media, online dating,
shopping, and food addictions.®?

The COVID-19 pandemic has cast a spotlight on the intricate relationship
between public health crises and behavior addiction. It has underscored the
need for a nuanced understanding of how stressors, isolation, and the digital
age intersect to foster addiction in various forms, from smartphone and
social media addiction to pornography and food addiction.®%

Unfortunately, it also appears that many of the individuals who were the least at risk of
serious illness or death from COVID-19 were at disproportionately higher risk of suffering
serious mental distress as a result of lockdowns. For example, a February 2023 study, published
by the American Academy of Pediatrics, found that suicide deaths among U.S. youth increased
significantly during the pandemic, with an estimated 212 excess youth suicides occurring in 2020
alone.®* This trend appeared even stronger with substance abuse. A December 2022 CDC study
found that median monthly adolescent overdose deaths increased 109% between July-December
2019 to July-December 2021.86°

FINDING: Enduring COVID-19 Lockdowns Disrupted the Development of American
Children and Young Adults.

Reports indicate that speech delays in children are more common in the wake of the
pandemic. In 2023, the American Speech and Hearing Association conducted a national poll of
audiologists and speech-language pathologists who work with children under the age of five, the
majority of whom reported an increase in referrals for concerns about hearing, speech, and
language delays or disorders since the pandemic began.¢® Of the polled speech-language
pathologists, 84 percent reported seeing more children with emotional or behavioral difficulties,
79 percent reported seeing more children with delayed language or diagnosed language

861 Mark E. Czeisler, et al., Mental Health, Substance Use, and Suicidal Ideation During the COVID-19 Pandemic
— United States, June 24-30, 2020, MMWR (Aug. 14, 2020).

862 K evin Gallagher, Pandemic Lockdowns Led to Spike in Behavioral Addictions, MAD IN AMERICA (Nov. 22,
2023).

863 4.

864 Jeffrey A. Bridge, et al., Youth Suicide During the First Year of the COVID-19 Pandemic, PEDIATRICS (Feb. 15,
2023).

865 Lauren J. Tanz, et al., Drug Overdose Deaths Among Persons Aged 10—19 Years — United States, July 2019~
December 2021, MMWR (Dec. 16, 2022).

866 Poll Shows Increase in Hearing, Speech, and Language Referrals, More Communication Challenges in Young
Children, ASHA (Apr. 30, 2023).
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disorders, and 78 percent reported seeing more children with social communication
difficulties.®’

This increase in speech and language disorders is also supported by studies conducted in
the U.S. and abroad in the wake of the pandemic. Research done by Rhode Island Hospital’s
Advanced Baby Imaging Lab and the nonprofit LENA Foundation indicates that children under
16 months old showed a significant reduction in verbal skills between 2020 and 2021, and
neuroimaging data showed that babies born during the pandemic had slower growth in the
communications channels of the brain.3¢® A related preprint study co-authored by the Advanced
Baby Imaging Lab’s Principal Director, Dr. Sean Deoni, found that children born during the
pandemic had average cognitive scores of 78, down from 100 in children born before the
pandemic.5%® Analysis by LENA used devices worn by children to measure the number of words
spoken near the child and the child’s own vocalizations in order to count child-adult
interactions—a critical component of language acquisition according to researchers.®’”° LENA
researchers found that “children born nine months into the COVID-19 pandemic produced
significantly fewer vocalizations and experienced fewer serve-and-return interactions in the first
months of life than those born before the pandemic.”®"!

Harmful developmental delays were not limited just to infants born during the pandemic.
Due to lockdowns as well as financial hardship, more young adults became dependent on their
parents during the pandemic. According to Pew Research, the share of 18-29-year-olds living at
home with their parents reached 52 percent during the first year of the pandemic—surpassing the
previous peak during the Great Depression.®”? Scientific studies on teenagers and young adults
have also found other troubling trends associated with lockdowns. For example, a September
2024 study from the University of Washington found that COVID-19 lockdowns prematurely
aged the brains of teenagers, with the trend appearing stronger in females than males.®”* The
researchers said of their findings “our research introduces a new set of questions about what it
means to speed up the aging process in the brain. All the best research raises profound new
questions, and I think that’s what we’ve done here.”%"*

These harmful effects associated with COVID-19 lockdowns in American youth are also
inexorably linked to extended school closures. This Report contains more details on the impacts
of school closures.

867 Id.

868 Sarah D. Sparks, Babies Are Saying Less Since the Pandemic: Why That’s Concerning, EDUCATION WEEK (Apr.
7,2022).

869 CrisAnna Mink, Is COVID causing developmental delays in kids?, USC CENTER FOR HEALTH JOURNALISM (Dec.
21,2021).
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Critical Language Skills, THE 74 (Apr. 18, 2022).

871 LENA Team, COVID-era infants vocalize less and experience fewer conversational turns, says LENA research
team, LENA (Mar. 7, 2022).

872 Richard Fry, et al., A majority of young adults in the U.S. live with their parents for the first time since the Great
Depression, PEW RESEARCH CENTER (Sept. 4, 2020).
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9,2024).

874 Id.

Page 217 of 520




FINDING: Enduring COVID-19 Lockdowns Unnecessarily had Severe Consequences for
Americans’ Physical Health.

While COVID-19 itself was clearly a massive threat to American’s health, so too were
the lockdowns. One analysis done using CDC data found that non-COVID-19 excess deaths
totaled nearly 100,000 per year in 2020 and 2021.87° The findings indicate that hypertension,
heart disease, and diabetes dominated the excess deaths for senior citizens, while accidents,
overdoses, alcoholism, and homicide skewed younger.3’® Because of this, Americans under the
age of 45 had more excess deaths without the virus in 2020 and 2021 than they had from it.

If the pandemic response had to involve wholesale disruption of ordinary
life, the public-health community should have been actively monitoring its
effects on the millions of Americans we knew suffered from drug addiction,
diabetes and many other potentially lethal health conditions. No time is too
soon to acknowledge and begin to alleviate the collateral damage from
Covid policies.?””

Relatedly, COVID-19 lockdowns led to many procedures and doctor visits being delayed
for millions of Americans. One study published in JAMA found that 41 percent of Americans
had forgone medical care during the early months of the pandemic, from March to July 2020.%7®
Some studies have even found that early detection of diseases such as cancer was hindered. For
instance, a report published in JAMA Oncology in January 2021 found a “significant decrease in
the number of patients undergoing screening tests for cancer and in the number of ensuing
diagnoses of cancerous and precancerous lesions during the COVID-19 pandemic...”%”’

Disease prevention was also hindered significantly by our COVID response. Looking at
cardiovascular health trends alone, it is clear how significant the damage is. One survey found
that 42 percent of Americans gained more weight than they intended, with an average weight
gain of 29 pounds.3*° The millions of missed appointments not only have serious implications for
disease prevention and detection, but they also led to increased wait times, ! shortened
appointments, and patient burnout once things returned to normal.

FINDING: Despite Lacking Scientific Basis, Vaccine Passports Became a De Facto
Lockdown for Unvaccinated Americans.

875 Casey B. Mulligan & Robert D. Arnott, The Young were not Spared: What Death Certificates Reveal about Non-
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In 2021 and 2022, with the rollout of COVID-19 vaccines, some policies were eased,
and normalcy began slowly returning in many areas of American life. However, a new de facto
lockdown began to emerge across many jurisdictions for anyone who elected not to receive a
COVID-19 vaccine. The Report addresses broader issue of COVID-19 vaccine mandates, but so-
called “vaccine passport” policies were in some ways their own distinct policy. “Vaccine
passports” refer to policies put in place which required vaccination to attend social functions—
like sporting events and concerts, travel, patronize restaurants and bars, or other activities.®"3
While there were a variety of methods used to verify vaccination status, among the most
common was to require individuals to present their CDC issued COVID-19 vaccine cards.
According to reports, the CDC issued nearly 1 billion of these cards between 2020 and May of
2023.884

In August 2021, New York City became the first major city to impose a vaccine passport
requirement when Mayor Bill de Blasio announced that the city would require proof of
vaccination for customers and employees of gyms, movie theaters, and indoor dining
establishments.®®> During Mayor de Blasio’s briefing announcing the policy, New York State
Senator James Sanders Jr. spoke in support of the effort, saying, “you have the right to your
body, of course, but you do not have the right to kill other people” and that “a strong stance
needs to be taken.”%%¢ This type of divisive rhetoric became a hallmark of the era of vaccine
passport policies. Many leaders and politicians sought to characterize unvaccinated individuals
as being the source of the continued pain and suffering that COVID-19 was imparting, and
vaccine passports were presented as a solution. On July 16, 2021, just a month before the New
York City vaccine passport policy, Dr. Walensky notoriously warned that “this is becoming a
pandemic of the unvaccinated.”%%’

However, COVID-19 vaccines were never intended to stop the spread of the virus, and any
marginal benefit they provided in this particular realm had essentially disappeared with the
outbreak of the Delta variant—which was already widely spreading among vaccinated
individuals in August 2021.%8® Dr. Walensky herself acknowledged on August 5, 2021, that
COVID-19 vaccines “continue to work well for Delta, with regard to severe illness and death —
they prevent it. But what they can’t do anymore is prevent transmission.”%¥° Unfortunately, even
with this knowledge that the vaccines did little to prevent the spread of the disease, numerous
other jurisdictions followed New York City’s lead and imposed similar requirements for vaccine
passports, including New Orleans, San Francisco, Philadelphia, Boston, Chicago, Washington
D.C., and others.?°

883 Anna Rouw, et al., Key Questions about COVID-19 Vaccine Passports and the U.S., KFF (Apr. 15, 2021).
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In the paper, “The unintended consequences of COVID-19 vaccine policy: why mandates,
passports and restrictions may cause more harm than good,” the authors argued that these sorts of
“differential restrictions” were often viewed as punitive and discriminatory and had damaging
effects on public trust, vaccine confidence, and political polarization.

While vaccine mandates for other diseases exist in some settings (e.g.,
schools, travel (e.g., yellow fever) and, in some instances, for healthcare
workers, population-wide adult mandates, passports, and segregated
restrictions are unprecedented and have never before been implemented on
this scale. These vaccine policies have largely been framed as offering
‘benefits’ (freedoms) for those with a full COVID-19 vaccination series, but
a sizeable proportion of people view conditioning access to health, work,
travel and social activities on COVID-19 vaccination status as inherently
punitive, discriminatory and coercive.®!

These policies which imparted “segregated restrictions” essentially created a new type of
lockdown wherein unvaccinated individuals were denied the ability to return to normalcy under
the incorrect assumption that they were a danger to society. This de facto lockdown also had
some staying power, with some jurisdictions continuing their vaccine passport policies into
2022.%2 Even once local governments lifted the requirements, many businesses chose to
continue them independently, therefore illustrating how pervasive these false assumptions about
COVID-19 vaccines protective abilities had become.?* The COVID-19 vaccines are arguably
more akin to treatments than the traditional vaccines the American public is used to receiving in
early childhood. The mRNA vaccines for COVID-19 did not prevent human-to-human
transmission nor prevent COVID-19 infection in the way that traditional vaccines have been able
to do. Not fully and honestly explaining this dynamic was a critical public health messaging
failure. It is likely that COVID-19 vaccine passport policies and related divisive political rhetoric
will have continued impact on Americans’ perception of public health and may be a hurdle for
future pandemic preparedness.

81 Kevin Bardosh, et al., The unintended consequences of COVID-19 vaccine policy: why mandates, passports and
restrictions may cause more harm than good, BMJ GLOBAL HEALTH (May 2023) [hereinafter “Bardosh, The
unintended consequences of COVID-19 vaccine policy™].
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VII. Former New York Governor Andrew Cuomo’s March 25 Order Was Medical
Malpractice, and the New York Executive Chamber Attempted to Cover it Up

Beginning in March 2020, federal, state, and local governments rushed to respond to the
COVID-19, implementing strict social distancing and stay-at-home orders aiming to limit
transmission. It quickly became clear that COVID-19 was especially dangerous for elderly
people and people with comorbidities. Accordingly, it was critically important that public health
policy prioritize and implement targeted mitigation measures to protect high-risk populations.

Many states issued guidance intended to reduce exposure to COVID-19 for vulnerable
populations in nursing homes and long-term care facilities. Namely, this included restricting
individuals diagnosed with COVID-19 from accessing these facilities.

However, a handful states—including New Y ork—failed to institute similar guidance.
Instead, New York issued an order that effectively required nursing homes and long-term care
facilities to admit COVID-19 positive individuals.

On March 25, 2020, the Cuomo Administration issued a directive entitled “Hospital
Discharges and Admissions to Nursing Homes” [hereinafter the “March 25 Directive”].*** The
March 25 Directive ordered that “[n]o resident shall be denied re-admission or admission to the
[nursing home] solely based on a confirmed or suspected diagnosis of COVID-19” and “[nursing
homes] are prohibited from requiring a hospitalized resident who is determined medically stable
to be tested from COVID-19 prior to admission or re-admission.”®> While other states with
similar orders quickly reversed course, Mr. Cuomo failed to terminate his directive for six
weeks.

As a result of the March 25 Directive, more than 9,000 COVID-19 patients were
readmitted or admitted to nursing homes between March 25, 2020 and May 8, 2020.%°¢ This
unjustifiably exposed vulnerable nursing home populations to COVID-19, causing predictable
but disastrous consequences—including excess deaths.’

FINDING: The Cuomo Administration’s March 25 Directive Was Antithetical to Known
Science.

It was well understood early in the pandemic that COVID-19 did not harm all people
equally. Age and comorbidities were the most important risk factors for predicting
hospitalization and death from COVID-19.

894 Memorandum from the N.Y. State Dep’t of Health to Nursing Home Administrators, ef. al. (Mar. 25, 2020) (on
file with Select Subcomm. Staff) [hereinafter “March 25 Directive™].
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The risks to elderly populations, especially those in nursing homes, were known to Mr.
Cuomo.?*® Mr. Cuomo was aware of the deaths occurring in the State of Washington—the early
epicenter of COVID-19—as a result of COVID-19 in nursing homes.?® On March 10, 2020, in
response to a question regarding the threat COVID-19 posed to nursing homes, he stated that
coronavirus in nursing homes was a “nightmare” scenario.”*

[T]hat’s my nightmare and that’s where you’re going to see the pain and
the damage from this virus. Senior citizen homes, nursing homes,
congregant senior facilities. ..”"!

Days later, Mr. Cuomo allegedly told Mr. Jared Kusher—who helped lead the early White
House response to COVID-19—that “[f]or nursing homes, this could be like fire through dry

grass 9902

The Cuomo Administration initially took actions to safeguard vulnerable populations,
including suspending visitation to nursing homes”*® and ordering vulnerable populations to stay
home while restricting visitors.’** Nonetheless, the Cuomo Administration still issued the March
25 Directive. These other actions demonstrate that Mr. Cuomo and his Administration knew the
dangers of COVID-19 to nursing homes but proceeded with the March 25 Directive regardless.

Finding: Contrary to Denials, Mr. Andrew Cuomo and the New York Executive Chamber
Were Directly Involved in the Decision that Led to the March 25 Directive.

In a transcribed interview, Dr. Zucker testified that the March 25 Directive was prompted
by a phone call Mr. Cuomo received from GNYHA.

Dr. Howard Zucker (December 18, 2023)

Q. When you did ask questions did you ever ask what prompted the
directive to be drafted?

A. I know why this was drafted. I know why this was drafted.

Q. Can you just briefly summarize?
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2020).

89 Andrew Cuomo, American Crisis: Leadership Lessons from the COVID-19 Pandemic (Crown Publishing Group,
Oct. 13, 2020).

900 The Lead with Jake Tapper, CNN (Mar. 10, 2020).

901 Id.

902 Steven Nelson & Bernadette Hogan, Cuomo feared COVID ‘fire’ in nursing homes before notorious order:
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A. Sure. Sure. So it goes to what was transpiring at the time. So we
have to put this in context. And now we’re in March, the middle of
March, and the numbers are going up. The third week of March the
cases were escalating at a rapid pace, and I would wake up in the
morning with 1,000 more positive cases, and unbelievable numbers
of people being admitted to the hospital. But a few days before this
was drafted, or sent out I should say, the modelers came back with
what is going to happen. So the governor asked for the public
health expert modeling teams that were consultants to provide us
with where this was going, and they predicted up to 136,000
people would be in the hospital at peak, which was X number of
weeks away. I don’t remember, 4, 6 weeks away from where we
were at that point. And when I looked at the rate at which people
were going to the hospital it made sense that we could end up
there. And at that point, we also had, around this same time, a
crisis at Elmhurst Hospital, where they had about 234 positive
people in the hospital with COVID out of their 400-or-so beds, and
13 had died in one 24-hour period. And the hospitals were getting
overwhelmed. Greater New York Hospital Association called the
governor and the team — we were all there in a conversation; a lot
of us were there — and said that we have individuals who are better,
they have recovered, and they are just sitting in a hospital bed but
they need to go “home,” quote “home” for those who are in long-
term care facilities or the other ones would just go home. And the
long-term care facilities were not going to take them and that we
needed to do something, which generated this document. ..”%

Dr. Zucker testified that he was not involved with the drafting, review, or issuance of the
March 25 Directive, but said that issuing an advisory, that would become the March 25
Directive, was decided following the GNYHA'’s phone call with Mr. Cuomo.

Dr. Howard Zucker (December 18, 2023)

Q. ...When did you first see a copy [of the directive]?

A. So I actually do not remember seeing this advisory. I was there,
along with others, from the Governor’s Office when the decision
was made to issue an advisory, and then it was put into motion. .. %%

905 Transcribed Interview of Howard Zucker, M.D., Former Commissioner, N.Y. State Dep’t of Health, at 83-89
(Dec. 18, 2023) [hereinafter “Zucker TI]; See also, Jimmy Vielkind, et. al., In Worst-Hit COVID State, New York’s
Cuomo Called All the Shots, WALL STREET JOURNAL (Sept. 11, 2020) (Reported that “Mr. Raske, president of the
Greater New York Hospital Association, said he contacted Mr. Cuomo’s team for help with nursing homes.
Hospitals couldn’t afford to house recovered nursing-home residents long-term, with models showing they soon
could be swamped.”).
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In a transcribed interview, Mr. Cuomo testified that he played no role in the issuance of
the March 25 Directive and was not aware of it until he was asked about it at a press conference
on April 20, 2020.°°7 Mr. Cuomo testified that he did not recall receiving a phone call from the
GNYHA related to discharging hospitalized individuals to nursing homes.’*® However, Mr.
Cuomo testified that his discussions with GNYHA were “always” related to hospital capacity—
the issue the March 25 Directive was purportedly drafted to correct.

Mr. Andrew Cuomo (June 11, 2024)

Q. Do you recall such a phone call taking place?
A. No.

Q. Regardless of the phone call, do you recall the Greater New York
Hospital Association asking you to do something related to that
issue?

A. No. The discussion with the Greater New York Hospital Association
was always about the hospital capacity and they were tracking the
capacity, which never actually happened.

Q. As far as hospital capacity is concerned, would it be possible that
they would have proposed something similar to the March 25 order
in order to increase hospital capacity?

A. No. I'll use the analogy I used before. Fire capacity is 41 in this
room. It’s not a problem until the 42" person shows up. Then it will
be a discussion, but we never — that never happened.®”

At a transcribed interview, Ms. DeRosa testified that she played no role in the
development of the March 25 Directive and only learned about it at the press conference on April
20, 2020.°'° Ms. DeRosa speculated that it was drafted by a “midlevel person” within
NYSDOH.”!!

At a transcribed interview, Mr. Hutton testified that the March 25 Directive was
developed by NYSDOH staff.?'? Similar to Dr. Zucker, Mr. Hutton testified that the March 25

%7 Transcribed Interview of Andrew Cuomo, Former Governor, State of N.Y., at 38-41 (June 11, 2024) [hereinafter
“Cuomo TT”].
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Directive was prompted by “an urgent phone call from the [Chief Executive Officer] of a
hospital in the Hudson Valley” that was concerned about hospital capacity.’!?

FINDING: The New York Executive Chamber Reviewed and Approved the March 25
Directive.

Mr. Hutton testified that the March 25 Directive “absolutely” received approval from the
Executive Chamber prior to issuance.

Mr. Brad Hutton (August 27, 2024)

Q. ... [T]he Executive Chamber signs off on all Health Department
guidance that was issued. Is that right?

A. In the pandemic, yes.

Q. So, for the record, the March 25" order did receive sign-off from the
Executive Chamber?

A. Yes, absolutely. °'4

Similarly, Dr. Zucker testified all NYSDOH guidance needed to be approved by the
Executive Chamber.

Dr. Howard Zucker (December 18, 2023)

Q. ...[D]o you agree with Ms. DeRosa’s characterization of the
Department’s practices in issuing guidance?

A. I would say that during this pandemic everything ended up on the
second floor.

Can you elaborate on that?

A. Yeah, well, the second floor being the Executive Chamber, the
governor’s floor.

Soit’s —
A. And there were times when we, the Department of Health, would

say, “Where is that guidance?” and it still hasn’t been cleared from
over on the second floor.

013 14
14 Hutton TI, supra note 912, at 51.
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Q. And when you say “second floor” —
A. That is the Governor’s Office. Sorry.

Q. Okay. Would you presume that would include the governor himself
being privy to—

A. I can’t answer how that process went. We knew that things needed
to be cleared, and sometimes they were legal issues, which Beth
Garvey was involved, and other issues, obviously, the secretary to
the Governor, Melissa DeRosa, was the one who signed off on it.”!3

Furthermore, according to Dr. Zucker, “most things” had to be approved by Ms. DeRosa,
herself. However, Dr. Zucker did not testify that Ms. DeRosa approved the March 25 Directive.

Dr. Howard Zucker (December 18, 2023)

Q. During the pandemic did anyone in the Governor’s Chamber, Ms.
DeRosa included, act as a clearinghouse of information?

A. Well, everything ended up having to go through the Governor’s
Office. And when I use the phrase “governor’s office” I refer to the
entire, you know, the executive team, the second floor, however one
wants to refer to it. But that’s what I mean when I say “governor’s
office.”

Q. What did that look like? Did you like a stamp of approval? Who
gave the final stamp of approval on issuing something?

A. Well, most things went through the secretary to the governor,
Melissa DeRosa. That was, I guess, in a lot of ways, the voice of
what the governor wants, right? And we moved forward on
addressing whatever the challenges were.”!'

According to documents, Ms. DeRosa did serve as “final sign off” on at least one
guidance relating to nursing homes and visitation.”!’

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]
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o [N
Sent: Tuesday, July 07, 2020 3:01 PM

Subject: MDR for final sign off

Nursing Homes
e (Criteria to allow visitation:
o Nursing Home must be in phase 3 region.

o No COVID cases among residents or staff for 28 days (currently 146 nursing homes would
qualify*)

o The nursing home must be in full compliance with all state and federal requirements,
have access to adequate testing, have agreements with laboratories to process tests, and
have no staffing shortages.

o A formal copy of visitation plan must be posted to website and broadcast to visitors

e Visitation is limited to outdoor areas, except under certain circumstances where visitation may
be inside in a well-ventilated space with no more than 10 individuals

e The number of visitors must not exceed ten percent (10%) of the resident census at any time
and only one visitor will be allowed per resident at any one time.

e Visitors must wear proper PPE and must be screened for signs and symptoms of COVID-19 prior
to visitation

e The Department can halt visitation at the nursing home at any time due to community or facility
spread of infection or when the Department identifies that the NH has failed to comply with
visitation requirements.

Pediatric Nursing Homes
e Same criteria as for allowing visitation as Nursing Homes except, pediatric nursing homes in all
regions of the state are eligible, regardless of phase
e Same procedures for visitation as nursing homes plus:
o Visitation is limited to parents or legal guardians of the resident and immediate
family ages 18 and older.
o Two visitors per resident are permitted at one time (compared to one for nursing homes)

Adult Care Facilities
e Visitation criteria is the same as for nursing homes plus ACF must have undergone an infection
control survey since May 1, 2020 and must have been found to be in substantial compliance
o Currently 328 ACFs would qualify*
e When those criteria are met, ACFs may have the same visitation as nursing homes plus:
o resume congregate activities that do not include eating and drinking
o allow salon services that abide by NY Forward guidance specific to salons and barbershops

*Number of facilities could change as pending staff and resident test results come back

At a transcribed interview, Ms. Garvey testified that she had a role in the approval of the
March 25 Directive.
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Ms. Beth Garvey (May 30, 2024)

> o P

Did you play any role in the development of this guidance?
Yes.
Can you explain your role?

Um, so I have no specific memory of this, but as I stated earlier,
guidance was coming to the Executive Chamber and it was being
reviewed by a number of different staff people and ultimately
coming to me for approval to go out. It did typically run through Joe
Popcun, who sent this e-mail. He was deployed, you know, from
Department of State to help our office. And so I would have looked
at this guidance to make sure that it was consistent with executive
orders, policies, every, you know, communication that the Governor
was making and then approved it for distribution by whatever

department had asked for the guidance.

918

Indeed, the approved March 25 Directive was attached in an email from Mr. Joseph
Popcun to several Executive Chamber officials, including Ms. Garvey, Ms. Rebecca Wood, Mr.
Peter Kiernan, and Ms. Megan Baldwin.

919

attached.

Joe

By April 1, 2001 vour home should receive an invitation to
¥ Al

participate in the Consus, Pleave respord: online, by

phione or by mail,

Btipss 202 0census.govien v ys- e-respond, liind

Date: Wednesday, March 252020 02:38 FM
Subject: Approved: DOH Advisory on Hospital Discharges and Admissions to Mursing Homes
From: Popcun, Joseph (DOS) ='._
To: #Covid 12 <#Covid 19@exec ny.gov=;
ce- Beth Garvey : Rebecoa | <
Kierman 1 Meggan Baldwin

s Peter J,

Please find approved Department of Health (DOH) advisory on hospital discharges and admissions to nursing homes,

At a transcribed interview, Ms. Lacewell testified that Mr. Cuomo and Ms. DeRosa were
“surprised” by the March 25 Directive and cited the March 25 Directive as a rare example of an

%18 Transcribed Interview of Beth Garvey, Former Special Counsel to the Governor, State of N.Y., at 81-82 (May 30,

2024) [hereinafter “Garvey TI].

919 E-Mail from Joseph Popcun, N.Y. Dep’t of State, to Beth Garvey, Special Counsel to the Governor, et. al. (Mar.

25, 2020).
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instance when something was issued without sign-off from Ms. DeRosa.”?° Ms. Lacewell
testified that this was not “supposed to happen.”

Ms. Linda Lacewell (May 31, 2024)

Q. Do you think it would be fair to say nothing got approved without
Ms. DeRosa’s approval?

A. Well, actually things did get approved without Melissa DeRosa, but
that wasn’t supposed to happen.

Do you have an example of that?
I do.

Can you share?

I can.

Please go ahead.

> e o > R

Um, the March guidance. The governor and Ms. DeRosa were not —
let me rephrase that. They were surprised by the guidance. So to the
best of my understanding, they were not consulted, and she was not
consulted more specifically beforehand because she was surprised.
And from time to time, that did happen.®*!

For her part, Ms. Lacewell testified that she had a “privileged” discussion regarding the
March 25 Directive prior to its issuance with Mr. Schwartz, who formerly served as the
Secretary to the Governor and volunteered to assist with the Cuomo Administration’s response to
the pandemic.

Ms. Linda Lacewell (May 31, 2024)

Q. What were the nature of the conversations of COVID-19 and the
nursing homes with Mr. Schwartz?

A. Well, he was part of the group assembled in the Executive Chamber
to manage COVID. So we regularly had conversations with each
other in the day-to-day management of the pandemic during that
period of time.

Q. Anything specific to the directive or nursing homes?

920 Transcribed Interview of Linda Lacewell, Former Superintendent, N.Y. State Dep’t of Health, at 42-43 (May. 31,
2024) [hereinafter “Lacewell TI”].
2 Id.
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A. Other than privileged conversations, I don’t have anything for you.

Q. What was the topic of the privileged conversations?

A. Nursing homes.

Q. I think we can get a little bit more specific with that without touching
a privileged conversation right now. So—

A. I had privileged conversation [sic] with Mr. Schwartz about the
subject matter of the March directive before it was issued.”??

In a transcribed interview, Mr. Schwartz testified that he did not recall having any
conversations, privileged or otherwise, with Ms. Lacewell related to the March 25 Directive.’??
He also testified that he did not know the origins of the March 25 Directive.***

FINDING: The March 25 Directive Was Inconsistent with Applicable Federal Guidance
Regarding Hospital to Nursing Home Transfers and COVID-19 Related Infection
Control.

Mr. Cuomo and the Executive Chamber repeatedly argued that the March 25 Directive
followed federal guidance, from both CMS and CDC, regarding protecting residents in nursing
homes and other long-term care facilities.””> Mr. Cuomo argued that it was “written from CMS
and CDC.” This testimony is contradicted by federal health officials—including and Dr. Birx.

Mr. Andrew Cuomo (June 11, 2024)

Q. I’'m talking about this directive right now and the wording of the
directive.

A. It was written from CMS and CDC. And it refers to — it is referring
to the guidance they received two days before, which says, “When
should a nursing home accept a resident who is diagnosed with
COVID-19 from a hospital? A nursing home can accept a resident

922 Id. at 20-21.

923 Transcribed Interview of Larry Schwartz, Former Senior Advisor to the Governor, State of N.Y., at 12-13 (June
24, 2020) [hereinafter “Schwartz TI].

924 Id. at 13.

925 See generally Cuomo TIL, supra note 907.
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diagnosed with COVID-19 and still under transmission-based
protocol.” So still infections, as long as the facility can follow CDC
guidance for transmission-based precautions. If they can’t, they
can’t take the person.”?®

Similarly, Dr. Zucker testified that the March 25 Directive was consistent with CMS and
CDC guidance.

Dr. Howard Zucker (December 18, 2023)

A. ...But the fact is we followed the CDC guidance that was out at the
time, and CMS guidance, and the guidance, the CDC guidance about
transmissible disease at that point, said that those individuals were
not infectious, based on the criteria. ..’

None of the witnesses interviewed by the Select Subcommittee consulted—nor knew of
anyone within the Cuomo Administration that consulted—CMS or CDC prior to the issuance of
the March 25 Directive.

In response to the Cuomo Administration’s insistence that the March 25 Directive
followed federal guidance, Administrator Verma disagreed, saying, “[u]nder no circumstances
should a hospital discharge a patient to a nursing home that is not prepared to take care of those
patient’s needs.””*8

Indeed, CMS guidance entitled, “For Infection Control and Prevention of Coronavirus
Disease 20219 (COVID-19) in Nursing Homes” [hereinafter “CMS Guidance”’] did not mandate
COVID-19 positive patients back to nursing homes but, instead, stated that a COVID-19 case at
a hospital does not preclude the nursing home from accepting a COVID-19 negative patient.’*’
This is contrary to the March 25 Directive—which states that nursing homes shall not deny
COVID-positive patients because of their COVID-19 diagnosis.”**

In a transcribed interview, Dr. Birx, when asked about the March 25 Directive, testified
that it “violated” CMS guidance.

Dr. Deborah Birx (October 13, 2021)

Q. On the bottom of page 4 of this CMS guidance it gives guidance on
how to return a resident diagnosed with COVID-19 back to their
nursing home; and it says it should be done if a facility can follow

926 Id. at 129.

927 Zucker TI, supra note 905, at 90-91.

928 Charles Creitz, Medicare chief Verma blasts Cuomo for trying to deflect blame onto White House for NY nursing
home deaths, FOX NEWS (May 28, 2020).

929 Memorandum from David R. Wright, Dir., Quality, Safety & Oversight Group, U.S. Centers for Medicare &
Medicaid Services, to State Survey Agency Directors (Mar. 13, 2020) (on file with Comm. Staff).

930 March 25 Directive, supra note 894.
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CDC guidance for transmission-based precautions. First, what
would those transmission-based precautions have been?

A. So that would require isolation and gowning, masking, and ensuring
no contact with any other residents.

Q. [CMS] Administrator [Seema] Verma said about this guidance,
‘under no circumstances should a hospital discharge a patient to a
nursing home that is not prepared to take care of those patient’s

needs.’

A. Correct.

Q. If we turn now to the New York Guidance...Does that have the same
qualifier of able to take CDC precautions as the CMS guidance
required?

A. No.

So, would [the March 25 Directive] have violated CMS guidance?

A. Yes. !

Dr. Birx further testified to the negative effects of readmitting potentially positive
COVID-19 nursing home residents.

Dr. Deborah Birx (October 13, 2021)

Q. Do you think admitting potentially positive COVID-19 nursing
home residents back into the nursing home without the ability to
quarantine or isolate them is dangerous and could lead to
unnecessary deaths?

A. Yeah, I think that’s why the CDC guidance was very clear about
precautions needed to protect them. And I think that’s why [CMS
Administrator] Seema [Verma] was proactively working on this
infection control guidance.”?

CMS Guidance was understood as non-binding and used non-prescriptive language such
as “can” and “should.”*?

%31 Transcribed Interview of Deborah Birx, M.D., COVID-19 Response Coordinator at 119-121 (Oct. 13, 2021).
932 Id. at 123.
933 Zucker TI, supra note 905, at 90-91.
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When should a nursing home accept a resident who was diagnosed with COVID-19 from a
hospital?

A nursing home can aceept a resident diagnosed with COVID-19 and still under Transmission-
Based Precautions for COVID-19 as long as the facility can follow CDC guidance for
Transmission-Based Precautions. If a nursing home cannot, it must wait until these precautions
are discontinued. CDC has released Interim Guidance for Discontinuing Transmission-Based
Precautions or In-Home Isolation for Persons with Laboratory-confirmed COVID-19,

Note: Nursing homes should admit any individuals that they would normally admit to their
facility, including individuals from hospitals where a case of COVID-19 was/is present.
Also, if possible, dedicate a unit/wing exclusively for any residents coming or returning
from the hospital. This can serve as a step-down unit where they remain for 14 days with
no symptoms (instead of integrating as usual on short-term rehab floor, or returning to
long-stay original room).

Conversely, the March 25 Directive referred to itself as a “directive” and used
prescriptive language such as “must,” “shall,” and “prohibit.”*** In fact, it underlined the
operative language.”>’

No resident shall be denied re-admission or admission to the NH solely based on a confirmed or
suspected diagnosis of COVID-19. NHs are prohibited from requiring a hospitalized resident who is
determined medically stable to be tested for COVID-19 prior to admission or readmission.

Mr. Hutton testified that it was an established “norm” to include prescriptive language, as
the Executive Chamber did not like to be “perceived as being too soft or suggestive as opposed
to directive.”

Mr. Brad Hutton (August 27, 2024)

Q. ...When you look at the last two paragraphs that we reviewed that
uses permissive language such as “should” or “can,” whereas the
March 25" Order uses restrictive language such as “shall” or
“must,” is that — was the language that was used in the March 25®
order ever discussed during your review?

A. I don’t recall.

Q. Did you have any concerns with the language that was used in the
order?

A. I didn’t, but I guess I would qualify it by saying that it had been
established as the norm, that this Executive Chamber preferred the
orders be much more directive in their language and that we would

934 March 25 Directive, supra note 894; See also, ‘Like Fire Through Dry Grass: Nursing Home Mortality and
COVID-19 Policies,’: Hearing Before the Select Subcomm. on the Coronavirus Pandemic, 118" Cong. 1 (May 17,
2023) (Written Testimony of Bill Hammond, Senior Fellow for Health Policy, Empire Center for Public Policy)
[hereinafter “Like Fire Through Dry Grass™].

935 Id.
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commonly receive things sent back if they were perceived as being
too soft or suggestive as opposed to directive.

Q. And you said that was an executive order — or Executive Chamber
suggestion?
A. I would say a norm, yeah, a norm that this Executive Chamber did

not react favorably to soft or what they perceived as weak or
suggestive language but instead, whether it was local health
departments or nursing homes or any other entity, that we be much
more directive in our language when we issue guidance.”

FINDING: The Cuomo Administration Terminated the March 25 Directive in Response to
Public Pressure, not a Change in Applicable Science.

Despite testifying that he was not involved with the issuance, Dr. Zucker stood by the
March 25 Directive.

Dr. Howard Zucker (Dec. 18, 2023)

Q. ...On February 19, 2021, you defended the state’s decision to issue
the March 25" directive, stating, “We would make the same decision
again.” For the record, do you stand by that, still?

A. I do.”’

Mr. Cuomo testified that, prior to being briefed by Dr. Zucker, he did not initially
understand the March 25 Directive.

Mr. Andrew Cuomo (June 11, 2024)

Q. Going back to when you were first made aware and debriefed and
Dr. Zucker you said answered questions. What questions did you
ask? Did you have —

A. Well, all the questions you’re asking.

So you did have concerns about the directive?

A. I didn’t understand it.**®

936 Hutton TI, supra note 912, at 60.
937 Zucker TI, supra note 905, at 169-170.
938 Cuomo TI, supra note 907, at 152.
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However, Mr. Cuomo testified that he had no concerns with the March 25 Directive once
Dr. Zucker explained it to him.

Mr. Andrew Cuomo (June 11, 2024)

Q. Were you concerned about the language of the [March 25] directive
when it was first brought to your attention?

A. When [Dr. Zucker] explained it to me, no. Because he explained it
to me in the context of the CMS/CDC...%

The March 25 Directive remained in effect until it was superseded by an Executive Order
on May 10, 2020.%*° Ms. DeRosa testified that the Cuomo Administration did not have any
discussions related to rescinding the March 25 Directive until the days leading up to the
Executive Order on May 10.

Ms. Melissa DeRosa (June 21, 2024)

Q. When did you have discussion related to rescinding the order?

A. You’re using the word rescinding. I would use the word superseding.

When did those discussions begin?

A. I believe we did the superseding order on May 10", So in the days
leading up to May 10% %4!

According to emails, NYSDOH was instructed to remove the March 25 Directive from its
website on April 29, 2020, despite the March 25 Directive still being operable.’*?

Sent: Tuesday, May 12, 2020 12:56 PM

To: Montag, Jill E [HEALTH) -:_,- Bass, Michael G (HEALTH) _>
Cc: Holmes, Gary C{HEALTH) {W:
Subject: RE: MARCH 25 GUIDANCE - L IDENTIAL

Yes, on April 29"t was instructed that this needed to be pulled down, aleng with the Health Care Provider Return to
Work Guidance.

939 Cuomo TI, supra note 907, at 153.

%40N.Y. Exec. Order No. 202.30 (May 10, 2020).

%41 DeRosa TI, supra note 910, at 115-116.

942 E-Mail from Kristen Navarette, N.Y. State Dep’t of Health, to Jill Montag, N.Y. State Dep’t of Health, et. al.
(May 12, 2020).
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In a subsequent email, another NYSDOH official said they were instructed by the
Executive Chamber to remove it because it was “inconsistent.””*

Date: Wednesday, May 27 2020 04:32 PM
Subject: RE: KRISTEN? RE: MARCH 25 GUIDANCE - PRIVILEGED AND CONFIDENTIAL
From: Mazeau, Adrienne V (HEALTH)

To: Navarette Kristen (HEALTH) |G o= /' € (HEALTH)
' <

cc: Bass, Michael G (HEALTH = Holmes, Gary C (HEALTH)
>

Yes because it was inconsistent and we were directed by Chamber to pullit . | can try to find emails on this,

Mr. Cuomo testified that the March 25 Directive was terminated because of “public
relations.”

Mr. Andrew Cuomo (June 11, 2024)

Q. But yet you rescinded the order on May 10. Talking about the
decision-making process—

A. Because the public relations after April 20 had made the public so
nervous and so concerned, anyone who had family in a nursing
home was agitated and frightened.

Q. Did you discuss those public relations in these articles with your
team?

A. I spoke to Dr. Zucker about it.
Q. Who else?

A. Basically Dr. Zucker. And I said, “Look, it may be false, but we have
a lot of concerned people out there now.” And it was coincident with
we have ramped up our testing capacity. So we could now actually
test nursing home staff, which was what he believed and I believed
it was really all about.”**

Similarly, Dr. Zucker testified that the Cuomo Administration reversed the policy in
response to criticism surrounding the March 25 Directive and maintained that it was not changed
because of issues with the March 25 Directive, itself.

Dr. Howard Zucker (December 18, 2023)

Q. ...[1]f the March 25" guidance wasn’t wrong, then why change it?

43 E-Mail from Adrianne Mazeau, N.Y. State Dep’t of Health, to Kristen Navarette, N.Y. State Dep’t of Health, et.
al. May 27,2020, 4:32 PM).
94 Cuomo TI, supra note 907, at 158
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A. It was not changed because of this guidance. It was changed more
because there was such criticism about something which we felt
there shouldn’t be criticism on, as I was just saying. But it’s not
going to hurt anyone, and we’re not sort of, you know, jeopardizing
someone else’s care by running a test on this person.’*’

FINDING: Cuomo Administration Officials Believed Mr. Cuomo Directed the Issuance of
the “July 6 Report” to Combat Criticism of the March 25 Directive.

The Select Subcommittee investigated allegations that the Cuomo Administration
improperly withheld and misrepresented nursing home fatality data from the public and federal
government throughout the pandemic. This investigation included the drafting and publication of
the NYSDOH report entitled, “Factors Associated with Nursing Home Infections and Fatalities
in New York State During the COVID-19 Global Health Crisis™ [hereinafter “July 6 Report™].%#¢

The July 6 Report alleged that it was the nursing home staff—not the March 25
Directive—that was the source of transmission that resulted in deaths of nursing home
residents.”*’ However, this report was heavily edited by the Executive Chamber—including Mr.
Cuomo—to show more causality and was not a scientific nor peer-reviewed publication. The
Executive Chamber also made the decision to remove deaths occurring to nursing home residents
out-of-facility—i.e., deaths occurring to residents that died following a transfer to the hospital—
thereby releasing a report that was not fully transparent regarding deaths occurring to nursing
home residents.

The origin of the July 6 Report was likely an e-mail on June 7, 2020. In that e-mail, Ms.
Benton told Dr. Malatras, Mr. Rhodes, Dr. Zucker, and Ms. DeRosa that the criticism
surrounding the March 25 Directive would be “the great debacle in the history books.”**® The
email directed them to “[g]et a report on the facts because this legacy will overwhelm any
positive accomplishment.””%

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

945 Zucker TI, supra note 905, at 159.

946 Factors Associated with Nursing Home Infections and Fatalities in New York State During the COVID-19 Global
Health Crisis, N.Y. STATE DEP’T OF HEALTH (July 6, 2020).

947 Id.

%48 E-Mail from Stephanie Benton, Executive Assistant to the Governor, to Dr. Jim Malatras, Advisor to the
Governor, et. al. (June 7, 2020).

949 1
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From: siepnarie eeron <

Sent: Sunday, June 07, 20209:51 &AM

To: lim Malatras _; Gareth Rhodes (dfs.ny gov) _; Howard A Zucker
(health.ny.gov) -
ce: Melissa Derosa <G

Subject:

This is going to be the great debacle in the history books. The longer it lasts the harder to correct. We have a
better argument than we made. Get a report on the facts because this legacy will overwhelm any positive
accomplishment. Also how many covid people were returned to nursing homes in that period? How many
nursing homes? Don't u sec how bad this is? Or do we admit error and give up?

The recipients of this email understood—or suspected—that this was a message from Mr.
Cuomo himself.?*° In a transcribed interview, Dr. Malatras testified that the demand to “[g]et a
report on the facts” was referring to the July 6 Report.”! Dr. Malatras testified that this email
prompted the July 6 Report to be drafted.”>

Dr. Zucker testified that Ms. DeRosa asked for a “medical journal” publication to be
released, but the decision was made to make it a report given the pressure to release it quickly.
Dr. Adams testified that she viewed the NYSDOH’s work on a scientific article as separate from
what would eventually become the July 6 Report.”>* Dr. Adams testified that she provided
“talking points” to the Executive Chamber that would be used to draft the July 6 Report.®>®
According to emails, Dr. Adams sent Dr. Zucker these “talking points” within hours of the “great
debacle” email.”®

953

Dr. Adams also provided charts similar, but seemingly less favorable, to those that would
eventually be used in the July 6 Report.”>” For example, one chart examining the average
mortality rate by level of admissions and readmissions statewide showed a mortality rate of 8.1
percent for nursing homes with “[s]Jome admissions or readmissions” versus a 4.1 percent
mortality rate for nursing homes with “[n]o admissions or readmissions.””®

FINDING: The July 6 Report Was Not Independently Drafted by the New York State
Department of Health nor Peer Reviewed.

930 Zucker TI, supra note 905, at 160-161; Transcribed Interview of Gareth Rhodes, Former Deputy Superintendent,
N.Y. State Dep’t of Health, at 104-105 (May 3, 2024) [hereinafter “Rhodes TI”’]; Transcribed Interview of Jim
Malatras, Ph.D., Former Advisor to the Governor, State of N.Y., at 130 (May 20, 2024) [hereinafter “Malatras TI”];
DeRosa TI, supra note 910, at 198-199.

951 Malatras TI, supra note 950, at 130.

92 Id. at 198.

953 Zucker TI, supra note 905, at 167-168.

954 Transcribed Interview of Eleanor Adams, M.D., Advisor, N.Y. State Dep’t of Health, at 118-119 (Apr. 8, 2024)
[hereinafter “Adams TI”].

95 Id. at 80.

936 E-Mail from Dr. Eleanor Adams, Special Advisor to the Commissioner, N.Y. State Dep’t of Health, to Dr.
Howard Zucker, Commissioner, N.Y. State Dep’t of Health (June 7, 2020) (on file with Comm. Staff).

957

o 1
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Dr. Adams testified that the July 6 Report was not authored by her nor the NYSDOH, and
that it was not in fact a “peer reviewed” publication as claimed by Mr. Cuomo and his staff.*>
Like Dr. Adams, Dr. Malatras testified that the July 6 Report was not peer-reviewed.”*

According to witness testimony, numerous Executive Chamber officials were involved
with the July 6 Report, including Ms. DeRosa, Ms. Lacewell, Dr. Malatras, Ms. Garvey, Ms.
Baldwin, and Mr. Robert Mujica—the former New York State Budget Director.”®! In response to
questions related to the Executive Chamber’s involvement with the July 6 Report, Ms. Lacewell
testified that the report would not have existed without her.

Linda Lacewell (May 31, 2024)

Q. It reads, “The aides who were involved in change the report included
Melissa DeRosa, the governor’s top aide, Linda Lacewell, the head
of the state’s Department of Financial Services, and Jim Malatras, a
former top advisor to Mr. Cuomo brought back to work on the
pandemic. None had public health expertise.” You mentioned all of
you being involved in the report, so I believe you would agree with
the listing of your three names as being involved in the report?

A. That’s not what the paragraph says. It says the aides were involved
in changing the report, right? That’s what it actually says.

And --
I was involved in helping draft the report.

Okay.

> o> R

Right? The whole premise of the article is mistaken. It was not a
DOH report that landed in the executive chamber and was then
changed.

Q. If you were responsible for the report, why was it issued as a DOH
report?

A. I didn’t say I was responsible for a report.
Okay. What word would you use?

A. That’s really your question. I described what I did with respect to
the report.

%9 Adams TI, supra note 954, at 128-131.

960 Malatras TI, supra note 950, at 196.

%1 See generally, Zucker T, supra note 905; Malatras T, supra note 950; Garvey TI, supra note 918; Lacewell TI,
supra note 920; DeRosa TI, supra note 910.
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You mentioned —

A. But I’'m not McKinsey doing the data and I’'m not DOH weighing in
and I’'m not Dr. Zucker weighing in and I’m not a statistician.

Q. But you said the report wouldn’t have happened but for you?
A. Correct, and it wouldn’t have happened but for McKinsey, but my

point there was, I’m executive chamber. I’'m executive chamber. The
DOH report wouldn’t exist without me. . .5

Dr. Malatras testified that Ms. DeRosa was “very active” with the July 6 Report and
directed what points she wanted the report to make.

Dr. Jim Malatras (May 20, 2024)

Q. Was that the extent of [Melissa DeRosa’s] involvement in the
report?

A. No, she was very active, sending information; things like that. She
actually at one point sent an e-mail. This was prior to that meeting,
but indicative of the process. She laid out the points that she wanted
to have touched upon in the report.”®3

Additionally, witnesses testified that individuals and organizations outside the
government played a role in the report. including Mr. Raske, Mr. Dowling, and Dr. David
Grabowski, a professor of Health Care Policy at Harvard Medical School.”** This testimony is
supported by documents.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

962 Lacewell TI, supra note 920, at 63-64; See, J. David Goodman & Danny Hakim, Cuomo Aides Rewrote Nursing

Home Report to Hide Higher Death Toll, THE N.Y. TIMES (Mar. 4, 2021).
963 Malatras TI, supra note 950, at 161.
964 Malatras TI, supra note 950, at 29, 162-163, 197; DeRosa TI, supra note 910, at 235.
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Subject: Fw: CONFIDENTIAL
Date:  Tuesday, June 30, 2020 at 4:32:24 PM Eastern Daylight Time

o

From: Dowling, Michael
Sent: Tuesday, June 30, 2020 4:31 PM

To:
Subject: CONFIDENTIAL

Overall — a good document. A few suggestions, however:

1. The Exec Summary needs to be redone with a clear statement of the problem/issue and the
conclusion. That is, in effect, your press release. | would suggest something like the following.

There has been much discussion of the number of nursing home patient deaths in NY and the
causal relationship between nursing home admission policy and resident mortality. The DOH

completed an independent analysis etc. and concluded:

NY State has a lower percentage of deaths in nursing homes than most states — ranking
th

46
Admission policies were not the factor in nursing home fatalities.
Mortality rate transmission is strongly correlated to employees entering the facilities.

Ken Raske’s staff and mine can do a complete rewrite if you wish.

Don’t overly rush to get this out — not until there is a rewrite. It will get criticized and opponents will

2.
argue — even if they buy the argument — that we should have done more earlier to test the staff. This
is political.

3. lam working with Ken to line up some physicians to be available to support the Commissioner — this

will take a day or so.

| am waiting for my physician to get back to me. She is reviewing the report. Once | do, | will follow up with

you.

Michael

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]
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Subject: Fw: [EXTERNAL] Fwd: Revised Executive Summary

Date: Wednesday, July 1, 2020 at 8:18:33 AM Eastern Daylight Time

Fom:
To: E

Attachments: 06302020 Nursing Home Report V14 Tuesday.docx, ATT00001.htm

From: Dowling, Michael

Sent: Tuesday, June 30, 2020 8:42 PM

To:

Subject: Fwd: [EXTERNAL] Fwd: Revised Executive Summary

Sent from my iPhone

Begin forwarded message:

From: "Raske, Ken"
Date: June 30, 2020 at 6:00:02 PM EDT
To: "Dowling, Michael"
Subject: [EXTERNAL] Fwd: Revised Executive Summary

External Email. Use Caution.
Per our discussion. Ken

Sent from my iPad

Begin forwarded message:

From: "Conway, Brian"
To: "Raske, Ken"
Subject: Revised Executive Summary

Ken, a revised draft Executive Summary is below.

The entire draft paper, including the original Executive Summary, is attached.

In response to an article by The New York Times reporting the Executive Chamber’s
involvement in the July 6 Report,”®> Dr. Malatras issued a statement saying that he was not
involved in altering the nursing home numbers.’®® Thereafter, Dr. Malatras testified that he
received a call from Executive Chamber Officials, including Ms. DeRosa, Ms. Lacewell, Ms.
Garvey, and others, asking him to “put out a statement suggesting otherwise” because they

%65 J. David Goodman & Danny Hakim, supra note 962.
96 See, Bernadette Hogan & Bruce Golding, Cuomo official Malatras appears to throw cohorts under bus in nursing

home denial, N.Y. POST (Mar. 5, 2021).
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believed The New York Times reporting and his statement to be misleading.”®’ Dr. Malatras
refused.”®®

FINDING: Mr. Andrew Cuomo Reviewed and Edited the July 6 Report, and His Edits Were
to Make the Report’s Findings More Causal.

Mr. Cuomo testified that he did not have any involvement with the drafting of the July 6
Report. He further stated that he did not recall reviewing or editing the July 6 Report.”®

Mr. Andrew Cuomo (June 11, 2024)

Q. Were you involved in the drafting of this report in any capacity?

A. No.

Mr. Andrew Cuomo (June 11, 2024)

Q. In the minority hour, did you testify that you had no role in the July
6 Report?

A. I do not recall seeing the July 6 report prior its issuance. It was
Howard Zucker’s report. He then presented it numerous times. I then
spoke to it numerous times, because it came up at every press
briefing afterwards.

Q. And to clarify your testimony, you did not recall reviewing the
report?

A. I do not recall reviewing.
Did you edit the report?

A. I don’t recall seeing it.

However, Mr. Cuomo’s testimony is directly contradicted by documents and other
witness testimony. It is also contradicted by the report entitled, “Impeachment Investigation
Report to Judiciary Committee Chair Charles Levine and the New York State Assembly Judiciary
Committee” [hereinafter “Impeachment Report”].”’® Dr. Malatras testified that Mr. Cuomo

97 Malatras TI, supra note 950, at 212-214; Lacewell TI, supra note 920, at 63-64.

968 Malatras TI, supra note 950, at 212-214; Lacewell TI, supra note 920, at 63-64.

99 Cuomo TI, supra note 907, at 173. 285-286.

970 Impeachment Investigation Report to Judiciary Committee Chair Charles Levine and the New York State
Assembly Judiciary Committee, at 40, Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP (Nov. 22, 2021) [hereinafter “Impeachment
Report”] (“[TThe evidence obtained in our investigation demonstrates that former Governor Cuomo directed officials
from the Executive Chamber, Task Force and DOH to prepare a report from DOH in order to combat criticism of the
March 25 Directive. The report was initiated by the then-Governor and influenced by members of the Executive
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reviewed and edited the July 6 Report.”’! Dr. Malatras also testified that the former Governor
would have had final approval on the report.”’?

When Select Subcommittee counsel informed Mr. Cuomo that Dr. Malatras had testified
that the former governor was involved in reviewing the July 6 Report, he again denied
involvement.

Mr. Andrew Cuomo (June 11, 2024)

Q. Dr. Malatras also told us in his testimony that you did review a draft
of this report prior to its release. Is that true?

A.  1did not. Maybe it was in the inbox, but I did not.’”?

Documents and testimony, however, show that Mr. Cuomo was intimately involved in the
review and drafting of the report.

Subject: RE: on track for noon?
Date: Monday, June 22, 2020 at 12:29:51 PM Eastern Daylight Time

From: |

To:

Can you shoot over? He's asking

From:
Sent: Monday, June 22, 2020 11:55 AM

To:
Subject: Re: on track for noon?

I will get you what | have. Howard’s people will need to fill in section and McKinsey isn’'t done
yet, but | will get you where it is.

From:
Date: Monday, June 22, 2020 at 11:54 AM

To:
Subject: on track for noon?

Chamber and Task Force, then released under the auspices of DOH. Throughout the drafting process, the former
Governor reviewed and edited the draft DOH Report on multiple occasions and made edits to strengthen the defense
of the March 25 Directive.”).

71 Malatras TI, supra note 950, at 207-208.

972 Id. at 165.

73 Cuomo TI, supra note 907, at 177.
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Subject: edits
Date: Monday, June 29, 2020 at 5:09:32 PM Eastern Daylight Time

From: [

To:
Attachments: nursing homes report vi0 MONDAY.docx
Can you make the change to the first sentence and send back for me to show him? | can’t figure out how to

finesse it
(can you also do a read through of the edits and make sure you agree?)

Subject: Re: 06.23.20 Nursing Homes 230PM.docx

Date: Wednesday, June 24, 2020 at 7:58:04 AM Eastern Daylight Time
From:
To:
CcC:

farrah/tracy pls have copies printed for gov and i to take on plane this morning

ror:
Sent: Wednesday, June 24, 2020 12:11 AM

Cc:
Subject: Re: 06.23.20 Nursing Homes 230PM.docx

Attached are the Governor’s edits as well as my edits. I've reformatted & charts have been re-
added. | will want to read through with fresh eyes tomorrow.

Subject:- - how much longer on NH report? He's asking for copy
Date: Sunday, July 5, 2020 at 8:53:52 AM Eastern Daylight Time

From: [N
o
cc:

Subject: Re: Privileged and confidential
Date: Sunday, July 5, 2020 at 6:01:49 PM Eastern Daylight Time

From:
To:
, Will Burns, Noah Rayman, Richard

CC:

ZZopardl, are odes s.ny.gov

did we make the change boss sent w the specific quote from the regs/advisory on what was required?
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Dr. Malatras further testified that Mr. Cuomo would edit the July 6 Report via
handwritten notes or via Mr. Cuomo’s assistants and that Mr. Cuomo edited the language of the
July 6 Report to be more causal.”’* Dr. Malatras’ testimony is confirmed by documents.

On June 23, 2020, Ms. Kennedy emailed Executive Chamber staff an attachment with the
“Governor’s edits.””>

From: Fanah erne:

Sent: Tue 6/23/2020 2:42:02 PM (UTC-04:00)

N t
Subject: 06.23.20 Nursing Homes 230PM.docx
Attachment: 06.23.20 Nursing Homes 230PM _docx

Hi [
Governor’s edits are attached for your review. The smaller text in the beginning

is from your original document. He replaced your paragraph on page 3
beginning with “But, like in all fifty states, there were COVID-positive cases...”

The larger text is what he added.

In a transcribed interview, Ms. Kennedy testified that she was communicating edits from
Mr. Cuomo.®’® Furthermore, Ms. Kennedy testified that she understood Mr. Cuomo’s edits to be
identified in larger text that consisted of more than 10 pages.®’’ A text message contemporaneous
to Mr. Cuomo’s edits, suggests that NYSDOH staff were concerned that Mr. Cuomo’s edits to the
July 6 Report “may not be scientifically accurate.”

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

974 Malatras TI, supra note 950, 208-209
975 E-Mail from Farrah Kennedy, Executive Assistant, Executive Chamber, N.Y., to Executive Chamber Staff (June

23,2020, 2:42 PM.).
976 Transcribed Interview of Farrah Kennedy, Executive Assistant, N.Y. Executive Chamber, 20-21 (Oct. 8, 2024)

[hereinafter “Kennedy TI].
977 Id.

Page 246 of 520




3:45 ]

<0 | HZ )

Howard

c))
R

Jun 25, 2020 at 9:33AM

Can you please give
Eleanor a call. She sent
over her edits. There are
important edits there
which are central to key
points. We don't want to
be criticized about
interpretation. Let's
discuss but please look
at her edits. She is very
smart about this stuff.
Thanks.

Ok he's rewriting the
entire thing himself FYI

Oh my! There are things
that may not be
scientifically accurate
and will out us open for
criticism. Please be sure
| see what he writes.

On June 24, 2020, a scanned version of the July 6 Report was sent to Executive Chamber
staff.”’® The scanned version of the July 6 Report included handwritten edits and comments.®”

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

978 E-Mail from Executive Chamber Staff to Executive Chamber Staff (June 24, 2020, 10:55 AM).
979 Id.
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Subject: Fwd: Message from "RNP58387911B637"

Date: Wednesday, June 24, 2020 at 11:13:44 AM Eastern Daylight Time
To:

Attachments: 20200624105333189.pdf, ATTO0001.htm

Privileged
Can you read this?

Sent from my iPhone

Begin forwarded message:

From:
Date: June 24, 2020 at 10:55:15 AM EDT

To:
Subject: FW: Message from "RNP58387911B637"

-——-Q0riginal Message---—

From: Ricoh39Copierl@exec.ny.gov [mailto:Ricoh39Copierl@exec.ny.gov]
Sent: Wednesday, June 24, 2020 10:54 AM

To:

Subject: Message from "RNP58387911B637"

This E-mail was sent from "RNP58387911B637" (MP C6004ex).

Scan Date: 06.24.2020 10:53:33 (-0400)
Queries to: Ricoh39Copierl @exec.ny.gov

Ms. Kennedy testified that part of her responsibilities as Executive Assistant to the

Governor were to transcribe Mr. Cuomo’s handwritten notes.”*® When asked to review the
handwritten notes of the draft from June 24, 2020, Ms. Kennedy testified that it appeared to be
Mr. Cuomo’s handwriting.”®! Below is an example of Mr. Cuomo’s handwritten edits to the June
24,2020 draft of the July 6 Report.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTETIONALLY BLANK]

980 Kennedy TI, supra note 976, at 24-25.
81 Id. at 25.
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the March 7, 2020 federal CDCeuidange Yurther stated, “Facilities gonld consider allowing

asymptomagid HCP who Have had af expbsuye jo a GOVID-19 pdtient|to continue to'work aftgr

optioné té/improve staffing havebeen exhdusted and in consulfation with their ocgupationga
health/program.” Thereforé/asymptomatic puysing hone gmployees’ may porhave been
detecfed.

In early March the nation’s testing capacity was still being developed and was not widely
available for nursing home employees. 'Y<, g nursing home employees that were symptomatic,
but not tested, CDC recommended that they wait m three days after the symptoms had passed
to return to work and only seven days after the COVID-19-like symptoms first appeare ‘,musb/

legs ti fredtnder m-ei / It is likely that a percentage of

Control and Prevention (March 7, 2020) located at

hitps:/web.archive.org/web/2020040419413 1 /https://www.cde.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/hep/guidance-risk-
assesment-hcp.html.

S1d.

6 «Criteria for Return to Work for Healthcare Personnel with Confirmed or Suspected COVID-19 (Interim
Guidance)” Centers for Disease Control and Prevention located at:
https://web.archive.org/web/20200404023742/https:/www.cde.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/hep/return-to-
work.htmI?CDC AA refVal=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.cdc.gov¥%2Fcoronavirus%2F2019-ncov%2Fhealthcare-
facilities%2Fhcp-return-work.html.

,c3t®?
; . s . LS
these symptomatic,employees could have spread the disease within the facility. oo O ,,::z NS
The peak of nursing home fatalities was at the beginning of Apfil. Given the incubation 2%
& pe
Pﬁfﬁkf{ period for COVID-19 as a median time of 4-5 days from exposure to symptoms onset, and can |

Coow Lo
v s ] . ; . et
extend to 14 days, it is likely that employees infected in mid-March could have appeared in the ‘i/ ‘J‘[u, "
' e 2 q .
nursing home for weork, transmitted the virus which then manifested in the residents °;’;:w¢ s
/
’ . . . ; ; Fa T
approximately 7-14 days later. As Figure 2 illustrates, peak in COVID-symptomatic nursing PY -
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e
homes employees was in mid-March is potentially correlated to peak nursing home deaths in the T;i e
N
PR e =
first week in April. ww? * o
Il
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/ e’ .

.
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On June 28, 2020, Executive Chamber staff communicated about more of Mr. Cuomo’s

edits to the July 6 Report.”®?

%82 E-Mail from Executive Chamber Staff to Executive Chamber Staff (June 28, 2020, 3:20 PM).
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Subject: RE: edits to Nursing Home doc

Date: Sunday, June 28, 2020 at 3:20:56 PM Eastern Daylight Time
From: |

To: "

cc: I

Attachments: nursinghomedoc-govedits.pdf

Upon closer inspection they aren’t edits | can make. Attached are the Governor's edits. .—I believe
ias the most recent word version.

Thanks.

From:

Sent: Sunday, lune 28, 2020 3:04 PM
To:
e
Subject: edits to Nursing Home doc

-—the Governor handed over edits to the version you asked me to give to him. If you send me the
document — | can make the edits and send back to all. Thanks.

The version of the July 6 Report attached to this e-mail also included handwritten edits
and comments. When asked about source of the handwriting, Ms. Kennedy testified that it
appeared to be Mr. Cuomo’s handwriting.”®* Below is an example of Mr. Cuomo’s handwritten

edits to the June 24, 2020 draft of the July 6 Report.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

%83 Kennedy TI, supra note 976, at 26.
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District of Colum-
43 | bia 20 1,072 173 32%
44 | Wyoming 4 54 6 30%
45 | Nevada 75 1,289 135 2%
46 | New York 509 7,177 6,432 21%
47 | Alabama 131 3,746 112 |~
48 | Hawaii 15 89 1—
49 | Missouri 118 1,394 15]—
50 | Alaska 10 93 0f—
51 | Wisconsin 318 1,242 0f—

SOURCE: New York Times, States with insufficient data to cglculate a share of Covid-19 deaths are shaded
gray.

Further, an examination of fatalities in our neighboring states — despite having popula-

tions much smaller than New York’s —illustrates clearly that nursing home fatalities were not a

garsing home deaths, Massachusetts

%

New York specific phenomenon: New Jersey teports 6,617

reports 5,115 nursing home deaths, Pennsylvania reports 4

necticut reports 3,1247 MM ‘*’C’ Mo

rsing home deaths and Con-

Rala

II. COVID-19 Staff Tliness Contributed to Infections of Nunsing Home Residents

Within New York State, there has been significant geographic variation in overall posi-
tive tests within the community (Figure 1) and nursing home cases and fatalities. The most im-
pacted regions in New York State were in the downstate region (Mid{Hudson Valley, New York

City, and Long Island) and those regions had the highest nursing hom¢ fatality rates.

10
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Accordingly, Ms. Kennedy testified that Mr. Cuomo was involved in the drafting of the
July 6 Report.”8*

FINDING: Mr. Andrew Cuomo Was Involved in the “Peer Review” Process and Directed
Individuals Outside of New York State Government to Review the July 6 Report.

Documents and testimony establish that Mr. Cuomo was involved in directing an external
“peer review” process of the July 6 Report. Mr. Cuomo denied having any involvement in peer-
review process.

Mr. Andrew Cuomo (June 11, 2024)

Q. Did you have any discussions regarding the report being peer
reviewed?
A. No.”®>

Mr. Cuomo testified that he did not know whether any individual outside of NYSDOH
was involved in the drafting or editing of the July 6 Report.

Mr. Andrew Cuomo (June 11, 2024)

Q. Do you know if people outside of DOH were involved with
drafting or editing this report?

A. No. %%

Dr. Malatras testified to the Select Subcommittee that individuals outside the NYSDOH,
including Mr. Dowling and Mr. Raske, President were involved.”®’

Documents show that Mr. Cuomo directed the July 6 Report be peer reviewed by Mr.
Dowling and Mr. Raske. On June 30, 2020, Ms. Benton emailed Executive Chamber staff. A
former Executive Chamber staffer told the Select Subcommittee this e-mail was likely from Mr.
Cuomo, consistent with his practice of dictating emails Ms. Benton sent. The email directed,
“[g]et that Harvard guy([,] dowling[,] and ken Davis [sic] to be the ‘peer review’ experts of the
report. Get them the draft now to study.””%®

984 Kennedy TI, supra note 976, at 26.

985 Cuomo TI, supra note 907, at 287.

%86 Id. at 173.

%87 Malatras TI, supra note 950, at 29.

%88 E-Mail from Stephanie Benton to Executive Chamber Staff (June 30, 2020, 10:59 AM).
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Subject: Ok?
Date: Tuesday, June 30, 2020 at 10:59:30 AM Eastern Daylight Time
From: Stephanie Benton

o T oo, I

"we need to get the nursing home report out tomm morn at a 9 30 briefing in the city. Get the Harvard guy dowling
and ken Davis to be the "peer review" experts of the report. Get them the draft now to study. They need to know the
facts. Melissa do a briefing session with them tonite and walk thru report. Dr zucker has to know the report cold an
be an aggressive advocate. The others will key off him. No one will be more aggressive than u Dr zucker, If they see u
defer they will too. U have to set the tone. The facts are powerful. Giving these guys one day notice is unfair so get
them the draft asap and walk them thru it.

Sent from my BlackBerry 10 smartphone on the Verizon Wireless 4G LTE network

The e-mail does not specify who “dowling” and “ken” are, but subsequent e-mails
establish that Mr. Cuomo meant Mr. Dowling and Mr. Raske. Later that same day, Mr. Dowling
sent back edits and suggestions to an Executive Chamber staff.”® Mr. Dowling even stated, “Ken
Raske’s staff and mine can do a complete rewrite [of the Executive Summary] if you wish.”%%
That evening, Mr. Raske sent his edits to Mr. Dowling, who then forwarded them to the
Executive Chamber.””!

Accordingly, these documents and testimony establish that Mr. Cuomo had conversations
regarding the “peer review” of the July 6 Report and directed and knew that people outside of the
NYSDOH were involved in the July 6 Report.

FINDING: The Executive Chamber Decided to Remove Out-of-Facility Death Data from the
July 6 Report.

Dr. Adams testified that the original NYSDOH analysis—that was going to be a scientific
paper—included both in-facility and out-of-facility nursing home fatalities.

Dr. Eleanor Adams (April 8, 2024)

Q. ...[W]ould that number [of out-of-facility deaths] have been in the
scientific report you working on?

A. Yes. In our draft — well, I should rephrase. I'm not sure if this
answers your questions but in our draft paper, we included the
numbers of in and out of nursing home, deaths of nursing home
residents. ..

989 E-Mail from Michael Dowling, Chief Exec. Office, Northwell Health, to Executive Chamber Staff (June 30,
2020), 4:31 PM).

990 17

91 E-Mail from Kenneth Raske, Pres. & Chief Exec. Officer, Greater N.Y. Hospital Ass’n, to Michael Dowling,

Chief Exec. Officer, Northwell Health (June 30, 2020, 6:00 PM).
92 Adams TI, supra note 954, at 98.
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According to witness testimony, the initial drafts of the report analyzed in-facility and
out-of-facility nursing home deaths.®”® Accordingly, the initial drafts of the report cited the total
nursing home deaths as approximately 10,000.

Dr. Malatras testified that the decision to not include out-of-facility deaths occurred on a
phone call on June 27, 2020.

Dr. Jim Malatras (May 20, 2024)

Q. Who was on that call?
A. It was — I believe it was me, Beth Garvey, Linda Lacewell, Howard
Zucker, Melissa DeRosa, and there could have been some others. I

don’t know. . .

Why was that call called?

A. It was about the nursing home report. ***

Further, Dr. Malatras testified that the decision was made after Ms. DeRosa
“aggressively” questioned Dr. Zucker on out-of-facility death data.

Dr. Jim Malatras (May 20, 2024)

Q. You mentioned earlier a call on June 27", I believe, with Ms.
DeRosa and a variety of other people about the numbers going into
the report. And you said Ms. DeRosa made some demands related

to those numbers. If we could just reiterate what she said on that
call?

A. The call in question was the data that we were provided from
McKinsey, that she forwarded to us after that initial e-mail from
Stephanie Benton, or Governor Cuomo through Stephanie Benton.
It had a whole bunch of data in it, and including the curves and
everything like that in the charts; that included the full in-the-
facilities health care — in the hospitals and in the nursing home
facilities with fatalities. That continued to be the report through all
of those charts, through the June 27® call. I don’t know what
precipitated the change in Ms. DeRosa — something happened. She
talked to somebody. Something triggered a response, which she then
called a meeting, and was very aggressive about questioning the
numbers, why those numbers. Mostly aimed at Dr. Zucker, but we
were — none of us were immune from the — [ would say — passionate

993 Malatras TI, supra note 950, at 160-161; Lacewell TI, supra note 920, at 115; Garvey TI, supra note 918, at 163.
994 Malatras TI, supra note 950, at 106-107.
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interaction. And then, thereafter, she said she does not trust the
numbers. She wants it to be continually be — the numbers that were
publicly reported until, you know, they could do a review on the
numbers.”?>

Dr. Malatras testified it was Ms. DeRosa’s decision to not include out-of-facility nursing
home fatalities.””® He testified that he believed out-of-facility death data should have been
included in the report.

Dr. Jim Malatras (May 20, 2024)

Q. Do you believe those numbers should have been included in the
report?

A. I would have — if T had the authority to do so, I would have included
them, again, so that we wouldn’t be sitting together right now.

Q. Was that discussed among the people who were working on editing
the report?

A. Most people thought the numbers should be out, and that was —
should be the end of it. That’s why they were in the report until the
June — they were in the — all the charts had these numbers until June
27",

Q. You talked about being directed by Ms. DeRosa to make that
change. Did anyone else agree with her —

A. No.

Q. --or was it just she’s the top of the chain, I’'m going to listen?

A. Well, Mr. Zucker — if I remember the call correctly — was trying to
push back a little bit. I think at one point, Ms. Garvey did. There was
some ire turned my way about it, but there — sometimes, as you know
with the principal, there’s not — there’s certain discussions — certain
decisions made of which you don’t — they have ultimate authority
and that was that.

Sure.

A. I followed up with an e-mail afterwards because I was frustrated.

Q. An e-mail saying that you thought —

995 Id.
9% Id. at 106, 206.
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A. No, let me share this. I was the one in the impeachment report that
said no one should have been shocked or surprised by the 10,000
number. You guys gave me — the report with those numbers came
from you. We synthesized the information in the report. We gave
you the report, and now you are criticizing us for things that you
gave us. So [ was frustrated at that moment very much so. And [ was
frustrated by the tone on the call very much so. We were all pretty
exhausted by that point...%"’

However, Ms. DeRosa testified that it was Dr Zucker’s decision to remove out-of-facility
nursing home deaths. Dr. Zucker testified that he stood by the findings of the July 6 Report.**8

Ms. Melissa DeRosa (June 23, 2024)

Q. Is the penultimate conversation the June 27" phone call?

A. I don’t know the actual date, but there was that conversation which
was like the big group conversation which has been reported and
discussed previously. But the questions to DOH not just from me,
but from others including Linda. Including Beth, including other
people, that were looking at this report, because it, was data that had
never been previously published was, has this been vetted or
verified? No. In looking at the cursory numbers, we’ve all agreed
previously that this information has to be audited because it’s
incorrect. Has anything changed? No. Have you done anything to
figure out which information is incorrect? No. How certain are you
of the numbers that are reported from outside facilities that they are
correct? Silence. Are you seriously proposing using numbers in a
report to back a conclusion that the March 25" guidance didn’t
influence bringing COVID into nursing homes, knowing that the
numbers are wrong? Not thinking that they could be wrong but
knowing that they’re wrong? Silence. What do we want to do here,
guys? What do you want to do here? And Zucker said, it doesn’t
alter the conclusion, the ultimate conclusion is the same, so let’s use
the vetted verified numbers, be clear that’s what we’re doing and we
will audit them later. And so it was Zucker’s call. Zucker had to
defend it, Zucker had to put his name on it. As Zucker told the
Assembly, if he disagreed with it, he would not say it out loud. His
name was one it. It was his call...””

97 Id. at 168-169.
998 Zucker T, supra note 905, at 200.
99 DeRosa TI, supra note 910, at 245.
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Prior to the phone call, Ms. Lacewell emailed Executive Chamber staff that the out-of-
facility fatality data was not public.'° Ms. Lacewell also highlighted other concerns related to

other sections of the report—including that New York was not prioritizing nursing homes for
PPE.'%!

one/27720, 1013 av, I =

Privileged and confidential
Attorney Work product

I'm getting more info but here’s what | know so far:
1- on Re admissions we told doh to get the data for about 113 NH that hadn’t responded to
the survey. (I cleared with you MDR at the time). Instead of doing that, DOH reopened the

survey for two days to ALL homes. We are getting who responded or Re-responded.

2- this proposed report includes the number of NH residents who died in hospitals. This
number is not public. Instead of 6,500 deaths it would show 10,000 deaths.

3- Apparently latest draft (I haven’t seen yet) says 30 percent antibodies in staff according to
Bioreference. We need to make sure that’s real and robust and defensible. DOH did not put that
in and doesn’t know anything about it.

4. “Causation” and “cause” are terms of art meaning proved by the data. Latest drafts use
those terms incorrectly and we would be scoffed at. Requires edits.

5. If staff was sick it raises questions about providing PPE to nursing homes. We did a few large

provisions but apparently we have never prioritized NHs for this and STILL do not. This is
problematic. Adding Larry on this issue. We need to fix that. Megan has details.

Dr. Malatras responded, a response previously reported in part in the Impeachment
Report, to Ms. Lacewell’s email to express his concerns with not including out-of-facility
fatalities in the July 6 Report.'%?

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

1000 E_Mail from Executive Chamber Staff to Executive Chamber Staff (June 27, 2020, 10:13 AM).
1001 77

1002 E_Mail from Executive Chamber Staff to Executive Chamber Staff, N.Y. State (June 27, 2020, 10:58 AM).
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Subject: Re: NH report
Date: Saturday, June 27, 2020 at 10:58:23 AM Eastern Daylight Time

To:

Attachments: image001.png

And just so there is clarity here. The 10,000 deaths number should not be a surprise, shock, or anything to
folks. It came from earlier drafts and analysis provide from you all to me that you worked on with McKinsey.
On the briefing call going thru this data it was stated we needed to use the presumed and confirmed or the
curve wouldn't work for the broader community spread argument, given testing was spotty at the beginning.
I'm happy to remove that argument, which came from folks.

Below is the chart from the original McKinsey deck and was in the original draft provided by NYSDOH.
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A subsequent response from Ms. Lacewell confirmed that the June 27 phone call, where
the decision was made to remove out-of-facility deaths, was in response to a question posed by
Ms. DeRosa. While Ms. Lacewell stated that “a [questions] from MDR” and “reason for” the
June 27 phone call, it is unclear Ms. DeRosa asked because the Executive Chamber invoked
attorney client privilege.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]
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Subject: Re: NH report

Date: Saturday, June 27, 2020 at 11:00:36 AM Eastern Daylight Time
From: [
To: ]

Attachments: image001.png
It was a g from MDR and reason for this morning’s call.

Sent from my iPhone

Furthermore, the Select Subcommittee is aware of additional communications regarding
the June 27 call. However, as of December 4, 2024, the Executive Chamber has yet to produce

them.

In response to questions related to the Executive Chamber’s decision to remove out-of-
facility deaths from the July 6 Report, Mr. Cuomo remarked “[w]ho cares.”

Mr. Andrew Cuomo (June 11, 2024)

Q. Do you — and Ms. Lacewell confirmed this as well, that drafts of the
report before the phone call had the 9,844 number in it, and drafts
of the report after the phone call had 6,432. Do you recall any
conversations about that?

A. No, but I don’t know how to express — let’s say there’s a 3,000
differential, 2,500. Who cares? What difference does it make in any
dimension to anyone about anything? Do you know what I’'m
saying?!903

FINDING: The New York Executive Chamber Made the Decision to Not Publicly Report
Out-of-Facility Deaths.

Dr. Malatras testified that Ms. DeRosa made the decision to change the methodologies in
which nursing home fatalities were publicly accounted for and reported. %%

Dr. Jim Malatras (May 20, 2024)

Q. But to be clear, what you’re testifying is that Melissa DeRosa was
involved in the decision to change the methodology that was used
throughout the pandemic?

1003 Cuomo TI, supra note 907, at 289.
1004 Malatras TI, supra note 950, at 143-144.
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‘ A. It was her decision. ‘

Dr. Malatras testified that Ms. DeRosa did not “trust the numbers” related to reporting
out-of-facility fatalities and made the decision to exclude them. ! Similarly, Ms. DeRosa
testified that the out-of-facility “numbers were wrong.”

Dr. Jim Malatras (May 20, 2024)

Q. ... Do you know what necessitated the administration making this
change?

A. This is a question of location?
Yes.

A. Yeah, this is — this is the same issue. My understanding was even

after the audit — I don’t know. You have to ask them about why they
didn’t do it after the audit. But prior to the audit conducted by Gareth
Rhodes, Ms. DeRosa said she didn’t trust the numbers.

Q. ... This decision to change the methodology to exclude nursing
home deaths would have been approved by Ms. DeRosa?

A. Correct. 00

According to witness testimony, the Executive Chamber was advised by numerous
officials to release the full accounting of nursing home fatalities. Mr. Rhodes testified that he was
ordered by Ms. DeRosa to conduct an audit of NYSDOH data following a hearing in August
2020.'%7 Mr. Rhodes testified that Ms. DeRosa was concerned with double counting.

Mr. Gareth Rhodes (May 3, 2024)

Q. But isn’t it true . . . that after this hearing you were ordered to
conduct an audit of the Department of Health’s data?

A. I recall it like a common sense review of a data set that [ was asked
to, you know, go over and sit down with their staff and go through
it line by line and make sure there were no discrepancies or any

inconsistencies.
Q. ...[W]ho ordered you to conduct this audit?
A. Melissa asked me to go over there and do this review.

1005 14 at 147.
1006 DeRosa TI, supra note 910, at 55.
1007 Rhodes T1, supra note 950, at 116-117.
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Did she explain why?

A. I don’t recall really the conversation, just, you know, can you — what
— you know, do you mind going there and taking a look at this. I
think there was — I think she — I remember she mentioning like
double-counting or like she wanted me to make sure that the
numbers didn’t have inaccuracies or inconsistencies. '

Mr. Rhodes testified that it took no longer than a week to complete his audit of the
nursing home fatality data and that he flagged “maybe 600” entries as “inconsistent.”

Mr. Gareth Rhodes (May 3, 2024)

Q. ... [C]an you just provide a general summary of what you found?

A. To the best of my recollection, this was some time ago, there was
like an Excel spreadsheet on a DOH computer. For every fatality
there was like a line that had like the initials, it had the facility, it
had date of admission, date of death, like the comorbidities. I had
like — like ran some like Excel formulas. Was really looking to see
is there anything here like — I am not a data scientist. I was more
looking at this like a commonsense kind of approach. And I was
looking for things like — you know, anything that looked
inconsistent. And I think I flagged maybe 600 or so entries that had
some sort of thing that could be considered inconsistent. Like
someone had been marked as having passed away like before they
had been admitted. There were like some cases of people who were
confirmed to have died of COVID before COVID had been reported
in New York. 9%

Mr. Rhodes identified himself as the Task Force member in the Impeachment Report that
advised the Executive Chamber to release the full data set.!?! Mr. Rhodes testified that he
believed his audit to be sufficient and believed that the full data set should have been released
with a disclaimer related to the inconsistencies.

Mr. Gareth Rhodes (May 3, 2024)

Q. But for the record, you are testifying today that you did support
releasing the numbers in August of 20207

A. Yes.

1008 Id.
1009 14 at 118-119.
1010 jd at 121.
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Q. And do you recall why you supported releasing the numbers?

A. In my view — as part of my kind of review of these numbers, I
thought maybe my review, you know, was — you know, I thought I
had done my job. I found kind of any discrepancies, I identified
them. We could — Department of Health could maybe follow up on
the discrepancies and that would be — you know, if there were any
concerns, you know, about the inconsistencies like maybe my
review had helped resolve those, I was not sure, but like at least
maybe provided some — some input or helpfulness on that side. And
that — you know, there’s mention here about the legislature had
written a letter requesting the numbers and, you know, I thought that
it made sense to put those — put the numbers in that letter and then
maybe add an asterisk that said, you know, review had found maybe
there were 600 that were continued to be follow up on. Those — just
as a note that those were being validated. That’s what I thought just
made sense based on what my review was. %!

Similarly, Dr. Zucker testified that he was the Senior NYSDOH Official in the
Impeachment Report that prepared a letter in August 2020 that reported the full number of
nursing home fatalities to the legislature.'°'? He testified that he also prepared a second letter in
October 2020 that was never approved.

Dr. Howard Zucker (December 18, 2023)

Q. So based on the Impeachment Report, does it follow that there were
nursing home numbers that included residents that were transferred
to the hospital that the Executive chose not to release in August of
2020?

A. But the numbers — I’'m unclear. I’'m unclear what the question is.
What I’'m reading here says that the letter that we put together, which
had all the numbers, and it did not go back to the legislature. That’s
how I determine it. I’'m not sure about what you asked me about
August 20, 2020. Right, that was the letter. Right, there were letters
that were sent over there. There were, I think, two letters. Well, there
was one official letter, and I think that was information that went
over there as well, saying these are the number of deaths, and that
came from the Department, you know, from the Department
probably prior to — put together prior to my August testimony.

Q. At this point were you comfortable when you sent the letter over,
were you comfortable with the numbers?

1011 77 at 122-123.
1012 Zucker TI, supra note 905, at 179-180.
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A. The letter that I sent over in October, I was totally comfortable with.
That was the number of deaths at that time.'%!3

Dr. Zucker believed that the numbers did not need to be audited further, and by not
releasing the data the Cuomo Administration was simply “delaying.”

Dr. Howard Zucker (December 18, 2023)

Q. Do you believe that [the number of deaths] needed to be audited
further?

A. No. No. I felt that this letter should go.

Q. And again, this is your personal opinion. At this point any delay in
releasing the numbers was just a delay?

A. Yeah, I felt it was a delay. I felt it should go out, and I will be the
first to say that I raised it multiple times about getting them out, and
had some days that I thought if they were so worried about
something then they should put it out on X day or Y day. So like
Thanksgiving. 114

Mr. Cuomo testified that he neither recalled Mr. Rhodes nor Dr. Zucker advising him to
release the full data set.'°' In response to Mr. Rhodes’ audit, Mr. Cuomo noted that Mr. Rhodes
“wasn’t an auditor.”!%'® Mr. Cuomo testified that Mr. Rhodes would not have advised releasing
the numbers. 10!

In response to the letters that Dr. Zucker drafted releasing the full data set, Mr. Cuomo
denied ever reviewing them, saying that those letters would have been reviewed by the attorneys
responding to the DOJ inquiry.'*'® Mr. Cuomo testified that the Executive Chamber had notified
the New York state Legislature that they would release out-of-facility death totals in January
2021.

Mr. Andrew Cuomo (June 11, 2024)

Q. It’s been widely reported that on a phone call with the legislature,
Ms. DeRosa said the state froze in response to the DOJ’s request. Is
that the situation you’re referencing?

1013 17 at 180-181.

1014 Zucker TI, supra note 905, at 181.
1015 Cuomo TI, supra note 907, at 275.
1016 Id

1017 14 at 276.

1018 77 at 279.

Page 263 of 520




A. Froze meaning we had to make sure everything was careful. We had
to be careful and make sure everything was right. That’s what she
was referring to. They both made requests at about the same time.
The legislature made a request about August, the DOJ letter comes
in about August. We called the legislative leaders and say, Can we
do it in January because we have to be very careful because we have
this purely political witch hunt going on at the Department of Justice
run by two really bad guys. And that’s what she’s referring to.

Q. You mention that you asked the legislature if you could pause
responding...[WTho specifically spoke to the legislature from your
office?

A. It would have been the governmental person, it could have been

Beth or if it was the counsel or it could have been Melissa.

Q. You’re saying that in August of 2020, you asked to wait until
January 2021?

A. Somewhere around there, yeah. %"

Ms. DeRosa similarly testified that because of the ongoing DOJ investigation there was
an agreement with the legislature to delay releasing the numbers until January 2021.

Ms. Melissa DeRosa (June 23, 2024)

Q. What happened to [Dr. Zucker’s] letter? Did it make its way to the
legislature?

A. No, the plan stayed the same. We were going to get back to [the
legislature] in January with the hearing with the agreement that we
had reached with the leaders.

Q.  Why?

A. Well, I can give the reason I believe. I don’t remember, like — I don’t
remember having any thought towards this in realtime. But after the
Jeff Clark letter came in on October 28™, it was sort of like back to
square zero, if that makes any sense. We were now in a situation
where we were dealing with the Department of Justice, they had a
fresh inquiry, and we needed to be responding to them. And while
we did that, we were waiting on the legislature. We had every

1019 14, at 282.
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intention of keeping our word to the legislature, which was to get
back to them by their first hearing when they came back and
resumed session in January. But that was not our priority. Our
priority was getting back to DOJ.!02°

FINDING: Mr. Andrew Cuomo Acted in a Manner Consistent with an Attempt to
Inappropriately Influence the Testimony of a Witness and Obstruct the Select
Subcommittee’s Investigation.

Dr. Malatras was the only Executive Chamber official to testify to the Mr. Cuomo’s
involvement in the July 6 Report prior to Ms. Kennedy testifying similarly on October 8,
2024.192! Senior Executive Chamber officials involved with the July 6 Report, including Ms.
DeRosa, Ms. Lacewell, and Ms. Garvey, testified that they had no knowledge or recollection of
Mr. Cuomo being involved in the July 6 Report.'%?

Dr. Malatras testified about his most recent communications with former Governor
Cuomo.

Dr. James Malatras (May 20, 2024)

Q. Since January 2023, have you had any conversations with the former
governor... about our investigation?

A. I have had no conversations with the governor since sometime in
early 2021. He did text me several times to check in. The latest time
he texted me was February 18" of this year, I believe, just to say I
hope you’re doing well, things like that. I did not respond. .. %%

It is the Select Subcommittee’s understanding that, at the time of his transcribed
interview, Dr. Malatras did not respond to any of the text messages he received from Mr. Cuomo
and, consistent with his testimony, the Select Subcommittee stated Dr. Malatras had not “spoken’
to former Governor Cuomo since 2021.

b

Subsequent to Dr. Malatras’ transcribed interview, the Select Subcommittee requested the
referenced text message from Mr. Cuomo to Dr. Malatras from February 18, 2024.19%

1020 DeRosa TI, supra note 910, at 83.

1021 M. Kennedy testified to the involvement of Mr. Cuomo after reviewing documents obtained by the Select
Subcommittee.

1022 Garvey TI, supra note 918, at 163; Lacewell TL, supra note 920, at 58; DeRosa TI, supra note 910, at 238.

1023 Malatras TI, supra note 950, at 30.

1024 Text from Andrew Cuomo, former Governor of New York, to Dr. Jim Malatras, former Advisor to the Governor
(Feb. 18, 2024).
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Andrew

Hello Jim, now that the
dust has settled, and the
truth is being revealed, |
wanted to check in with
you and see how you are
doing. | am sure you will
do well because quality
and talent always wins in
the end. All the best,
Andrew

Considering the timing of this text message—within 48 hours of the Select Subcommittee
publicly announcing its request for Dr. Malatras’ testimony—and the fact that he had not spoken
with former Governor Cuomo since 2021, the Select Subcommittee determined:

...this text message raises concerns that Mr. Cuomo may have been trying
to influence Dr. Malatras’ testimony and obstruct the Select Subcommittee’s
investigation.

Mr. Cuomo testified the text message was “it’s just a nice note” and that he was not aware
of the Select Subcommittee’s letter to Dr. Malatras.

Mr. Andrew Cuomo (June 11, 2024)

Q. [The text was sent] 48 hours after Dr. Malatras received an invitation
to testify before us.

A. I hadn’t spoken to Jim. I don’t think I spoke to him since this period
of time period. I think this was just saying — he went through a very
tough time and was forced to resign from the state university system,
and I think I’m saying to him — I think that’s what this is in reference
to... There was also ongoing conversations with Jim and litigation
with him and I’ve known him a long time. He’s a great fellow and
he was getting beaten up, and I think I was just saying to him, you
know, you’re a good man.

Q. To the best of your recollection, when was the last time you
contacted Dr. Malatras before this text?

A. I don’t think I’ve spoken to Jim since I left as governor.
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I guess it’s just a coincidence that Dr. Malatras got this text message
within two days of getting an invitation to testify on nursing homes.

I didn’t know that Jim — I haven’t had — I haven’t had conversations
with Jim. Jim never told me he was coming here to testify.

Were you aware that he received a letter, though?
No.

So this text wasn’t — you weren’t trying to influence his testimony
in any way by sending this text message?

No.
Have you attempted to influence the testimony of any witness
providing information concerning your administration’s response to

this Select Subcommittee?

No. By the way, this is just a nice note to a person.

I don’t ask to speak with him. I don’t suggest anything. It’s just a
nice note. %%

On September 9, 2024, Counsel for Mr. Cuomo e-mailed Select Subcommittee staff to
express her objections regarding the Select Subcommittee’s determination regarding this text

I explained that there was nothing nefarious about this text from which you
could suggest Governor Cuomo may have been trying to influence Dr.
Malatras’s testimony or obstruct the Subcommittee’s investigation...

I told you that if Dr. Malatras did not understand this innocuous text in that
way, you could not suggest something nefarious by Governor Cuomo and
you should note that Dr. Malatras did not testify he understood or thought
there may have been a nefarious purpose...

The RSM [Republican Staff Memo] deliberately misleads the public by
omitting...the fact that [Dr. Malatras] never told you that he understood the
text message to be an effort to improperly influence him or obstruct this

1025 Cuomo TI, supra note 907.

1026 E_Mail from Ms. Rita Glavin, Counsel for Mr. Andrew Cuomo, to Select Subcommittee Staff (Sept. 9, 2024,
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investigation. Your suggestions that Governor Cuomo may have been
attempting violate [sic] the law are entirely unsupported.

To address Counsel for Mr. Cuomo’s concerns, Select Subcommittee staff replied and
stated:

Since Dr. Malatras was not asked explicitly how he [interpreted] the text, it
is likely we send an interrogatory to Dr. Malatras to ask him what his
interpretations or feelings were. Once we receive his response, we will make
sure the memo is updated top [sic] include both his testimony and Mr.
Cuomo’s. %%’

Counsel for Mr. Cuomo went further than simply expressing her objections and
“reminded” Select Subcommittee staff of their ethical obligations.!*?® Counsel for Mr. Cuomo
did this by referencing two staffers’ applicable state bar rules—meaning she researched their
state bar numbers—and cited the disbarment case against former New York City Mayor Rudolph
Guiliani.'%% A reasonable person may perceive this “reminder” as a threat to file disbarment
complaints against those staffers. This is not the first time that Counsel for Mr. Cuomo has
resorted to such intimidation tactics on Select Subcommittee staff, !%%°

On September 26, 2024, to address Counsel for Mr. Cuomo’s objections, the Select
Subcommittee sent interrogatories to Dr. Malatras.'*! These interrogatories were targeted to
address Counsel for Mr. Cuomo’s concerns, including whether there were more communications
between Mr. Cuomo and Dr. Malatras, and how Dr. Malatras interpreted the communications. On
September 19, 2024, the Select Subcommittee received Dr. Malatras’ supplemental testimony. !9

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

1027 E_Mail from Select Subcommittee Staff to Ms. Rita Glavin, Counsel for Andrew Cuomo (Sept. 10, 2024, 10:58
AM).

1028 E_Mail from Ms. Rita Glavin, Counsel for Mr. Andrew Cuomo, supra note 1026; See also, Dan Diamond,
Andrew Cuomo, once a pandemic star, grilled by Congress over pandemic missteps, THE WASH. POST. (Sept. 10,
2024) (“Rich Azzopardi, a Cuomo spokesman, said his colleagues were ‘reminding’ House lawyers that there were
consequences for making “false and misleading” statements in the report that Republicans issued Monday. ‘I do
think lawyers have an ethical obligation to tell the truth, and I don’t think there’s a lot of that in this report,’
Azzopardi said.”).

1029 Id

1030 E-Mail from Ms. Rita Glavin, Counsel for Mr. Andrew Cuomo, to Select Subcommittee Staff (Mar. 8, 2024,
5:07 PM).

1031 Tetter from Brad Wenstrup, D.P.M., Chairman, Select Subcomm. on the Coronavirus Pandemic, H. Comm. on
Oversight & Accountability, to James Malatras, Former Advisor, Governor of the States of N.Y., (Sept. 16, 2024).
1032 T etter from James Malatras, Former Advisor, Governor of the States of N.Y., to Brad Wenstrup, D.P.M.,
Chairman, Select Subcomm. on the Coronavirus Pandemic, H. Comm. on Oversight & Accountability (Sept. 19,
2024) [hereinafter “Malatras Letter”].
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Timeline of Communications between former Governor Cuomo and Dr. Malatras

May

17, 2023:

The Select Subcommittee held a hearing entitled, “Like Fire Through Dry

Grass: Nursing Home Mortality & COVID-19 Policies.”%? At this
hearing, Members of the Select Subcommittee questioned, on a bipartisan
basis, Mr. Cuomo’s March 25 Directive and the data regarding how the

State of New York calculated nursing home deaths.

1034

LIKE FIRE THROUGH DRY GRASS:
NURSING HOME MORTALITY AND
COVID-19 POLICIES

HEARING
SELECT SUB( ‘(L\|.\II'I"I')‘IIE ll‘: THE CORONAVIRUS
PANDEMIC
COMMITTEE ON OVERSIGHT AND
ACCOUNTABILITY
HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

ONE HUNDRED EIG

H CONGRESS

Serial No. 118-33

{ the Camenittos an Oversght and Acomntsbility

jnr
&3

Chairman Brad Wenstrup (May 17, 2023)

...Today we heard concerning testimony
regarding the manipulation of data from
Governor Cuomo’s own office. The Biden
Department of Justice chose not to investigate
the state orders nor the ensuing coverup. We
will.

The Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus
Pandemic will continue to examine the deadly
policy decisions surrounding nursing homes,
and we will continue to investigate the failed
leadership of state officials during the
COVID-19 pandemic.

Chairman Wenstrup promised a thorough investigation into New York
nursing home mortality and policies.!®** The Chairman specifically noted
that the Select Subcommittee would investigate the March 25 Directive,
the issues surrounding the potential concealment of applicable nursing
home data, and the July 6 Report.

Considering Dr. Malatras’ position on Mr. Cuomo’s Task Force and his
mvolvement in the July 6 Report, including on the issues surrounding
nursing home data, it would be logical for Mr. Cuomo to safely assume
that Dr. Malatras would likely be a witness in the Select Subcommittee’s
mvestigation and have information potentially damaging to Mr. Cuomo.

May

18, 2023:

Within 24 hours of the Select Subcommittee holding its first hearing on its

mvestigation into New York nursing homes and for the first time since
early 2021, Mr. Cuomo contacted Dr. Malatras. Mr. Cuomo sent the
following text message to Dr. Malatras. Dr. Malatras did not respond.

1033 1 jke Fire Through Dry Grass, supra note 934.

1034 Id.
1035 Id.
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S LAC

Andrew

iMessage
May 18, 2023 at 4:43PM

Hello Jim, Andrew
Cuomo here. It's been a
long time. | just want you
to know | think about you
often. | am very sorry for
the pain you went
through. It was unfair
and mean. | am sorry
that | was the lightning
rod that hurt you. |
always knew politics was
a nasty business but the
level surprised even me. |
hear you are doing well
and if there's anything |
can ever do to help you
of course | will. | know it
hurts. Just remember life
has chapters and how

+

e L AC

Andrew
trouygrl. ic wds uridii

and mean. | am sorry
that | was the lightning
rod that hurt you. |
always knew politics was
a nasty business but the
level surprised even me. |
hear you are doing well
and if there's anything |
can ever do to help you
of course | will. | know it
hurts. Just remember life
has chapters and how
we end the last one is
how we begin the next
one. getting knocked on
your ass hurts but it's the
getting up that makes
the man. Again I'm sorry
to of been the source of
your pain. Best regards.

February 16, 2024: The Select Subcommittee requested Dr. Malatras’ testimony at a voluntary
transcribed interview. !¢ The New York Post publicly reported the Select
Subcommittee’s request to Dr. Malatras. %7

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

1036 [_etter from Brad Wenstrup, D.P.M., Chairman, Select Subcomm. on the Coronavirus Pandemic, H. Comm. on
Oversight & Accountability, to James Malatras, Former Advisor, Governor of the States of N.Y. (Feb. 16, 2024).

1037 Victor Nava, House COVID-19 panel requests testimony from 4 former Cuomo admin officials, N.Y. POST (Feb.
16, 2024) (While the former Governor testified that he was not aware that the Select Subcommittee had requested
Mr. Malatras’ testimony, his spokesman, Rich Azzopardi was able to provide a statement on his behalf to this article
in response to the Select Subcomittee’s requests for transcribed interviews with Mr. Malatras’ and others).
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ONE HUNDRED EIGHTEENTH CONGRESS.

Congress of the United States

THouse of Repregentatives

SELECT SUBCOMMITTEE ON THE CORONAVIRUS PANDEMIC H o u se COVI D-1 9 pa n el requests

testimony from 4 former Cuomo admin
February 16, 2024 Oﬁ icials

Mr. James Malatras

Former Advisor to the Governor Victor Nava
y Vict va
State of New York By Victor Nav
[TRANSMITTED VIA EMAIL] Published Feb. 16, 2024, 46 p.m ET

Dear Mr. Malatras:

‘The Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus Pandemic (Select Subcommittee) requests
‘your testimony at an in person transcribed interview on March 27, 2024. If you do not
voluntarily appear for the interview, we will be forced to evaluate the use of the compulsory
process to further our oversight investigation.

The House Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus Pandemic has asked four former members of
The Select Subcommittee is authorized to investigate “the implementation or _ ) - . &
effectiveness of any Federal law o regulation applied, enacted, o under consideration to address disgraced New York ex-Gov. Andrew Cuomo's adminisiration to testify on “must admit” orders issued to

the coronavirus pandemic and prepare for future pandemics” under H. Res. 5. To discuss the a - .
interview or ask related questions please contact Select Subcommittee staff at (202) 225-5074. =g homes at the onset of the COVID-19 Danderﬂ .

Thank you for your attention to this very important matter.

Letters were sent out Fniday to Elizabsth Garvey, a former special counselor and senior adviser to
Sincerely, Cuomo; Gareth Rhodes, the former deputy superintendent of New York's Depariment of Financial

Services, James Malatras, the ex-governor's former policy adviser, and Linda Lacewell, the former
Z_’ "D”E 53%@5 superintendent of the Department of Financial Services
Nicole Malliotakis

Brad Wenstrup, D.P.M.

Chairman Member of Congress The letters requested that they sit for in person transcribed interviews before the Republican-led panel
Select Subcommittee on the -

Coronavirus Pandemic investigating government actions in response to the COVID-19 outbreak.

ce: The Honorable Raul Ruiz, M.D., Ranking Member Chairman Brad Wenstrup (R-Ohio) and Rep. Nicole Malliotakis (R-NY) warned the foursome that the

Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus Pandemic

commiitee “will be forced to evaluate the use of the compulsory” measures if they don't appear for the
voluntary interviews next month

February 18, 2024: Within 48 hours of the Select Subcommittee’s letter, and for the second
time since 2021, Mr. Cuomo contacted Dr. Malatras again.

Andrew
Sun, Feb 18 at 9:58 AM

Hello Jim, now that the
dust has settled, and the
truth is being revealed, |
wanted to check in with
you and see how you are
doing. | am sure you will
do well because quality
and talent always wins in
the end. All the best,
Andrew

In response to interrogatories from the Select Subcommittee, Dr. Malatras
stated that he believed this text to be in response to the Select
Subcommittee’s letter.'%3® Further, Dr. Malatras stated that this text
message was a “flare—or signal—alerting [him] that [former Governor
Cuomo] was aware” of Dr. Malatras’ upcoming testimony.

Dr. James Malatras (September 19, 2024)

1038 Malatras Letter, supra note 1032.

Page 271 of 520




Dr. Malatras, to you, was the February 18, 2024 text message from
Mr. Cuomo to you in response to the Select Subcommittee’s
invitation for your testimony?

Yes.

Dr. Malatras, how did you interpret the content of the February 18,
2024 text message from Mr. Cuomo to you?

[ took it as a type of flare—or signal— alerting me that he was aware
that the House Select Subcommittee had requested that I testify on
issues related to the administration’s handling of the Covid-19

response. %

July 15, 2024:

After negotiating for a week, the Select Subcommittee, Mr. Cuomo, and
Counsel for Mr. Cuomo agreed to a public hearing on September 10, 2024
with Mr. Cuomo as the sole witness. To secure Mr. Cuomo’s voluntary
cooperation, the Select Subcommittee agreed to not publicly announce the
date until required pursuant to the rules of the Committee on Oversight

and Accountability—seven days prior to the hearing date. !4

July 15, 2024:

The same day the hearing was confirmed and for the first time in more
than three years, Mr. Cuomo called Dr. Malatras.!*! Dr. Malatras did not

answer.!'%*? Mr. Cuomo followed up by text.!%4

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]
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1040 E_Mail from Ms. Rita Glavin, Counsel for Andrew Cuomo, to Select Subcommittee Staff (July 15, 2024, 6:38

PM).

1041 Malatras Letter, supra note 1032.

1042 Id
1043 Id
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Andrew
Mon, Jul 15 at 8:25 AM

Hello my friend, Andrew
Cuomo here. Give me a
buzz when you get a
chance please . nothing
urgent. | hope all is good
with you.

Hi Governor, I'm on the
train right now with

spotty reception so | will
call you later.

Delivered

Great | will be around
this afternoon. Thank
you.

Dr. Malatras stated that he and Mr. Cuomo spoke later that day around
5:00 p.m. for about half an hour and Mr. Cuomo discussed his upcoming
testimony before the Select Subcommittee and the nursing home
investigation specifically.'*** Dr. Malatras stated that he did not engage in
that conversation because he was “uncomfortable.”

As far as the Select Subcommittee is aware, at the time of this call, Mr.
Cuomo and his Counsel were the only ones, outside of the Select
Subcommittee, with knowledge of the upcoming hearing.

Dr. James Malatras (September 17, 2024)

Q. Dr. Malatras, have you been contacted by Mr. Cuomo since your
May 20, 2024 interview before the Select Subcommittee?

A. Yes.

Q. ...[D]Jid Mr. Cuomo discuss issues related to the Select
Subcommittee?

A. Yes.
...[W]hat topics?

A. Governor Cuomo started the call by mentioning he would be
testifying publicly in front of the House Select Subcommittee. As

1044 1d.
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part of the conversation he spoke about nursing homes, specifically
describing how the story in New York was much better than I even
knew it to be and mentioned several facts and datapoints to
demonstrate his point. I don’t recall the exact details of the facts or
datapoints but recall generally that he mentioned that New York’s
nursing home numbers in comparison to other states were even
better than first thought.

...[H]Jow did you interpret the phone call?

A. For the portion of the call regarding the Select Subcommittee, |
interpreted the call as an effort to make me aware of the positive
information about which he intended to testify. I only listened and
did not respond to his discussion on nursing homes, because I was
uncomfortable having to potentially contradict or disagree with
Governor Cuomo on the call, or somehow prejudicing the upcoming
Select Subcommittee hearing by discussing it at all.!**

FINDING: Andrew Cuomo Likely Gave False Statements to the Select Subcommittee in
Violation of 18 U.S.C. 1001.

The Select Subcommittee believes that Mr. Cuomo made false statements about his
involvement in and knowledge of the drafting of the July 6 Report. On October 30, 2024, The
Select Subcommittee referred Mr. Cuomo to DOJ pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1001.1046

That same day, Mr. Cuomo, via Counsel, transmitted a referral of the Select
Subcommittee to DOJ for no articulated violation of law, but instead, a vague reference to
“misuse of government resources and the invasion of state prerogatives.”'®” As a preliminary
matter, this referral has no basis in fact. Additionally, Mr. Cuomo’s Counsel intentionally
truncated the Select Subcommittee’s jurisdiction in an apparent attempt to give the appearance of
a lack of jurisdiction.!®® Further, it appears that Mr. Cuomo’s position is that a citizen of the U.S.
no longer retains their First Amendment Right and is disallowed from petitioning their
government, if they are simultaneously availing themselves of the justice system. This position is
in clear divergence with the rights afforded to Americans and runs afoul of the founding
principles of the U.S.

1045 Id

1046 [_etter from Hon. Brad Wenstrup, Chairman, Select Subcomm. on the Coronavirus Pandemic, H. Comm. on
Oversight & Accountability, to Hon. Merrick Garland, Attorney General, Dep’t of Justice (Oct. 30, 2024); Referral
of Andrew M. Cuomo, Select Subcomm. on the Coronavirus Pandemic (Oct. 30, 2024).

1047 Letter from Sarah Sulkowski, Counsel for Andrew Cuomo, to Hon. Merrick Garland, Attorney Gen., U.S. Dep’t
of Justice (Oct. 30, 2024).

1048 77
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Subsequent to the referral, Mr. Cuomo, again via Counsel, transmitted a letter to DOJ in
his defense of the Select Subcommittee’s referral. % In this letter, Counsel for Mr. Cuomo
stated, “[t]he grotesque political nature of the Wenstrup Referral is also revealed by its inclusion
of a footnote that cites to the discredited, biased, and hopelessly flawed investigation of sexual

harassment allegations against Governor Cuomo by the New York Attorney General
(“OAG”).”IOSO

Mr. Cuomo’s aversion to the New York Attorney General in this case is contradictory to
Mr. Cuomo’s praise for the Attorney General at his public hearing before the Select
Subcommittee.

The Attorney General of New York, who governs the New York law and
interprets the New York law, found exactly contrary to what you are
saying, and said it repeatedly, and you know she said it repeatedly.

ook sk

The March 25 guidance was consistent with the CMS guidance. The March
25 guidance was consistent with the CMS guidance if nursing homes have
the ability to adhere to infection prevention and control recommendations.
It was also consistent with CDC-published transmission-based precautions.
That’s the attorney general’s position and opinion, and that’s the law
of the state of New York.'"!

1049 T etter from Ms. Rita Glavin, Counsel for Andrew Cuomo, to Hon. Merrick Garland, Att’y Gen., U.S. Dep’t of
Justice (Oct. 31, 2024).

1050 Id

1051 A Hearing with Former New York Governor Andrew Cuomo: Hearing Before Select Subcomm. on the
Coronavirus Pandemic, 118™ Cong. 2 (Sept. 10, 2024) [hereinafter “Cuomo Hearing”].
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VIII. While Testing for COVID-19 Was Flawed, Utilizing Public-Private Partnerships
Resulted in Readily Available and Accurate Tests

Historically, the CDC has taken the lead on developing tests for new diseases and
distributing the tests through the public health laboratory network.'%? Once the genetic sequence
of COVID-19 was identified, the CDC assumed initial responsibility for developing COVID-19
test kits.!%* The agency produced a diagnostic test, which was distributed to public health
laboratories in early February 2020.!°%* However, issues with the test's accuracy led to delays in
widespread testing. The FDA began issuing EUAs'®? in February 2020 to allow labs and
manufacturers to develop, validate, and distribute COVID-19 tests.!%® EUAs allowed for quicker
deployment of tests without going through the typical, lengthier approval process.

As the CDC’s tests were limited and, therefore, hindered testing capacity, the federal
government encouraged private companies and laboratories to develop their own tests. In March
2020, commercial laboratories, such as Quest Diagnostics and LabCorp, were approved to
develop and distribute tests, which significantly expanded testing capacity.'%” Additionally, the
federal government partnered with private industry to increase testing capabilities, including the
launch of drive-through testing sites in collaboration with companies like Walmart, Walgreens,
CVS, and others.!%® The COVID-19 Testing Supply Chain Stabilization Task Force was also
created to address shortages of testing materials. !9’

In addition to developing and distributing tests, the federal government also issued testing
guidance. Early on in March 2020, the CDC'’s testing guidelines prioritized people who were
symptomatic, had traveled to affected areas, or were exposed to confirmed cases.!?° Healthcare
workers and those in critical roles were also prioritized due to limited testing capacity.'%! As
testing availability expanded by June of 2020, the CDC updated its guidelines to include
asymptomatic individuals, especially those in high-risk settings like long-term care facilities or
prisons.!'%? The guidance gradually shifted to encourage broader testing.

1052J.S. DEP’T OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES OFFICE OF INSPECTOR GENERAL, A-04-20-02027, CDC's Internal
Control Weaknesses led to its initial COVID-19 Test Kit Failure, but CDC Ultimately Created a Working Test Kit, at
4-5 (Oct. 2023) [hereinafter “HHS IG report”].

1053 Id. at 6.

1054 Id

1055 See below, “The Review of Pfizer’s Biologics License Application,” pg. 311.

1056 HHS 1G report, supra note 1502, at 6, figure 2.

1057 Noah Weiland & Katie Thomas, Trump Administration Moves to Speed Coronavirus Testing, THE N.Y. TIMES
(Mar. 13, 2020).

1058 Amy Goldstein, et al., Trump says he will partner with private sector to expand coronavirus testing but details
are sketchy, THE WASH. POST (Mar. 13, 2020).

1059 FEMA COVID-19 Supply Chain Task Force: Supply Chain Stabilization, FEMA.

1060 Roni Caryn Rabib & Katie Thomas, Coronavirus Testing Offered With Just a Doctor s Approval, C.D.C. Says,
THE N.Y. TIMES (Mar. 4, 2020).

1061 Carolyn Y. Johnson, et al., In hard-hit areas, testing restricted to health care workers, hospital patients, THE
WASH. POST (Mar. 21, 2020).

1062 COVID-19 timeline, U.S. CTRS. FOR DISEASE AND CONTROL (June 13, 2020) (CDC releases consolidated
guidelines for COVID-19 testing— including for nursing homes, long-term care facilities, and high-density critical
infrastructure workplaces, like food production facilities.)
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The federal government also provided funding to facilitate testing. There was significant
financial support for testing through the CARES Act, which allocated billions of dollars for
testing and disease surveillance.!%* This funding helped expand testing sites, purchase testing
supplies, and support state and local public health efforts. The Health Care Enhancement Act
allocated an additional $25 billion for testing, including funds for states, territories, and tribes to
develop testing plans and increase capacity. '

FINDING: Career Scientists at the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
Undermined Trust in Public Health by Overpromising and Underdelivering Early
Testing Kits, Including Knowingly Putting Tests with a High Failure Rate on the
Market Without Appropriate Disclosures.

In the early stages of the pandemic, states sent samples to the CDC, which then tested
those samples in its labs.!%> Although the CDC has limited capacity to conduct these tests, Dr.
Redfield testified that samples from states were not refused by the CDC, albeit it may have taken
several days to test those samples.!°® States wanted their own test kits so that they could test
their own samples, and the CDC sought to facilitate that request.

Dr. Redfield was not involved in the CDC’s development of these test kits.!%” In fact,
Dr. Redfield testified that the CDC is “not a manufacturing company [and] had [he] been
involved in those decisions at the time, [he] would have recommended a contract manufacturing
company manufacture [the test kits].” 1%

While the CDC’s career scientists’ desire to quickly develop these test kits was laudable,
the execution was disastrous. These career scientists assured the public that reliable, widespread
testing would soon be accessible, helping to contain outbreaks and protect public health. %%
These officials opted to develop their own test kits rather than use tests already approved and
distributed internationally 1°’® or seek assistance from industry. This slowed the process
significantly and prevented wider access to testing.

The CDC’s first batch of COVID-19 test kits, distributed in February 2020, were found to
be faulty due to contamination issues.!’! These tests that were rushed to market without

1063 See, CARES Act, supra note 396.

1064 Id

1065 Transcribed Interview of Robert Redfield, M.D., Former Dir., U.S. Ctrs. for Disease and Control, at 43 (Mar. 17,
2022).

1066 17

1067 Id. at 75 (“There were people at the states, obviously a number of them said it would be easier for them if they
could do the tests themselves. And people at CDC had decided that they would try to facilitate that. And this is not
something I was engaged in the decision making at the time. But the lab group and the incident command group
decided that the lab team would develop reagents that then they would distribute to the public health labs.”).

1068 Id.

1069 Arman Azad, WHO and CDC never discussed providing international test kits to the US, global health agency
says, CNN (Mar. 18, 2020).

1070 Id.

1971 Dina Temple-Raston, CDC Report: Officials Knew Coronavirus Test Was Flawed But Released It Anyway, NPR
(Nov. 6, 2020).
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sufficient validation had high failure rates. These included both false positives and false
negatives, which undermined the reliability of testing as a public health tool.'%”

However, within weeks of distribution, it was discovered that the tests were producing
inconclusive results due to a flaw in one of the components used in the chemical analysis
(referred to as a “reagent”) of the collected sample. !’ This flaw led to a significant delay in the
ability of public health labs to conduct tests, leaving the U.S. blind to the early spread of the
virus. These issues led to delays in testing at a critical time when the virus was beginning to
spread widely in the U.S. Despite the promises of widespread testing, many areas of the country
faced severe shortages of tests, leading to long wait times for results and a lack of timely data to
inform public health decisions. There were instances where CDC scientists did not fully disclose
the limitations and failure rates of certain tests.'’* For example, some tests that were approved
by the FDA under EUAs were later found to be less accurate than initially reported. '

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK]

1972 Summary of the Findings of the Immediate Office of the General Counsel's Investigation Regarding CDC's
Production of COVID-19 Test Kits, DEP’T OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES (June 19, 2020) available at
https://www.documentcloud.org/documents/6953861-6-19-20-Summary-of-the-Findings-of-the-Immediate.html.
1073 Id.

1074 Dan Vergano, The Government Asked Us Not To Release Records From The CDC's First Failed COVID Test.
Here They Are, BUZZFEED NEWS (Dec. 8, 2021).
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Figure 2: Initial COVID-19 Test Kit Production Timeline
{Specific dates are in parentheses. |

DECEMBER 2019

{31) The World Health Organization
{WHO) notes several cases of viral
preumonia in Wuhan, China,
JANUARY 2020

{9) CDC activates a Center-Led Response.

{10} Researchers in China post the genome
sequence for COVID-19. COC begins creation
of the COVID-19 test kit,

{18) CDC CLIA lab is approved to wse COVID-19
test on human samples,
{20) First U5, case of the novel coromavirus is

{21) CDC activates the EQC for an Agency-Wide | !

confirmed by COC.
Response.

{24) CDC publicly posts the procedure and
sequences for its COVID-19 assay, allowing
others the ability to develop similar test kits,

{30) WHO declares a public health emergency of international
CONCET,

{31) HHS declares a national public health emergency for the
United States,

FEBRUARY 2020
{1) Test kit is assembled.

{2) CDC ships test Kits to intermediary for
distribution to PHLs.

{4) FDW issues EUA for CDC's COVID-19 test kit.

(6] Initial COVID-19 test kits are distributed to
PHLs.

{8) PHLs begin to report problems with COVID-19
test kits.

{10} COC begins to troubleshoot COVID-1% test kit
problarms.

{28) Second COVID-19 test kits are distributed to PHLs.

MARCH 2020
{15) FDA reissues EUA.

The combination of overpromising, delays, and the release of unreliable tests created
confusion and frustration among the public. This confusion was compounded by mixed messages
from federal officials, which further eroded trust. The initial missteps in testing not only
hampered efforts to control the pandemic but also had long-lasting effects on public trust in
government and public health institutions. The perception that CDC scientists had misled the
public about the availability and effectiveness of testing contributed to skepticism about other
public health measures, including vaccination.

Although CDC scientists eventually acknowledged the problem with the test kits, the
delay in addressing the issue and the lack of initial transparency contributed to a growing
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mistrust in the public health officials’ handling of the pandemic. The failure of the CDC’s early
test kits highlighted the need for more rigorous testing and validation procedures before rolling
out diagnostic tools in a public health emergency.

CDC scientists overpromising widespread and reliable testing, followed by the
underdelivering of faulty and unreliable tests, created a significant gap between public
expectations and reality. This gap, exacerbated by a lack of transparency about the limitations of
early tests, contributed to a broader erosion of confidence in public health measures. Moving
forward, it is essential that lessons from these early failures are used to improve the
development, validation, and communication of public health interventions.

FINDING: Public-Private Partnerships Were More Effective in Increasing Testing
Production, Distribution, and Capacity than Career Government Bureaucrats.

In the early stages of the pandemic, the CDC was tasked with developing and distributing
diagnostic tests for COVID-19. However, as previously discussed the initial rollout was slow,
and the tests produced by the CDC were plagued by inaccuracies and supply shortages. These
early setbacks hindered the U.S.'s ability to rapidly scale up testing capacity and track the virus’s
spread. Furthermore, the CDC’s focus on centralized control over test production and distribution
created bottlenecks that delayed broader testing efforts.

By mid-March 2020, it became clear that public health authorities could not handle the
growing demand for testing alone. The involvement of private industry, particularly diagnostic
companies, biotechnology firms, and commercial laboratories, became essential to improve
testing at scale. The shift to include the private sector catalyzed a rapid expansion in testing
availability and quality.

Private industry played a pivotal role in increasing the production capacity for COVID-19
testing kits. Commercial diagnostic laboratories such as LabCorp, Quest Diagnostics, Abbott
Laboratories, and Roche Diagnostics leveraged their established infrastructure and experience to
ramp up production of both molecular [hereinafter “PCR”] and antigen-based testing kits.'’® By
mid-2020, these companies had significantly increased the daily output of tests, contributing to
an exponential rise in the U.S.’s overall testing capacity.

For example, Abbott Laboratories [hereinafter “Abbot”]developed the BinaxNOW rapid
antigen test, which became widely used due to its affordability, ease of use, and fast turnaround
time. '’ With FDA approval pursuant to an EUA, Abbott was able to produce millions of tests,
vastly increasing access to COVID-19 diagnostics.!'?”® Similarly, Roche Diagnostics produced

1076 REPORT TO CONGRESS, COVID-19 STRATEGIC TESTING PLAN, at 11 U.S. DEP’T OF HEALTH AND HUMAN
SERVICES (May 24, 2020).

1077 Jessica Prince-Guerra, et al., Evaluation of Abbott BinaxNOW Rapid Antigen Test for SARS-CoV-2 Infection at
Two Community-Based Testing Sites — Pima County, Arizona, November 3—17, 2020, MMWR (Jan. 22, 2021).

1078 BINAXNOW COVID-19 Antigen Self Tests, Abbott, available at
https://www.globalpointofcare.abbott/us/en/product-details/binaxnow-covid-19-antigen-self-test-
us.html?utp=UTID&utid=SEM_G_BR_BinaxNOW_Tests&utm_term=abbott%20binaxnow%20home%?20test&utm
_source=google&utm medium=cpc&gclid=Cj0KCQiAgla6BhCOARISAMIL7V90XdpTKIfKIxSfigZEpWIT s8w
GfO8emzrBSLWVwWWCRKDivXcP9UaAsCREALw wcB&gclsrc=aw.ds#find-test.
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PCR test kits that were widely regarded as the gold standard for accuracy and sensitivity. %"

These efforts addressed the early shortages that had hampered public health official’s initial
testing strategy and helped ensure that supply could meet rising demand.

Private firms also utilized advanced manufacturing techniques to streamline production.
This included innovations in automation, robotics, and supply chain optimization, which allowed
testing kit production to scale up without sacrificing quality. The capacity to produce millions of
tests weekly became a reality by mid-2020, largely due to private sector engagement.

Private industry’s involvement not only increased testing capacity but also improved the
quality and accuracy of COVID-19 tests. The CDC’s initial test kits faced issues related to faulty
reagents, which led to inconclusive results and hindered public health efforts. In contrast, many
of the diagnostic tests developed by private companies demonstrated higher sensitivity and
specificity, making them more reliable for detecting SARS-CoV-2, the virus that causes COVID-
19. 1080

Commercial laboratories invested heavily in research and development to improve test
performance. Companies like Thermo Fisher Scientific and Hologic developed PCR tests that
provided accurate results within 24 hours, while also reducing the likelihood of false
negatives. %! Additionally, private companies played a critical role in developing rapid antigen
tests, such as the Quidel Sofia test, which allowed for mass testing in settings like schools,
workplaces, and nursing homes. %> These tests, although less sensitive than PCR tests, were
crucial for identifying infectious individuals quickly and preventing outbreaks.'%* Moreover,
private industry ensured that testing quality remained consistent as production scaled up. Many
companies adhered to stringent quality control measures, regularly validating their tests against
CDC and FDA standards. This commitment to high-quality testing helped restore public
confidence in the diagnostic tools available during the pandemic.

The ability of private industry to create efficient distribution networks was another key
factor in the success of COVID-19 testing efforts. Early in the pandemic, testing was largely
confined to hospitals and specialized laboratories, which were overwhelmed by demand.
However, private companies, with their established logistics networks, were able to rapidly
expand the distribution of test kits across the country. Retailers such as Walmart, Walgreens, and
CVS partnered with diagnostic companies to open drive-through testing sites, providing easily
accessible testing in parking lots and clinics nationwide. This decentralized approach allowed for

1979 Olena Filchakova, et al., Review of COVID-19 testing and diagnostic methods, SCIENCE DIRECT (July 1, 2022).
1080 77

1081 ThermoFisher Scientific available at https://www.thermofisher.com/us/en/home/life-science/pcr/digital-
per.html?ef id=EAlalQobChMI-

qzawqe7iAMVtkxHAR3s7RSCEAAYASAAEgIUvvD BwE:G:s&s kwcid=AL!3652!3!606132910994!p!!g!!therm
ofisher%20dpcr!17574808538!1139287683938&cid=gsd pcr sbu 102 co cpl491 pjt9601 gsd00000 Ose gaw rs
lgn &gad source=1&gclid=EAlalQobChMI-qzawqe7iAMVtkxHAR3s7RSCEAAYASAAEgIUvvD BwE.

1082 Avalon, Coronavirus Testing in the Outpatient Setting, CARE SOURCE (effective date Nov. 1, 2022) available at
https://avalonhcs.com/wp-
content/uploads/CareSource/KYDSNP/G2174%20v3%20Coronavirus%20Testing%20in%20the%200utpatient%20
Setting%20efd;%2011-01-2022.pdf.

1083 Greg Slabodkin, COVID-19 antigen testing on par with PCR when used often: NIH-funded study,
MEDTECHDIVE (July 1, 2021).
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more people to be tested in both urban and rural areas, reducing geographic disparities in testing
availability. Furthermore, the private sector facilitated the distribution of test kits directly to state
and local health departments, ensuring a more equitable allocation of resources.

Private industry also pioneered the development of at-home test kits, such as those
created by Ellume and Everlywell.!%* These tests enabled individuals to collect samples at home
and receive rapid results within minutes. The introduction of at-home testing revolutionized
accessibility, particularly for people who could not easily visit testing centers due to mobility
issues or concerns about exposure to the virus in public settings.

Perhaps the most significant contribution of private industry to the COVID-19 response
was the dramatic increase in testing capacity. As private laboratories and manufacturers entered
the testing market, daily testing capacity rose from just a few thousand tests per day in early
2020 to more than one million tests per day by mid-2021.!% This increase was critical for
controlling the spread of the virus, especially during periods of high transmission and the
emergence of new variants.

The private sector’s investment in high-throughput laboratory technology allowed for the
processing of large volumes of tests in a short time. Laboratories like Quest Diagnostics and
LabCorp implemented automation in their testing processes, reducing turnaround times and
minimizing the backlog of unprocessed samples.'%*® Additionally, the introduction of rapid
antigen tests provided a complementary approach to molecular testing, enabling quicker results
for those in need of immediate diagnosis.

The success of private sector contributions underscores the importance of public-private
partnerships in responding to large-scale health crises. As the world prepares for future
pandemics, leveraging the expertise, resources, and agility of private industry will be essential
for developing effective testing strategies and ensuring swift responses to emerging threats.

1084 William Wan, FDA authorizes first rapid, over-the-counter home coronavirus test, THE WASH. POST (Dec. 15,
2020).

1085 L_aura Strickler & Adiel Kaplan, Private labs do 85 percent of U.S. COVID-19 tests but still struggle with
backlogs, shortages, NBC NEWS (Apr. 8, 2020).

1086 Will Feuer, Quest says FDA cleared new ‘lab method’ that will cut coronavirus testing delays, CNBC (July 29,
2020).
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IX. Rapidly Implemented Travel Restrictions Can Save Lives

The COVID-19 pandemic led to an unprecedented series of global public health
measures, with international travel-related control measures playing an early role in the U.S.’
response. The effectiveness of these measures has been a subject of debate since the time they
were imposed. The phrase “travel-related control measures ” could include the following actions:
“(1) border closure, (2) travel bans, (3) travel restrictions [e.g., a ban of persons who had been in
certain countries with enumerated exceptions], (4) entry/exit screening, (5) travel-related
quarantine and (6) . . . [a combination of different] travel-related control measures.”'%” For
purposes of this report and as described below, the Trump Administration’s actions early in the
pandemic are best categorized as travel restrictions.

On January 31, 2020, as China reluctantly acknowledged that COVID-19 cases and
deaths were rising in their country, the Trump Administration promulgated travel restrictions
focused on China.!%® Specifically, the U.S. suspended entry of all aliens, with a list of 11
enumerated exceptions, who were physically present in China 14 days prior to their entry or
attempted entry into the U.S.!%?

On March 12, 2020, the Trump Administration announced travel restrictions for an initial
period of 30 days covering 26 European countries within the Schengen Area, which excludes the
United Kingdom and Ireland.!*® Two days later, the European travel restrictions were extended
to travelers from the United Kingdom and Ireland and contained similar criteria (e.g., persons
who were a covered country with 14 days from attempted entry in the U.S.) and exceptions to
those in the order pertaining to China (e.g., lawful permanent residents, and their immediate
family members could enter).!%!

At the time of the European travel restrictions, COVID-19 had reached American shores.
On March 12, 2020, there were more than 1,000 known cases in the U.S., but more than 125,000
known cases globally.!%?

FINDING: International Travel Restrictions Delayed the Spread of COVID-19 Early in the
Pandemic.

The effectiveness of international travel restrictions in curbing the spread of COVID-19
remains a subject of contention among public health experts. While these bans were seen as
crucial in the early stages of the pandemic, their long-term efficacy has been questioned.

1087 Ani Movsisyan, et al., Travel-related control measures to contain the COVID-19 pandemic: an evidence map,
BMJ OPEN (Apr. 2021).

1088 proclamation, White House, Proclamation on Suspension of Entry as Immigrants and Nonimmigrants of Persons
who Pose a Risk of Transmitting 2019 Novel Coronavirus (Jan. 31, 2020).

1089 Jd. (The order excluded the Special Administrative Regions of Hong Kong and Macau.).

1090 Saim Saeed, Trump s Europe travel ban explained, POLITICO (Mar. 12, 2020) (noting “[t]he 26 European
countries in the Schengen zone — Austria, Belgium, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany,
Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Italy, Latvia, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, Netherlands, Norway, Poland,
Portugal, Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden and Switzerland.).

1091 proclamation, White House, supra note 1088.

1092 Contagion Live News Network: Coronavirus Updates for March 12, 2020, Contagion Live (Mar. 12, 2020).
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By the end of January 2020, there were only seven known cases of COVID-19 in the
U.S.19%3 At that point in time, the travel restrictions pertaining to China, the origin of the virus,
were reasonably grounded in the belief that limiting international movement could prevent the
introduction and spread of the virus in the U.S., particularly in the early stages of the pandemic
before community transmission became widespread. Even as Europe became a hotspot for the
virus by March of 2020, the known cases within the U.S. were at a manageable level—just more
than 1,000.

With four years of hindsight, it is clear the international travel restrictions early in the
pandemic delayed spread of the virus but did not prevent COVID-19 from entering the U.S. By
the time the European travel ban was enacted in March 2020, it is now known that the virus had
already spread significantly within the U.S. due to earlier untracked travel from Europe.!%**
However, the restrictions likely helped reduce the number of new cases entering the U.S. from
Europe, where the virus was spreading rapidly at the time.

One study estimated that the U.S. travel bans helped to prevent approximately 77,000
cases of COVID-19 in the first month of their implementation.'%* This study concluded that,
while the travel restrictions did not entirely stop the virus from entering the U.S., they were
effective in slowing the rate of transmission, giving the U.S. healthcare system more time to
prepare and respond to the pandemic.!?® A different study estimated that without the
implementation of travel restrictions of persons coming from China, U.S. cases would have been
83 percent higher at the end of February 2020.'%7

Contrary to baseless claims that the travel restrictions were pointless or worse the result
of untoward motivations, on July 31, 2020, Dr. Fauci testified he supported the travel restrictions
when questioned by then-Minority Whip Steve Scalise.

Dr. Anthony Fauci (July 31, 2020)

Q. Dr. Fauci, let me ask you about some of the decisions that you
worked with President Trump on and the whole team did. I know
when you go back to the beginning of this, the China ban was very
heavily discussed. Were you involved in working with President
Trump on deciding to ban flights from China?

1093 CDC Museum COVID-19 Timeline, U.S. CTRS. FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION, available at
https://www.cdc.gov/museum/timeline/covid19.html (“January 30, 2020: CDC confirms that the SARS-CoV-2 virus
has now spread between two people in Illinois with no history of recent travel. This is the first recorded instance of
person-to-person spread of the 2019 Novel Coronavirus in the U.S and brings the total number of cases up to
seven.”).

1094 Bingyi Yang, et al, Effectiveness of International Travel Controls for Delaying Local Outbreaks of COVID-19,
EMERGING INFECTIOUS DISEASES (Jan. 28, 2022).

1095 Nicole A. Errett et al., An integrative review of the limited evidence on international travel bans as an emerging
infectious disease disaster control measure, JOURNAL OF EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT (Jan. 1, 2020).

1096 Id

1097 Nahae Kang & Beomsoo Kim, The Effects of Border Shutdowns on the Spread of COVID-19, JOURNAL OF
PREVENTATIVE MEDICINE AND PUBLIC HEALTH (Aug. 30, 2020).
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Yes, sir, I was.

Do you agree with that decision?

I do.

Do you think that decision saved lives, Dr. Fauci?

Yes, I do.

S S =

Do you agree with the decision, when ultimately we saw spread in
Europe and then the President recommended that we extend that to
Europe, did you participate in that discussion?

I was actively involved in that discussion, sir.

Do you agree with that decision?

Yes, I do.

Do you think that decision saved lives?

Yes, I do.

S =

Eventually, then, we saw the United Kingdom have an outbreak,
and there had to be a tough decision made, do we extend that to the
United Kingdom? Were you part of that decision?

[ was.

And do you agree with that decision as well?

I do.

Did that decision save lives?

> e o >

Yes, it did.!%®

In 2024, Dr. Fauci repeated his support for the travel restrictions believing that they
afforded the country time to prepare for the full impact of the virus.

| Dr. Anthony Fauci (January 9, 2024) |

109 The Urgent Need for a National Plan to Contain the Coronavirus: Hearing Before the Select Subcomm. on the

Coronavirus Pandemic of the Comm. on Oversight and Reform, 116" Cong. 2, (July 31, 2020).
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Q. Dr. Fauci, in your opinion, are travel restrictions a good public
health tool?

A. It's context and circumstance dependence, and it depends on
what's -- in general. I'm talking generically. I'm not talking about
your question. It depends on at what stage of the outbreak you do
it. It depends on the level of the particular infection in question that
is already in your country. It depends on the efficiency of the
transmissibility of a particular infection, because if you have people
in your country that are already infected and it's highly
transmissible, it doesn't make a lot of sense to restrict. But in a very,
very precise period of time when you have virtually nothing in there,
you may want to have a temporary restriction to give you time to
prepare. That's one of the things that we did.

Q. Did you agree with the President's decision to restrict travel from
China?
A. I did, and I said there were caveats to restrictions. I agreed with it,

but I said that we've got to be careful because sometimes when you
do restrictions they have negative consequences in that you don't
have open access to help or even information. But fundamentally I
agreed at that time, since we had almost no infections that we knew
of in our country, that at least a temporary restriction would be
important.

Did you also agree with the EU travel restriction?
I agreed with the suggestion that that be done, yes.

Did you agree with the U.K. travel restriction?

> o > R

Yes, I did.'??

Contrary to Dr. Fauci’s support, then Presidential Candidate Biden criticized these early
travel restrictions as xenophobic, 1% 1101

109 Fauyci TI 2, supra note 81, at 125-126.

1100 Joe Biden (@JoeBiden), Twitter (Feb. 1, 2020) available at
https://x.com/JoeBiden/status/1223727977361338370.

1101 Joe Biden (@JoeBiden), Twitter (Mar. 12, 2020) available at
https://x.com/JoeBiden/status/1238254697695326209.
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{2 Joe Biden % X
ﬁ @JoeBiden - Follow

We are in the midst of a crisis with the coronavirus. We
need to lead the way with science — not Donald Trump's
record of hysteria, xenophobia, and fear-mongering. He is

the worst possible person to lead our country through a
global health emergency.

5:01 PM - Feb 1, 2020 G

¥ 102K L7 See the latest COVID-19 information on X

Read 2.7K replies

{ .= Joe Biden 2 X
» ©@JoeBiden - Follow
A wall will not stop the coronavirus.

Banning all travel from Europe — or any other part of the
world — will not stop it.

This disease could impact every nation and any person on
the planet — and we need a plan to combat it.

8:05 PM - Mar 12, 2020 ()

P 473K {/" See the latest COVID-19 information on X

Read 14.7K replies

While Dr. Fauci voiced his support of the travel restrictions to Congress in 2020 and
2024, he did not publicly voice his support for them with then Presidential candidate Biden, then
Speaker Pelosi, and others characterized the travel restrictions as xenophobic. Furthermore, once
in office, President Biden enacted similar travel restrictions on travel from several African
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countries in late 2021 in response to the Omicron variant of the virus.'!'%? At that time, President
Biden was not accused of xenophobia or racism for this action, nor should he have been.
Similarly, President Trump should not have been criticized for actions supported by public health
officials.

In the early days of the pandemic, before widespread community transmission, most
COVID-19 cases in the U.S. were associated with international travel. By restricting travel from
high-risk areas such as China and Europe, the Trump Administration was able to reduce the
influx of infected individuals and save lives.

FINDING: But for the Chinese Communist Party Blatantly Downplaying and Lying
Concerning the Serious Threat Posed by COVID-19, Travel Restrictions Would
Have Been Imposed Earlier and Been More Effective.

Undoubtedly, the timing of travel restrictions played a primary role in their effectiveness.
Logically, the earlier the travel restrictions are implemented the chance of them being more
effective increases. The China travel restrictions were implemented on January 31, 2020, when
the virus was still primarily concentrated in China. While some critics argued that these
restrictions were ineffective because they should have been implemented earlier, it is important
to note that the U.S. was one of the first countries to take such a step.!'!®* In contrast, many other
countries waited until the virus had already spread internationally before imposing similar
restrictions.

Critics of the Trump Administration’s travel restrictions argue that they were reactive
rather than proactive and that domestic measures such as improved testing and contact tracing
would have been more effective in controlling the spread of COVID-19. However, these
criticisms fail to acknowledge the absence of widespread testing and domestic preparedness in
the early days of the pandemic, leaving travel restrictions as one of the few tools available to
slow COVID-19’s spread.

It is important to acknowledge that the U.S. was facing an unprecedented public health
crisis with limited information about the virus at the time the travel bans were enacted. The goal
of these measures was not to stop COVID-19 entirely, but to delay its spread and allow for a
more coordinated domestic response.

The travel restrictions could have been more effective had they been enacted earlier, but
the responsibility that they were not implemented in early January 2020 or perhaps even in
December 2019 lies squarely on the CCP’s shoulders. Rather than notifying the WHO and the
international community of the alarming viral outbreak, CCP authorities censored and concealed

1102 Andrew Mark Miller, Flashback: Biden suggested Trump's coronavirus travel ban was 'xenophobic', FOX NEWS
(Nov. 26, 2021).

1103 Nahae Kahg & Beomsoo Kim, The Effects of Border Shutdowns on the Spread of COVID-19, JOURNAL OF
PREVENTATIVE MEDICINE AND PUBLIC HEALTH (Aug. 30, 2020) (The U.S. travel restrictions for persons from China
was announced on January 31, 2020, but implemented and enforced on February 2, 2020. Only Kuwait (January 31,
2020) and Australia (February 1, 2020) implemented their restrictions earlier.).
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information and silenced doctors who tried to warn others in the scientific community.!!% A
charitable review of the known timeline of events that unfolded in China indicates that CCP
officials should have signaled the international community of an outbreak of concern before
Christmas in 2019.'1% The CCP’s desire to hide details and outright lie to the U.S. and other
world leaders, immeasurably and unnecessarily cost additional American lives and resources. At
the time, the U.S. and WHO had no ability to know the CCP lied about having the virus under
control.

The Trump Administration’s travel restrictions targeting Asia and Europe during the
early days of the COVID-19 pandemic were effective in delaying the spread of the virus into the
U.S. While these measures did not and were not designed to completely prevent the introduction
of COVID-19, they significantly slowed its transmission and provided critical time for U.S.
public health officials to respond. Data supports the argument that these travel restrictions
reduced the number of imported cases and helped mitigate the initial impact of the pandemic,
buying the U.S. critical time. While no single measure can fully contain a pandemic, the
evidence suggests that travel restrictions, when implemented early and in conjunction with other
public health strategies, can play an important role in controlling the spread of infectious
diseases.

1194 Annie Sparrow, The Chinese Government s Cover-Up Killed Health Care Workers Worldwide: Bad advice based
on false information led to fatal mistakes, FOREIGN POLICY (Mar. 18, 2021).

105 Jim Geraghty, The Comprehensive Timeline of China’s COVID-19 Lies, NATIONAL REVIEW (Mar. 23, 2020)
(“December 21: Wuhan doctors begin to notice a ‘cluster of pneumonia cases with an unknown cause’ and
December 25: Chinese medical staff in two hospitals in Wuhan are suspected of contracting viral pneumonia and are
quarantined. This is additional strong evidence of human-to-human transmission.”).
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X. Government Perpetrated COVID-19 Misinformation

It has been widely discussed that the COVID-19 pandemic brought with it a new and
pervasive wave of misinformation throughout the U.S. and the world. Social media provided
fertile ground for accidental falsehoods and deliberate lies to burgeon into the public
consciousness. 1%

Unfortunately, kneejerk reactions by the federal government did little to fix the problem
and instead may have sowed deeper distrust of government institutions while trampling on the
First Amendment of the Constitution. At times, the government’s attempts to quell
misinformation contradictorily resulted in new misinformation being spread.

FINDING: Public Health Officials Incorrectly Characterized the Lab-Leak Theory as a
“Conspiracy Theory.”

During the early months of the pandemic, Dr. Fauci played a critical role in disparaging
the lab-leak theory. Dr. Fauci appeared alongside Dr. Daszak on an episode of former Speaker of
the House Newt Gingrich’s podcast, Newt s World.''"” During the podcast, Speaker Gingrich
asked if Dr. Fauci had heard about the “urban legend” that COVID-19 escaped from a
“biological warfare center in Wuhan.”!''% Dr. Fauci told him that these were “conspiracy theories
without any scientific basis for it.”!1%

Dr. Anthony Fauci (February 9, 2020)

Q. I don't know if you have had access to enough information from the
Chinese, but as you know, there's a sort of urban legend that there's
a biological warfare center in Wuhan and that the coronavirus
escaped from that. Did you have any sense of where it probably
came from.

A. Well, I think ultimately we know that these things come from an
animal reservoir. I've heard these conspiracy theories, and like all
conspiracy theories, Newt, they’re just conspiracy theories. Is it
impossible that that could have happened? I don't think I can say that
it's not impossible. But I think if you examine all of the isolates and
look at the very detailed pattern or map of their molecular structure,
you may get more insight as to whether it was a natural direct jump,
whether it percolated in another species from the bat to whatever, a
civic cat or some other animal, and then jumped species into
humans. I think the more you examine isolates and the more we get
information, we’ll be able to clarify the evolutionary origin of the

1196 Tiffany Hsu, As Covid-19 Continues to Spread, So Does Misinformation About It, THEN.Y. TIMES (Dec. 28,
2022).

1107 Newt’s World: China’s Coronavirus, Gingrich 360 (Feb. 9, 2020).

108 7

109 77
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virus. But right now, I think the things you're hearing are still in the
realm of conspiracy theories without any scientific basis for it.'!!

Dr. Fauci was also directly involved in the drafting and promotion of Proximal Origin, in
which the authors concluded “we do not believe that any type of laboratory-based scenario is
plausible.”'"!! Evidence suggests that Dr. Fauci “prompted” the drafting of the Proximal Origin
paper to “disprove” the lab-leak theory.'!'? Since its publication on March 18, 2020, Proximal
Origin has been accessed nearly 6 million times and has been cited countless times to discredit
the possibility of a lab leak.!!!® This paper was perhaps the most consequential tool used to paint
the lab-leak theory as a conspiracy theory.

Over the course of the Select Subcommittee’s investigation, Dr. Fauci repeatedly tried to
walk back his assertion that the lab-leak theory was a conspiracy. When asked during a
transcribed interview, he acknowledged that the lab leak “isn’t inherently a conspiracy theory”
but also claimed that instead some people have “made conspiracy aspects from it.” !4

Dr. Anthony Fauci (January 9, 2024)

Q. Just you sitting here today, do you think the possibility or the
hypothesis that the coronavirus emerged from a laboratory accident
is a conspiracy theory?

A. Well, it's a possibility. I think people have made conspiracy aspects
from it. And I think you have to separate the two when you keep an
open mind, that it could be a lab leak or it could be a natural
occurrence. I've mentioned in this committee that I believe the
evidence that I've seen weighs my opinion towards one, which is a
natural occurrence, but I still leave an open mind. So I think that in
and of itself isn't inherently a conspiracy theory, but some people
spin off things from that that are kind of crazy.'!!>

Similarly, during a public hearing before the Select Subcommittee, Dr. Fauci testified that
he did not believe the “concept of there being a lab leak is inherently a conspiracy theory” but
that some “distortions on that particular subject” are.!!!¢

Dr. Anthony Fauci (June 3, 2024)

1110 Id

11 proximal Origin, supra note 42.

1112 Memorandum from Select Subcomm. on the Coronavirus Pandemic Majority Staff to Select Subcomm. on the
Coronavirus Pandemic Majority Staff, New Evidence Resulting from the Select Subcommittee s Investigation into the
Origins of COVID-19 (Mar. 5, 2023).

1113 Proximal Origin, supra note 42.

1114 Fayci TI 2, supra note 81, at 116

s g7

1116 Fauci Hearing, supra note 231, at 52.
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Q. I just want to clarify for the record, because today you testified that
you did not suppress the lab leak theory, yet in the past you have
said, quote, "It is a distortion of reality," unquote. You've said, quote,
"I've heard these conspiracy theories, and, like all conspiracy
theories, they're just conspiracy theories." That's what you told the
American people. And so would you like to clarify, what science
were you following then versus now?

A. Yeah. No, I -- actually, I've also been very, very clear and said
multiple times that I don't think the concept of there being a lab leak
is inherently a conspiracy theory. What is conspiracy is the kind of
distortions of that particular subject. Like, it was a lab leak, and I
was parachuted into the CIA like Jason Bourne and told the CIA that
they should really not --

Okay.

A. -- be talking about a lab leak.!'!”

Yet, in Dr. Fauci’s Memoir—which was published just weeks after the hearing—Dr.

Fauci argued that allegations that EcoHealth’s subgrant at the WIV could have caused the

COVID-19 pandemic are conspiracy theories.

The smear campaign soon boiled over into conspiracy theories. One of the
most appalling examples of this was the allegation, without a shred of
evidence, that a NIAID grant to EcoHealth Alliance (EHA) with a sub-grant
to the Wuhan Institute of Virology (WIV) in China funded research that
caused the COVID pandemic.'!''8

Later in his memoir, Dr. Fauci wrote:

We cannot account for all the research that takes place in Wuhan or in the
rest of China. That is why, as I have often stated publicly, we must keep an
open mind to the origin of COVID, as I do.!'"

Although Dr. Fauci believed the lab-leak theory to be a conspiracy theory at the start of

the pandemic, it now appears that his position is that he does have an open mind about the origin
of the virus—so long as it does not implicate EcoHealth Alliance, and by extension himself and

NIAID. Understandably, as he signed off on the EcoHealth Alliance grant.

FINDING:

Methods to Fight What It Deemed to Be Misinformation.

1118 Anthony Fauci, On Call: A Doctor’s Journey in Public Service, at 418 (Penguin Random House 2024).

"9 1d. at 423.
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On May 1, 2024, the House Committee on the Judiciary’s Select Subcommittee on the
Weaponization of the Federal Government released an Interim Staff Report [hereinafter
“Weaponization Report”], which highlighted some of the most egregious examples of the Biden
White House’s censorship campaign.!'?° The Judiciary Report found that major technology
companies Meta, Alphabet, and Amazon changed their content moderation policies in response
to pressure from the Biden White House.!'!?! For example, the report highlighted emails sent by
Mr. Zuckerberg which indicated that pressure from the White House led Facebook to take down
posts which claimed that COVID-19 was “man-made, manufactured, bioengineered, a
bioweapon, or created by an individual government or country, which includes claims that the
virus was modified through gain of function research and leaked from a lab.”!!??

From: - o>

Sent: Friday, June 4, 2021 2:24:20 ”M

To: Mark Zuckerberg fo.com=
- Nick to.com>; Joel Kaplzn NG b.com>; afo.com> [
fb.com>; fb.com>; fb.com>

Subject: Covid misinformation Wuhan lab leex theory
Mark:

On the question of our decision to remove claims related to the origin of COVID -- in May 2020, we decided to
leverage existing work from 3PFCs (because they were overwhelmed by Covid misinfo) by FB claim-matching for
claims that multiple 3PFCs had labeled as false instead of requiring the 3PFCs to find and manually add their
fact-checks to any content making the claims. There were five claims that met the standard, including the claim
that Covid is “marrmade, manufactured, bicengineered, a bioweapon, or created by an individual government or
country,” which includes claims that the virus was maodified through gain of function research and leaked from a
lab. Between May 2020 and February 2021, we reduced distribution for content making the five claims, applied a
label, and linked to the debunking article.

In February 2021, in response to continued public pressure and tense conversations with the new Administration,
we started removing the five Covid claims that had been repeatedly debunked by 3PFCs and the eight claims that
we had identified (in partnership with WHO, CDC, and other public health authorities) before Covid as widely
debunked vaccine misinformation. You asked us at the time to review the decision later in the year to determine if
we should revert to reduce & inform.

In an August 26, 2024 letter to House Committee on the Judiciary Chairman Mr. Jim
Jordan, Mr. Zuckerberg wrote that the Biden Administration “repeatedly pressured our teams for
months to censor certain COVID-19 content, including humor and satire, and expressed a lot of
frustration when our teams didn’t agree.”!??

1120 SE1 ECT SUBCOMM. ON THE WEAPONIZATION OF THE FED. GOV’T, H. COMM. ON THE JUDICIARY, INTERIM STAFF
REPORT, THE CENSORSHIP-INDUSTRIAL COMPLEX: HOW TOP BIDEN WHITE HOUSE OFFICIALS COERCED BIG TECH TO
CENSOR AMERICANS, TRUE INFORMATION, AND CRITICS OF THE BIDEN ADMINISTRATION (May 1, 2024) [hereinafter
“Weaponization Report™].

1121 ]d.

122 14 at 12

1123 I etter from Mark Zuckerberg, Chairman & CEO, Meta Platforms, Inc., to Jim Jordan, Chairman, H. of
Representatives Judiciary Comm. (Aug. 26, 2024).
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1 Hacker Way

Menlo Park, CA 94025
m M etq United States

August 26, 2024

The Honorable Jim Jordan

Chairman

Committee on the Judiciary

United States House of Representatives
2138 Rayburn House Office Building
Washington, D.C. 20515

Chairman Jordan:

| appreciate the Committee's interest in content moderation on online platforms. As you are aware,
Meta has produced thousands of documents as part of your investigation and made a dozen
employees available for transcribed interviews. Further to our cooperation with your investigation, |
welcome the opportunity to share what I've taken away from this process.

There's a lot of talk right now around how the U.S, government interacts with companies like Meta, and
| want to be clear about our position. Our platforms are for everyone -- we're about promating speech
and helping people connect in a safe and secure way. As part of this, we regularly hear from
governments around the world and others with various concerns around public discourse and public
safety.

In 2021, senior officials from the Biden Administration, including the White House, repeatedly pressured
our teams for months to censor certain COVID-19 content, including humor and satire, and expressed a
lot of frustration with our teams when we didn't agree. Ultimately, it was our decision whether or not
to take content down, and we own our decisions, including COVID-19-related changes we made to
our enforcement in the wake of this pressure. | believe the government pressure was wrong, and |
regret that we were not more outspoken about it. | also think we made some choices that, with
the benefit of hindsight and new information, we wouldn't make today. Like | said to our teams at
the time, | feel strongly that we should not compromise our content standards due to pressure from
any Administration in either direction -- and we're ready to push back if something like this happens

again.

In a separate situation, the FBl warned us about a potential Russian disinformation operation about
the Biden family and Burisma in the lead up to the 2020 election. That fall, when we saw a New York
Post story reporting on corruption allegations involving then-Democratic presidential nominee Joe
Biden's family, we sent that story to fact-checkers for review and temporarily demoted it while waiting
for a reply. It's since been made clear that the reporting was not Russian disinformation, and in
retrospect, we shouldn't have demoted the story. We've changed our policies and processes to make
sure this doesn't happen again -- for instance, we no longer temporarily demote things in the U.S.
while waiting for fact-checkers.

Apart from content moderation, | want to address the contributions | made during the last presidential
cycle to support electoral infrastructure, The idea here was to make sure local election jurisdictions across
the country had the resources they needed to help people vote safely during a global pandemic. | made
these contributions through the Chan Zuckerberg Initiative. They were designed to be non-partisan -
spread across urban, rural, and suburban communities. Still, despite the analyses I've seen showing
otherwise, | know that some people believe this work benefited one party over the other, My goal is
to be neutral and not play a role one way or another — or to even appear to be playing a rale. So | don't
plan on making a similar contribution this eyele.

Respectfully,

/s/ Mark Zuckerberg

Mark Zuckerberg
Founder, Chairman & CEQ
Meta Platforms, Inc.

cct The Honorable Jerrold Madler, Ranking Member




Available evidence suggests that a lab leak may be the most likely scenario, but
regardless, any assertion that the lab leak is “misinformation” is plainly false—a sentiment which
has been shared by numerous federal officials interviewed by the Select Subcommittee, including
Dr. Fauci.!'*

Other emails highlighted in the Judiciary Report illustrate that Mr. Zuckerberg regretted
“compromising [Facebook’s] standards due to pressure from an administration.”!!?°

From* Mark Zuckerbero o com>
Sent: Sunday, June 8. 2021 10:31 AM
To:

Ce: Nick Cegg; Joe! Kaplan; |

Subject: Re: Covid misinformation: Wuhzn lab leak theory

Tharks for the context. This seems like a good reminder that when we compromise our standards due to pressure
from an administration in either direction, we'll often regret it later.

The Judiciary Report also highlighted emails indicating that Biden White House officials
pressured social media companies to take down or otherwise suppress posts related to other
elements of the COVID-19 pandemic, including COVID-19 vaccines and therapeutics. For
example, the report includes an email sent by President Biden’s Director of Digital Strategy, Mr.
Robert Flaherty, pressuring Facebook to reduce posts made by Mr. Tucker Carlson and Ms. Tomi
Lahren regarding vaccines. '

From: Flaherty, Rob EOP/WHO <G «ho.eop.gov>
Sent: Wednesday, April 14, 2021 1:10:41 PM
To: I G b .com>

Cc: Slavitt, Andrew M. EOP/WHO IR o .ecp.gov>
Subject: tucker

Since we've been on the phone - the top post about vaccines today is tucker Carlson saying they don't work
Yesterday was Tomi Lehren saying she won't take one. This is exactly why | want to know what “Reduction” actually
looks like — if “reduction” means “pumping our most vaccine hesitant audience with tucker Carlson saying it doesn't
work” then...I'm not sure it's reduction!

Rob Flaherty

Director of Digital Strategy
The White House

Cell:

The Judiciary Report also contains numerous other examples of the Biden White House’s
efforts to suppress content on social media, many of which were originally obtained through
litigation brought by state Attorneys General, including Mr. Bailey.!'?” During the Select
Subcommittee’s June 21, 2023 hearing titled “Churches vs. Casinos: The Constitution is not

1124 See generally, Fauci TI, supra note 81.

1125 Weaponization Report, supra note 1120, at 13
1126 Weaponization Report, supra note 1120, at 25
1127 See generally, Weaponization Report.
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Suspended in Times of Crisis,” Mr. Bailey characterized his efforts to stop the government’s
suppression of content on social media as “a pitched battle for the very character of our nation.”

This is why Missouri v. Biden is so important. The question of our time is
whether Americans will enjoy the legacy of free speech handed down to us
by the founding generation and protected by subsequent generations, or
whether federal officials will control what we say, what we hear, and how
we debate the veracity of claims and arguments. We are locked in a pitched
battle for the very character of our nation. If we do not prevail over
government officials who seek to control the speech of millions of
Americans, we will be left with, in the words of Justice Gorsuch, ‘a shell of
a democracy and civil liberties just as hollow.”!!?8

FINDING: The Biden Administration and Many Public Health Officials Exaggerated the
Power of COVID-19 Vaccines.

COVID-19 vaccines were tremendously important in reducing the severity of COVID-19
symptoms and were extremely effective in doing so.!''?” However, the Biden Administration
oversold the power of these vaccines. On more than one occasion, President Biden himself
overstated the vaccine’s ability to prevent infection and transmission. These false statements
likely contributed to Americans’ confusion about COVID-19 vaccines and reduced overall
vaccine confidence.

President Biden earned a fact check from the Associated Press [hereinafter “AP] for a
statement which the AP described as “an absolute guarantee...that people who get COVID-19
vaccines are completely protected from infection, sickness, and death from the coronavirus.”!!3¢
Specifically, President Biden said during a July 21, 2021 CNN Town Hall that “[i]f you’re
vaccinated, you’re not going to be hospitalized, you’re not going to be in the IC unit, and you’re
not going to die.”!!*! According to the AP’s fact checkers, by the time of this statement nearly
5,500 vaccinated people had been hospitalized or died with COVID-19.!132 As a result, the AP
asserted that Biden “[went] too far in assurances on vaccines.”!!??

Similarly, during his announcement of the COVID-19 vaccine mandate for federal
workers and contractors on September 9, 2021, President Biden implied that COVID-19 vaccines

1128 Churches vs. Casinos: The Constitution is not Suspended in Times of Crisis: Hearing Before Select Subcomm.
on the Coronavirus Pandemic, 118" Cong. 1, (June 21, 2023).

129 Oliver J. Watson, Global impact of the first year of COVID-19 vaccination: a mathematical modelling study,
THE LANCET (Sept. 2022).

1130 Calvin Woodward & Hope Yen, AP FACT CHECK: Biden goes too far in assurances on vaccines, ASSOCIATED
PRESS (July 22, 2021).

131 Alexandra Jaffe & Aamer Madhani, Biden says getting vaccinated ‘gigantically important’, ASSOCIATED PRESS
(July 21, 2021).

1132 Calvin Woodward & Hope Yen, supra note 1130.

133 g
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were effective at preventing the spread of the virus when he said, “The bottom line — we’re going
to protect vaccinated workers from unvaccinated coworkers.”!!34

Other officials also made false or misleading statements about COVID-19 vaccines. On
March 29, 2021, during an appearance on the Rachel Maddow Show, Dr. Walensky claimed that
CDC data indicated that “vaccinated people do not carry the virus, don’t get sick, and that it’s
not just in the clinical trials but it’s also in the real-world data.”!'*> On April 1, 2021, a CDC
spokesperson walked back Dr. Walensky’s assertions in a comment to 7The New York Times.

Dr. Walensky spoke broadly during this interview...It’s possible that some
people who are fully vaccinated could get Covid-19. The evidence isn’t
clear whether they can spread the virus to others. We are continuing to
evaluate the evidence.!!3¢

On May 16, 2021, during an appearance on CBS’ Face the Nation, Dr. Fauci claimed that
vaccinated individuals can go without masks even if they have an asymptomatic case of COVID-
19 because “it is very unlikely that a vaccinated person, even if there's a breakthrough infection,
would transmit it to someone else.”!!*” Dr. Fauci also took it a step further and indicated that
vaccinated people become “dead ends” for the virus.

[T]hat's the reason why we say when you get vaccinated, you not only
protect your own health, that of the family, but also you contribute to the
community health by preventing the spread of the virus throughout the
community. And in other words, you become a dead end to the virus. And
when there are a lot of dead ends around, the virus is not going to go
anywhere. '3

During each of their appearances before the Select Subcommittee, Dr. Walensky and Dr.
Fauci half-heartedly defended their earlier statements. Dr. Walensky testified that she was
“speaking in generalities.”

Dr. Rochelle Walensky (June 13, 2023)

Q. Dr. Walensky, simply yes or no. Does a spokesperson from the CDC
going on record and correcting the statements that you made
undermine and fracture the confidence in CDC leadership?

A. Dr. Joyce, I know you know that I was speaking in generalities, that
we saw data and evidence that was over 90 percent that the vaccines

1134 Kathryn Watson, et al., Biden announces COVID-19 vaccine mandates that will affect 100 million Americans,
CBS NEWS (Sept. 10, 2021).

1135 The Rachel Maddow Show, MSNBC (Mar. 29, 2021).

1136 Apoorva Mandavilli, Can Vaccinated People Spread the Virus? We Don t Know, Scientists Say, THE N.Y. TIMES
(Apr. 1,2021).

1137 Transcript, Anthony Fauci, Face the Nation (May 16, 2021).
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were effective in preventing severe disease and death and in fact, in
preventing symptomatic disease. And that once people had been
vaccinated, even if they were to get infected, they were not getting
sick and they were not able to transmit to others, so that was the
information. '3

Dr. Fauci argued that it “is a complicated issue” and that the vaccines did prevent
infection and transmission “in the beginning.”

Dr. Anthony Fauci (June 3, 2024)

Q. Did the COVID vaccine stop transmission of the virus?

A. That is a complicated issue, because, in the beginning, the first
iteration of the vaccines did have an effect—not 100 percent, not a
high effect—they did prevent infection and, subsequently,
obviously, transmission. However, it’s important to point out,
something that we did not know early on that became evident as the
months went by is that the durability of protection against infection,
and hence, transmission was relatively limited, whereas the duration
of protection against severe disease, hospitalization, and deaths was
more prolonged. We did not know that in the beginning. In the
beginning, it was felt that, in fact, it did prevent infection and, thus,
transmission, but that was proven, as time went by, to not be a
durable effect.!!4

Dr. Fauci said that it was “not a durable effect,” therefore acknowledging that the
vaccines did not effectively prevent the spread of the virus’ later variants.!'*! However, even
with the most charitable read of the contemporary data supporting these statements, it appears
these were gross overstatements of the COVID-19 vaccines’ protective abilities, even against the
earlier variants.!'** Perhaps conveniently, the CDC stopped tracking all breakthrough infections
beginning May 1, 2021, and instead only tracked breakthrough cases that led to hospitalization or
death.!!*3 The CDC argued that this decision would help “maximize the quality of the data
collected on cases of greatest clinical and public health importance.”!!** The CDC’s final report
showing breakthrough infections indicated that 10,262 infections had occurred across 46 U.S.
states. !4

1139 Qversight of CDC Policies and Decisions During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Hearing Before the Select
Subcomm. on the Coronavirus Pandemic, , 118th Cong. 1, at 23 (June 13, 2023).

1140 Fauci Hearing, supra note 231, at 15
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With the outbreak of the Delta variant beginning around July 2021, it became obvious
that any mild protection the vaccine may have provided against infection and transmission was
significantly diminished. This first emerged with data reported from Barnstable County,
Massachusetts after a COVID-19 outbreak following Independence Day celebrations.!!'* A CDC
study found that three-quarters of the 469 cases were in fully vaccinated individuals.!'*’ The
CDC then decided to reverse course and returned to recommending masking regardless of an
individual’s vaccination status in many areas.!''*® According to CNN, a source involved with the
decision process indicated that:

New unpublished data showing that vaccinated people infected with the
Delta coronavirus variant can have as much virus as those who are
unvaccinated is the primary driver for the CDC’s latest mask guidance
change.!'%

As the Delta variant continued to spread throughout the U.S., this became clear to most
Americans as breakthrough infections became commonplace. Ironically, President Biden, Dr.
Walensky, and Dr. Fauci, along with numerous other fully vaccinated public figures, reported
testing positive for COVID-19 during variant outbreaks, despite being fully vaccinated and
boosted. '

The Biden Administration’s exaggeration of the COVID-19 vaccine’s ability to prevent
infection and transmission of COVID-19 may have contributed to Americans’ waning trust in
vaccines overall.''! It is likely that many Americans, especially those who were young and
healthy, elected to be vaccinated under the pretense that it would ensure they would not get their
loved ones sick. When these pretenses turned out to be false, Americans were understandably
upset. This may have also contributed to the lackluster numbers of individuals who elected to
receive subsequent booster doses. An October 2023 study, published in the journal Vaccine,
studied the reasons for why less than 20 percent of eligible Americans had obtained a bivalent
booster dose.!'!*? According to the study’s findings, 23.1 percent of respondents indicated their
reason for not getting the booster included that they believed it wouldn’t protect them from being
infected.!!>?
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FINDING: The U.S. Food and Drug Administration and Other Public Health Officials Falsely
Implied that Ivermectin Was Only for Horses and Cows.

Throughout the pandemic, in the face of a deadly disease for which there were minimal
treatments available, many doctors explored the use of drugs which were already approved for
other indications.!'!>* This practice is called “off-label use” and is commonplace in the medical
profession. This situation yielded one of the most egregious examples of the Biden
Administration’s purveyance of misinformation—the FDA’s infamous statement which implied
that Ivermectin was a veterinary drug for horses and cows and not for humans.!'>® Specifically,
the FDA tweeted on August 21, 2021, from its official Twitter (now X) account, “You are not a
horse. You are not a cow. Seriously, y’all. Stop it.”!!3® Which seemingly conflated the off-label
prescription of Ivermectin as being the same as humans intentionally taking the veterinary
version of the drug without a doctor.

m U.S.FDA &

You are not a horse. You are not a cow. Seriously, y'all. Stop it.

r.-\

Ivermectin is FDA approved to treat certain parasites in human and any implication that it
is only for “horses” or “cows” is plainly false.!'’

154 Off-label use of medicines for COVID-19, WORLD HEALTH ORG., available at https://www.who.int/news-
room/commentaries/detail/off-label-use-of-medicines-for-covid-19.

1155 UJ.S. FDA (@US_FDA), Twitter (Aug. 21, 2021) (Tweet has since been deleted.).

1156 Id.

57 Ivermectin and COVID-19, U.S. FOOD & DRUG ADMIN. (last updated Apr. 5, 2024) available at
https://www.fda.gov/consumers/consumer-updates/ivermectin-and-covid-19.
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The Development of Vaccines and Treatments, and the Development and
Implementation of Vaccination Policies for Federal Employees and Members
of the Armed Forces

I. The Success of Operation Warp Speed

OWS was a $10 billion dollar strategy developed and initiated by the Trump
Administration during the early months of the COVID-19 pandemic which aimed to expedite the
development of a safe and effective vaccine and have substantial quantities available by January
2021."58 OWS consisted of a partnership between HHS, DOD, and the private sector and
employed several time-saving strategies, while mitigating financial risk through the backing of
the federal government. Ultimately, the first COVID-19 vaccine was authorized on December 11,
2020, just less than 7 months after OWS was announced.!!>

The primary mechanisms OWS leveraged to accelerate the development of COVID-19
vaccines was allowing vaccine companies to start large-scale manufacturing during clinical trials
and combining clinical trial phases or running them concurrently, while limiting liability.!'%" This
differs significantly from the traditional timeline for vaccine development which tends to be
more rigidly sequential.!!¢!

OWS’ also provided a range of potential options by supporting vaccines with varying
characteristics rather than putting all eggs in one basket. Specifically, OWS initially planned to
include mRNA, replication-defective live-vector, recombinant-subunit-adjuvanted protein, and
attenuated replicating live vector platforms and ultimately supported six vaccine candidates
which used three platforms.!!®? Once the vaccine was developed, OWS utilized existing logistics
and shipping providers through a strong public-private partnership to ensure rapid
distribution. 163

FINDING: Operation Warp Speed Was a Great Success and Helped Save Millions of Lives.

Before 2020 the fastest vaccine development took four years.''** OWS yielded a vaccine
that was available to millions of Americans in less than one year.!!%> By nearly all accounts, this
was an incredible feat of science which was made possible by the unique structure of OWS. Dr.
Fauci, though reluctant to give credit to the Trump Administration, characterized the effort as
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“the best decision [he’s] ever made with regard to an intervention as director of the institute.”!1%6

Dr. Fauci also testified that OWS was a “great success.”

Dr. Anthony Fauci (January 9, 2024)

Q. Do you think that kind of thought process could be scaled to other
pharmaceuticals?

A. I think it can. I mean, I don’t think anybody would argue that
Operation Warp Speed was a great success. No doubt about that. |
think an Operation Warp Speed-like approach could be applied —
and, I guess, when you talk about lessons learned for other diseases,
